		1
1	PUBLIC HEARING	
2	STATE OF NEW MEXICO	
3	OIL CONSERVATION COMMISSION	
4		
	Pecos Hall, 1st Floor, Wendell Chino Building	
5	1220 S. Saint Francis Drive	
	Santa Fe, New Mexico	
6		
7	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS	
8	April 9, 2025	
	9:00 a.m.	
9		
10	HEARD BEFORE: HEARING OFFICER RIPLEY HARWOOD	
	COMMISSION MEMBERS:	
11		
	GERASIMOS ROZATOS, Chair	
12	BAYLEN LAMKIN, Member	
	DR. WILLIAM AMPOMAH, Member	
13		
14	COUNSEL FOR THE COMMISSION: ZACHARY SHANDLER, ESQ.	
15		
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
	Page 1	

Г

		2
1	APPEARANCES	2
2	For Empire New Mexico, LLC:	
3	SPENCER FANE, LLP	
	P.O. Box 2307	
4	Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504	
	505-986-2678	
5	BY: SHARON T. SHAHEEN, ESQ.	
	and	
б	HINKLE SHANOR, LLP	
	218 Montezuma Avenue	
7	Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501	
	dhardy@hinklelawfirm.com	
8	BY: DANA SIMMONS HARDY, ESQ.	
	and	
9	PADILLA LAW FIRM	
	P.O. BOX 2523	
10	Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504	
	padillalawnm@outlook.com	
11	BY: ERNEST L. PADILLA, ESQ.	
1.0	and	
12	SANTOYO WEHMEYER, PC	
1 0	IBC Highway 281	
13	North Centre Building	
14	12400 San Pedro Ave., Ste. 300	
14	San Antonio, Texas 78216 cwehmeyer@swenergylaw.com	
15	BY: COREY F. WEHMEYER, ESQ.	
16	For Goodnight Midstream:	
17	HOLLAND & HART, LLP	
± /	Suite 1	
18	110 North Guadalupe	
	Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504	
19	nrjurgensen@hollandhart.com	
	agrankin@hollandhart.com	
20	BY: NATHAN JURGENSEN, ESQ.	
21	For New Mexico Oil Conservation Division:	
22	OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL	
	New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural	
23	Resources Department	
	1220 South Francis Drive	
24	Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505	
	Chris.Moander@emnrd.nm.gov	
25	BY: CHRISTOPHER MOANDER, ESQ.	

Г

3 1 For Rice Operating Company 2 PEIFER HANSON MULLINS & BAKER, PA Suite 725 20 First Plaza, Northwest 3 Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102. mbeck@peiferlaw.com 4 BY: MATTHEW M. BECK, ESQ. 5 For Pilot: 6 BEATTY & WOZNIAK 7 500 Don Gaspar Avenue Santa Fe, New Mexico 87505 msuazo@bwenergylaw.com 8 BY: MIGUEL A. SUAZO, ESQ. 9 10 INDEX PAGE JACK WHEELER 11 12 Examination By Mr. Beck 8 Examination By Commissioner Ampomah 29 13 Examination By Commissioner Lamkin 53 Examination By Chairman Razatos 57 14 Examination By Mr. Shandler 59 Examination By Dr. Ampomah 66 15 Examination By Ms. Shaheen 67 Examination By Mr. Rankin 78 112 Examination By Mr. Moander 16 Examination By Mr. Beck 118 17 18 WILLIAM WEST 19 Examination By Ms. Hardy 145 Examination By Mr. Rankin 200 20 21 22 23 24 25 Page 3

					4
1		E	XHIBITS		
2	EXHIBIT	DES	SCRIPTION	PAGI	£
3	Exhibit 4			12	2
4	Exhibit 1			14	4
5	Exhibits I,	I-1 through	I-30	148	3
6	Exhibits N,	N-1 through	N-22	148	3
7					
8					
9					
10					
11					
12					
13					
14					
15					
16					
17					
18					
19					
20					
21					
22					
23					
24					
25					
				Page	4
					-

Г

1 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Good morning to 2 everyone. It is 9:00. Can you hear me in Pecos 3 Hall?

4

MS. APODACA: We can hear you.

5 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Awesome. Thank Today is Wednesday, April 9, 2025. This is a 6 vou. 7 continuation of the Oil Conservation Division hearing that we have had scheduled for April 7th 8 through the 11th. This is an evidentiary hearing 9 10 that we're having today. We're continuing it. It's 11 the consolidated cases by Goodnight, Midstream, and 12 Empire New Mexico. The case is, again for the 13 record, are Case Numbers 24123, 23614 through 17, 14 23775, 24018, 2 -- through 24020 and 24025.

Before we start the actual case and transfer it over to our hearings officer, I just have a preliminary issue that I'd like to discuss regarding tomorrow.

Commissioner Dr. Ampomah tomorrow does have a scheduling conflict in the morning. So we do need to start on a delay, if at all possible. So the request is to potentially start at 10:30 tomorrow morning. Starting -- now it's glitching on my side, so I don't know if you guys heard that, so I'll repeat it. Starting at 10:30 tomorrow morning.

6 1 Are there any issues with the 2 commissioner -- other commissioners? 3 Mr. Lamkin, do you have an issue with 4 that? COMMISSIONER LAMKIN: I don't have an 5 issue with that. 6 7 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Excellent. And 8 then as parties that are in the room, as well, I 9 always start on my right-hand side. Mr. Rankin? 10 MR. RANKIN: Good morning, Mr. Chair, 11 commissioners. No problem accommodating Dr. 12 Ampomah's schedule. 13 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Excellent. Thank 14 you. 15 Ms. Hardy? 16 MS. HARDY: Good morning, Mr. Chair 17 Commissioner. That's fine with Empire. Thank you. 18 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Okay. Mr. Beck? 19 MR. BECK: That's fine with Rice. 20 Thank you. 21 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Mr. Moander? 22 MR. MOANDER: No issue from OCD, 23 Mr. Chair. 24 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Excellent. And on 25 the platform, Mr. Suazo? Page 6

MR. SUAZO: No issues for Pilot. 1 2 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Okay. So we will 3 be starting tomorrow at 10:30. So that is going to 4 be a slight shift to our normal schedule, but thank 5 you for everybody's willingness to accommodate. That was the only thing that I needed to 6 7 talk about. So, Mr. Hearing Officer, I transfer the hearing over to you again. Thank you. 8 9 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you, 10 Mr. Chairman. You're sounding better. I hope 11 that's the case. CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Thank you. 12 Ι 13 appreciate it. I'm trying. 14 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right. 15 With the Commission's permission, since the weather 16 is warming up nicely this week, if it's okay with 17 you, Chairman Razatos, I'm inclined to relax the dress code. If folks want to take off their 18 19 jackets, you know, feel free to be comfortable. 20 We've been here long enough to indulge that sort of 21 informality. 22 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: I see -- I'm 23 totally okay with that. Commissioner Ampomah 24 already has his jacket off, so make yourselves comfortable. 25

Page 7

7

Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 8 1 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okav, 2 great. Thank you. All right. Well, I see we have a witness 3 4 back on the stand, and we have a court reporter 5 who's rested and raring to go. So, Mr. Wheeler, I'll -- you're a lawyer, 6 7 but -- so it's probably pointless, but I'll remind you you're under oath as well as an expert, and 8 so -- let's see. 9 10 JACK WHEELER: Well, thank you for 11 reminding me. 12 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Let's go on 13 the record, if we aren't already. And I believe if 14 I'm not mistaken, Mr. Beck, it's your 15 cross-examination of Mr. Wheeler. 16 CROSS-EXAMINATION 17 BY MR. BECK: Good morning, Mr. Wheeler. 18 Q. 19 Α. Morning, sir. 20 My name is Matt Beck, and I represent Rice Ο. and Permian. 21 22 Yes, sir. Α. 23 In your testimony yesterday, you said that Ο. 24 Empire became aware of injection of saltwater into the San Andres in 2023; is that right? 25 Page 8

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Jack Wheeler - April 7, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 9
1	A. Just a minute, I something is ringing,
2	but I don't have my phone. Sorry.
3	Q. That's all right.
4	A. It's ringing in my new hearing aids, so
5	Q. No problem.
6	A I'm searching all my pockets and can't
7	find anything. I'm thinking this is a terrible way
8	to start, so hopefully, it will improve now.
9	Q. Great. So how did Empire become aware of
10	the saltwater injection into the San Andres and the
11	EMSU in 2023?
12	A. Our chairman and Mr. West went up to
13	review the properties and talk to the field foreman,
14	and stuff, about the process to go in to rework the
15	field and improve the production stuff, and the
16	story I heard, which is really a great story, but
17	turned out to be false because they were flying over
18	in a helicopter and saw the operations. But I was
19	correct and told they were just driving around in a
20	car.
21	But anyway, that's when they saw the
22	Wrigley surface facility there at EMSU.
23	Q. The Wrigley surface facility, you said?
24	A. Yes, sir.
25	Q. And is that a Goodnight injection
	Page 9

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 10
1	facility?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. Now, I assume you're aware of what the
4	Eunice Monument saltwater disposal system is?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. And you understand that to be a saltwater
7	disposal system operated by Rice
8	A. Yes, sir.
9	Q is that right?
10	MR. BECK: Adam, can I ask you to
11	bring up Rice Exhibit 4.
12	Q. This is Rice's Exhibit 4, Mr. Wheeler.
13	Have you seen this document before?
14	A. No, sir.
15	Q. Okay. Do you know who Thomas Pritchard
16	is?
17	A. Yes, sir. He was the former chairman.
18	Q. And so this is a Joinder and Ratification
19	of Articles of Agreement of the Eunice Monument
20	EUMONT Saltwater Disposal System?
21	A. Yes, sir.
22	Q. And it says that, "In exchange for the
23	mutual promises and covenants contained in the
24	foregoing Articles of Agreement for the Eunice
25	Monument EUMONT Saltwater Disposal System, and other
	Page 10

	-
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 11
1	good and valuable consideration, including
2	acceptance of Empire New Mexico, LLC, as an
3	additional and new system partner with the right to
4	dispose of saltwater by use of the system, the
5	receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
6	acknowledged. Empire New Mexico, LLC, as an
7	additional and new system partner in the Eunice
8	Monument EUMONT Saltwater Disposal System does
9	hereby adopt, accept, ratify, and agree to be bound
10	by all of the terms and conditions, including the
11	assumption of system liabilities of its assignor,
12	all as set forth and contained in the Articles of
13	Agreement." Did I read that correctly?
14	A. Yes, sir.
15	Q. And this was executed by Thomas Pritchard
16	as CEO of Empire New Mexico on November 29, 2021; is
17	that right?
18	A. Yes, sir.
19	Q. Do you know where the and I'm going to
20	call it the EME instead of Eunice Monument EUMONT.
21	Do you know where the EME saltwater disposal wells
22	are within the EMSU?
23	A. Yes, sir.
24	Q. And so this would indicate that in
25	November of 2021, that Empire was aware of ongoing
	Page 11

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	1	
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck	L2
1	saltwater disposal into the San Andres within the	
2	EMSU and around the EMSU; is that right?	
3	A. Yes, sir, it should.	
4	Q. And are you aware that	
5	MR. BECK: Well, can you bring up	
6	Rice Exhibit 1?	
7	And before I leave this one, Mr. Hearing	
8	Officer, Rice and Permian move to admit Exhibit	
9	Rice Exhibit 4 for admission.	
10	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Empire?	
11	MS. SHEEHAN: No objection.	
12	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Goodnight?	
13	MR. RANKIN: No objection.	
14	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: OCD?	
15	MR. MOANDER: No objections.	
16	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Pilot?	
17	MR. SUAZO: No objections.	
18	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: It will be	
19	admitted.	
20	(Exhibit 4 admitted into evidence.)	
21	Q (By Mr. Beck) Now, Mr. Wheeler, I'm showing	
22	you what's been marked as Rice Exhibit 1. If	
23	you'll do you recognize this well, first let	
24	me ask you: Have you seen this Articles of	
25	Agreement for the Eunice Monument EUMONT Saltwater	
	Page 12	

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck	13
1	Disposal System before?	
2	A. Yes, sir.	
3	Q. And these are the Articles of Agreement	
4	that Empire joined in November of 2021, right?	
5	A. Yes, sir. We were successor interest in	
б	Gulf, which later retained Chevron and then was	
7	transferred to XTO, which we succeeded in.	
8	Q. And so on page 1 of this document, this	
9	agreement was made between the system parties on	
10	June 10, 1958, right?	
11	A. Yes, sir.	
12	Q. And those founding parties in the system	
13	included Gulf Oil Corporation?	
14	A. Yes, sir.	
15	Q. And that was the successor interest	
16	successor in interest, as you just said, to Empire	
17	via XTO and before that, Chevron?	
18	A. Yes, sir.	
19	MR. BECK: Mr. Hearing Officer, I'll	
20	admit I'll move to admit Rice Exhibit 1 into	
21	evidence.	
22	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Empire?	
23	Empire?	
24	MS. SHEEHAN: I'm assuming I'm	
25	sorry, I checked out there for a sec. I'm assuming	
	Page 13	

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 14
1	you're admitting this last exhibit?
2	MR. BECK: Yes.
3	MS. SHEEHAN: No objection.
4	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Goodnight?
5	MR. RANKIN: No objection.
6	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: OCD?
7	MR. MOANDER: No objection.
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Pilot?
9	MR. SUAZO: No objections.
10	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: It will be
11	admitted.
12	(Exhibit 1 admitted into evidence.)
13	MR. BECK: Thank you.
14	Mr. Rankin, if you go to page 2, paragraph
15	2 of that.
16	Q (By Mr. Beck) This provides that, "It being
17	desirable that a unified effort be made to control
18	the disposition of the water produced from the wells
19	listed on Exhibit D, it is the purpose of this
20	agreement to prescribe the manner in which a unified
21	disposal control system for the water so produced is
22	to be constructed, operated, and maintained." Did I
23	read that portion of it correctly?
24	A. Yes, sir, you did.
25	Q. So the purpose of this was so that the
	Page 14

	1
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 15
1	parties could dispose of wastewater produced in
2	their wells in the EME system, right?
3	A. Yes, sir. It's only the parties that are
4	related and listed in the first paragraph. And it
5	was not a commercial disposal. And the disposals
6	were not at hundreds of thousands of barrels a day
7	for that E operation.
8	Q. Okay. So I didn't pick up on that when
9	you were talking yesterday about commercial
10	disposals. This is not included in those commercial
11	disposals in the system?
12	A. No.
13	Q. And talking about production, you're aware
14	that the EME system operates on vacuum?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. And it's operated on vacuums since
17	well, the late 1950s until today?
18	A. Yes, sir.
19	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Mr.
20	Wheeler, I'm going to ask you to pull that mic a
21	little closer to you, if you don't mind.
22	JACK WHEELER: Closer.
23	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thanks.
24	You're not the only one here with hearing issues,
25	so and by the way, we have these if you think
	Page 15
	rage IJ

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 16
1	that would be helpful to you. There are more in the
2	back.
3	JACK WHEELER: I've never done
4	anything with that, so I'd probably really be in bad
5	territory.
6	MR. BECK: Mr. Rankin, if you'll go
7	to page 33 of Exhibit 1, please.
8	Q (By Mr. Beck) Mr. Wheeler, this is
9	Exhibit D of Exhibit 1, which is the EME Articles of
10	Agreement from 1958. Do you see Gulf Oil
11	Corporation's wells
12	A. Yes, sir.
13	Q listed there? And that includes the
14	Bell A through G and then the Ramsay A, right?
15	A. I can see the Bell, but I don't see the
16	Ramsay.
17	Q. That's fine. Underneath Bell.
18	A. No, I trust you what you're saying is
19	correct.
20	Q. All right. And then Gulf Oil Corp.'s
21	wells listed in Exhibit D then continue onto the
22	next page, almost the entire next page of Exhibit D,
23	right, the Bell the wells that are part of the
24	EME system?
25	A. Yes, sir. I don't recognize the names
	Page 16

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 17
1	because after the unitization, all of those names
2	were changed. But I see the list.
3	Q. Okay. I want to go to the second slide in
4	your testimony from yesterday.
5	So yesterday when you talked about the
6	Commission's 1984 approval of the EMSU waterflood
7	and definition of the unit to include the San Andres
8	1984 at that point, the EME system had been
9	operating for over 20 years, right?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	Q. Disposing of saltwater produced
12	saltwater into the San Andres for over 20 years?
13	A. Correct.
14	Q. The next thing I want to talk to you about
15	is slide 7. You talked about the first bullet point
16	on slide 7 here a little bit yesterday. And I think
17	I, like Mr. Rankin, noticed this was different than
18	what I read in your direct testimony. And so last
19	night I went and looked for
20	A. I'm sorry, I can't see the slide.
21	Q. Is it not in front of you on your computer
22	screen there?
23	A. Oh. The acquisition? Oh, okay. I'm
24	sorry, I see it.
25	Q. That's all right. So I went yesterday and
	Page 17

	r , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 18
1	looked through the purchase agreement for a document
2	or exhibit called Assumption of Minimum Estimated
3	E&A Liability or something like that, but I didn't
4	see that. Is that part of the purchase agreement or
5	was there a separate agreement for that?
6	A. In the XTO agreement, it's stated in there
7	that as part of the agreement, there's an assumption
8	of all plugging and abandonment liabilities for the
9	wells that were assigned.
10	JACK WHEELER: Sharon, we have that
11	highlighted in the purchase and sale agreement. So
12	maybe you can help Mr. Beck locate that.
13	Q. Was that Article 11 that you talked about
14	with Mr. Rankin yesterday, the post closing
15	obligations?
16	A. Yes, sir.
17	Q. Okay. And when did when did Empire
18	become aware of the \$56 million in plugging
19	liability?
20	A. Well
21	Q. If you if you know. I recognize you
22	weren't there in 2020 when this was all going on.
23	A. What transpired was that Mr. Pritchard had
24	done the purchase and sale agreement and executed it
25	and then executed all the additional documents. And
	Page 18
	rage to

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 19
1	he put them into a file that was not a share file.
2	And right after the acquisition, he left
3	the company. And it wasn't until we were doing the
4	due diligence for responding to the subpoenas that
5	Goodnight had tendered to us did we go through and
6	have an outside firm come in and try to locate all
7	of his emails and share our files and everything.
8	And that's when we really focused on how large the
9	liability was.
10	And about the same time is when we got the
11	order of compliance from the OCD, from Mr. Jesse
12	Tremaine, where he listed the wells that we were out
13	of compliance on and needed immediate action on.
14	Q. So it was in responding to Goodnight's
15	subpoenas that Empire became aware of this plugging
16	liability that was now 56 million?
17	A. Yes. We had wells that we knew had gone
18	offline and needed plugging or recompletion,
19	whatever, about the time I would say in May or
20	June of 2023 when Mr. West came aboard. And he went
21	out to the field, and stuff, and everything with
22	Mr. Mulacek in August of 2023 and recognized the
23	number of wells and the fact that many of them
24	needed plugging and action taken to correct.
25	Q. And recognizing that in August 2023 is

	r , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 20
1	when you-all engaged, I think you said, like an
2	outside firm to look at the extent of that
3	liability; is that right?
4	A. Yes, sir.
5	Q. And that August 2023 time period, that's
6	about the same time that you got the notice of or
7	order of compliance from the OCD?
8	A. Yes, sir.
9	Q. And that's how came to recognize the
10	what you now estimate is \$16 million of surface
11	remediation?
12	A. Yes, sir. There were over 6-, 700 wells
13	that not that date, but in the future, as long as
14	Empire owned the property, that we would ultimately
15	have to plug and remediate the sites.
16	Q. Now, if we look at and I think we
17	looked at this yesterday with Mr. Rankin. If you
18	look at paragraph 10 of your direct testimony from
19	2024, that's where it was a little bit different
20	well, it was really different. In your August 2024
21	testimony, you said Empire acquired basically the
22	properties from XTO for 17,800,000, right?
23	A. Yes, sir. I went back and looked last
24	night at my notes, and stuff. When I had given it
25	to my paralegal to type, it was in my notes to
	Page 20
	Page 20

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 21
1	her, it said "for cash purchase price." And when
2	she typed and I reviewed it and executed it, I
3	didn't notice that the word "cash" had been
4	excluded.
5	Q. And you looked at those notes last night,
6	you said?
7	A. Yes, sir.
8	Q. So those would be available to provide to
9	all of us here?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	Q. All right. You'd be willing to do that?
12	A. Subject to my counsel's guidance.
13	Q. Okay. You would be willing to provide us
14	at least the portion of your notes that said a "cash
15	purchase price"?
16	A. Yes, sir.
17	Q. I'd like to see that.
18	Now, the next sentence you didn't talk
19	about, the next sentence at paragraph 10 says,
20	"Because of this substantial investment, it is
21	imperative that Empire be allowed to conduct
22	primary, secondary, and tertiary recovery of all
23	hydrocarbons present in the Eunice Monument South
24	Unit"; is that right?
25	A. Yes, sir.
	Page 21
	5

Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck Q. Is that what was written in your notes that you reviewed last night? A. I didn't look at that sentence, and stu	
2 that you reviewed last night?	
3 A I didn't look at that sentence and stu	
4 but that is proper and correct, to the best of my	F
5 knowledge.	
6 Q. And so what this sentence is saying is,	
7 "Look, we spent almost \$18 million on this proper	ty.
8 And so because of that substantial investment, it	.'S
9 imperative"?	
10 JACK WHEELER: Sharon, can you tur	'n
11 off my phone or something?	
12 I going to try to take my hearing aids	
13 off.	
Q. That's fine. No worries. I think I	•
15 think she turned them off.	
16 Can you hear me now?	
17 A. Yes, sir.	
Q. All right. So what I was getting to is	,
19 that second sentence is telling the Commission th	lat
20 because of this, quote, "substantial investment,"	
21 it's, quote, "imperative that Empire be allowed t	.0
22 conduct primary, secondary, and tertiary recovery	, " ,
23 right?	
A. Yes, sir.	
Q. And now, come to today, as you represent	lted
Page	22

Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 23 1 to the Commission for the first time yesterday, 2 you're now saying that it wasn't \$17.8 million. Ιt was \$89.8 million, right? 3 4 Α. Yes, sir. Because now, in 2023, you recognize that 5 Ο. this property you bought for \$17.8 million came 6 7 along with, well, at least an additional -- over \$70 million in liabilities? 8 We did, in terms of estimating the cost of 9 Α. 10 the P&A liabilities, which was 56 million. And then 11 following my preparation and execution of this self-affirmed statement, we received a notice from 12 13 the State Land Office that there were 288 sites that 14 we needed to remediate that we were not aware of 15 either. 16 If you go back to the purchase and sale 17 agreement, instead of -- what I always try to 18 negotiate in a purchase and sale agreement is that 19 you'd have an effective date and you would assume 20 all the liabilities after the effective date, and the seller would still be responsible for all the 21 activities prior to the effective date. 22 23 But if you look at this purchase and sale 24 agreement, it provides that we're responsible for all the costs associated with any operations or work 25 Page 23

Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 24 1 or anything prior to own or after. 2 Ο. So I think the answer to my question was 3 ves? 4 Α. Um-hmm. That after that date, where you wrote 5 Ο. 6 17.8, you found Empire in 2023, now had an 7 additional \$72 million of liability, at least, with these properties? 8 In 2024 would be the date that we were 9 Α. totally aware of all of the costs. 10 11 And going back to that second sentence of Ο. paragraph 10, there's nothing preventing Empire 12 13 today from conducting primary, secondary, and 14 tertiary recovery of those hydrocarbons, is there? 15 Α. Yes, sir. 16 What is that? Ο. 17 Α. The injection of the commercial wells that are within the EMSU unit and the high volumes of 18 19 water that they're injecting, which is detrimental 20 to a tertiary recovery operation. 21 Q. Well, just looking at what you say in paragraph 10, there's nothing -- I mean, Empire 22 23 right now is allowed to conduct primary, secondary, 24 and tertiary recovery, right? 25 Well, we would have to go to the Α. Page 24

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 25
1	Commission and get approval for a CO2 flood
2	operation. And at that point if they approve it, we
3	would be able to conduct tertiary recovery.
4	Q. And that hasn't happened yet?
5	A. No, sir, it hasn't.
6	Q. Empire hadn't applied for that?
7	A. No, sir, we haven't.
8	Q. When you talk about and I wrote this
9	down yesterday. You said that you were ordered to
10	stop doing anything with the EMSU; is that right?
11	A. We had an executive meeting as to the
12	operations. And a determination was made that we
13	were not going to expend any more money until we
14	were able to cease the injection in the commercial
15	wells. And if you talk to Mr. Curtis, you'll see
16	that we also have gone in and terminated all of our
17	interest in any of the Rice and Permian saltwater
18	disposal agreements that Mr. Pritchard had executed.
19	Q. Do you remember my question?
20	A. Would you repeat it?
21	Q. Yeah. It was yesterday you said that
22	you were ordered to stop doing anything with the
23	EMSU, right?
24	A. Yes, sir.
25	Q. And you sort of got ahead of me there, but
	Page 25
	Veritext Legal Solutions

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 26
1	I was going to say that order came from Empire, not
2	from anyone else outside of Empire, right?
3	A. That's correct.
4	Q. And you've adhered to that? You haven't
5	done anything else with the EMSU in terms of further
6	development here, right?
7	A. Yes, sir.
8	Q. You haven't taken any cores of any wells?
9	A. No, sir.
10	Q. You haven't taken any mud logs of any
11	wells?
12	A. No, sir.
13	Q. You haven't taken any logs of any wells?
14	A. No, sir.
15	Q. You haven't drilled any new wells in the
16	San Andres to test for new oil?
17	A. We for the lawsuit, we had proposals to
18	drill three new wells that would go down into the
19	base of the San Andres and would give us information
20	and validation of our position. We started in
21	January.
22	We filed, I think, two permits with the
23	State. We've acquired surface agreements for
24	damages to go in and conduct the operation, but we
25	haven't drilled any of those three wells as of this
	Page 26

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 27
1	date.
2	Q. When did you file those applications for
3	those three new test wells? You don't have to give
4	me the exact date. Just any idea of the timing?
5	Was it this year? Was it last year?
6	A. No, sir. It was, I'm thinking, in
7	February or March.
8	Q. February or March of this year?
9	A. Yes, sir. I could consult with Mr. West
10	or Mr. Davis to find out, but that's what my
11	recollection is.
12	Q. That's fine. So February and March of
13	this year is the first time that you took any step
14	to get to drill a new test well, right?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. And you haven't taken any other step to
17	get new logs?
18	A. No, sir.
19	Q. Mud logs?
20	A. Just what's what was available that we
21	were able to locate.
22	Q. What was available, meaning what was
23	available in what you provided to the experts you've
24	testified for Empire so far?
25	A. Yes, sir.
	Page 27

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Beck 28
1	Q. And I think I've seen you there's been
2	a lot of people in and out, but you've been here for
3	all of the testimony of Empire's witnesses so far
4	over this week-and-a-half?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. And you've heard each one of those
7	witnesses say your consulting expert witnesses
8	say that they would have benefited from more data
9	available?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	Q. Including Mr. McShane yesterday about more
12	recent logs, mud logs, cores?
13	A. Yes, sir.
14	Q. Now, also in February of 2025, this
15	hearing started in front of the commission, right?
16	A. Yes, sir.
17	Q. On February 20, 2025?
18	A. I said the last week of February.
19	Q. You talked about a letter sent to
20	Mr. Curtis. That's Scott Curtis, the president of
21	Rice Operating Company, right?
22	A. Yes, sir.
23	Q. And that letter was intended to get Empire
24	out of the three saltwater disposal systems it was a
25	party to for Rice, right?

	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 29
1	A. Yes, sir.
2	Q. And that letter was sent on February 21st
3	of 2025, right?
4	A. Yes, sir.
5	Q. The day after this hearing started?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	MR. BECK: That's all I have.
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you,
9	Mr. Beck.
10	All right. Cross-examination by Pilot?
11	MR. SUAZO: No questions from Pilot.
12	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Then we're
13	back to the Commission.
14	Dr. Ampomah, I will start with you.
15	COMMISSIONER AMPOMAH: Thank you,
16	sir.
17	EXAMINATION
18	BY COMMISSIONER AMPOMAH:
19	Q. Good morning, Mr. Wheeler.
20	A. Good morning, sir.
21	Q. Thank you for your testimony today. So
22	earlier on, you were saying that Empire was not
23	aware of any saltwater injection going on, let's
24	say, within the EMSU prior to execution of the
25	purchase agreement. Do you still stand by that?
	Page 29

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 30
1	A. Yes, sir.
2	Q. So do you agree with the statement that
3	the San Andres has only been agreed to be as an
4	aquifer within the EMSU?
5	A. No, sir, I don't believe it's an aquifer.
6	I see it as a unitized interval within the EMSU.
7	Q. So
8	A. Maybe I didn't understand your question
9	right if you wanted a different answer, so
10	Q. Yeah. So as part of the opening
11	statement, you know, Goodnight was saying that the
12	San Andres was more or less erroneously included in
13	the unitization. So it has normally been classified
14	as an aquifer.
15	A. Okay.
16	Q. So I was asking: Do you believe that
17	statement?
18	A. Yes.
19	Q. Do you believe that
20	A. As you stated, I think that that could be
21	a correct position.
22	Q. Okay. Now, let me ask: So if Empire knew
23	about this saltwater injection that was going on
24	within the EMS (sic) area, would that have impacted
25	the sale agreement between XTO, Chevron, and Empire?
	Page 30

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 31 A. To my knowledge, there wasn't any agreement with Empire and any other party other than Rice Operating.

Q. Let me repeat my question one more time. So I'm just following up from my previous question where you said that Empire did not know about the ongoing saltwater injection in the EMSU.

8

A. Not till August of 2023, yes, sir.

9 Q. Okay. So my question to you is: If 10 Empire knew about the ongoing saltwater injection 11 within the EMSU specifically to the San Andres, 12 would that have impacted your purchase agreement?

A. If we had known it prior to making an offer to purchase the properties, we would have never done it if we couldn't cure the issue with the commercial disposal wells that were injecting into the San Andres, that's correct, sir.

18 Q. Then is it not that probably Empire did19 not do a due diligence?

A. No, sir. Like I stated previously, we engaged a company called Elk Mesa Energy in Denver that was doing -- that took the dump file from ExxonMobil, and they were analyzing all of the data, and everything. But there was no information in there that disclosed that there were any saltwater

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 disposal wells they were injecting into at 2 San Andres.

I mean, that one is a little bit difficult 3 Ο. 4 for me to understand, because it being -- let's say, 5 you know, you're going to put that over \$17 million 6 to make a purchase of a property. I mean, even if 7 we are buying a rental property -- if we were buying a rental property, we do have the right to go out 8 9 there, scout the area, you know, even enter the 10 building to go -- what we are really signing up for.

11 So it's a little bit surprising that you 12 are saying that Empire got to know about it probably 13 two -- two years after the purchase?

A. If you read in the purchase and sale agreement, it provides explicitly that we would have the right to go out on-site and investigate the assets and everything. But at that time Empire was a very, very small company with less than five or six employees.

And we engaged Elk Mesa to go in and do the analysis. And when I talked to the lady at Elk Mesa, she said that they had not done an on-site visit. And when I talked to Mr. Morrisett, who's the only individual that's still with Empire from the date that we acquired the property, he had no

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 33 1 knowledge that an analysis had been done of going 2 on-site and reviewing the properties. You know, then, it sounds to me that 3 Ο. you're trying to utilize the Commission and also in 4 the cost to more or less right some wrongs that 5 Empire should have probably known better? 6 7 Α. Yes, sir. When I've done -- and I've probably done 6- to 700 acquisitions in my career, 8 and every single time my approach to the due 9 10 diligence was significantly different than what I've 11 been able to determine that Empire did back in 2021. 12 Ο. So you talked about in your direct 13 testimony and in our back and forth -- so you're 14 talking about -- I'm just going with whatever -- on 15 the I-10, number 10, where you are saying that you 16 do have 7 -- you've already spent \$17.8 million, and 17 the Commission should -- with a substantial investment, it is imperative that Empire be allowed 18 19 to conduct primary, secondary, tertiary recovery of 20 all hydrocarbons present in the EMSU unit. 21 Now, my question to you is: Do you have any knowledge of the saltwater injection investments 22 23 that has occurred in those areas since, let's say, 1955 or so? So if you're asking the Commission to 24 grant fully what Empire is asking for, do you have 25

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 knowledge on how much investment we'll be wiping 2 out? No, sir. I do know that they have a 3 Α. pipeline that I think is about 7 -- 67 miles long 4 5 that goes up into Lea County and the area of the 6 EMSU. 7 I also know that they drilled four wells, of which the first well, the Ryno well, was drilled 8 down into the Devonian, which would be a very 9 10 expensive well. So my estimate would be that the 11 wells that they drilled, plus the facilities and 12 stuff, could be in a range of 8 to \$10 million. 13 8 to \$10 million? Ο. 14 Yes, sir. Α. 15 I mean, to drill to Devonian, Devonian is Q. about 18,000 -- now, are we talking about, say, 16 18,000, 20,000 feet of Devonian? 17 18 Α. Yes, I don't know. 19 Ο. Yeah, I mean, the Devonian, as I know, is over like 18,000. I don't know -- let's say in this 20 particular area, 18,000 to like, yeah, 20,000 feet. 21 And even if you are drilling thousand a foot, I 22 23 mean, that's close to, what, \$18 million with that Devonian well. 24 Thank you for the information. 25 Α. Okay. Page 34

34

	•
	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 35
1	Q. Yeah, okay. And, you know, it was a
2	little bit concerning yesterday. You talked about,
3	this is not the only case that you are bringing up
4	to the Commission. You're going to go after the
5	other units in that area.
6	I'm just thinking about all the totality
7	investment, you know, that is going to be wiped out
8	if the Commission more or less is to proceed to
9	grant Empire fully what you are asking for.
10	Now so when you got to know about
11	and with that, he can stop me from repeating my
12	reach here.
13	So when Empire got to know about the
14	saltwater injection that is going on in the EMSU,
15	was there any discussion with the seller?
16	A. Yes, sir. We spoke to several people at
17	XTO in the Land Department, the Geology Department
18	and inquired about the knowledge and information
19	they had. And their response from each of those was
20	that they did not have any knowledge of the wells
21	being drilled inside the unit.
22	Q. So this is specifically to the Goodnight
23	wells?
24	A. Yes, sir, the Goodnight wells. They were
25	not aware of them or the wells that Permian had
	Page 35

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 drilled in 2020. 2 Ο. Okay. Now, you talked about Goodnight's conduct. You talked about Goodnight's conduct on 3 4 your -- on one of your slides. Α. 5 Yes, sir. It sounds to me that your case is much 6 Ο. 7 bigger, you know -- you know, from what you said yesterday, that you are not just going after 8 Goodnight. You aren't just going after the EMSU. 9 10 You're going after all the other wells, and the 11 Commission, you are putting us on notice that it's coming, right? 12 13 So is it only Goodnight that has damage to 14 inject into the San Andres in all these areas? 15 Α. I don't have the list in front of me, but 16 I think it's a total maybe of six wells, four of 17 which are the Goodnight wells, that are currently injecting that we're going to try to go before the 18 19 Commission and be able to get orders to allow us to 20 do our tertiary recovery operation and save some minerals that are existing in the residual oil zone 21 22 in the San Andres. 23 So when you say that XTO did not -- let's Ο. 24 just say they were not aware that these wells were drilled in 2020, I mean, were they not provided 25

Page 36

36
Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 notices or are you not aware of that? 2 Α. In talking to the people at XTO, none of 3 them acknowledged receipt of those notifications. 4 What they told me was their thought process was that 5 if they had been sent, because the property and the asset had been transferred from XTO over to the 6 7 ExxonMobil divestiture team, that anything that would have come in related to the EMSU unit in the 8 mail, or whatever, would not have gone to XTO, but 9 10 would have been forwarded to the divestiture group 11 at ExxonMobil, whose sole purpose was to sell the 12 asset, not to do any additional expenditures or anything in response to, for example, saltwater 13 14 disposal application. 15 So, sir, is it your testimony that -- so Q. 16 you purchased the asset around March of 2021, and 17 these wells were drilled in 2020. So are you saying that within that period, XTO more or less shut down 18 19 all the operations in the area?

20

A. Is that what I'm requesting?

Q. Yeah. So are you saying that they were
not operating? The entire area was shut down?
Nobody was on-site?

A. There were field people that were withpumpers and operators that are in the Eunice field

Page 37

Veritext Legal Solutions Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah office that handled the property, but none of them were in-house. They were all just field people and pumpers that were working.

4 Ο. You know, the reason why I'm saying that 5 is that, you know, in a normal oil and gas operation, you know, when we are drilling a well --6 7 so I've drilled one well in the San Juan Basin. And as we're drilling the well, we had to bring in 8 oilers operating in the area, third corporations, I 9 10 came around to check out what's going on, you know, 11 in our backyard.

You know, so -- it's surprising when you say that four wells have been drilled in your backyard without anybody knowing about it. I mean, that's --

A. Well, the pumpers and the field hands did, but I'm just as curious as you are. I would go out and check and see what's going on and how and why, and everything. So to drill those wells, it would be very impossible to conceal that.

Q. Yeah. Anyway, I'm going to ask you. So let me ask you this: So there has been talk about it has never happened where operators who do not have an interest in the unitized unit be allowed to inject into, let's say, any structure within that.

Page 38

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 Is it legal? 2 Α. Never in my career have I done that, 3 because what the issue is, is that you have -- first 4 week of law school in oil in gas, you learn that 5 there's air rights, surface rights, and the mineral rights. And you learn that the mineral rights are 6 7 the dominant estate. And, therefore, no activity can take place which infringes upon the mineral 8 rights ownership. So the surface owner does not 9 10 have any authority or right or privilege to execute 11 a surface lease or a saltwater disposal lease down 12 into unitized formation. 13 So all -- so Empire's position is that 14 Goodnight has no rights whatsoever to drill their 15 wells in the first place. And they never came to the Commission and disclosed to the Commission that 16 17 they had no rights to drill those wells. So that's 18 why its trespass on our property. 19 0. So did you permit all the four wells at 20 the same time, do you know? 21 Yes, sir. Α. All at the same time? I mean, all the 22 Ο. 23 wells that have been drilled now, did Goodnight --

24 permitted all of those wells at once?

25

A. No, sir, I don't believe so. If my

Page 39

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 information is correct, they drilled the Ryno well 2 first down into the Devonian. They operated that 3 for a period of time. Came back to the Commission requesting an administrative order to allow them to 4 go and drill and complete into the San Andres. 5 And then the next three wells were drilled into the 6 7 San Andres.

8 So my thinking is it took a year, 9 year-and-a-half, maybe even two years for them to do 10 all of their operations of installing the Wrigley 11 disposal facility and the four wells.

12 Q. So are you also implying that the NM OCD 13 did not do the proper checks before approving those 14 permits?

15 Α. No, sir. My understanding of the law and 16 reading all the OCD regulations and everything, it's not the responsibility of the OCD to go out and 17 investigate if they have a proper surface lease or 18 19 the rights to dispose. That's not the OCD's 20 obligation. Under penalty of law, the operator or the party that's making the application has the 21 22 burden to disclose all of those facts to the OCD so 23 they can make their proper valuation.

And in this case, those notifications were not done properly. There was no notification to the

Page 40

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 41 1 Commission that they were drilling into the Eunice 2 Monument Oil Pool, because it requires you to list 3 the pools that you're injecting into. 4 And what Goodnight elected to do is, rather than list the three pools that they're 5 injecting into, they only reported that they're 6 7 injected into the water number 961221, which was for the San Andres water, saltwater disposal. But they 8 didn't report that they were drilling into the 9 10 Eunice Monument Oil Pool or the Eunice Monument Gas 11 Pool. 12 So they should have listed all three of 13 them so that the Commission could be aware of what 14 their proposal was. 15 So when Empire got to know about this, was Q. 16 there any discussion with OCD? 17 Α. No, sir. We received -- we received, after the acquisition, an email of notifying Empire 18 19 that Goodnight had proposed the Piazza well. And 20 that was when we started doing all the due diligence 21 and work to oppose that. 22 So can you -- I know the Piazza case, you Ο. 23 know, has been brought up a lot between -- the 24 discussion between you and Mr. Rankin. Was that application denied by the OCD? 25

,	
	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 42
1	A. Yes, sir.
2	Q. Why?
3	A. Because they were proposing to drill into
4	a unitized formation, and the Division believed that
5	there was a residual oil zone that was recoverable
6	in the Eunice Monument South Unit. Therefore, they
7	denied the application on the basis of those two
8	maps.
9	Q. So are you saying that OCD
10	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I have no
11	clue what that is. Is it something somebody on a
12	platform that's not muted?
13	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Or the
14	witness. Or the witness.
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Oh.
16	Q (By Commissioner Ampomah) So are you saying
17	that OCD agreed that there is an existing ROZ in the
18	San Andres where Goodnight was planning the
19	injection?
20	A. Yes, sir.
21	Q. And is that listed in the in their
22	conclusion? Was that listed?
23	A. Yes, sir. I don't know recalling the
24	order, I don't know if they used the term ROZ, but
25	they did define that there were recoverable reserves
	Page 42

	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 43
1	in the San Andres, that the injection would violate
2	the rights to recover those.
3	Q. Is that order is that order in evidence
4	for this case?
5	A. This is a de novo case.
6	Q. So it is all gone? Okay, okay.
7	A. So
8	Q. Okay.
9	A. But we have that. If the Commission would
10	like it, we can furnish it to you.
11	Q. So is it the concern of Empire so that
12	you're claiming that there is an existence of ROZ.
13	But still going back to the conduct of Goodnight, is
14	it the volume that they are injecting that is really
15	a problem for you that can impede, let's say, any
16	recovery of ROZ? Or is it mostly they breached the
17	volume of the permit?
18	A. It's affecting the ROZ. I mean, if you
19	look in those four wells, in the surrounding wells
20	that they have within half a mile, a mile of the
21	unit, they're injecting up to 200,000 barrels of
22	wastewater per day. If you approve their five new
23	applications for permits, they're requesting
24	40,000 barrels of daily injection in those.
25	So you're talking about, if the Commission

1	
	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 44
1	approves Goodnight's applications and decide not to
2	revoke the existing wells, you're talking about in
3	excess of 400,000 barrels a day of injection. And
4	it could be even higher because of the Sosa well
5	that Goodnight has permitted, there's no limitation
6	whatsoever as to the number of barrels they could
7	inject.
8	So they could be injecting 100-,
9	150,000 barrels a day just in that one well, if
10	it's if it contingent upon their facility and
11	the pipe and everything, and stuff. But that's
12	totally unlimited.
13	Q. But you are an attorney, so have you seen
14	any order from OCD where there would be no limits on
15	injection or pressure?
16	A. There's a pressure as I recall without
17	it in front of me, there's a pressure requirement,
18	but there's not a limitation on the barrels a day
19	that can be disposed. Whereas their other two
20	wells, both at 40,000 allowable, and the Dawson is
21	25,000. And they have an application for the
22	Commission right now to also increase that to
23	40,000 barrels a day.
24	Q. So, you know, after Empire knowing that
25	there is ongoing saltwater injection and there's

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 45 1 been numerous volumes of water already been injected 2 into the San Andres, how risky is your CO2 project, 3 even if the Commission grants your petition? 4 Α. We strongly believe that there is a 5 phenomenal opportunity to go in there and recover the ROZ through the use of a CO2 project. 6 7 Now, I'm going to speak to this, and I'm not an expert engineer or geologist, but if you 8 9 believe Exxon's representations that there's 912 million barrels of oil in the residual oil 10 11 zone -- and historically, the CO2 projects that have been on the eastern shelf and also, for example, in 12 13 the Hobbs that is on the western shelf as the CO2 14 project and recover up to 40 percent of that residual oil zone. 15 So you're talking about 350, 16 375 million barrels that's recoverable today. 17 And depending on the new technology and everything that 18 19 should be discovered every day in CO2 floods in 20 operation, it could be even greater than that. So now I've heard about -- so is it 21 0. Empire's position that your recovery factor is going 22 23 to be about 40 percent? 24 Α. That's the lawyer speaking. I'd have to -- I'd have to decline my decision to the 25 Page 45

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 46 1 engineers. 2 Ο. Okay. Okay. And I'm sure Mr. West will 3 testify to all of that, right? Yeah, probably when I finish my testimony, 4 Α. I'll be in very bad trouble with Mr. West because I 5 have passed the buck so many times to him. 6 7 Ο. Then I have other questions for you. So it is the Commission's responsibility to also 8 9 prevent waste, correct? 10 Yes, sir, to prevent waste and preserve Α. 11 our correlative rights. And even more important is the fact that 58, 59 percent of the unit is owned by 12 13 the New Mexico State Land Office. 14 So it's imperative that the Commission 15 protect the rights of the State Land Office lands 16 and the BLM as the major owners of those lands that 17 they're attempting to destroy. Yeah, so I'll finish my question here. 18 Ο. So 19 what is Empire's strategy to prevent waste as in 20 relation to the high volume of water that needs to be produced even first seen -- the first oil 21 22 production from the ROZ? 23 I would have to respond once again, that's Α. 24 probably something you could ask Mr. West that I'm 25 not an expert on. Page 46

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 1 So Empire's relying on existing Ο. Okav. 2 information to prove to the Commission that the 3 existence of ROZ, but based on all the testimony that we see in here -- or we're hearing, Empire has 4 not done their own extensive site authorization to 5 really solidify the claims here. 6 So don't you believe that -- you talked 7 about three wells that you're planning to drill. 8 Don't you believe that those wells need to be 9 10 drilled to really get more definitive information to 11 be able to solidify your case? 12 Α. We believe there's enough evidence to 13 date, but I think Mr. Beck was very succinct in his 14 questioning. In that each of the witnesses -- and I 15 don't know if this is just geologists and engineers, 16 but they never seem satisfied with enough data, and 17 they always want more and more data. So it was sort of like when Dr. Buchwalter 18 19 was testifying, he had done all of this entry of 20 data into his database. And then it came up, "Well, did you include perforations? Well, no." 21 22 You know, so, I mean, his whole testimony 23 was falling apart because he hadn't done enough, whereas, he spent eight, ten months working on it 24 and done hundreds of wells, and stuff, and it still 25

> Veritext Legal Solutions Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

Page 47

	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 48
1	wasn't enough for it, so
2	Q. Interesting. So you talk about the
3	interest of BLM and then also State Land Office.
4	Has any of these agencies provided interest or
5	support for your application?
6	A. The application to the Commission or
7	Q. Yes.
8	A application to drill new wells?
9	Q. Yeah, to revoke all the existing injection
10	into the EMSU.
11	A. Yes. We furnished the documentations to
12	the Commission with our motions to revoke.
13	Q. So are you saying BLM and State Land
14	Office have furnished supporting letters to support
15	the application?
16	A. Yes, sir, I believe so.
17	Q. Oh. So is that in evidence?
18	A. I would have to defer to my counsel.
19	Q. Okay. Okay. Do you have we were going
20	back and forth to Mr. Beck. It sounds like there
21	was some documentation in establishing, let's say,
22	injection authority in some of these areas around
23	the area that we are talking about. Do you have any
24	knowledge if such documentation exists for the EMSU
25	to allow the injection into the San Andres?

	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 49
1	A. No, sir. Those the Eunice Monument
2	saltwater agreement that he was speaking of, that
3	was from 1958. And I haven't been able to have
4	I'm not an expert in technology with all the new
5	things that young people can do. But I wasn't able
6	to locate anything within the OCD that related back
7	to the Commission hearing and the applications and
8	formations way back in 1958, so I don't have
9	knowledge on that.
10	Q. So the documentation that Mr. Beck was
11	showing to you, is that in relation to the EMSU or
12	is it a different area within that area within
13	that premises?
14	A. It was within the EMSU.
15	Q. So even if within the EMSU, Empire also
16	signed off to that immediately after signing
17	closing your deal. So why would Empire do that if
18	they had the thoughts of probably pursuing the ROZ?
19	A. Mr. Pritchard just signed a lot of
20	documents, and stuff, after the acquisition. And I
21	have no knowledge why he had done that or anything
22	about the well.
23	Once again, that was a consortium of oil
24	and gas companies that were in the area. And the
25	disposal was just for those wells and those

Page 49

	r , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 50
1	operators. It was not a commercial operation.
2	So I don't have historic information of
3	the volume that's been injected since 1958. But I
4	would suggest to the Commission that it was not a
5	tremendously high volume that would have affected.
6	But the other thing is, is recognize that
7	this was from 1958, and the unit was not formed from
8	1984. And here, I would defer to you as an expert
9	that I I had never heard of CO2 or residual oil
10	zone, or anything, till late '90s. So that was 15
11	years after the unit was formed and stuff.
12	So there was no recognition of the
13	problems that the saltwater disposal into the unit
14	ties formation would occur.
15	Q. You know, so I've been on the Commission,
16	probably in my fourth year now, and I've seen how
17	the Commission do value industry partners coming
18	together to really find solution. And in this case,
19	it is preventing waste. You know, in this case,
20	preventing waste.
21	So that 1955 document you are referring
22	to, don't you believe that that solidifies or
23	that, more or less, sheds light on the fact that the
24	San Andres at that time was erroneously included in
25	the unitization?
	Daga E0

1

Α.

Examination by Commissioner Ampomah Yes, sir, I would believe so.

Q. Okay. So then in that case, NM OCD has not done anything wrong if, let's say, they approve saltwater injection in the San Andres from 1955 up until now. Would you agree with that?

Well, I don't think that the Commission 6 Α. 7 was responsible. I think it was the Division, and because there were no protests at the time, they 8 were administratively approved without a hearing. 9 10 So there was never any discovery or determination as 11 to the unitized interval that they were injecting 12 into or the invalidity of their rights to drill from 13 the surface for any agreement with the surface 14 owners or any disclosure that it would be into the 15 Eunice Monument Oil Pool.

So none of those matters came before the Division for them to hear the testimony. So this is the first time that I believe that the Commission is being put on notice of that.

20 So the Commission Division didn't do 21 anything improperly, but now with the new evidence, 22 I think that the Commission can take the appropriate 23 action. And if the Commission determines that 24 they're not going to revoke the four existing wells, 25 for example, I would urge the Commission to -- at a

Page 51

	•
	Examination by Commissioner Ampomah 52
1	minimum, to suspend the injection at the current
2	time until Goodnight can furnish the Commission
3	irrefutable proof from a board-certified oil and gas
4	lawyer who could prove to the Commission that
5	Goodnight had the right to drill those wells in the
6	first place.
7	Q. So if I flip that and then ask you and
8	let's say if Empire will be willing to say that,
9	okay, Commission should suspend, like you said, all
10	the saltwater injection that is going on in the EMSU
11	right now, give Empire time to prove that the oil,
12	the ROZ, if it is there, is recoverable, will you be
13	open to that?
14	A. That is the most fabulous suggestion I've
15	heard this whole ten days of hearing.
16	Q. And how many years will Empire be open to
17	that?
18	A. You know, you're getting me in more and
19	more trouble with Mr. West. But I would think we
20	could do it within a couple of years.
21	Q. So within that couple of years, Empire
22	will have the opportunity to drill the other wells?
23	A. Yes, sir.
24	Q. And prove to see that if any of these
25	claims you know, real evidence that the ROZ
	Page 52
	Page 52

Examination by Commissioner Lamkin 53 1 indeed exists and it's recoverable? 2 Α. Yes, sir. COMMISSIONER AMPOMAH: Thank you, 3 4 sir. I do not have any further questions for you. 5 Thank you for your time. 6 JACK WHEELER: Thank you. 7 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you, 8 Doctor. Mr. Lamkin? 9 10 EXAMINATION 11 BY COMMISSIONER LAMKIN: Good morning, Mr. Wheeler. Thank you for 12 Ο. 13 your testimony the past day. I have a couple of questions for clarification. 14 15 Do you know where the newly permitted wells are located within the EMSU? 16 Yes, sir. They're in Section 17, down in 17 Α. the lower southern portion. 18 19 Ο. I don't mean the Goodnight wells. I mean the Empire permitted well, the test wells. 20 There's one down within -- or in the 21 Α. Oh. middle of the four Goodnight wells. There's one up 22 on the crest of the unit, which would be on the 23 24 right side of the existing unit. 25 And then the other one, I think, is

Page 53

Examination by Commissioner Lamkin 54 1 further north. So it would cover a significant area 2 of the EMSU to give you the determination if it's 3 limited to one area or if we can prove up throughout the entire EMSU unit. 4

5

Ο.

Would Empire core all three wells? 6 Α. Oh, yes, sir. We talked about 7 Mr. McShane -- didn't speak to it, but when we're doing the AFEs for those, they talked about all the 8 different -- three different types of coring, and 9 10 stuff, and went out and tried to receive some bids, 11 and stuff, and everything on that. And some of the 12 figures that came back would be that -- all the cost 13 of the coring and everything would be approximately 14 \$800,000.

15 So did you say that your timeline for Q. 16 Empire to affect a CO2 EOR project in the EMSU would 17 be two years post approval from the Division and 18 assignment of capital from your investors?

19 Α. No, sir. In X's -- I mean, New Mexico did 20 not start approving the waterflood operations till the late '70s, 1980s. In Texas, the waterflood 21 operation were approved back in the '40s. 22

23 So if you do a timeline from the time 24 period where you get the primary production, then do a secondary recovery waterflood is -- could be 30 to 25

Page 54

	Examination by Commissioner Lamkin 55
1	50 years. So right now in Texas, the secondary
2	recovery has been concluded, and now there's
3	tertiary recovery. So that's why in the last 10 or
4	15 years, there's been approvals for the CO2.
5	In the state of New Mexico, I'm not aware
6	of the timeframe that it would take, but when I
7	prepared the request for authorization for a CO2
8	project on some properties that I worked up in
9	western Colorado and down along the Louisiana coast,
10	then those consents took up to two years, just to
11	get the consents after the order was requested.
12	So I don't know the Commission's response
13	to how long they would think that it would take, but
14	it's significant due diligence. One of the key
15	things is, is Mr. Moander has raised the issue about
16	how our operations, and stuff, would affect some
17	water aquifers, and stuff, and the Hobbs channel,
18	for example, or the Capitan Reef.
19	So there would have to be a significant
20	amount of research, due diligence. And I would
21	probably suggest to the Commission that it's my
22	belief that three wells won't be adequate, that they
23	could require us to drill another three or four more
24	wells to give them the proof that they need to be
25	comfortable to approve the CO2 project.

Examination by Commissioner Lamkin So I don't believe that we could get the approval and get prepared to do the CO2 operations in two years.

Q. So then -- you're talking about the timeline to drill the additional three wells, or whatever the Commission would require, is to -mainly for delineation of the ROZ and confirmation of the claims that you guys have made in your testimony thus far?

10

A. Yeah.

Q. I'm mainly speaking about if you -- if you guys had consent from the Commission to establish an EOR project and you had committed capital from your company, what do you think the timeline is in reference to Commissioner Ampomah's question about performing a pilot to verify that the ROZ is there and it's producible?

A. If you just do a small, small pilot project and the Commission requests it, I believe that we can get it and do it within that two-year period, where we're talking about drilling the wells and coring and then the analysis and everything of that to present to the Commission.

24 Q. Okay. And then I guess my last question 25 is: Do you know of any discussions internally at

	Examination by Chairman Razatos 57
1	Empire about the possibility of running any
2	experiments to determine whether or not you're
3	seeing fluid migration from the San Andres into the
4	Grayburg, or anything like that, that you could
5	present to the Commission that would give us, you
6	know, more data to backstop our decision on?
7	A. Yes, sir. Mr. West's testimony. I think
8	he'll present some of that information and data.
9	And if as we spoke previously, if you-all did
10	suspend their operations of injection during this
11	period of time that we're doing the research and
12	stuff, we can do additional research and get
13	documentation that would satisfy the Commission of
14	that information request.
15	COMMISSIONER LAMKIN: Thank you.
16	Those are all of my questions.
17	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you,
18	Mr. Lamkin.
19	Chairman Razatos, do you have questions?
20	CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Thank you.
21	EXAMINATION
22	BY CHAIRMAN RAZATOS:
23	Q. And thank you, Mr. Wheeler, for your
24	testimony. We appreciate it.
25	Commissioner Ampomah asked the majority of
	Page 57

Examination by Chairman Razatos my questions, but I just wanted to follow up on what the commissioner asked you. Mr. Wheeler, I stated you have support from the State Land Office, written support for this action. Did I understand that correctly?

We've communicated with the State Land 6 Α. 7 Office. I don't know the degree of approval that they've given us. But it's my understanding that 8 they have stated that their responsibility is for 9 10 the State lands, and if what Goodnight is doing and 11 is proposing to do would have negative effects on the State lands, then they would be opposed to those 12 13 continued operations.

14 Q. And was this something that was submitted 15 into evidence, that you know of?

16 A. No, sir. As my understanding, it was just 17 telephone conversations or maybe even face-to-face 18 discussions, but I'm not -- I don't recall exactly 19 how that transpired.

20 Q. Okay. Because that's a pretty heavy duty 21 statement that is made. And this Commission would 22 definitely be interested in seeing any 23 communications that were with the State Land Office 24 and their support of Empire's action in this 25 particular case.

	Suck (Viloole) April 9, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 59
1	So I find it interesting that we you
2	know, that's kind of thrown out there, but the
3	information wasn't retained or no communication was
4	maintained from State Land Office on the said
5	matter.
6	CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: So I think that's
7	my only question as well. Thank you.
8	JACK WHEELER: Yes, sir.
9	MR. SHANDLER: I have some questions.
10	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I was going
11	to say, Mr. Shandler.
12	CROSS-EXAMINATION
13	BY MR. SHANDLER:
14	Q. Good morning. I'm going to be looking at
15	the Order Partially Amending the Commission's
16	July 2, 2024, order with respect to the scope of
17	hearing because I view that as the jury
18	instructions.
19	So as we come to the close of your case in
20	chief, I want to go through some points. And I will
21	give you this document in just a second.
22	But point number 2 says, "The granting of
23	applications by Empire would prevent the impairment
24	of correlative rights or waste in the EMSU."
25	I'll give you that. So just to lay it out
	Page 59

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 1 what the jury will -- can look at, according to you, 2 number 2, what is -- what is Empire's applications? 3 What are you asking for? 4 Α. We're asking for the revoking of the four 5 existing permits where disposal is taking place. We are asking that the four new applications be denied. 6 7 And then the third matter would be moot if they revoke the four permits that are existing, then the 8 request to increase the saltwater disposal from 9 10 25,000 to 40,000 barrels in the Dawson well would be 11 moot and wouldn't have to be addressed. Okay. And you believe there's enough 12 Ο. 13 evidence of oil in place in the San Andres, correct? 14 Yes, sir, I think it's compelling Α. 15 evidence. 16 Okay. And it would be wasteful to leave Ο. 17 that oil in place in the San Andres, correct? Well, our belief is that you don't -- it 18 Α. 19 won't leave it in the San Andres, that the 20 pressuring up and the volumes of water going in are going to cause the ROZ to migrate off of the lease 21 and into adjoining lands and stuff, which would 22 23 destroy the ROZ potential for us to do a CO2 24 project. Okay. So does it matter in the jury's 25 Ο.

Page 60

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 61 calculation or the Commission's calculation whether there's been a well since 1955 into the San Andres? Should they weigh that at all in their calculations?

Well, recognizing that the unit wasn't 4 Α. formed until 1984 and that well was approved in 5 1958, I think it's going to be a stronger burden on 6 us to try to get a decision from the Commission on 7 that operation. But the current disposal operations 8 by Goodnight are the most significant impairing of 9 10 our rights and creating the waste and violating the 11 correlative rights is why we separated the hearing 12 proposal to the Commission to first have the hearing 13 for Goodnight's operations and then at a later date 14 evaluate and determine what proposal we would give 15 the Commission on the other existing wells within 16 the unit.

Q. Can the Commission provide any weight to the fact that after the unit was formed, I think in 19 1984, this use still went on? Can they provide any 20 weight to that in their deliberations?

A. Yes, sir. The ROZ concept wasn't something that existed in '84, and, therefore, there was no issue or concern about the injection. The fracture study by Dr. Lindsay had not been done until the late '90s, 2000s, and stuff. So the

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler operators were not aware of the fracturing and the migration of the water up from the San Andres into the Grayburg.

So I'm sure from your experience, you recognize the tremendous changes in technology during the last 45 years that I've been an oil and gas attorney. And things are ever changing, and when they change, you have to respond to that and accommodate that.

So to have done that in 1958 or not being an issue in 1984, I think is reflective of just the fact that the technology and the science had not evolved to where there was a residual oil zone for pressure recovery potential.

Q. Assuming the Commission determines that the permits issued to Goodnight were valid, can the Commission provide any weight to Goodnight's reliance on the government's issuance of permits to that? Can they provide any weight to that in their deliberation?

A. No, sir, I don't believe that they can
because those permits were acquired fraudulently.
The correct information relating to the pool,
relating to their right to drill with surface leases
and saltwater agreement leases are all invalid.

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 63
1	So I would suggest to you that the
2	Commission under no circumstances would have
3	approved those permits had they been aware of it
4	being injected into the saltwater interval within
5	the San Andres. And I think that that is something
6	that you-all can go back and look at the Division
7	order at the point where that information was
8	disclosed through the Division, at which point the
9	permit was denied.
10	Q. If the Commission does determine the
11	permits were validly granted, do you think they can
12	weigh whether Goodnight relied on the government in
13	issuance of the permits?
14	A. No, sir.
15	Q. Can the Commission weigh some of the
16	history about whether your organization and your
17	predecessor organization should have known that
18	Goodnight was there, can there be any weight
19	assigned to that?
20	A. I really can't speak to that because we
21	we've had an issue finding evidence that they did
22	know and could have objected. So that's an area
23	that I can't respond to, sir.
24	Q. Can the Commission assign any weight to
25	Goodnight's economic value in their company
	Page 63

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 1 production? Can that be part of weighing 2 calculation? Well, we've requested that they move the 3 Α. wells outside of the unit. And I don't want to put 4 myself in a bind, but our chairman has mentioned at 5 times that if Goodnight would do that, that Empire 6 7 might even contribute to them drilling the new wells and moving them outside of our unit. 8 9 My question was: Can the Commission Q. assign any weight to Goodnight's economic value and 10 11 rights as a company in their production of these 12 wells? 13 Α. I'm not an expert in that, so I can't 14 speak to it. 15 Can the Commission assign any weight to 0. 16 the fact that Empire does not have a current 17 application for the recovery of the ROZ at this time? Can they assign that any weight? 18 19 Α. No, sir. I mean, the time that it takes 20 for you to do primary and then secondary recovery and then move to tertiary recovery, it's not a one 21 to two-year span. It could take up to ten years to 22 23 get the approval, get a pipeline for CO2 transportation, go in, remediate all of the wells so 24 that you can do a CO2 project, drill the new wells 25

Page 64

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Shandler 65
1	that have to be drilled to do a CO2 project would
2	conservatively probably take eight to ten years. So
3	the fact that we haven't made an application, it's
4	just the fact that it's premature.
5	Q. Can the Commission assign any weight to
6	the fact that your own consulting experts said
7	there's fractures between the Grayburg and the
8	San Andres? Can the Commission assign any weight to
9	that evidence?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	Q. Can the Commission assign any weight to a
12	discussion about whether the ROZ is actually
13	recoverable? Can they assign any weight to that
14	deliberation?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. Okay.
17	MR. SHANDLER: Thank you very much
18	for helping us figure out what that jury instruction
19	may look like.
20	JACK WHEELER: Thank you.
21	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.
22	Thank you, Mr. Shandler.
23	Let's see, it's 10:41. Why don't we go
24	ahead and take our midmorning break, and we'll come
25	back for redirect at let's be back at 11:00.
	Page 65

	Examination by Dr. Ampomah 66
1	Oh, I'm sorry, Dr. Ampomah has more
2	questions.
3	EXAMINATION
4	BY DR. AMPOMAH:
5	Q. I do have one more question for you, and I
б	forgot about that. So
7	A. I thought I was finished.
8	Q. No, just a quick one. So you talked about
9	there was a discussion between Empire and Goodnight
10	to move the operations to a particular distance
11	where Empire would not protest. And even just now
12	you said Empire was willing to support the drilling
13	of those wells.
14	Can you state to the Commission what
15	distance are we talking about here?
16	A. What zone?
17	Q. No, what distance.
18	A. Oh. Outside of two miles of the EMSU unit
19	boundaries.
20	Q. And still injecting into the San Andres?
21	A. Yes, sir.
22	Q. Okay, thank you.
23	COMMISSIONER AMPOMAH: No further
24	questions.
25	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.
	Page 66

Veritext Legal Solutions Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 www.veritext.com

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 67
1	Midmorning break. Let's recommence at 11:00.
2	(Recess was taken from 10:42 a.m. until 11:00 a.m.)
3	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
4	Let's go back on the record. All right. So over
5	the break, we decided, given the statements that
6	have been made since cross-examination commenced,
7	that we're going to give the parties another round
8	at cross-examination. I expect that I'm
9	anticipating a request that would be made anyway.
10	So here's the here are the options.
11	You could redirect the witness now, Ms. Shaheen, or
12	you can wait and redirect the witness later after a
13	recross-examination. And let me also add, if you
14	elect to redirect the witness now, it doesn't mean
15	you wouldn't get to redirect him again after
16	recross, just so it's clear.
17	MS. SHEEHAN: I will do a redirect
18	now and then again after recross.
19	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay,
20	perfect.
21	REDIRECT EXAMINATION
22	BY MS. SHAHEEN:
23	Q. Mr. Wheeler, do you recall talking
24	yesterday, I believe it was with with Mr. Rankin,
25	about the purchase and sale agreement?
	Page 67
	rage 07

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 68
1	A. Yes, ma'am.
2	Q. And that purchase and sale agreement is
3	with XTO; is that right?
4	A. Yes, ma'am.
5	Q. And it's not with ExxonMobil?
б	A. Correct.
7	Q. So the representations that you reviewed
8	with Mr. Rankin, those were with respect to XTO,
9	right?
10	A. Correct.
11	Q. And not any you made no representations
12	to Exxon you made no representations to
13	ExxonMobil about not relying on their opinions,
14	correct?
15	A. Correct.
16	Q. You relied on the representations of
17	ExxonMobil with respect to the ROZ the existence
18	of the ROZ in the San Andres; is that right?
19	A. Yes, ma'am.
20	Q. Not XTO?
21	A. Yes, ma'am.
22	Q. Do you remember you know what, I might
23	have some issues here making sure I'm able to share.
24	Let me just double check.
25	Okay. You remember Mr. Rankin
	Page 68

	-
	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 69
1	Mr. Rankin asking you about some language in the
2	testimony of Mr. West?
3	A. Yes, ma'am.
4	Q. And he characterized that language as
5	Mr. West's testimony that there hasn't been any
6	production from the San Andres; is that right?
7	A. Yes, ma'am.
8	Q. Is Mr. Rankin's characterization of
9	Mr. West's testimony accurate when reviewed in
10	context? And I'm going to share that with everyone
11	now.
12	Is this the paragraph that you discussed
13	with Mr. Rankin?
14	A. Yes, ma'am.
15	Q. And Mr. Rankin referred to this last
16	sentence in the paragraph, correct, where it states
17	that, "No wells have produced from the San Andres at
18	EMSU"?
19	A. Yes, ma'am.
20	Q. And in context of the entire paragraph,
21	including this first highlighted section, is
22	Mr. Rankin's characterization of Mr. West's
23	testimony accurate?
24	A. No, ma'am.
25	Q. And why is that?
	Page 69

Jack Wheeler	- April	9,	2025
--------------	---------	----	------

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 70
1	A. If you look at the first sentence there on
2	paragraph 6, it states that that relates to 1986,
3	not to the life of the history of the operation of
4	the EMSU.
5	Q. And there have been wells that were
6	drilled into the San Andres after 1986, correct?
7	A. Yeah.
8	Q. And two of those wells have produced oil
9	from the San Andres; is that right?
10	A. Yes, ma'am.
11	Q. Do you recall which wells those are?
12	A. I think the 660 and 658.
13	Q. You were also asked by Dr. Ampomah about
14	the San Andres classification as an aquifer. Do you
15	recall that discussion this morning?
16	A. Partially. I just problem with my
17	hearing aids so I took them off. So it was
18	difficult to totally understand what he was asking
19	all the time. And in consideration of him, I tried
20	to answer them to the best of my ability, but I
21	discovered since, that he asked questions that I
22	didn't understand and I answered them incorrect.
23	Q. Can you clarify Empire's position in
24	respect to the San Andres classification as an
25	aquifer?

Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 71 Yes, ma'am. We believe that it's within 1 Α. 2 the unitized formation and is a productive residual 3 oil zone. 4 Ο. And you were also asked by Dr. Ampomah whether you believed that the San Andres was 5 erroneously included in the unitized interval. 6 Do 7 you remember that question? Α. I didn't understand it, no, ma'am. 8 Well, can you please clarify Empire's 9 0. position with respect to whether the San Andres was 10 11 erroneously included in the unitized interval? 12 Α. Yes, ma'am. It is our position that it 13 was not. 14 You also spoke earlier about this position Ο. 15 of the State Land Office with respect to the 16 applications at issue in this proceeding. Do you recall that discussion? 17 18 Α. Yes, ma'am. 19 Ο. And have you refreshed your memory now at 20 this time with respect to the State Land Office and its position? 21 22 Yes, ma'am. When I spoke to counsel who Α. 23 had had those conversations, and stuff, I apologized to Mr. Chairman, in that I was incorrect, that there 24 have been discussions. But there hadn't been an 25

	1
	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 72
1	affirmative written or a verbal approval of that by
2	the State Land Office.
3	Q. You testified yesterday about a recent
4	Texas case involving Goodnight. Do you recall that?
5	A. Yes, ma'am.
6	Q. Is this the case that you were referring
7	to?
8	A. Yes, ma'am, it's Basic Energy.
9	Q. Basic Energy Services versus PPC Energy;
10	is that right?
11	A. Yes, ma'am.
12	Q. And when was this this is an appellate
13	opinion, is it not, from Texas?
14	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I
15	object to this line of questioning. I didn't ask
16	I don't know where I mean, this was this is
17	being elicited on top of I'm not sure why what
18	gives her the right now to present this testimony or
19	this evidence. I this was not something I asked
20	him about. I don't understand where this is coming
21	from.
22	MR. MOANDER: OCD would join that
23	objection.
24	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
25	Well, let's see where it's going first. I don't
	Page 72
Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 73
1	MR. RANKIN: Can I ask I mean, I
2	don't understand what the basis is for Ms. Shaheen
3	to present this testimony based on the questions
4	that were asked by myself or any other counsel or
5	the Commission.
6	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Where are
7	you going with this, Ms. Shaheen?
8	MS. SHEEHAN: Mr. Wheeler testified
9	about this case yesterday, and the commissioners
10	seem to take an interest in it. We thought it would
11	be helpful for the commissioners to see what
12	Mr. Wheeler was testifying about. And counsel for
13	Goodnight and for the Division can cross-examine
14	Mr. Wheeler on it in their recross.
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: What's the
16	point to be made from the case?
17	MS. SHEEHAN: The point to be made is
18	that the injection that Goodnight is doing here is
19	occurring elsewhere and causing the same issues that
20	Empire has raised in this matter.
21	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.
22	Well, it's getting close to not being factual
23	testimony and, you know, being offered in support of
24	a legal opinion or conclusion which, I think, is up
25	to Mr. Shandler to advise the Commission on.

Page 73

Veritext Legal Solutions Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 74
1	So unless you can lay more of a foundation
2	for it, I'm inclined to exclude it.
3	MS. SHEEHAN: Actually, the points
4	that we would bring up would be factual issues that
5	are similar to the factual issues here.
6	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Examiner, I strongly
7	object to this. I did not question Mr. Wheeler on
8	any of these issues. It was totally outside the
9	scope of my cross. There's no factual foundation by
10	anybody with subject matter expertise to establish
11	any basis for Mr. Wheeler, who is a lawyer, to
12	discuss any of these issues before the Commission.
13	This is in a different state, different
14	I mean, completely unrelated issues that have not
15	been established. And there's no basis for
16	Ms. Shaheen now to attempt to bring in additional
17	direct testimony that is not part of his written
18	testimony, wasn't part of the cross, and it's
19	completely outside the scope of what she should be
20	permitted to do.
21	MS. SHEEHAN: Mr. Rankin specifically
22	asked Mr. Wheeler the name of the case that he was
23	referring to and then offered the name of a
24	different case to ask him if that was the case that
25	he was discussing.

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 75
1	So it was the subject of Mr. Rankin's
2	cross-examination, and I think it comes within the
3	scope of redirect at this time.
4	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Yeah, I
5	don't think it does. I mean, and the fact that a
6	witness a lawyer witness referred to an
7	out-of-state precedent doesn't mean that Mr. Rankin
8	brought it up and made it an issue in the case.
9	If you guys think that it's relevant,
10	again, as we stated, if at the end of this case you
11	want to submit legal briefing and Mr. Wheeler thinks
12	this supports Empire's position, it seems to me
13	that's an appropriate place to, you know, bring up
14	extraterritorial legal precedence.
15	So I'm going to agree and will exclude
16	this at this time. And if you will please move on.
17	Q (By Ms. Sheehan) Mr. Wheeler, you testified
18	earlier about Goodnight's representations in its
19	applications for the its existing wells and its
20	disclosure of only one pool code. What is Empire's
21	position about what should have been disclosed by
22	Goodnight to the Division when it filed its
23	applications?
24	A. That they should have included all three
25	pools, the Eunice Monument Oil Pool, the Eunice

Jack	Wheeler -	April	9,	2025
------	-----------	-------	----	------

Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 76 1 Monument Gas Pool, and that would be under the order 2 7767 and then the 96121 San Andres saltwater 3 disposal. 4 0. Were there any other concerns about Goodnight's applications? 5 They failed to disclose to 6 Α. Yes, ma'am. 7 the Commission or the Division that they had no rights to dispose into our mineral leased . . . 8 And does that relate to their surface 9 Ο. agreement or their -- surface agreements or their 10 11 lack of sufficient surface agreements? 12 Α. Yes, ma'am. 13 Earlier you talked about the plugging and Ο. 14 abandonment and remediation liabilities that Empire 15 assumed. Do you recall talking about that earlier? 16 Yes, ma'am. Α. 17 Ο. And there was some discussion about 18 specific numbers as to how Empire has recently 19 determined a specific number with respect to that 20 P&A liability. Do you recall that discussion? 21 Yes, ma'am. Α. 22 And isn't it true that Empire knew when it Ο. 23 entered into the purchase and sale agreement that it 24 would have plugging and abandonment liabilities, right? 25 Page 76

	Redirect Examination by Ms. Shaheen 77
1	A. Yes, ma'am.
2	Q. And that it was assuming all of the
3	requirements to remediate, if required, or reclaim
4	sites and plug all of the wells; is that right?
5	A. Yes, ma'am.
6	Q. It was just in recent times that you've
7	put a specific number on that in current costs; is
8	that right?
9	A. Yes, ma'am.
10	Q. You were asked earlier about the status of
11	filing the complaint against Rice and OWL. Do you
12	recall that yesterday?
13	A. Yes, ma'am.
14	Q. And has your memory been refreshed in
15	regard to the procedural status of that case?
16	A. Yes, ma'am.
17	Q. And can you tell the commissioners what
18	the status of the complaint is? Has it been filed?
19	A. Yes, ma'am, it has been filed.
20	Q. But it has not been served; is that right?
21	A. Yes, ma'am.
22	MS. SHEEHAN: I pass the witness.
23	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.
24	Thank you, Ms. Shaheen.
25	And I would just ask that the parties not
	Page 77

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 78
1	go over territory that's already covered. It's a
2	limited right to recross the witness on, you know,
3	new statements that have been made since you've last
4	cross-examined the witness, of which there were
5	many.
6	MR. RANKIN: Let me I apologize,
7	I'm just kind of there's a lot of statements, and
8	I'm working my way to ascertain to your points,
9	Mr. Hearing Officer, that I don't unnecessarily
10	retread ground. And I apologize, but I'm just going
11	to do my best to do it in a timely way.
12	RECROSS-EXAMINATION
13	BY MR. RANKIN:
14	Q. Mr. Wheeler, during your testimony
15	subsequent to my cross-examination of you,
16	Dr. Ampomah was asking you about Empire's knowledge
17	of the existence of commercial disposal wells in the
18	EMSU. And you had a discourse with him about who
19	was on-site, whether anybody was there, who would
20	know about it, and you stated that it would be, you
21	know, impossible not to recognize that there were
22	these wells being drilled if you were on-site. You
23	testified that the employees or were contractors
24	for XTO at the time; is that correct? Who were
25	on-site?

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 1 I don't know if they were contractors or Α. 2 employees at the time. 3 Okay. When I deposed Mr. West, I Ο. 4 specifically asked him about the employees who were with XTO and who -- if any of those employees came 5 over to Empire after the acquisition. And Mr. West 6 7 testified that, in fact, there were numerous employees of XTO, including the regional manager of 8 EMSU, who was officed in the EMSU on-site and that 9 10 the field members -- and I'm going to share with you 11 on my screen the deposition of Mr. William West. 12 And I asked him specifically, "So some of the field 13 members" -- do you see that on your screen? 14 Yes, sir. Α. 15 Q. "So some of the field members are still 16 there who previously worked with ExxonMobil?" 17 "Yes." "Would that include Toby Holland?" 18 19 "Yes." 20 And Mr. Holland previously -- as I previously inquired of Mr. West, was the regional 21 22 Mr. West he testified was on-site in New manager. 23 Mexico, and his duties and responsibilities included 24 managing on-site at the EMSU. 25 Do you see that line of questioning with Page 79

79

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 80
1	Mr. West?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. Okay. Were you are you familiar with
4	Mr. Holland?
5	A. I've met him.
6	Q. Okay. So Mr. Holland was on-site and was
7	the regional manager for the EMSU for XTO and
8	continues in that role with Empire, correct?
9	A. I'll have to defer to Mr. West. I
10	don't I'm not responsible for any of the
11	employees in the field, so I can't speak to who is
12	or is not and what their current titles are.
13	Q. Okay.
14	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I
15	would ask to move the admission of the deposition of
16	Mr. William West in this case. It was taken on
17	December 4, 2024. I would move it as Goodnight
18	cross Exhibit Number 18.
19	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Are you
20	asking to move into evidence the entire deposition
21	or just the reference pages?
22	MR. RANKIN: Okay. Let me well,
23	I I'm afraid yes, let me the pages that I
24	would ask to be included into the record, then,
25	would be pages on either side of page 40, so 39, 40,
	Page 80

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 81
1	41, and then 53, 54, and 55.
2	MS. SHEEHAN: Empire objects to
3	admitting any deposition testimony into the record.
4	Mr. West is next up as a witness, and Mr. Rankin can
5	cross-examine him about these statements.
6	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Why
7	don't why don't we wait until I expect you'll
8	go there with Mr. West. Why don't we wait until
9	then.
10	MR. RANKIN: Okay.
11	Q (By Mr. Rankin) Mr. Wheeler, yesterday when
12	I was crossing you, you told me that the managers
13	who were responsible for the acquisition and
14	management of the EMSU and the properties in New
15	Mexico were fired, correct?
16	A. I'm not sure if that's the correct
17	terminology. They were either terminated or left,
18	but they're all gone.
19	Q. And why were they why was it that they
20	were either terminated or left?
21	A. Who left or who terminated them?
22	Q. Well, my question is: Why did they why
23	were they terminated or why did they leave?
24	A. I wasn't here at the time and wasn't
25	involved in those actions, so I can't speak to that.
	Page 81

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 82
1	Q. When were they when did they leave,
2	Mr. Wheeler?
3	A. They had all left prior to me coming to
4	work for Empire in September of 2023.
5	Q. And I think you testified that Empire
6	found out about the SWDs in August of 2023; is that
7	correct?
8	A. Yes, sir.
9	Q. Or at least Empire's management. And you
10	referred to that as Mr. Mulacek; is that right?
11	A. Yes, sir.
12	Q. But Mr. Morrisett was there continuously
13	from the time of the acquisition and continues to be
14	there, correct?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. I mean, he's the president of the company,
17	correct?
18	A. Yes, sir.
19	Q. Okay. So you don't know I mean, if it
20	was discovered in August of 2023 and they had been
21	gone by the time you joined in September of 2023,
22	they would have been separated from the company
23	prior to Empire discovering that there was SWDs
24	on-site, correct?
25	A. With the current management of Empire,
	Page 82

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 83
1	yes, sir.
2	Q. Okay. You discussed with Mr. Ampomah
3	or Dr. Ampomah the fact that you are aware that
4	Goodnight Midstream has a pipeline that's used,
5	about 67 miles, correct?
б	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And that pipeline services produced water
8	from the Delaware Basin, correct?
9	A. That's my understanding.
10	Q. And if and if that pipeline is if
11	Goodnight's wells are shut in, then those operators
12	in the basin who are supplying produced water for
13	disposal through Goodnight's wells would either have
14	to shut in their production or find alternative
15	disposal sources, correct?
16	A. Correct.
17	Q. And that could have an impact on their
18	ability to continue to produce and generate revenue
19	and oil and gas reserves in the basin, correct?
20	A. Correct.
21	Q. And that would be true for any of the
22	other wells in and around your units within two
23	miles that are servicing production in the in the
24	Delaware Basin, correct?
25	A. Probably, yes, sir.
	Page 83

1	
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 84
1	Q. And not just the Delaware Basin, but
2	production in any offsetting tracks that are relying
3	on those disposal wells for their production,
4	correct?
5	A. Correct.
б	Q. Who did you speak with at XTO about
7	whether or not XTO was aware of Goodnight
8	Midstream's disposal operations in the EMSU?
9	A. I spoke to Mr. Walker, who's the Division
10	geological manager at XTO. And then I spoke with a
11	Ms. Pearce at ExxonMobil. And I don't remember the
12	names of the other couple of people that I spoke to.
13	Q. As part of your information gathering with
14	XTO, do you keep records?
15	A. Do I keep records?
16	Q. Did you do did you communicate with
17	these folks through emails?
18	A. I'm sorry, could you repeat that?
19	Q. Did you communicate with these folks at
20	XTO through email?
21	A. No, sir.
22	Q. By phone?
23	A. Yes, sir.
24	Q. And what time did you talk to those to
25	those folks at XTO?
	Page 84
	i age oi

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 85
1	A. Probably May or June of 2024.
2	Q. Was Mr. Walker do you know if
3	Mr. Walker was the manager of whatever division you
4	referred to at the time the Goodnight applications
5	were filed?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And was he?
8	A. Yes, sir, he was.
9	Q. Mr. Wheeler, you had a discussion with
10	Mr or Dr. Ampomah, apologies, about your
11	understanding of Empire rather Goodnight's legal
12	rights to inject into its disposal zone. Do you
13	recall that discussion with Dr. Ampomah?
14	A. Yes, sir.
15	Q. And it's your position that the agreements
16	that Goodnight Midstream has to inject into the
17	San Andres disposal zone are not legally valid,
18	correct?
19	A. Are not what?
20	Q. Are not legally valid for their purposes,
21	correct?
22	A. Yes, sir.
23	Q. Okay. But you're not saying that
24	Goodnight Midstream doesn't have agreements,
25	correct?
	Page 85

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 86
1	A. In response to a subpoena that we served
2	Goodnight, the saltwater disposal and surface lease
3	agreements that we received and what we've been able
4	to discover checking the County records in Lea
5	County, none of those are proper and correct.
6	So I'm not aware if there's other surface
7	leases in saltwater disposal agreements, but if they
8	are, if you could furnish them to me, I could
9	respond.
10	Q. So my point, though, Mr. Wheeler, is that
11	you have a legal position that those agreements that
12	Goodnight has in place are, in your opinion, not
13	valid, correct?
14	A. Correct.
15	Q. Okay. And it's not your you're not
16	saying that they don't have agreements. You're
17	saying that you don't you believe that they're
18	not valid, correct?
19	A. Correct.
20	Q. Now, you reviewed the Piazza case
21	transcript and testimony, correct?
22	A. Correct.
23	Q. And you're aware that, as part of that
24	case, Goodnight Midstream did present to the
25	Division evidence of what it, in good faith,
	Page 86

Jack Wheeler -	April 9	, 2025
----------------	---------	--------

	Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 87
1	believed was a valid right to inject, correct?
2	A. I saw the testimony of Goodnight's
3	position, but I didn't see anything where the
4	Commission concurred with that.
5	Q. I'm sorry, I couldn't hear the last bit
6	you said.
7	A. I didn't see anything from the
8	Commission's order that they concurred with that.
9	Q. But you did you reviewed the entire
10	Piazza record that was presented to the Division?
11	A. Yes, sir, I did.
12	Q. But you're stating here now to the
13	Commission that you just didn't see anything where
14	the Division addressed that issue, correct?
15	Addressed the issue of whether or not there was any
16	dispute over the right of Goodnight to inject into
17	the disposal zone.
18	A. That's right, I don't recall.
19	Q. Okay. But you agree with me that the
20	Division and the Commission don't have authority to
21	adjudicate private property rights?
22	A. Yes, sir.
23	Q. Okay. And all the statements that you've
24	made subsequent to my cross-examination of you about
25	Empire's positions regarding the technical issues
	Page 87

	1 '
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 88
1	around the dispute in this case were all based on
2	your understanding of your of the company's
3	position and the experts that Empire is presenting
4	in this case, correct?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. And it's not that you have the expertise
7	to make those separate and independent assessments
8	yourself, correct?
9	A. Correct.
10	Q. For example, I mean, you I think you
11	started you told Dr. Ampomah that you believe
12	that there would could be a 40 percent recovery
13	of hydrocarbons from the ROZ in the EMSU; is that
14	correct?
15	A. That's what I've heard in meetings.
16	Q. Who have you heard that from?
17	A. I don't recall exactly.
18	Q. Okay. Is Mr. West going to testify that
19	there's going to be a 40 percent recovery of
20	hydrocarbons from the San Andres ROZ?
21	A. I have no idea.
22	Q. Okay. But you gave a number that you
23	believe Empire Empire believes that it can
24	recover between 350 and 375 million barrels from the
25	San Andres ROZ; is that correct?
	Page 88

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 89 1 You said 200? Α. 2 MS. SHEEHAN: Yeah. 300 --3 Q. 4 MS. SHEEHAN: Excuse me. 5 -- 350 to 375 million. Ο. 6 MS. SHEEHAN: I object. I object. Ι 7 believe Mr. Rankin is mis --8 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I'm sorry, 9 what was the number again? 10 MR. RANKIN: I had written down --11 and I'm asking for clarification. I had written down the numbers 350 to 375 million barrels of 12 13 recoverable hydrocarbons. HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: That's what 14 15 my notes reflect. 16 MS. SHEEHAN: That's correct, but Mr. Wheeler also stated that that was his opinion, if you will, as a lawyer. But he has not done any work on whether that factor is appropriate here. And I believe he testified that that recovery factor is one that was used in other ROZ fields in Texas. HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Mr. Rankin, why don't you rephrase the question. MR. RANKIN: Well, I just want to make sure my notes are correct, so I was asking Page 89

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 90
1	Mr. Wheeler just to confirm whether or not it's
2	Empire's position that this project will recover
3	between 350 and 375 million barrels of hydrocarbons
4	from the San Andres ROZ. I just wanted to make sure
5	I understood that. And he can qualify it.
6	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Any
7	objection to that rephrased question?
8	MS. SHEEHAN: I don't believe
9	Mr. Rankin's recognizing the fact that Mr. Wheeler
10	was talking about that number as a result of it
11	being used or applied to other fields in Texas. He
12	was not referring to the EMSU.
13	He merely stated that if that recovery
14	factor applied to the EMSU, then his calculations
15	would be that there would be approximately
16	350 million barrels of oil recoverable from the
17	EMSU.
18	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I'm
19	overrule the objection.
20	Why don't you state the question again.
21	Q (By Mr. Rankin) Mr. Wheeler, I'm just
22	asking for clarification on the company's position,
23	because I wrote down in my notes what I understood
24	you to say was Empire's position on what it thought
25	would be recovered from the San Andres ROZ. And I

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	-
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 91
1	just want to make sure I understood. Because I
2	think I've also seen similar numbers in the briefing
3	and filings that Empire has filed before the
4	Commission. And I just am trying to make sure I
5	understand it.
6	I thought I heard you say that Empire
7	believes, in response to a question from
8	Dr. Ampomah, that they can recover between 350 and
9	375 million barrels of hydrocarbons from the
10	San Andres ROZ?
11	A. No, sir.
12	Q. What was it that you said?
13	A. I said my opinion.
14	Q. Okay.
15	A. So I can't I'm not a reservoir engineer
16	or production engineer. I don't have the expertise
17	to state what Empire's position would be.
18	Q. Empire acquired this property in March of
19	2021, correct?
20	A. Correct.
21	Q. And it bought the property with the intent
22	of pursuing a residual oil zone development across
23	the EMSU and the other two units?
24	A. Correct.
25	Q. And from the time it bought the property
	Page 91
	Veritext Legal Solutions
	, ontone Degui Solutiono

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 92 1 until this date in April of 2025, has it undertaken 2 any efforts to identify or further define or 3 delineate the potential ROZ across any of those three units? 4 5 No, sir. Like I stated yesterday, we've Α. 6 suspended all operations until we get a 7 determination if Goodnight's going to be able to continue to inject water and destroy our productive 8 interval. 9 10 So from March of 2021, when it acquired Ο. 11 the property, until it suspended operations late in 12 the summer of 2023, Empire did nothing to evaluate 13 or further delineate its plans to pursue an ROZ 14 development in these three units, agree? 15 Α. I wasn't with Empire at that time, so I 16 can't speak to that. 17 Ο. Are you aware of anything that Empire has done in that period of time to undertake any efforts 18 19 to delineate the potential ROZ in any of those three 20 units? 21 Α. I don't know what the predecessors at the company did. 22 23 Well, you spent a lot of time getting Ο. yourself familiar with a lot of materials as part of 24

this case. In fact, I understand that you were 25

Page 92

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 93
1	hired based on your testimony to address this
2	specific issue with Goodnight Midstream, correct?
3	A. Yes, sir.
4	Q. And that as part of that effort to get
5	up to speed on the disputes with Goodnight
6	Midstream, you're not aware of anything that the
7	company did prior to suspension of operations in
8	2023 to further delineate the ROZ in either of these
9	three units?
10	A. No, sir, I'm not.
11	Q. You testified in response to a question
12	from Dr. Ampomah that you believe that Empire
13	believes or this is I understood you to say
14	that Empire believes that you have enough evidence
15	to date to determine whether or not there are
16	recoverable hydrocarbons in the San Andres ROZ; is
17	that correct?
18	A. Yes, sir.
19	Q. Okay. Now, when Empire now has
20	prepared AFEs for all three of these proposed APDs
21	that it's looking at potentially drilling; is that
22	correct?
23	A. I would have to defer to Mr. West on that.
24	Q. I have in my notes that you looked at AFEs
25	for all three wells; is that correct?
	Page 93

	r , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 94
1	A. No, sir, I had not looked at them. I know
2	that preliminary AFEs were being prepared and there
3	are meetings about the coring, all of those kinds of
4	matters, type of pipe in the well, all that kind of
5	stuff. But I would have to defer to Mr. West for
6	the specifics of that.
7	Q. Okay. And you gave an estimate of cost
8	for \$800,000 for all coring. That would be for all
9	three wells, correct?
10	A. No, sir. I was understanding that that
11	was for one well.
12	Q. And that price was that including
13	drilling or just for the coring operations?
14	A. It was my understanding that was the cost
15	that if they did all the various types of coring,
16	that's how much it could potentially cost.
17	Q. My question is: Did that coring did
18	that cost include the drilling of the well or just
19	the coring operation?
20	A. Just the coring.
21	Q. Did you do you recall what an estimate
22	of cost was for the drilling of the of the well?
23	A. No, sir.
24	Q. Mr. West would know that?
25	A. Yes, sir.
	Page 94

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 95
1	Q. Recognizing that the company has concerns
2	about the impacts to the EMSU for Goodnight's
3	injection, has Empire evaluated going forward with
4	any ROZ testing or pilot projects in the, for
5	example, AGU unit to the southeast?
6	A. Not to my knowledge, yet.
7	Q. Why not?
8	A. Because our focus has been on the EMSU
9	primarily.
10	Q. Okay. Is there anything stopping Empire
11	from pursuing and evaluating a potential ROZ in the
12	San Andres in the AGU?
13	A. Not to my knowledge.
14	Q. Okay. You discussed Mr. Moander's the
15	Division's concerns about the impacts of the Capitan
16	Reef and through the Hobbs Channel. Has Empire done
17	anything to evaluate those concerns since they were
18	raised by the Division?
19	A. Yes, sir. If you'll recall, in
20	Dr. Lindsay's testimony, he stated that there was no
21	communication with the Hobbs Channel or moving the
22	water into the El Capitan Reef.
23	Q. So to the extent that that remains a
24	concern of the Division, is Empire relying solely on
25	the testimony of Dr. Lindsay?
	Page 95
	rage 95

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 1 Yes, sir. Α. 2 Ο. Mr. Wheeler, you and I had a discussion 3 yesterday about your testimony that there were some communications between Empire and Goodnight 4 Midstream. And you, again, raised that discussion 5 again in response to questions from Commission 6 7 counsel. And then you addressed an additional point about -- I believe it was Mr. Mulacek stating that 8 Empire would be willing to contribute costs to 9 10 drilling new wells outside of a two-mile radius of 11 Empire's units if Goodnight would agree to withdraw 12 its applications and injection within Empire's 13 units. Do you recall that? 14 I -- I'm going to MS. SHEEHAN: 15 object because I believe Mr. Rankin is, again, 16 misstating Mr. Wheeler's testimony. 17 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I recall the discussion. It sounds fairly close. 18 19 MS. SHEEHAN: Well, I don't believe 20 there was any discussion about Empire contributing costs to Goodnight moving wells outside of the two 21 22 miles from the EMSU. 23 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I actually 24 distinctly remember that. 25 So I'm going to overrule the objection. Page 96

96

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 97
1	Q (By Mr. Rankin) Mr. Wheeler, I'm asking for
2	clarification on a couple of points. Okay?
3	Number one, will you clarify what it is
4	that you understood your board chair to be offering?
5	A. In discussions about how to move forward
6	with a resolution, that was one of the matters of
7	a multiple matters that were discussed, if there
8	were other issues, and stuff, that had to come into
9	play for evaluation.
10	Q. My question, Mr. Wheeler, first, was:
11	Will you clarify what the what was being
12	offered or your understanding of what the offer
13	was?
14	A. This was a discussion of which a number of
15	managers, executives, and engineers of Empire were
16	present. There was no offer formally made to
17	Goodnight.
18	Q. And on that point, Mr. Wheeler, have you
19	had a chance to I mean, yesterday you testified
20	that there was a response made to Goodnight based
21	on of some type. And I'm asking you now, because
22	you brought it up again in your in your
23	discussions with Commission counsel: Are you
24	who are you who did who communicated was
25	there any communications directly between Goodnight
	Page 97

Jack Wheeler - J	April	9,	2025
------------------	-------	----	------

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 98
1	Midstream and Empire, to your knowledge?
2	A. No, sir. The discussions were between
3	Mr. Padilla and yourself.
4	Q. Are you aware whether Mr. Padilla provided
5	any response from Empire to me?
6	A. I'm not I'm not knowledgeable what
7	those discussions were. I was just told that there
8	were discussions and that they got nowhere with
9	them.
10	Q. Okay. So you're not aware of what
11	Mr. Padilla may have or even if he had responded
12	to me in any way, correct?
13	A. No, sir.
14	Q. You're not aware, correct?
15	A. No, sir, I'm not.
16	Q. Mr. Wheeler, you testified about
17	representations you understood the
18	representations that were being made during the
19	purchase process between XTO and Empire were being
20	made by ExxonMobil; is that correct?
21	A. Yes, sir.
22	Q. But yesterday I showed you Empire's own
23	exhibit from the Piazza case where it the cover
24	page of the data room sheet says, "XTO Energy." Do
25	you see that?

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 99	
1	A. Yes, sir, I saw that.	
2	Q. I'm sorry, I put that on the screen.	
3	And, in fact, every single page on this	
4	exhibit that was that was the open offer for the	
5	data room identified an XTO Energy, doesn't it?	
6	A. It identifies, but I'm not for sure that	
7	the data room was an ExxonMobil level data room, not	
8	an XTO.	
9	Q. And doesn't the disclaimer directly	
10	identify XTO?	
11	A. Yes, sir. And that's what we spoke to, it	
12	doesn't include ExxonMobil.	
13	Q. But the representations being made in this	
14	document are from XTO, correct?	
15	A. Well, there's another document where	
16	representations were made by ExxonMobil.	
17	Q. Were you confused I mean, you weren't	
18	there at the time, but were you confused by who was	
19	making what representations?	
20	A. Once I came aboard and reviewed the first	
21	brochure that I showed you from ExxonMobil, there	
22	was never any doubt in my mind that those	
23	representations were from ExxonMobil, not from its	
24	subsidiary XTO.	
25	Q. Mr sorry. Dr. Ampomah had some	
	Page 99	

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 100	
1	dialogue with you about whether you believed it	
2	was whether you agreed that it was improper at	
3	the time that the EMSU was created, that it included	
4	the San Andres intervals. Do you recall that?	
5	A. No, sir. I had my hearing aids off	
6	because it was and I didn't understand his	
7	question, so I didn't answer it. As to what I	
8	thought he was saying and what he was actually	
9	saying, I misinterpreted his question.	
10	Q. Okay. But during the course of your	
11	discussion with Dr. Ampomah, you agreed that at the	
12	time, it was recognized as an aquifer, correct?	
13	A. No, sir, I didn't.	
14	Q. Okay. So when so when you were asked	
15	by Ms. Shaheen to clarify the proper	
16	characterization of Mr. West's testimony, right, I	
17	pointed out that in Mr. West's testimony, he had	
18	testified that there was no production in the	
19	San Andres. And you testified that it was an	
20	improper it was taken out of context. Do you	
21	recall that?	
22	A. Yes, sir.	
23	Q. And you stated that the proper context is	
24	to understand that there was no production from the	
25	San Andres in 1986, agree?	

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 101	
1	A. Agree.	
2	Q. Okay. And if there was no production in	
3	the San Andres in 1986, then how could the	
4	Commission have authorized the inclusion of the	
5	San Andres in a unit if one of the requirements of	
6	statutory unitization is that any pool or portion of	
7	a pool be reasonably defined by a primary	
8	production?	
9	A. I can't speak to that.	
10	Q. But you don't disagree that there was	
11	as of 1986, there was no production, as Mr. West's	
12	testifying here, as of 1986?	
13	A. Yes, sir.	
14	Q. You reviewed and, again, you made this	
15	statement to the Commission, that your position is	
16	that Goodnight Midstream fraudulently filed its	
17	applications with the Division, correct?	
18	A. Correct.	
19	Q. And the basis for that claim is that they	
20	failed to accurately and properly represent the	
21	formation into which they were proposing to inject,	
22	correct?	
23	A. Yes, sir.	
24	MR. RANKIN: I'm having a hard time	
25	pulling up something that I wanted to present to	
	Page 101	

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 102 1 Mr. --2 MR. MOANDER: We may be having some connectivity issues. I all of a sudden lost some 3 4 connection. So I'm unsure what's going on, but I 5 can say that I'm struggling with some --6 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Mr. Hearing 7 Officer, maybe since there are some issues, we call for lunch right now and then reconvene? 8 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: That sounds 9 10 like a -- yeah, that makes sense. Let's -- let's 11 break for lunch. Mr. Razatos, what's the Commission's 12 13 preference on the lunch break? CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: Yesterday -- you 14 15 want to do 1:15? 1:30? 16 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Sure. I --17 as a feet-to-the-fire kind of hearing officer, I would pick 1:15. But if you prefer 1:30? 18 19 CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: 1:15 is fine. 20 Thank you. We'll meet back at 1:15. 21 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay. 22 Thank you, all. 23 (Recess was taken from 11:56 a.m. until 1:15 p.m.) 24 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Mr. 25 Chairman, are you ready to proceed? Page 102

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 103	
1	CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: I sure am. Thank	
2	you, Mr. Hearing Officer. Let's transfer it over to	
3	you, and you can continue. Thank you.	
4	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.	
5	We're good to go in the back there, Ms. Apodaca?	
б	MS. APODACA: Yes, we're ready.	
7	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Let's see.	
8	Our suffering court reporter is back on the job,	
9	smiling even.	
10	All right. And we're back on the record.	
11	Let's see, we are cross-examining Mr. Wheeler.	
12	I'll just remind you, Mr. Wheeler, you're	
13	still under oath.	
14	JACK WHEELER: Yes, sir.	
15	Q. (By Mr. Rankin) Mr. Wheeler, in your	
16	response to cross-examination questions from	
17	Mr. Beck, I understood you to make a distinction	
18	between what you deemed to be commercial injection	
19	and the injection that was occurring through the EME	
20	agreement, correct?	
21	A. Yes, sir.	
22	Q. And in your in your opinion, the EME	
23	injection was not a commercial injection?	
24	A. Yes, sir.	
25	Q. Was Empire paying for that injection?	
	Page 103	
	Veritext Legal Solutions	

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 104	
1	A. Under the agreement, you're responsible	
2	for the cost of the monthly operations, and that was	
3	proportionate to the number of wells that you were	
4	taking into the system. But I don't believe that we	
5	paid a per-barrel disposal rate.	
6	Q. So there's a different mechanism for	
7	ascertaining financial obligations, but Empire had,	
8	nevertheless, financial obligations with respect to	
9	its injection into the system, correct?	
10	A. Yes.	
11	Q. And the wells that were incorporated or	
12	included in that EME system included wells that were	
13	producing produced water outside of the EMSU,	
14	correct?	
15	A. I'm not sure where those wells were	
16	located. There's so many wells. You would think	
17	that they but if you look at the map where you,	
18	you know, may have seen there's a tremendous	
19	number of wells inside the unit that are just	
20	producing from deeper or shallower arrays in that	
21	we have done no interference with.	
22	Q. Let me ask you let me ask it this way:	
23	The EME agreement would include wells that were	
24	disposing of produced water that were not EMSU unit	
25	wells, correct?	

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 105
1	A. I I'm not sure of that.
2	Q. Okay. Now, as I understand Empire's
3	position, it's that any injection into the
4	San Andres ROZ is detrimental to the ROZ. Do you
5	agree?
6	A. I don't think that we're that demanding.
7	I know that there's a well that Rice is injecting in
8	that's included in Preston McGuire's revised
9	supplemental testimony where they're just producing,
10	you know, a couple hundred barrels a day, and stuff.
11	And that's not significant enough for us to fight
12	over that one well, I don't believe.
13	Q. Mr. Wheeler, you testified that Empire's
14	filed a lawsuit against Rice, correct?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. And the purpose of that lawsuit was to
17	terminate in part was to terminate Rice's
18	injection into the EMSU and the other units operated
19	by Empire, correct?
20	A. Yes, sir. But also named in that suit is
21	Permian, and they're the ones who, in 19 I mean
22	in 2020, drilled a commercial disposal well within
23	the unit.
24	Q. So in addition to Rice, you're seeking
25	claims against others, as well, correct?
	Page 105

	Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025	
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 106	
1	A. Yes, sir.	
2	Q. Okay.	
3	A. Pilot, OWL.	
4	Q. And in its assessment, Empire decided that	
5	it would discontinue its own injection into the	
6	San Andres ROZ that it was operating through its	
7	EMSU SWD number 1 well, correct?	
8	A. Yes, sir.	
9	Q. And it did so because it determined that	
10	any injection of produced water into the San Andres	
11	ROZ would be detrimental to the San Andres ROZ,	
12	agree?	
13	A. Yes, sir.	
14	Q. Where you made some statements to	
15	the to the Commission today that you believe	
16	going back to the question about fraudulent	
17	applications by fraudulent applications by	
18	Goodnight Midstream and that they were improper for	
19	their for their existing four SWDs. You stated	
20	that if they failed to disclose to the OCD proof	
21	that they had a I'm paraphrasing subsurface	
22	rights or rights to inject into the zone that they	
23	were proposing to dispose into. Is that a fair	
24	characterization of your testimony?	
25	A. Yes, sir.	

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 107 1 Where is it a requirement on OCD -- in Ο. 2 OCD's rules that an applicant for a C-108 is 3 required to make -- to establish proof that they 4 have rights to inject? I don't see it on the C-108. But I think 5 Α. 6 it's the duty of the party that's requesting a 7 permit to notify the Court -- or the Commission that they have the legal authority to do that. 8 You can't point -- you're not able to 9 0. point to any statute, regulation, rule, requirement 10 11 that establishes that as a requirement as part of the initial application, correct? 12 13 I'd have to review that again. It's been Α. 14 quite a while since I reviewed the regulations 15 related to that. 16 But you told the Commission that you 0. 17 believed that they filed improper applications for 18 that reason. What's the basis for your statement 19 that it was improper? 20 That the surface owners do not have the Α. right to lease the mineral right leases under a 21 22 unitized formation. It is not pore space, which is 23 a legal issue that the Commission doesn't have to 24 address, but there's no pore space within the 25 unitized interval that was established back in 1984.

Jack Wheeler - A	April 9,	2025
------------------	----------	------

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 108 1 Another statement that you made Ο. Okay. 2 on -- in response to questioning from the -- from the Commission, it confused me, and I'm going to see 3 if I can understand. 4 5 You stated -- and, again, I'm paraphrasing 6 here. But essentially that it's Empire's position 7 that it cannot undertake any operations at the -- at this time because of Goodnight's injection -- high 8 rate injection into the San Andres ROZ and that the 9 10 reason is because the ROZ -- and that is because the 11 ROZ is at risk of being moved off lease as a result of the high rates of injection from Goodnight; is 12 13 that correct? 14 Well, there could be a sweeping mechanism Α. 15 that moved it, but then I was -- got clarity after 16 the hearing that the ROZ itself, all of it, would not be swept out. 17 Would any of it be swept out? 18 Ο. 19 Α. Some of it potentially, yes, sir. 20 I'm confused by that, because Empire's Ο. experts testified that there are oil saturations in 21 excess of 60 percent in the San Andres ROZ and that 22 23 they're immovable but for the application of CO2. 24 Do you disagree with Empire's experts on that position? 25
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 109
1	A. No, sir.
2	Q. Okay. In fact, the any ROZ, to the
3	extent there is any, in the San Andres has not moved
4	after multiple, possibly dozens of pore space
5	volumes of sweep from what Empire's experts have
б	called Mother Nature's waterflood, agree?
7	A. I would have to defer to their testimony.
8	Q. Okay. So you rely on their testimony?
9	A. Yes, sir.
10	Q. And their opinions regarding the extent to
11	which any remaining ROZ might be moved by
12	application of water, agree?
13	A. Agreed.
14	Q. Okay. You testified that as I
15	understand, that the four applications or four
16	current SWDs that are that Empire is seeking to
17	revoke the authority for injection for, did were
18	approved administratively. Is that is that your
19	understanding?
20	A. I'm sorry, were approved?
21	Q. Administratively without going to hearing.
22	A. That was my understanding.
23	Q. Would it surprise you to know that
24	actually three of them actually did go to hearing
25	because the State Land Office protested those
	Page 109

Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 110 1 applications before the Commission -- before the 2 Division? It was my understanding the State Land 3 Α. 4 Office protested, and there was a resolution between 5 Goodnight and the State Land Office. So their objection was removed, and, therefore, I didn't 6 7 understand that there was a hearing for those. Are you aware that with respect to some of 8 Ο. the objections that the State Land Office raised, 9 10 they challenged those applications after approval by 11 the Division and sought de novo review before the Commission? 12 13 No, sir, I wasn't. Α. 14 Were you aware that the State Land Office Ο. 15 served discovery on Goodnight Midstream through 16 those applications that were being challenged by the -- at the Commission? 17 18 Α. No, sir, I wasn't. 19 0. Are you aware that Goodnight responded to 20 the discovery requests of the State Land Office as a result of the subpoena that was issued? 21 22 No, sir, I wasn't. Α. 23 Are you aware that as a result of the Ο. 24 documents provided, including pressure data that was provided to the State Land Office, that the State 25 Page 110

Г

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 111
1	Land Office withdrew its objections?
2	A. That they what?
3	Q. Withdrew their objections.
4	A. Withdrew. Yes, sir, that was my
5	understanding.
6	Q. Okay.
7	A. Not I wasn't aware that you-all
8	furnished testimony or written responses.
9	(Talking among counsel.)
10	Q. Apologize for the delay. We're trying to
11	pull up a document.
12	Suffice it to say, you're not aware that
13	the basis for which the State Land Office withdrew
14	its objections and with dismissed its
15	applications for de novo review?
16	A. No, sir, I don't know the basis.
17	Q. Okay.
18	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I
19	may ask for the Commission to take administrative
20	notice of the I'll get you the case numbers in a
21	moment, but of the State Land Office's notification
22	to the Commission that it was withdrawing its de
23	novo
24	Do you have the case numbers?
25	It's case number 20556, 20557, and 20558.
	Page 111

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 112
1	State Land Office filed a withdrawal request for de
2	novo hearing stating the basis for their dismissal
3	of the de novo request.
4	As soon as I have access, I'll circulate
5	that document to all counsel and Commission counsel
6	so you have it.
7	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Accepting
8	that representation is accurate, we'll take
9	administrative notice of that.
10	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I
11	have no further questions at this time and pass the
12	witness to for any additional recross.
13	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you.
14	Mr. Moander, for OCD?
15	MR. MOANDER: Yes, sir, I've got a
16	series of questions.
17	RECROSS-EXAMINATION
18	BY MR. MOANDER:
19	Q. So, Mr. Wheeler, I want to focus on the
20	discussion with the State Land Office, which I'll
21	refer to as SLO, for shorthand. No implication by
22	using that.
23	My understanding from your testimony is
24	Empire's interaction with SLO about the CO2 issue,
25	that was a phone call?

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 113
1	A. I think it's written communications
2	between Mr. Holland of Empire and a lady with the
3	State Land Office.
4	Q. And it was your understanding that
5	Mr. Holland used presumably Empire's corporate email
6	system to do that?
7	A. I'm not I don't I don't have that
8	information.
9	Q. Do you have an approximate year when that
10	communication would have occurred?
11	A. Well, we received the notification of the
12	288 remediation violations back in probably November
13	of '24. So it would be from the date that we
14	received those, reviewed them internally, and then
15	Mr. Holland I'm thinking in December is when we
16	had hired the cultural consultants to go in and do
17	the cultural review that has to be made first. And
18	we probably got those in January or early February.
19	So that would be the time period that we
20	would start submitting to the State Land Office our
21	remediation plans. So that was probably late
22	February or early March maybe.
23	Q. So it's your understanding the
24	communications between Empire and SLO approximately
25	November/December of 2024 concerned cultural review
	Page 113

Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 114 1 and remediation; is that right? 2 Α. It was my understanding -- or what is reported to me was that a cultural review had to be 3 4 done on every one of our remediation sites before 5 the State Land Office would approve a plan of remediation. 6 7 Ο. And because your testimony, as I heard it -- and I can always be wrong -- was couched in 8 the framework of the CO2 injection project for the 9 10 additional secondary recovery, was that part of this 11 discussion with SLO? 12 Α. No, sir, not at all. 13 So you don't have -- to the best of your Ο. 14 knowledge, did Empire ever communicate with SLO 15 about CO2 injection? 16 I don't -- they were never authorized to, Α. 17 so I don't believe that any employee would have done 18 that. 19 MR. MOANDER: All right. At this 20 time, Mr. Hearing Officer, Commissioners, I'm really confused about what this is about, because OCD --21 speaking only for OCD -- has never seen or heard 22 23 about this issue until today. CO2 injection tends to tie to these things. 24 25 So this is -- brand-new issue that's been Page 114

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 115
1	revealed. OCD is going to move the Hearing Officer
2	and Commission for leave to potentially recall
3	Mr. Wheeler. I'm in the process of verifying what
4	went on with these communications, because I am
5	concerned. This does seem fairly relevant to the
6	issues before the Commission.
7	If at a time in the future should the
8	Commission hearing officer grant that grant that
9	leave, today or later, if I were to conclude or find
10	that there's nothing substantive here I'll
11	obviously share any information I acquired with all
12	counsel here I will notify the Commission that I
13	don't intend to recall Mr. Wheeler.
14	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay. But
15	you're moving to reserve that right at the present
16	time?
17	MR. MOANDER: Yes, I am, Mr. Hearing
18	Officer.
19	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Does Empire
20	have any objection to that?
21	MS. SHEEHAN: Yeah, we don't
22	understand the reason. I don't recall Mr. Wheeler
23	talking about a discussion with the State Land
24	Office about CO2. I so I'm not sure what
25	Mr. Moander is referring to.

Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 116 1 MR. MOANDER: I'm happy to wait and 2 reinitiate this once I get a copy of the transcript, 3 because I'm pretty certain that actually was testified to. 4 And, you know, I'm going to put this on 5 the record here now as well. We've had a consistent 6 7 issue with discovery in this case and a lot of three-card monte going on. And this seems to be a 8 continuation of that pattern and practice. 9 10 And I am concerned, because we're in the 11 middle of a hearing, and we're getting surprises on 12 a level that -- well, administrative law certainly 13 has a lot of play in the joints, and a lawyer should 14 expect some new things to come up. 15 If this percolates -- if I'm able to find information that matches the record here as to the 16 17 issue of CO2, I will obviously not be a very happy 18 camper, especially under the order that the Hearing 19 Officer issued several months ago about discovery 20 games. So what I can do is reserve this motion 21 for leave to recall Mr. Wheeler until probably -- my 22 23 quess is probably we resume the next full week. But 24 I will -- regardless, I will apprise the Commission and the Hearing Officer pretty early on, on Monday 25 Page 116

Recross-Examination by Mr. Moander 117 as to what my game plan is and what I'm going to 1 2 request. HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: 3 Okay. 4 Well, thanks for the heads-up. I mean, this is not 5 a retained expert witness, so Mr. Wheeler is a party opponent. And I suspect that you have mechanisms 6 7 available to you to compel him to reappear and testify anyway. 8 So, all right. Well, we'll wait to see a 9 formal motion, if any, from you, Mr. Moander. 10 11 MR. MOANDER: Thank you, Mr. Hearing Officer. 12 13 MS. SHEEHAN: Mr. Examiner, if I may 14 just briefly respond on the record to Mr. Moander's 15 suggestions that there's been some attempt to 16 manipulate discovery here. We vehemently object and 17 disagree with Mr. Moander's representations. And if he wants to confer with me or any of our attorneys 18 19 after the hearing, we're happy to discuss any 20 specific discovery requests that he believes we have not fully responded to. 21 22 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay. All 23 That would be great. You know, we're not -right. 24 nobody's making any judgments on those comments at this point, just so the record is clear. 25

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 118
1	Okay. Let's see. Mr. Beck, that would
2	bring that to you, to Rice for cross-examination of
3	Mr. Wheeler.
4	MR. BECK: Thank you, Hearing
5	Examiner.
6	RECROSS-EXAMINATION
7	BY MR. BECK:
8	Q. Mr. Wheeler, looking at your direct
9	testimony, it looks like you got your JD degree in
10	1976; is that right?
11	A. Yes, sir.
12	Q. So you've been a lawyer for almost 51
13	years?
14	A. No, sir.
15	Q. Is it 46 years?
16	A. 45.
17	Q. 45?
18	A. When I got out of law school, I went to
19	work for the CIA. And with the CIA, they didn't
20	want to have any licensed attorneys or anybody with
21	professional credentials that could be discovered as
22	to our role within the CIA. So when I left the CIA
23	and went to Texaco, that's when I passed the bar
24	exam.
25	Q. Well, I appreciate you being precise on
	Page 118

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 119
1	that. I was thinking 46 was almost 51, but 45 is
2	precise, right?
3	A. When you're 76, anything's a long time.
4	Q. Well, I'm just I'm just saying I was
5	thinking nearly, but you corrected me and you were
б	precise that it's 45 years you've been practicing
7	law, right?
8	A. Yes, sir.
9	Q. And that's 45 years, as you point out,
10	is a long time. Would you agree with me on that?
11	A. Yes, sir.
12	Q. And as a lawyer, I think you'd agree with
13	me that being precise and using precise wording is
14	important, right?
15	A. Yes, sir.
16	Q. Critically important?
17	A. Yes, sir.
18	Q. You pointed that out in relation to the
19	purchase and sale agreement, in relation to the post
20	closing obligations of Empire, right?
21	A. Yes, sir.
22	Q. Talking a little bit about Ms. Shaheen
23	talked to you about I think, in relation to that
24	purchase and sale agreement, that you were not
25	relying on and by "you," I guess we're talking
	Page 119

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 120
1	about Empire. Empire was not relying on a
2	representation of XTO, but on a representation of
3	ExxonMobil, right?
4	A. A representation as to the ROZ.
5	Q. Okay. And why is that important?
6	A. Well, if the Commission rules that that is
7	not true and correct, then we have a corporate
8	obligation to bring legal action against ExxonMobil
9	for those false representations on the sale of the
10	security. And that's in violation of the Texas
11	Securities Act of 1933 and the Federal Security Act
12	of 1934.
13	Q. Now, it's my understanding that this sale
14	of the assets by XTO to Empire was a sale of working
15	interests, right?
16	A. Was the sale of what?
17	Q. Working interests, that XTO was going to
18	cease being the operator and Empire was going to be
19	the operator?
20	A. Yes, sir.
21	Q. Now, does that does that qualify this
22	as a security under the Securities Act of 1934, if
23	you know?
24	A. The sale does. The representation of any
25	document for the sale of security falls under that.
	Page 120

	•
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 121
1	Q. But you're saying and you're representing
2	that you know this, this rescission is important,
3	that the sale of operating a unit for oil and gas
4	interest qualifies as a security under the
5	Securities Act of 1934, the Federal Securities Act?
6	A. It's not the operation. It's the sale of
7	the asset.
8	Q. The asset that the asset of Empire
9	excuse me. The asset that Empire was going to
10	operate, you think that under the Securities Act,
11	the Federal Securities Act, operations, as opposed
12	to passive investment income, qualifies as a
13	security under the Federal Act?
14	A. I'm not a securities lawyer, but it's my
15	understanding it does.
16	Q. Okay. So when I said before "if you
17	know," do you know?
18	A. I'm not positive, no, sir.
19	Q. Do you know whether XTO, as a wholly-owned
20	subsidiary of ExxonMobil, makes any distinction in
21	terms of holding XTO up to their representations or
22	ExxonMobil to their representations?
23	A. We hold ExxonMobil as to the
24	representations.
25	Q. That's not the question that I asked.
	Page 121

	Jack wheeler - April 9, 2025
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 122
1	A. Okay.
2	Q. The question that I asked is: Does it
3	matter whether XTO, as a wholly-owned subsidiary, or
4	ExxonMobil made these representations under the
5	Securities Act?
6	A. I don't believe so.
7	Q. Now, as you talked about, precision is
8	important.
9	And so now I'm sharing your slides, and
10	this is the brochure from ExxonMobil that we've been
11	talking a lot about. Was this part of the offering
12	from XTO or did Empire get this somewhere else?
13	A. We got it from the sales brochure when
14	ExxonMobil was placed this asset on the market
15	and was trying to sell it.
16	Q. How do you know that?
17	A. Because all of the communications were
18	with ExxonMobil. The data room was ExxonMobil.
19	The after the acquisition or during the due
20	diligence, the files that they dumped for a
21	purchaser to review were all from ExxonMobil. None
22	of it was from XTO. The only time that XTO entered
23	into the picture was at the time of the purchase and
24	sale agreement.
25	Q. When the assets were actually transferred
	Page 122

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 123
1	and XTO was the entity transferring the assets,
2	right?
3	A. I believe so.
4	Q. Now, when we look at the first page of
5	this brochure that you highlighted in your slides,
6	it says under it says under Description that
7	first bullet point that, "Three existing units;
8	EMSU, EMSU B, AGU all have infill drill well and ROZ
9	potential," right?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	Q. What does "potential" mean to you?
12	A. Reserve reports, you basically have three
13	categories. You've got proven, probable, and
14	possible. So potential would fall into the category
15	between possible and probable.
16	Q. That's what it means to you?
17	A. Yes, sir.
18	Q. Okay. And so it's not even probable. ROZ
19	potential here saying that there's ROZ potential,
20	right?
21	A. No, sir. That's related to the infill
22	drilling locations. The infill drilling locations
23	are not for a CO2 tertiary recovery. So you have to
24	go to the last bullet.
25	Q. So before you say something that you might
	Page 123

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 124
1	-
1	change your mind on, you might ask me to zoom in and
2	understand my question.
3	So let me point you to what's in front of
4	you right there, that first bullet point where it
5	says, "Three existing units; EMSU, EMSU B, AGU all
б	have infill drill well and ROZ potential."
7	Are you saying that "potential" there only
8	modifies infill drill well and not ROZ?
9	A. No, sir. I was reading down here under
10	Incentive where it
11	Q. Okay. We'll get it there.
12	A. So I'm sorry.
13	Q. That's all right.
14	A. I didn't I didn't look at the
15	Description.
16	Q. That's why I said that if you had any
17	concerns about my question or wanted me to clarify,
18	you could ask me. I want to make sure we're precise
19	here.
20	A. Okay.
21	Q. So when we were talking about ROZ
22	potential, you're saying it's less than probable and
23	maybe somewhere above possible, right?
24	A. Yes, sir, I'd say in the probable range.
25	Q. Now, it says as you're pointing out,
	Page 124

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 125
1	getting to that three bullet point that the, "ROZ
2	interval approximately 350 feet thick with average
3	oil saturation of about 25 percent." Did I read
4	that right?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. And did you hear Mr. McShane yesterday
7	testify that he didn't identify any areas in any of
8	the wells with 350 feet consistent with ROZ?
9	A. No, sir, I don't.
10	Q. You don't remember that?
11	A. I don't remember that.
12	Q. Now, getting to the next portion of this
13	brochure that you highlighted in your slides, this
14	Residual Oil Zone, here it says it's 300 feet thick
15	in this next slide, right?
16	A. Yes, sir.
17	Q. And that's inconsistent with 350 feet
18	thick. Would you agree?
19	A. Right. And like I explained, if you look
20	on the type log, it shows the San Andres top, and
21	then they go down about 50 feet to show the
22	oil-water contact. So if you take that 350
23	300 feet plus the 50 feet that's the transition,
24	that goes back to validate the 350-foot that was on
25	the previous slide.

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 126
1	Q. My question, if you remember it, was:
2	300 feet thick of the residual oil zone in this
3	slide is different than 350 feet thick in the last
4	slide, right?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. And do you know see where it says,
7	"Base ROZ, minus 700 feet"?
8	A. No, sir.
9	Q. Down here at the bottom of the residual
10	oil zone where it says: Base ROZ, approximately
11	700 feet 700 feet. Do you see that?
12	A. No, sir. I'm not a geologist or an
13	engineer. I mean, I just read it, and I'm cognizant
14	of it, but I don't know why they establish the base
15	there and what the relationship that is to the full
16	San Andres formation.
17	Q. Well, I don't either. I was just asking
18	if you see it written on that page where it says:
19	Base of ROZ, approximately 700 feet?
20	A. Yes, sir, it's on that page and the next
21	one too.
22	Q. Okay. And you and I, as nontechnical
23	people, just attorneys, would read that to think
24	that the base of the residual oil zone that
25	ExxonMobil is telling us they have identified,
	Page 126

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 127
1	they've identified that base at there at the base
2	of the ROZ at approximately 700 feet, right?
3	A. Yes, sir.
4	MS. SHEEHAN: I'm going to just
5	object, because I believe Mr. Beck's representation
6	is inaccurate. It says minus 700 feet.
7	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Rephrase.
8	MR. BECK: Sure. Thanks for the
9	help.
10	Q. You and I would agree that the base ROZ is
11	minus 700 feet there, right? That's what this
12	document is telling us?
13	A. Yes, sir.
14	Q. Okay. Do you know if Goodnight injects
15	anywhere above minus 700 feet in the San Andres in
16	the EMSU?
17	A. No, sir.
18	Q. You don't know that?
19	A. No, sir, I don't.
20	Q. Now, I think you were talking about you
21	thought this document was important because at least
22	you think that Empire was relying on this not to do
23	any due diligence, right?
24	A. Yes, sir.
25	MS. SHEEHAN: Objection, misstates
	Page 127
	Veritext Legal Solutions

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 128 1 his testimony. 2 MR. BECK: I think he just answered 3 my question that he did. 4 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Yeah, he 5 already answered, so . . . 6 JACK WHEELER: Sorry. 7 And after relying on this document, not to Ο. do any due diligence, you're aware, at least now, 8 that when ExxonMobil produced this document giving a 9 potential ROZ, that there was ongoing saltwater 10 11 disposal injections in the EMSU, right? I'm going to object 12 MS. SHEEHAN: 13 again on the basis that I believe Mr. Beck is 14 misstating Mr. Wheeler's previous testimony. 15 MR. BECK: I'm not saying he said 16 anything. I'm just asking him what he knows. 17 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Repeat the 18 question. Let's hear the question again. Or 19 reporter --20 (By Mr. Beck) My question to you was: 0 When you're looking at this brochure from ExxonMobil 21 22 that, according to you, Empire relied on not to do 23 any due diligence, you know that when it was 24 representing an ROZ potential, there was ongoing 25 disposal saltwater into the ROZ -- or excuse me --

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 129
1	into the San Andres at the time in the EMSU, right?
2	MS. SHEEHAN: Same objection, because
3	I do not believe Mr. Wheeler testified that Empire
4	relied on this document in order to not do any due
5	diligence.
6	MR. BECK: Well, we can go back there
7	and tread that ground, but I don't think that's a
8	reason not for him not to answer my question.
9	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: And if
10	anything, it goes to weight, yeah.
11	So no, it's overruled, Ms. Sheehan.
12	A. Well, I have to correct your statement
13	that I disagree with what you're saying. Empire did
14	do a tremendous amount of due diligence. We worked
15	with the firm out of Denver called Elk Mesa Energy,
16	who had the engineering and the geological staff to
17	review all of the data that ExxonMobil presented.
18	So to say that we didn't do any due diligence is an
19	incorrect statement.
20	Q. Now, I might not be recalling this
21	correctly, but my understanding from your testimony
22	yesterday was that when this data room opened,
23	you-all engaged a firm or excuse me Empire
24	engaged a firm out of Denver, right, Mesa Elk or
25	something like that?

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 130
1	A. Yes, sir, Elk Mesa.
2	Q. And you engaged them to do due diligence?
3	A. Yes, sir. We
4	Q. It's just a yes-or-no question. I
5	appreciate that.
6	A. Yes.
7	Q. And then, in December 2024, or a date
8	earlier than close, you told them to stop doing due
9	diligence, right?
10	A. Yes, sir.
11	MS. SHEEHAN: Objection. Objection.
12	I believe Mr. Beck is misstating the year.
13	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Well, the
14	witness can correct it. The witness can correct any
15	misstatement in his answer.
16	Q. Go ahead, Mr. Wheeler.
17	A. As I stated in the subpoenaed documents
18	that we furnished to Goodnight, there was a
19	December the 19th of 2020 was the time that they
20	stopped working on the analysis and did, sort of, do
21	nothing December 20th.
22	Q. The data room opened in November of 2020,
23	right?
24	A. Yes, sir.
25	Q. And then according to you, December of
	Page 130
	Veritevt Legal Solutions

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 131
1	2020, 19th or 20th, Empire informed Mesa Elk to stop
2	doing due diligence, right?
3	A. Yes, sir.
4	Q. You found those documents in response to
5	the to try to respond to Goodnight's subpoena?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And did you find any due diligence
8	documents that Mesa Elk produced to Empire connected
9	to that due diligence?
10	A. No, sir.
11	Q. I'm sorry, I couldn't hear you.
12	A. No, sir.
13	Q. And the reason I ask about that, my
14	recollection yesterday was that then you went into
15	the reason that Empire did that was because it could
16	rely, according to you, on these representations
17	based on the Securities Act?
18	A. Yes, sir.
19	Q. So did I misunderstand that this
20	ExxonMobil brochure was the representation that was
21	the reason why Empire stopped the due diligence
22	before it received any due diligence?
23	MS. SHEEHAN: Objection. Misstates
24	the testimony and also lacks any foundation.
25	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: You're
	Page 131
	Veritext Legal Solutions

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 132 1 going to have to rephrase that. I'm not sure that 2 connection was made. My notes don't show anything 3 about it. 4 Q. So I think your last answer to my question was that, yes, it was based on this brochure from 5 ExxonMobil that Empire stopped doing the due 6 7 diligence, right? 8 MS. SHEEHAN: Again, object because I don't believe that is accurate. 9 10 MR. BECK: Can we just have the last 11 testimony read back. This is getting kind of long. 12 Can Ms. Tellez read back the last couple of -- of my 13 questions and his answers so we can make clear 14 what's on the record? 15 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Ms. Tellez. 16 (The record was read back as requested.) 17 MR. BECK: You may stop, Ms. Tellez. 18 Thank you. 19 0 (By Mr. Beck) So did I misunderstand 20 yesterday that this brochure was the reason why Empire stopped the due diligence before it received 21 22 anything from Mesa Elk? Counselor, once again, you're misstating 23 Α. 24 what I stated yesterday. If you look at the testimony and get the full testimony, you'll see 25 Page 132

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 133 1 that I said that we stopped any due diligence with 2 Elk Mesa. And the reason is, as I understand it, 3 was there was a New York fund company that was a 4 party to Elk Mesa's operations. And what we were 5 seeking to do was to use Elk Mesa's due diligence to 6 go to that New York investment banking firm and get 7 the \$17.8 million that we needed to go in and do the acquisition. 8 Mr. Mulacek came in around that time in 9 December and agreed to fund the entire acquisition 10 11 cost. At that time we then went to a company called 12 PIE Operating. And if you'll let -- Mr. Rankin 13 asked me numerous questions about who Pilot -- who 14 PIE Operating was and what its affiliation was, and 15 everything. And I said that we used the engineer 16 and geologists for PIE to continue to do the due 17 diligence. And how long did that -- did PIE do the 18 Ο. 19 due diligence? Probably until the time that our bid was 20 Α. 21 accepted. 22 And did you receive any documents from PIE Ο. 23 for this due diligence effort they did? Did Empire 24 receive any of those documents? 25 No, sir. I wasn't there at the time, and Α. Page 133

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 1 I don't know what happened to their analysis or 2 anything. You haven't seen them turned over in 3 Ο. 4 response to the subpoena request for due diligence 5 that Empire did, right? There was never any subpoena to PIE. 6 Α. It 7 was to Empire. But we hadn't -- we had no records of that. There's nothing that we can turn over in 8 discovery that I was ever able to locate. 9 10 Was the PIE due diligence that you've Ο. 11 never seen or were never able to locate, was that 12 the tremendous amount of due diligence you referred 13 to earlier? 14 Well, Elk Mesa did a tremendous amount. Α. 15 They had a staff, as I understand it, 10 to 12 16 people that were working on this. 17 Ο. Okay. I'll leave that one alone. 18 Now, the reason I asked you about -- oh, 19 before I get there. After we took our morning break 20 this morning, during that morning break, did you review any documents? 21 22 No, sir. Α. 23 So the reason I ask, and talking about Ο. 24 precision, is because after you came back from that 25 morning break, your testimony changed quite a bit. Page 134

134

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 135
1	So I was wondering if you reviewed any documents,
2	but you said you hadn't.
3	So before that break this morning, it
4	was you said it was Empire's position that
5	classification of the San Andres reservoir as an
6	aquifer was accurate, right?
7	A. Sir, I didn't have my hearing aids on, so
8	I didn't understand the question correctly. And I
9	made a misstatement on several things that I was
10	asked about.
11	Q. And we'll get to those.
12	A. Okay.
13	Q. My question was: You said that Empire's
14	position was the classification of San Andres
15	reservoir as an aquifer was correct, right?
16	A. Once again, I didn't have my hearing aids,
17	and I didn't understand the question.
18	Q. We'll get to that. I think you know,
19	because you came back in and changed your testimony,
20	that this morning before you took a break, not
21	reviewing any documents during that break, you said
22	that it was Empire's position that San Andres was
23	not erroneously excuse me was that the
24	classification of the San Andres reservoir as an
25	aquifer was correct. You said that, right?

Jack Wheeler - April 9, 2025 Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 136 1 Α. No, sir. 2 Ο. The Hearing Officer reminded you this 3 morning that you're under oath. Do you remember 4 that? 5 Α. Correct. And that means that you're swearing and 6 Ο. 7 affirming to tell the truth, right? Α. Absolutely. 8 And so if the truth is, is you can't hear 9 Ο. a question because your hearing aids aren't in, then 10 11 the truthful answer to that is, "I'm sorry, I can't 12 hear your question. I don't have my hearing aids 13 in, " right? 14 I'm going to object. MS. SHEEHAN: Ι 15 believe Mr. Beck is badgering the witness at this 16 point. We properly came in during redirect and 17 asked Mr. Wheeler about his earlier testimony in response to cross-examination questions. 18 He 19 answered under oath. And to continue this line of 20 questioning seems, to me, to be inappropriate. MR. BECK: Mr. Hearing Officer, I 21 22 think that oath is sacrosanct in here, and I think 23 reminding him of taking that oath and the things that he didn't say, like he couldn't hear or 24 understand questions and the things that he did say 25

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 137
1	and then came back in and corrected after not
2	reviewing the document is important for this
3	Commission to see.
4	It's painful. I don't envy his position,
5	but I think it's important for you to see. And I
6	won't I won't go through every one of the
7	changes, but I will show that he just did the same
8	thing here after lunch, after he came back in. He's
9	changed his testimony two times in questions from
10	me. And so he obviously hasn't learned his lesson.
11	As I said, I'm not going to beat this
12	horse to death, but I think it's important that he
13	acknowledge what he's done today.
14	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
15	I'll give you some leeway on it. I agree with
16	Ms. Shaheen, it's close to badgering at this point.
17	Q (By Mr. Beck) So after after that break
18	this morning, you came back in and you told us that
19	you didn't understand or you couldn't hear questions
20	because you had your hearing out, right?
21	A. Yes, sir.
22	Q. And you know, as an attorney, that if you
23	don't understand a question, you can ask the person
24	asking it to rephrase it?
25	A. Yes, sir.
	Dago 127

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 138 1 You can say, "I don't understand the Ο. 2 question"? 3 Yes, sir. Α. 4 Ο. You can say, "I didn't hear you because I 5 had my hearing aids out"? 6 Α. Yes, sir. 7 Ο. And all of those would be truthful answers 8 to that -- to that question, right? Yes, sir. 9 Α. And this morning when you were being asked 10 Ο. 11 questions by me with your hearing aids out, you never did that? 12 13 Α. Never did what? 14 You never said you couldn't understand a Ο. 15 question, did you? No, sir, I didn't. 16 Α. 17 Ο. You never said you couldn't hear me, did 18 you? 19 Α. No, sir, I didn't. 20 Never asked me to rephrase a question you Ο. didn't understand, did you? 21 22 I'm sorry, I didn't --Α. 23 You never asked me to rephrase a question Ο. 24 because you didn't understand it, did you? 25 No, sir. Α. Page 138

	i ,
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 139
1	Q. Dr. Ampomah was asking you those questions
2	that apparently you came back in and said you didn't
3	understand because you didn't have your hearing aids
4	in. You never said you couldn't understand his
5	questions, did you?
6	A. No, sir. With respect to the doctor, I
7	didn't feel that I should ask him over and over to
8	repeat the questions, so I didn't do it.
9	Q. And so you never told him you couldn't
10	understand your questions because you didn't have
11	your hearing aids in?
12	A. No, sir. Once again, I didn't do it. It
13	was a mistake on my part. I should have done it.
14	Q. So in addition to changing Empire's
15	positions on those
16	MS. SHEEHAN: Objection. I believe
17	that misstates the testimony.
18	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: That's an
19	argumentative question. Rephrase it.
20	Q. You came back in and changed the answer of
21	when Empire knew that it had plugging and
22	abandonment liability, right?
23	MS. SHEEHAN: Objection. Again,
24	misstates the testimony.
25	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Overruled.
	Page 139

Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 140 1 I don't recall changing my testimony. Α. 2 Ο. You changed your testimony about whether 3 the complaint against Rice and Pilot had been filed, 4 right? Yes, sir. I -- that was asked yesterday, 5 Α. 6 and I just wasn't aware of the -- what the facts 7 were. So what --8 0. So when I found out the facts, I testified 9 Α. truly to the Commission. 10 11 But you didn't say yesterday you couldn't Ο. 12 recall the facts, did you? 13 Yes, sir. Α. 14 You think you did? Ο. 15 Α. Yes, sir. 16 And you came back in and changed your Ο. 17 testimony about Empire's projection that it would recover upwards of 40 percent of the calculated oil 18 19 in place in the ROZ? 20 MS. SHEEHAN: Objection. Aqain 21 misstates the testimony. 22 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: You'll have 23 to lay more foundation for that. 24 Q. I think we went through this. I think that foundation was laid, but this morning it was 25 Page 140

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 141
1	asked of you how much I think it was by
2	Dr. Ampomah, how much of the oil in place Empire
3	would recover, and you gave a number that was
4	upwards of 40 percent of the oil in place estimated,
5	right?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And then you came back in afterwards,
8	after the break, and on redirect with Ms. Shaheen,
9	you said: That's not Empire's position. I'm
10	changing that. That's mine.
11	You didn't say those exact words, but
12	that's what happened, agree?
13	A. Well, the question was: Was that Empire's
14	position? And I stated no, that was my knowledge
15	and information, that I couldn't speak for Empire.
16	And if you look back on the transcript, that's what
17	I said.
18	Q. That's what you said to Mr. Shaheen
19	excuse me to Ms. Shaheen on redirect, right? I
20	heard that.
21	A. I don't think she asked me that question
22	on redirect.
23	MR. BECK: That's all I have,
24	Mr. Hearing Examiner.
25	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Thank you,
	Page 141
	Veritext Legal Solutions

	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 142
1	Mr. Beck.
2	Cross-examination by Pilot?
3	MR. SUAZO: No questions,
4	Mr. Examiner.
5	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.
6	Thank you, Mr. Suazo.
7	All right. I hate to reopen this again
8	to but I opened the door to recross, so I suppose
9	in fairness, I based on what's been asked on
10	recross, are there additional questions that are
11	burning in the minds of the Commission?
12	Mr. Razatos, let me start with you this
13	time.
14	All right. We'll come back to
15	Mr. Razatos.
16	How about you, Dr. Ampomah?
17	COMMISSIONER AMPOMAH: I do not.
18	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
19	Thank you.
20	And, Mr. Lamkin, additional questions?
21	COMMISSIONER LAMKIN: I don't have
22	any questions either.
23	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: And,
24	Mr. Shandler, do you have any questions?
25	All right. Mr. Razatos, are you there?
	Page 142

	1 /
	Recross-Examination by Mr. Beck 143
1	Okay. All right. So all right, then,
2	I guess
3	CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: My apologies,
4	Mr. Hearing Officer. I'm having connectivity issues
5	on my end. I did not hear any questions. People
6	are texting me that you asked me something. My
7	apologies.
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Did you
9	have any additional questions for Mr. Wheeler?
10	CHAIRMAN RAZATOS: No, I do not.
11	Thank you. My apologies again. I lost connection.
12	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: No problem.
13	All right.
14	All right, Ms. Shaheen, then, redirect?
15	MS. SHEEHAN: We have no redirect for
16	Mr. Wheeler.
17	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
18	That's probably pro forma since Mr. Wheeler is a
19	party and is likely to stick around, but may this
20	witness be excused?
21	MS. SHEEHAN: As far as Empire is
22	concerned, yes.
23	MR. MOANDER: As to OCD, we're still
24	going to maintain that reservation and will file
25	pleadings. So OCD would object to a complete
	Page 143

William West - April 9, 2025

	Examination by Ms. Hardy 144					
1	release of this witness at this time.					
2	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.					
3	Thank you.					
4	Anyone else care to chime in on that?					
5	MR. RANKIN: No objections at this					
6	time to his release. Yeah, we're done with this					
7	witness.					
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.					
9	And Pilot?					
10	MR. SUAZO: No objections.					
11	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay.					
12	Thank you, Mr. Wheeler.					
13	So I believe Empire has one more witness,					
14	William West; is that correct?					
15	MS. HARDY: That's correct,					
16	Mr. Examiner.					
17	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Are you					
18	ready to proceed at this time, Ms. Hardy?					
19	MS. HARDY: Yes, we are.					
20	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I'm going					
21	to presume that you're William West.					
22	WILLIAM WEST: Yes, sir.					
23	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.					
24	Would you please raise your right hand.					
25						
	Page 144					
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 145					
----	---	--	--	--	--	--
1	WILLIAM WEST					
2	having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:					
3	DIRECT EXAMINATION					
4	BY MS. HARDY:					
5	Q. Thank you. And I'm going to share my					
6	screen here. At least that's my plan.					
7	Okay. Mr. West, can you please state your					
8	full name for the record.					
9	A. William West.					
10	Q. By whom are you employed and in what					
11	capacity?					
12	A. I'm the senior vice president of					
13	operations at Empire Petroleum Corporation.					
14	Q. Have you previously testified before the					
15	Commission?					
16	A. No, I have not.					
17	Q. What is your area of expertise?					
18	A. In petroleum engineering, simply					
19	production and operations.					
20	Q. Have you provided a summary of your					
21	education, training, and experience as Attachment 1					
22	to your direct testimony, which is marked as Empire					
23	Exhibit I?					
24	A. Yes, ma'am.					
25	MS. HARDY: Based on those					
l	Page 145 Veritext Legal Solutions					

Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 146				
1	qualifications, I request that Mr. West be qualified				
2	as an expert in petroleum engineering.				
3	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Any				
4	objection from Goodnight?				
5	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I				
6	understand Mr. West to have specified that he is a				
7	petroleum engineer in production and operations.				
8	And as to that qualification, I do not object.				
9	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Okay. How				
10	about OCD?				
11	MR. MOANDER: No objection,				
12	Mr. Hearing Officer.				
13	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Rice?				
14	MR. BECK: No objection.				
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Pilot?				
16	MR. SUAZO: No objection.				
17	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: He'll be so				
18	recognized.				
19	MS. HARDY: Thank you. And just to				
20	be clear, I'm not sure if that was actually limited				
21	by Mr. Rankin or not. I mean, I want to be sure				
22	that he is qualified as an expert in petroleum				
23	engineering.				
24	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I thought				
25	it was expanded to petroleum engineering and				
	Page 146				

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 147 1 operations. Okay. I thought 2 MS. HARDY: Mr. Rankin was trying to narrow it, so -- I just 3 wanted to be sure the record is clear. 4 MR. RANKIN: I was just going off of 5 what the witness himself testified were his 6 7 qualifications, which was production and operations. And that's -- was my intent. 8 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I didn't 9 hear the word "productions" on that one. 10 11 Okay. He will be recognized as an expert in petroleum engineering. 12 Okay. 13 MS. HARDY: Thank you. HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: And if 14 15 he -- if you decide that needs to be expanded, we'll 16 take it up later. 17 MS. HARDY: Okay. Thank you. (By Ms. Hardy) Mr. West, have you provided 18 0 19 direct and rebuttal testimony in exhibits? 20 Yes, ma'am. Α. 21 0. Do you affirm today under oath that your testimony is true and correct? 22 23 Α. Yes, ma'am. 24 MS. HARDY: Commissioners, I request 25 that Mr. West's direct and rebuttal testimony Page 147

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 148				
1	exhibits, which are Empire Exhibits I and I-1				
2	through I-30 and then his rebuttal as Exhibit N and				
3	Attachments N-1 through N-22 be admitted into the				
4	record.				
5	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Any				
6	objections from Goodnight?				
7	MR. RANKIN: No objection.				
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: OCD?				
9	MR. MOANDER: No objection,				
10	Mr. Hearing Officer.				
11	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Rice?				
12	MR. BECK: No objection.				
13	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: And Pilot?				
14	MR. SUAZO: No objection.				
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.				
16	They'll be admitted.				
17	(Exhibits I, I-1 through I-30 and Exhibits N, N-1				
18	through N-22 admitted into evidence.)				
19	MS. HARDY: Thank you.				
20	Q. And, Mr. West, let's go through some of				
21	the main points or the highlights from your				
22	testimony.				
23	A. Yes, ma'am.				
24	Q. Okay. And I'm showing a slide that's				
25	marked as Exhibit I-2. Can you please tell me what				
	Page 148				

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 149 1 this is and what it shows? 2 Α. Yes, ma'am. This is in the overview of the three units that we own in the area. Up at the 3 top the EMSU B, EMSU, and AGU down to the south. 4 Ιt 5 puts on -- blue stars, those are the four current active SWDs by Goodnight. And then the five other 6 7 stars are the ones that they filed permits for disposal into the San Andres. 8 And then is the blue outline the outline 9 0. 10 of the EMSU? 11 Correct, the blue outline is the outline Α. 12 of the EMSU. And what we're -- you know, these 13 permits, you know, are damaging to the reservoir at 14 the San Andres or the potential recovery of the ROZ. 15 And they're also damaging up into the Grayburg, the communication of the fluid and that there should not 16 17 be any disposal allowed inside the unit. 18 Anything else you wanted to point out on 0. 19 this slide? No, ma'am. 20 Α. Your next slide, let me make this smaller. 21 Q. 22 And this has been marked as Exhibit N-1 23 Can you please tell me what this is. (sic). This is a slide from the sales brochure 24 Α. indicating from XTO and ExxonMobil the existence --25 Page 149

	William West April 9, 2025
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 150
1	you know, kind of outline of what the what
2	they're representing that they're selling and the
3	potential in the main oil column and then what
4	you know, the potential representing of the residual
5	oil zone.
б	Q. And is this I think you state here
7	or what's in your yellow box there? Are those the
8	important takeaways from the slide
9	A. Yes, that they're in this, you know,
10	brochure here that they're representing that ROZ on
11	this page being 300 feet thick and
12	965 million barrels of oil.
13	Q. And according to this slide here, is this
14	a large existing oil and gas EOR reservoir?
15	A. Yes, ma'am, that is a very large EOR
16	potential.
17	Q. The next slide, which is marked N-12, can
18	you tell me what this is?
19	A. This is another slide from their sales
20	brochure. It's been colored in to indicate the
21	different packages of potential to kind of set up
22	the picture of the reservoir.
23	So up on top, you know, you have the
24	Grayburg that comes across. And then you have
25	below that you have the San Andres. And then the
	Page 150

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 151
1	Grayburg is kind of in white. It's your main pay.
2	And then you have like you typically do in these
3	areas, you have a transition, the various you
4	know, where the structures have been folded in this
5	case to form that trap in the Grayburg.
6	And then down below the transition area,
7	you have the ROZ. And the ROZ by nature is a
8	residual oil zone, so it sticks with the structure.
9	Well, it sticks with the ROZ, right? It doesn't
10	really "re-equivalate" with, you know, gravity, a
11	separated oil and water like you have in the
12	transition zones.
13	One keynote of this is that the top of
14	this structure that you know, in the EMSU 660 and
15	the 658, that they both you know, they both
16	tested oil in those zones, which you anticipate kind
17	of where you have that transition zone there. So
18	that kind of confirms the ROZ exists and that if you
19	were at the top peak, that you still would have some
20	transition zone barrels of oil that are movable.
21	Q. And did Mr. Knight, Goodnight's witness,
22	confirm that both of those wells tested oil in
23	the up to a portion of the San Andres?
24	A. Yes, ma'am, he did.
25	Q. And is that in his testimony?
	Page 151

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 152
1	A. Yes, ma'am.
2	Q. Is there anything else on this slide that
3	you wanted to point out?
4	A. No, ma'am.
5	Q. Let's look at your next slide.
6	And this has been marked as Exhibit I-24.
7	What is this and what does it show?
8	A. This is showing the EMSU down below to the
9	very south. And then it shows the EMSU EMSU B in
10	green, and then the purple color up to the north is
11	the North Monument field. And it shows the two
12	cores that's been talked about many times in this
13	down in our blue, the one being to the west being
14	the 679 and the one to the east being the R.R. Bell.
15	And then it shows that two other cores that had
16	been taken in the San Andres up in the North
17	Monument field.
18	And there's a cross section that goes
19	across the bottom of it. And as you see in this,
20	that they, you know, record a substantial
21	interval. You know, the only one that we had public
22	is the North Monument 22, that they, you know, core
23	it down to the very bottom of the core section,
24	which was about 700 feet subsea, they had oil. We
25	don't know, you know, what was below that. We do

	1 '
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 153
1	not have the core available to the on the 19.
2	And then you get to the R.R. Bell to the
3	bottom of the core, it had oil. And then you get
4	all the way over to the 679 to the bottom of the
5	core on it, which is actually 762 subsea which,
6	again, subsea is not really super relevant to ROZ,
7	right, because it sticks to the rock. So that
8	you you got to the bottom of the core and there's
9	oil. So you don't really know where the bottom of
10	the potential oil is.
11	Q. And is it your opinion that all of these
12	show oil within the San Andres?
13	A. Yes, ma'am.
14	Q. Okay. And let me pull up this next slide.
15	And this is Exhibit N-15.
16	Can you tell me what this slide is,
17	please.
18	A. Yes, ma'am. So this is you know, just
19	kind of backing out a little more regionally, this
20	comes down to the AGU and back to the east and just
21	showing that the San Andres in the area we just
22	had the North Monument field up above, which, you
23	know, has produced you oil out of the San Andres.
24	And you've got this over to the east, the San Andres
25	producing oil, establishing that this is, you know,
	Page 153
	raye 155

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 154
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 154
1	a reservoir that does contain oil.
2	And in this case, you know you know,
3	this goes down into the 800s, 822, 8, you know, 73,
4	875. Deeper again, you know, the oil was in the
5	ROZ. In this case, they produced primary production
6	here about 3 million barrels. So they just didn't
7	have just a ROZ left.
8	Q. And is the chart at the bottom left
9	identifying information regarding the wells on your
10	map?
11	A. Yes, ma'am, that's identifying what those
12	three three of those wells and what their tests
13	were in their production. So they were good
14	substantial producers from the San Andres.
15	Q. Anything else on that slide?
16	A. No, ma'am.
17	Q. This is your Exhibit I-29. And can you
18	tell me what this is, please.
19	A. So this is one of the economic models that
20	was ran. It was the 250-pattern, 40-acre pattern
21	wells. So it covers about 10,000 acres. The EMSU
22	is about 14,000 acres.
23	And in this model, you know, it says you
24	recover 141 barrels of oil out of about a total in
25	place of about 750 in this model. And that's about
	Page 154

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 155
1	an 18 percent recovery factor. And, you know, total
2	project here is about \$1.2 billion spent. Cash flow
3	is about \$5.5 billion. And just in royalties to the
4	State, since they own 58 percent, is worth about
5	\$1.1 billion and another half a billion dollars in
6	tax and then to the federal government, since they
7	own 19 percent, it's about .37 billion in royalties.
8	Q. And just to make sure it's clear, so this
9	is your this is one of your slides regarding
10	economic evaluation of a CO2 enhanced recovery
11	project; is that right?
12	A. Yes, ma'am.
13	Q. Okay. And what is the name at the top
14	where you say, "No WAG," and then your oil
15	escalation price?
16	A. Yeah, so this is kind of, you know, a
17	little bit of a worst case scenario, where this is a
18	continuous CO2 injection, and it does not take into
19	benefit as if you did a WAG procedure, which would
20	reduce the cost and the need for the amount of CO2
21	by about 20 percent, if I remember right.
22	Q. And for us nontechnical people, what is
23	WAG?
24	A. Water alternating gas. And so what that
25	means, you would put the gas in of the CO2, and then
	Page 155

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 156 1 you would put behind it a slug of water. And then 2 that water kind of fills in the bigger spots and pushes the gas along. And then you would do a slug 3 4 of gas and a slug of water. And you've estimated that the price of oil 5 Ο. would escalate at 1 percent? 6 7 Α. Yeah, you know, relatively conservatively at a 1 percent escalation. 8 9 And so that's what I was going to ask. Q. In your -- in your opinion, is this a conservative 10 11 estimate? Yes, ma'am. If -- you know, this project 12 Α. 13 spans about 43 years, and so if we went back 43 years and took that price of oil at the beginning of 14 15 the year and the beginning of the year here, which 16 is how you do SEC pricing, that's about -- it's just under 2 percent escalation. So 1 percent is pretty 17 reasonable. 18 19 Ο. This is your slide, Exhibit I-3. Can you 20 tell me what this shows? Okay. Now we're kind of migrating on from 21 Α. ROZ into communication between the San Andres and 22 23 the Grayburg. This is kind of a snapshot in time 24 from some historical paperwork in 1986 to show where the bigger blue circles indicate where there were 25 Page 156

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy higher than normal water produced out of the Grayburg producers. This is before the waterflood started. This is before there was any withdrawals there. But you're seeing these unexplained higher productions of water.

And it's not consistent with any 6 7 structure, or anything. I mean, some of them are right up on top of the structure. Yet some of them 8 are down-dip. But there's no set pattern in where 9 10 they came to believe that they had these plumes of, 11 you know, fractures or whatever the mechanism would be that water was migrating up from the San Andres 12 13 into the Grayburg.

And so as you look on this map also, you'll see the blue stars down in the south part, that's where the existing Goodnight wells are. So, you know, you already had historical leaks in the reservoir from the San Andres up to the Grayburg.

And then you have all the red stars where they're asking for the new permits, again in an area where there's a historical extra water production that's well documented in different papers that goes -- you know, that why our concern is that you're flooding from the San Andres -- you're flooding into the Grayburg and damaging the

Page 157

157

William West - April 9, 2025 Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 158 1 Grayburg. 2 And any excessive water in a -- you know, 3 is extra cost. It also wears and tears on any of 4 the equipment that you have and just really drives 5 up the cost to operate a field. 6 Ο. And would it drive up the cost of a CO2 7 project? Α. Yes, ma'am. It would definitely drive up 8 9 the cost of a CO2 project by increasing the pressure 10 of the reservoir, which increases the amount of CO2 11 you need because it is a compressible gas. And then 12 it also increases the amount of water that you have 13 to get back out of the reservoir to do that. 14 So to kind of -- for me as a nontechnical Ο. 15 person, I want to make sure that this is clear. So 16 is it the case that basically these Grayburg wells 17 produced more than expected water and that your -in your opinion, the explanation is that it was 18 19 migrated through the San Andres? 20 Yes, ma'am. Α. 21 0. Thank you. I'm doing my best as a 22 nontechnical person.

A. Yes. And at any time please stop me. I
mean, this -- there's a lot of technical stuff. I'm
trying to wrap up a lot of stuff that we talked

Page 158

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 159
1	about in the case, and I'm trying to bring it
2	together. So we cover a lot.
3	Q. Okay. And this slide is marked as
4	Exhibit I-6. Can you explain what this is?
5	A. Yes. This is a graph out of the Technical
6	Committee Report from April 1983. It represents a
7	1990 1981 water you know, volumes that had
8	been produced from wells.
9	And as you see from it, it highlights
10	pretty good that you have these plumes or these
11	little spots or cracks in the reservoir, whatever,
12	where all this water was coming up from the
13	San Andres into the Grayburg. And so they did a
14	good job of documenting it in here, in that it
15	there was communication between the San Andres and
16	the Grayburg. This is historic information that's
17	been out there for a long time.
18	And this is why, you know, we stand behind
19	it, that you can't have any disposal in the
20	San Andres in the unit because it's going to affect
21	the Grayburg. It doesn't affect the ROZ, but fluids
22	gone fluid migrated up before there was any
23	injection down there and pressurized and up it's
24	definitely migrating up, you know, actively to the
25	history. If anything, the pressure of the Grayburg

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 1 has been pulled down. 2 So, you know, that's why we stand -- you 3 know, you can't have water injection into the San Andres and a buffer around the unit. Otherwise, 4 5 you're going to cause waste in flooding out of the 6 resource in the Grayburg. 7 Ο. And does the water that's in the San Andres have different characteristics from the 8 9 Grayburg water? 10 Yes, ma'am, very different. And we'll Α. 11 have that on a slide down here. But roughly 12 speaking, just from a -- you know, a -- chlorides, 13 the chlorides in the Grayburg right now is about 14 10,000, 10-, 12-, and you're around 100,000 for 15 water that's coming out of the Delaware Basin. 16 There's many other chemical things, and 17 we'll cover that. Definitely not compatible fluid. Is that one way to evaluate whether the 18 Ο. 19 water is migrating? 20 Say that again. Α. 21 0. Is that one way to evaluate whether the water is migrating? 22 23 There's a lot of, you know, Α. Yes. 24 depletion that goes -- not depletion, but dilution that goes on whenever you're mixing up fluids. 25 But Page 160

160

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 161
1	there will be scale, and there will be corrosion and
2	different chemical reactions that will happen.
3	And, you know, if the fluids are similar,
4	the reaction is not too bad. But the farther you
5	get apart, then, hey, I got new chemicals that I can
6	mix with. And that's what it does. It causes
7	damage that, in a lot of cases, you can't reverse.
8	Q. This is your Exhibit I-7. Can you tell me
9	what this slide shows?
10	A. Yes, ma'am. Again, we've, you know, got
11	a this is starting to go into the chemistry
12	piece, and so this is, you know, post starting the
13	waterflood. This is a paper in 1996, you know,
14	where they started seeing scaling tendencies and
15	things of the mixing of the fluid of the San Andres
16	and the Grayburg.
17	Now, at this point in time, they were
18	pulling you know, had water supply wells going
19	and things. But what the sulfate rich waters from
20	the San Andres mixing with the Grayburg, they
21	started finding problems with barium scale and
22	bearing scale deposits.
23	And I'm sure that the doctor knows that
24	barium scale is like a really nasty thing. It
25	just it's got to be mechanically removed. You
	Page 161

	William	West -	- April	9,	2025
--	---------	--------	---------	----	------

162 Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy can't just haul it away or anything. It's really a 1 2 pain. It's almost like a forever scale. It's just in piping that you can actually remove from the 3 wellbore. 4 5 So, you know, this is indicating that, you 6 know, chemistry matters, right? And they chose, 7 because of operation issues and whatnot, to use that water, and that was the decision that Chevron used. 8 9 And that happens and -- you know, in time. But, you 10 know -- let's see. 11 You know, mixing up different waters does 12 cause a problem and do, as mentioned, form a scale. 13 Does it show that the San Andres water was 0. 14 migrating? 15 Α. Not necessarily in this case of it, 16 because you were introducing it from the water 17 supply wells and into it -- now, there might have been some wells in some lower formations that they 18 19 had that's barium scale. But, you know, at this 20 time you're using San Andres water to put up in the Grayburg, and they were experiencing these problems, 21 the barium scale forming. 22 23 Okay. And this has been marked as Ο. Exhibit M-3, Empire's Exhibit M-3. Can you -- and I 24 think this is one of Dr. Buchwalter's exhibits? 25 Page 162

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy A. Yes, ma'am. This was -- this came from one of his exhibits.

Q. And can you tell us what this is showingwith respect to your analysis?

So this -- you know, they were doing some 5 Α. analysis here, and they were showing that they 6 7 believe, because of the -- you know, with the bubble plots that -- to the right, that they still had like 8 extra water coming from the San Andres in different 9 10 spots. And that was from a limited fracturing that 11 works in these little plume areas, which through the history of the field, these similar little plumes 12 13 pop up on a regular basis. And that -- you know, 14 there is no other explainable way that that water is 15 getting into the Grayburg than through these plumes or fractures in the San Andres. 16

And as -- you know, Dr. Lindsay has testified, and things, of -- you know, the vertical fractures that they've seen in the cores, you know, confirms this is the problem. And they did fracture studies and that to -- you don't really have a good solid barrier across the field between the San Andres and the Grayburg.

Q. Let's move on and discuss pressure,pressure data.

Page 163

163

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 164 A. Okay. Q. This is marked as Exhibit N-8. Can you

3 tell us what this shows?

1

2

Yes, ma'am. I will make one kind of quick 4 Α. correction to a correction here. So, you know, we 5 had an old document in 1929 that did, you know, pick 6 7 this pressure of 1450 at a 250 subsea depth. Originally just naturally interpreted that as a 8 negative 250 and then went back and read the 9 10 document for what it was, and it said 250, without a 11 negative.

Now, looking at the evidence and where the pressures make up, I do believe that's more of a negative 250 than a 250. So keep in mind with those original pressures down on the bottom, that would be about 175, 180-psi less. Okay? We didn't update this and bring it. I just didn't want to get confused in a bunch of extra updates.

But what this is showing you, you know, the raw data of, you know, establishing the original reservoir pressure, which would be about a .386, you know, psi per foot in gradient, and then an RFT that was taken in 1986 in the 211 that measured pressures at different points in the Grayburg all the way down into the San Andres.

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 165
1	And while there is differences in the
2	zones which you would expect, right? It's a
3	you know, there is a strata in different zones
4	that's been identified, there shows to be depletion
5	throughout the column from what would be established
6	as the original reservoir pressure that you know,
7	establishing that the fluid from the San Andres
8	had to be kind of going somewhere pre-waterflood or
9	pre-withdrawals from the San Andres San Andres.
10	Q. And based on your analysis, does the
11	this information show that there was communication
12	between the reservoirs?
13	A. Yes, ma'am.
14	Q. Anything else on this slide?
15	A. No. The next slide kind of summarizes
16	this a little bit in a graphical form.
17	Q. This is Exhibit I-4. Can you tell us what
18	this shows?
19	A. Yes. Again, I'll make the correction and
20	just slide in the line over to the right over about
21	175 feet psi.
22	But you can see where there's depletion
23	across all the different zones down into and
24	including the San Andres San Andres. The, you
25	know you know, this is at this point in time,
	Page 165

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 1 the Grayburg had produced about 121 million barrels 2 of oil. And at this time, no production had came 3 from the San Andres. 4 So it's indicating that there's some --5 you know, because of the production from the Grayburg that you withdraw from down the San Andres 6 7 in this -- in this area. Let's look at your Exhibit N-7. What does 8 Ο. this show? 9 10 Okay. So this was a bottomhole pressure Α. 11 survey that we ran on the EMSU 378, which -- to put 12 a reference in here, down at the bottom, if you see 13 like the blue diamonds, those indicate the current SWD wells of Goodnight. And then the little red 14 15 arrow in the middle, which is an injection well, which is this well here, is the well that this 16 17 pressure survey was ran into. 18 And so to run that pressure survey -- move 19 over. Right there -- you stop at different gradient 20 points as you're going down in the well and measurements. And so at the bottom of the well, 21 which would be in the Grayburg, they show that that 22 23 reservoir pressure of, you know, 950 is less than

San Andres right now. 25

24

Page 166

the representative, you know, pressure in the

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 167
1	So you're you know, you're likely
2	moving fluid from the San Andres, because it's a
3	higher pressure reservoir because of the injection
4	that's going on, into the Grayburg right now.
5	Q. Anything else on that one?
6	A. No, ma'am.
7	Q. Okay. Let's look at this let's talk
8	about the San Andres SWDs.
9	A. Okay.
10	Q. So is this can you tell me what this
11	slide is, please?
12	A. The exhibit over to the left, that is
13	actually one that came from Goodnight. And it
14	shows it's a good representation of the current
15	SWDs in the area and then the ones that they had
16	proposed, with one exception to one of the far
17	blue dots to the east, it's State Track E the one
18	right down below it, that's the number 1 well.
19	There's a second well disposal just to the right of
20	it, to the east. It's a minor note. But anyway
21	there's one more that's not shown on here, on their
22	slide. So you know, so this is the put in
23	context of the wells in the field where the SWDs
24	are.
25	And then the vertical bar going up and
	Page 167

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 168
1	down, kind of a timeframe of depending on
2	historical context, of when disposal started in the
3	field and how it went. Because there's been a lot
4	of talk and things. And so I thought it would be
5	good to set the record straight.
6	The first one was in that 1960 timeframe
7	with the Rice EME, which was just right off the
8	boundary. And then the unit was formed, you know,
9	in 1983, where the Technical Committee Report was
10	in 1983 and started the waterflood actually
11	started in 1987.
12	And whenever they started the
13	waterflood I don't have a note there on the water
14	supply, but the water supply well started to pull
15	water from the San Andres to use for waterflood
16	support in the Grayburg. Okay? And then, you know,
17	kind of bumps along as you know, it went from
18	Gulf Oil to Chevron and to X XTO acquired the
19	property in 2004. And then, you know, Goodnight,
20	you know, in 2012, they started their first
21	injection in the area, SWD, which is off of the EMSU
22	unit there. It's the Penroc, State E-12, which I
23	believe is just to the south side trouble
24	locating that right now, but that's when they
25	started their first.

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 169
1	And then one of the the main one that
2	starts in the unit disposal started in 2020, which
3	keep in mind that was kind of in COVID times, or
4	whatnot, but things started happening.
5	And then Empire acquired these properties
6	in 2021. And then now we're in 2025 here at this
7	hearing on it, so just kind of set the picture of,
8	you know, all of a sudden we went from one to we
9	got quite a few SWD wells right on top of the EMSU.
10	Q. And the Penroc well here mentioned from
11	2012 is it's outside of the unit, right?
12	A. Yes.
13	Q. Okay.
14	A. I'm having trouble
15	Yeah, it looks like pipe number 2, but I
16	can't
17	Q. Okay.
18	A. Yeah.
19	Q. And then the injection inside the EMSU
20	started around 2020?
21	A. Yeah, it started in 2020.
22	Q. The next slide, can you tell me what this
23	is?
24	A. There's been a lot of talk about it. So
25	this is the one and only SWD operated by Empire or
	Page 169

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 170 1 their predecessors, and this started in 1995. Τt. 2 was a, you know, recompletion to an SWD well, but 3 historical records with the OCD, this is the 4 production volumes. As you can see, for the most part, 5 6 historically, it's 2- to 400 barrels a day from 7 local wells that might not have all been Grayburg or San Andres, but very compatible fluid or -- you 8 know, from a similar area, not from a different 9 10 This is, you know, from Central Basin basin. 11 Platform and not from the Delaware Basin. 12 But you can see where, you know, there was 13 a descent period of time that there was very minimal 14 or little. And then there was a, you know, little 15 short period. And then currently right now, we do not utilize it. 16 17 Ο. And is this the only SWD operated by --18 that was operated by Empire within the unit? Or its 19 predecessors? It is operated by us, but we do not 20 Α. Yes. 21 put any more volumes into it right now. 22 And you say that this injection is Q. 23 minimal? 24 Α. Yes, this is far less than what the commercial volumes that are going on in the area 25 Page 170

	William West - April 9, 2023
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 171
1	right now. So it's I think you would say it's
2	pretty insignificant to the whole matter.
3	Q. And this is taken directly from the OCD
4	records?
5	A. Yes, ma'am.
6	Q. Okay. And then let's look at your next
7	slide.
8	What does this slide show?
9	A. This, again, is from OCD records. So this
10	is from the wells that was on the plot before but
11	just taken about approximately a one-mile buffer
12	around the EMSU. And you see historical
13	injection go back down you know, of, you know,
14	others is outside the EMSU.
15	In blue is everyone else that's injected
16	there, whether it's Rice, Permian, OWL, and even us.
17	And then Goodnight is highlighted in the orange.
18	As you see across here, the SWD injection
19	in the area was relatively insignificant until you
20	hit 2020. And then you went from, you know,
21	something that may have been a couple thousand
22	barrels to now in '24 that you're peaking up over
23	200,000 barrels of injection in the area. It's I
24	mean, that's orders of magnitude difference and
25	why why we're sitting here yelling and screaming
	- 171

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 172
1	when this came to our attention. It was kind of
2	like, you know, holy smokes, this is going to flood
3	out the resources. It's not only the ROZ resource,
4	it's increasing that pressure quite rapidly. And
5	then it's also flooding up into the Grayburg,
6	contaminating that fluid. You know, realistically,
7	we don't know what-all chemistry problems that it's
8	causing, but it's this is a massive amount of
9	fluid.
10	Q. And is this graph showing the I know
11	it's a little bit difficult to read the title
12	because for some reason, this says saved to PC. I
13	don't know, like pdf. But is this showing the total
14	disposal volumes within the EMSU and then within one
15	mile?
16	A. Yes, ma'am.
17	Q. Okay. And how many SWDs does Goodnight
18	operate within the unit?
19	A. Within the unit, they operate four. They
20	have a few that are right on the fringe. I'd have
21	to refer back to the other map to give you an exact
22	count. I don't have it off the top of my head.
23	Q. Okay. And then are there four wells
24	within one mile of the unit?
25	A. It sounds about right.
	Page 172

	-
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 173
1	Q. Okay. So within the unit, the Sosa,
2	Dawson, Banks, and Ryno?
3	A. Yes, ma'am.
4	Q. And outside of the unit within one mile is
5	it the Yaz, Ted, Pedro, and Nolan Ryan?
6	A. Yes, ma'am.
7	Q. Okay. And do you know when the four wells
8	outside the unit started injecting?
9	A. I don't have the timeframe exactly
10	memorized, but you can see some of them started in
11	'20. And then there's another bump that kind of
12	started in looks like '23 to '24 when the wells
13	came on line.
14	Q. And it looks like Goodnight started
15	injecting here, according to the orange, in 2019?
16	A. Yeah, it looks like it's right there on
17	that line. I mean, the, you know yeah. I was
18	just trying to read the legend down at the bottom,
19	and it's January '19 to January '20. Yeah, so it's
20	right there, end of '19, beginning of '20.
21	Q. And does this what's the takeaway on
22	this slide?
23	A. Takeaway on this slide that we're talking
24	about historical volumes now that wasn't in the
25	previous history or the field. I mean, this is very
	Page 173

	1 /
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 174
1	substantially different from whenever the unit was
2	formed and what has gone on historically from the
3	'60s, and whatnot. This is like, whoa, this is big
4	happening.
5	Q. And for that reason, would have more of an
6	impact?
7	A. Yes, ma'am.
8	Q. Okay. Let's look at this slide. Can you
9	tell me what this shows, please. It's your slide
10	number 18.
11	A. Can you bump just shrink it.
12	Q. Move up?
13	A. Okay. That's fine. Okay.
14	So what this is, is just if we did an
15	the most simple reservoir model of water in and out
16	of the San Andres, okay, starting in 1960, so if you
17	took those volumes all the way up to about 1987, and
18	since there's no historical records but you have the
19	cum volume, you know, that's why it's a nice easy
20	slope to that point in time in blue.
21	And then in the green area, that is where
22	the waterflood operations started, and things, and
23	you had the six water supply wells start to pull
24	down the water from the San Andres. And that's
25	where the blue line comes down in this green area.

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 1 You can see it gets down to, you know, 2 250, 260 million barrels, you know, drawdown for the 3 balance of what's going on injection. Keep in mind that there was SWD going on during the time, right? 4 The right soils and things from the 1960s were still 5 going on. So it didn't draw all the way down to how 6 7 much water was pulled out of the reservoir for the water supply wells. 8

9 And then around, you know, 2004 or so, the water withdrawal kind of got to be a little bit more 10 11 minimized with the purchase of XTO, it seemed like. 12 And where there is -- you know, current day there is 13 one active water supply well, which we still draw water from. But you can see we kind of went flat on 14 15 the balance, but your -- you drew down the pressure 16 of the San Andres, which -- you know, that's one of 17 the big things of turning on a ROZ or doing that, you'd have to dewater the reservoir. 18

Well, historically, to make up the water that was produced prior from the Grayburg, you pulled down San Andres water. So you kind of set the San Andres up at a good place where you drew down the pressure. Admissible of CO2 is about 1300, so you're down at a good pressure. So that would be less water that I'd have to dispose, dry out and

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 176 1 those things, and it would have a guicker impact. 2 Move on to more present-day or when 3 commercial disposal started in the area, it's kind 4 of depicted by the yellow. So you see where -- how 5 rapidly all of that withdrawal of the reservoir, you know, happened, and all of a sudden, man, we're 6 7 spiking up, up into present time, which is the line between the yellow and the red. So that's all the 8 SWD going in. 9 10 So we withdrew all the water from the --11 from the water supply wells. And then the SWD is going in. You can see where we're peaking up almost 12 13 to the original balance of back in 1960. 14 And then the dashed line would be the 15 prediction. If you took the disposal rates of the 16 wells now and say you approved the disposal of the 17 new ones, you would see how rapidly the -- filling up this whole large area of reservoir of the -- you 18 19 know, the San Andres underneath EMSU. That's a huge 20 impact. I mean, we're talking really, really large volumes of water. 21 22 And so here, when you're looking at the Q. 23 yellow part of the graph where the injection 24 commenced, is that really showing that the amount of water that's been put in over basically four years 25 Page 176

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 177 1 has brought the reservoir -- increased the pressure, 2 the amount of water in the reservoir compared to what had taken years and years to decline, 3 4 basically? 5 Yes, ma'am, it's taken water out. Α. Now, 6 this is just mass in, mass out of water, I mean, 7 will be predictive of pressure, right? The less water that's in the reservoir, the lower the 8 pressure will be. You know, as the water -- as it's 9 10 filled back up, the pressure will go up with that 11 injection. 12 But, yes, you can see the area in the 13 yellow of how much you've -- you know, of the 14 overall cumulative water how quick, rapidly that's 15 increased versus the time period, let's say, from 16 1960 all the way to 1970 -- 1987. 17 Ο. And does increasing the amount of water injected into the reservoir -- well, how does that 18 19 impact the potential CO2 project? 20 So the ROZ, it greatly impacts it. Α. 21 Increases costs straight across the board. 22 Now we've got more water in there I got to 23 get rid of. You know, so let's say, for argument's 24 sake, admissible pressers -- admissible pressure for CO2 is going to be about 1300 in this reservoir. 25 Page 177

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 178
1	And let's say you're about 1500, you know, pounds.
2	So that's not bad, right? So you're you're not
3	having to overcompress CO2. Let's say if you went
4	to 2,000, it would take more compression to do that.
5	And then also since it's a compressible fluid, it
6	takes more CO2 we'd have to buy.
7	So as the pressure increases, we have to
8	increase the pressure of our equipment. We have to
9	increase compression. We have to increase the
10	amount of CO2 we've got to buy. And then also,
11	we've got to get all that water that's being piled
12	in there right now out of the way to let the CO2 do
13	its job. And so then there's, you know, a cost to
14	get the water back out of the way to be able to do a
15	CO2 ROZ project.
16	Q. Anything else on this slide?
17	A. No. No, ma'am.
18	Q. Okay. Your next side, which is Exhibit
19	I-30, can you tell us what this shows?
20	A. So this is, you know, showing that effect
21	of the pressure. So, you know and this is a
22	little bit of a sensitivity that was ran is our
23	economic model that we ran above, we only ran at
24	2500-psi because injection going on things and
25	trying to be a little bit conservative.

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 179 But realistically, we'd be operating in --1 2 a 1500-psi would be the right place. And so you see 3 that the difference between the 1500 and the 2500 4 would be another 20 percent of CO2 volume that would 5 be required to do that flood. So it greatly increases your cost, 6 7 because, you know, CO2 is a big cost to the project. It's a big project. It's a big cost of the project 8 9 to compress it. You know, 1500 pounds, you know, from a compression standpoint, you know, you can 10 11 kind of get there, three stages fairly easy. And 12 it's fairly standard equipment. When you break over 13 that point, you start extra stages and higher pressure equipment as required. 14 15 So, you know, it not only impacts the cost

of the CO2, I mean, the additional volume of the CO2, the additional compression of the CO2, the heavier duty equipment to handle the higher pressures, it just -- everything bad. I mean, it just kills the project, is why it's crucial that you can't allow the -- all this wastewater to continue to go into the San Andres.

HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Ms. Hardy,
would this be an okay time for us to take an
afternoon break?

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 180
1	MS. HARDY: Sure.
2	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
3	MS. HARDY: I think that would be
4	fine.
5	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Let's break
6	for 15 minutes. Come back at 3:15.
7	(Recess was taken from 3:00 p.m. until 3:16 p.m.)
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: You ready
9	to proceed, Ms. Hardy?
10	MS. HARDY: Yes.
11	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Are we good
12	to go in the back, Ms. Apodaca?
13	MS. APODACA: Yes, we are.
14	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I get a
15	thumbs up from Ms. Tellez. So we're back on the
16	record.
17	And go ahead with your examination of
18	Mr. West.
19	MS. HARDY: Thank you, Mr. Examiner.
20	Q (By Ms. Hardy) So let's move on, Mr. West,
21	and talk about chemistry, which we touched on a
22	little bit. This slide is marked as Exhibit N-9.
23	Can you tell me what this slides shows?
24	A. Okay. So orient you down to the
25	right-hand corner of this. Again, the blue diamonds
	Page 180
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 181
----	--
1	represent the four active SWDs by Goodnight that are
2	going on. And then the four red circles indicate
3	the four wells indicated on this chart, the EMSU
4	377, the 407, the 440, and the 441.
5	And so this is from water samples taken
6	over time from, you know you know, early February
7	'24 into late '24. You can see over time that we
8	are seeing in those wells increases in chlorides,
9	indicating that you have a higher chloride system of
10	fluid that is coming and migrating into the
11	Grayburg.
12	One, you know, good source of this would
13	be the you know, the what would be the
14	chlorides that's coming from the Delaware Basin
15	water, which is just right at 100,000 parts of
16	chlorides.
17	So if that's you know, if you're
18	getting leakage from the San Andres into the
19	Grayburg there, you would start to see increases in
20	these chlorides. And you can see 6 percent all the
21	way up to a 25 percent increase over this timeframe,
22	we're starting to see it.
23	Now we're monitoring it as it goes along,
24	too, but, you know, since you're talking about the
25	whole system of the EMSU and EMSU B, which is all
	Page 181

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 182
1	connected in one fluid system, it takes a
2	significant amount of influx of, you know, high
3	chlorides to start to raise those chlorides. These
4	are big, large systems.
5	Q. And just so it's clear, are these four
6	wells listed here perforated only in the Grayburg?
7	A. Yes, ma'am. These are only in the
8	Grayburg.
9	Q. Okay. So is the takeaway from the slide
10	that the chemistry changes show the water is
11	migrating from the San Andres into the Grayburg?
12	A. Yes, ma'am, where it shows that we are
13	getting a higher source of salinity, chlorides from
14	somewhere. And the San Andres, now with the
15	injection of these SWD wells, is higher salinity.
16	So it's raising the salinity in these oils in the
17	Grayburg.
18	Q. Okay. Let's look at your next slide.
19	This one is pretty hard to read. But can you tell
20	us what this shows?
21	A. Okay. So what this shows here is, it's
22	kind of just comparison of the two fluids with it.
23	And so up at the top, we have what's been, you know,
24	represented by Goodnight of their water analysis of
25	the water that's going into their SWD wells. And
	Page 182

	-
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 183
1	then, you know, representative sample, you know,
2	different wells in the EMSU down below.
3	In between they kind of have a mixing,
4	because the chemistry in the mixing of these two
5	fluids is important.
6	If you can scroll where I can see the
7	headers at the top. There you go. Perfect.
8	And so if we start working our way from
9	left to right, let's say, in the Goodnight's area,
10	you'll see that their you know, go down the
11	columns, you go to the pH, you'll see that, you
12	know, their pH runs in the 6s. You know, ours is
13	kind of more around the neutral 7 point, but there's
14	a little variation of pHs, which affect chemistry.
15	We move over to the next column, we see
16	the TDS, or total dissolve solids. You'll see that
17	they're much higher. They're 140, 150, and we end
18	up being in the, you know, 20,000s, you know, as you
19	go down through.
20	Calcium, their fluid that they're
21	injecting there has a much higher calcium content
22	than what we do. You know, that's what a 10-fold,
23	something from we're in the 500s. Most of the
24	time they're in the 4- to 500 5,000s. I see some
25	3s in there. So there's you know, there's a

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 184 1 fairly big difference on the cat irons. 2 Magnesium higher, which is not normally a 3 really reactive thing. Now, it does -- it helps with chemistry reaction. Barium, while it's fairly 4 5 small, theirs is, you know, a reading in the 1s, and ours in the -- we have a couple of 1s down there. 6 7 So . . . So barium is a concerning one. And then 8 strontium is a -- could be a concern. And then 9 10 barium looks, for the most part, not to be too much 11 sulfur. So these -- you know, strontium is out 12 there. It's kind of known as a forever chemical, 13 and it also creates a very nasty scale. Strontium sulfate, just like the barium sulfate, the only way 14 15 that you can get rid of it is by mechanic means. 16 So if you have mixing of fluid in the 17 formation that has -- you're introducing a high strontium level with -- you know, what it's going to 18 19 react with, over on the other side is going to you your sulfates. So we'd have to run over to the 20 sulfates, and you see we got 4-hundredths of 21 thousands in theirs, and we got a mixture of 600s 22 23 to, you know, couple 2,000 outliers, it looks like. 24 You know, since you're introducing more strontium, you have a good chance of forming this 25

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 185
1	forever scale. And you you know, if it gets in
2	the formation, or whatever, it's good night, it's
3	over, right? I mean, the it will form and, you
4	know, block off the ROZ, and you're never going to
5	be able to recover it.
б	So you have a high potential for real
7	damage to be going on that you cannot go back on.
8	It's not like, let's say, over to the side over
9	here, the calcium carbonate, you can dissolve that
10	with acids. You can do some remedial thing. But if
11	you start getting barium sulfate or strontium
12	sulfate forming, there is no good ways to remove it.
13	Now, you know, strontium, you know, it's
14	where the, you know, TDS and things come into play
15	also. It's the other chemicals that the higher
16	the TDS, the more likely that strontium will form.
17	Pressure and temperature have an impact too.
18	But you see as we start going across, you
19	see sodium is much higher in the Goodnight water
20	versus the EMSU base water. Potassium is higher.
21	Probably the sodium potassium is probably coming a
22	lot from the frack fluid that's being used there.
23	Another one that kind of jumps out that
24	gets concerning, you know, the same with strontium
25	and lithium is like, when you start introducing
	Page 185

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy these things, you start introducing NORM into the system. So NORM stands for normally organic recurring materials.

And so whenever you get to the end of the life of a project where you have NORM present, it requires a whole -- you know, to remove the equipment, the metals, you know, gather that, and then you've got to go through a more expensive process to get rid of it.

So you've got these heavy metals that are, you know, migrating into the system that it's going to cause, you know, your P&A expenses and different things to go up because now the metals are going to, you know, contain NORM. But the high lithium, that's getting pretty high.

16 You migrate over to iron. It can come up 17 a few different ways. You know, one general indication of it would be how healthy your system 18 19 is, right? So iron, there's a lot of steel that's 20 used in the oilfield. So that's a good source to get iron in. So you can see where their iron levels 21 are much higher than what the iron levels are in the 22 23 We keep our corrosions at a minimum, and EMSU. 24 things, and keep it pushed down.

25

Jumping over to the anions, you can see

Page 186

186

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 187
1	that the chlorides are much higher than what ours
2	are, and that's what the graph was before, was the
3	chloride test between the two.
4	Sulfate may be within the range. There's
5	times that it's higher and times it's lower. It's
6	probably depending on where they're getting their
7	fluid from, right, there might be somebody running
8	more fracks, less fracks, whatever. It's hard to
9	really nail down what chemistry they're putting into
10	the formation.
11	CO2, you know, that's relatively the same.
12	Biocarbs, we bring more biocarbs to the
13	table, which would be you know, we're the ones
14	that and in the carbonates, the calcium
15	carbonates or the iron carbonates, those ones.
16	H2O is because of the nature of the
17	waterflood, or whatever, we have a little bit more
18	of that into the system, which is where you have the
19	old sulfates there. And then probably bugs and
20	those type of things over the years contribute to
21	that.
22	And so anyways you can I mean, it's
23	pretty easy to see that these fluids don't look the
24	same. We could do a lot of fancy chemistry. We
25	could get samples from them and us and mix them and
	Page 187

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 188 1 see what kind of creatures are created, but they're 2 not similar fluids.

Q. And is that because Goodnight is injecting water from outside of this immediate area and formation?

A. Yes, ma'am. We're -- you know, so our production is -- you know, in the Central was considered Central Basin Platform. This is deep in the Delaware Basin here, along with a lot of frack fluids. So you're using a lot of chemicals and maybe even tracers or different things that's mixed up in that fluid.

So there's a big mix of fluids, and they're coming -- I mean, I don't know, a list of things, what the Bone Springs, the Wolfcamp and those type formations. So they just have a totally different chemistry that -- you know, than what we have in our area.

19 Q. And is the injection of water with 20 different chemistry -- and particularly the 21 chemistry you've talked about here, can it cause 22 permanent damage to the formation?

A. Yes. You know, several of these can. You
know barium sulfate formed in the formation will
cause permanent damage that you will never be able

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 1 to recover those reserves. 2 Ο. And would that impact a CO2 project? Yes. If the CO2 cannot contact the 3 Α. 4 molecules of the oil, there's no way for it to 5 penetrate in it to reduce the viscosity, and things, and to allow that to flow out of the rock. 6 7 Looking at your next slide, which is Ο. Exhibit B-21, can you tell us what this shows? 8 So this is from Dr. Lindsay's testimony. 9 Α. You can kind of see where you got the folds setting 10 11 up the reservoir and then how historically you had 12 the edge water that could feed up from the 13 Goat Seep. And then you had the bottom water that 14 came from the San Andres. And then you had up in 15 the old connate waters from the Grayburg prior to 16 the flood, or whatever, did have higher, you know, 17 salinity there. But the sulfate rich water, which, you 18 19 know, is in the whole system, that sulfate, you 20 know, gets to be real dangerous when it mixes with barium. And now a new chemical that's coming in 21 too, the strontium. And you mix that strontium with 22 23 this sulfate, you know, rich environment, which now 24 the -- for the most practical purposes, the Grayburg water has been replaced by the San Andres water. 25

Page 189

189

	-
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 190
1	And where you see that the the
2	salinities that are around that 11-, 12,000 arch
3	because a lot of production came out of the Grayburg
4	before the start of the waterflood, and then you
5	introduced a lot of water into it to make the
6	waterflood happen.
7	Q. Anything else on this one?
8	A. No. And outside of, you know, whenever
9	you bend, you know, rock, it will break and
10	fracture. And so that's where you kind of get some
11	of those plumes that you can see where, you know,
12	the reservoirs have been bent.
13	Q. This is your Exhibit N-14. What does this
14	show?
15	A. So this was provided to us from Goodnight
16	after we had our guys in the field noticing, you
17	know, work over eight over on their well. And so
18	this is where they although chemistry that we
19	described above and this is even before mixing
20	they had problems with heavy scale, heavy rust. You
21	can see where it's highlighted there that they
22	couldn't even separate the wellhead and pull the
23	tubing hanger out because of how much scale there
24	was in the tubing and things.
25	And so I they don't tell me what type

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 191 1 of scale that was, but it's probably one of those 2 more forever scales. You can see where it's forming 3 on the way down in the reservoir. Imagine you add 4 some pressure and you add some temperature to it, you know, it's just like cooking in your kitchen, 5 6 all of a sudden those chemicals want to go more. 7 Okay?

Day 2. Here's the other piece of the 8 9 damage, has gone -- we're talking -- you know, so we read here, it's, you know -- it says that this is a, 10 11 you know -- read it here, yes. It says that unit's 12 got liner damage, one over to the right. Which 13 liner damage would be indicating that it's lined to 14 the -- in it. So they're putting plastic on the 15 inside, plastic like compound inside of the tubing 16 that they're injecting down to try to prevent it 17 from being affected from corrosion.

So you see here they indicate that they 18 19 found several damaged, corroded -- corrosion pins. So this is a corrosive fluid that they're putting 20 down in the reservoir, right? I mean, there's -- we 21 don't need, you know, to do any chemistry experiment 22 23 when you have real results on a well that started 24 in -- I don't know the exact date on the Ryno, but 2020, right around there, plus or minus years. 25

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 1 So it hadn't been in service that long. 2 And you've got substantial damage and substantial scale that had formed here, according to this 3 4 report. 5 Let's look at your Exhibit N-6. What is 0. 6 this, please. 7 Α. So this is a cross section. T can't remember who created this one. I think it was Ops 8 9 Geologic. But you can see in it the Ryno SWD wells 10 on the far left. And you can see where they have 11 perfs, you know, that are indicated in the red that 12 do exist in the top part of the San Andres, which is 13 right there, you know, into the Grayburg. And even 14 across from, you know, areas that show that there's 15 oil there. And then, you know, you hit -- looks like 16

17 maybe they avoided on purpose some intervals that had some, you know, oil down below, but they kind of 18 19 mix and get kind of close. You can see where, even 20 though it's a down-dip oil, they also -- and even though it has ROZ in it, that that water is going to 21 flow up-dip and impact the other pieces of the 22 23 reservoir in the San Andres and also, you know, 24 migrate -- whenever it hits a crack, migrate up into the Grayburg. 25

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 193
1	Now, note on the two logs in the middle of
2	that, they didn't have sufficient data to calculate
3	the oil saturations down deep.
4	Q. And so with respect to the chemistry that
5	you've been talking about, does this slide indicate
6	that the locations where Goodnight is injecting or
7	the intervals would cause damage in the San Andres?
8	A. Yes, ma'am.
9	Q. Okay. Thank you.
10	A. And I think I don't know if there's a
11	location tab down on the right-hand corner or not
12	just to show them. This is a west to east line
13	going across. No, there's not, but the R.R. Bell is
14	on the right. So it's kind of a just to give you
15	a frame of reference, you're going from down-dip to
16	up-dip.
17	Q. Okay. Let's talk about the SWD impacts.
18	A. Okay.
19	Q. Okay. And this is your Exhibit I-16. Can
20	you tell us what this shows?
21	A. Several things going on here. First, it
22	shows this image shows the four current SWDs
23	that's going on. And up in the middle legend, you
24	can kind of see it depicts who, you know, has the
25	minerals into it.

	• •
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 194
1	Fee, being that it's a regular non-State
2	landowner. You know, the State leases depicted in
3	green. And then the Federal lease is depicted in
4	blue. And the total unit boundary is about 14,000.
5	And then, you know, it's, you know,
6	approximately you know, the red squares are the
7	surface locations for each of those wells and about
8	a five-acre surface lease representative of what
9	that would indicate.
10	And then on here, you see how much water's
11	been injected in each well. And the circles of blue
12	indicate about the the impact radius that they've
13	impacted already. If you just take the perfs, you
14	know, 50 percent net to gross, and then you're
15	you know, what water you're pushing, you can see how
16	much, you know, impact you've had from those
17	injections, roughly, if it at all stayed within the
18	San Andres.
19	You can see where they're in present
20	time, this is present time in I think maybe the
21	date was up at the top of when this was. Okay. But
22	this is to date. I don't
23	Q. It says August 1, 2024 on the bottom.
24	A. Okay. Yeah, I couldn't remember which
25	you know, which time it was. So it's progressed a
	Page 194

William	West -	April	9,	2025
---------	--------	-------	----	------

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 195 little bit since then. 1 And then your next slide is Exhibit I-19. 2 Ο. What does this show? 3 4 Α. So this is, you know, after one more year, which we're almost there, June 1, to represent to 5 grow the circles after another year of disposal, of 6 7 how the circles start to grow. And they're starting to overlap and starting to flood out the ROZ 8 9 potential in that area. 10 And then it has indicated the, you know, 11 five stars to where their proposed SWD permits would 12 come in. 13 And this is after one year of injection? Ο. 14 Yes, this is, you know, after one year of Α. 15 injection, June 1, 2025. 16 And then what's shown on your Ο. Exhibit I-20, the next slide? 17 This is assuming that the SWD 18 Α. Okav. 19 permits are granted, and this is to June 1, 2029, so 20 four years down the road from now, five total. You can see where the blue circles continue to grow. 21 And then the additional ones of, you know, the five 22 23 there start to commingle, and you really are 24 flooding out the resource in the area. 25 You can see how quickly the impact is. Page 195

	1 /
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 196
1	It's kind from that cumulative water graph before.
2	You can see how rapidly this is. And that's why,
3	you know you know, time is of the essence here,
4	that this is very impactful.
5	Q. Then what is shown on your next slide,
6	which is Exhibit I-21?
7	A. Okay. Now we go, you know, to the
8	ten-year mark. Well, all the circles have kind of
9	jumped on top of each other, and you can see they've
10	formed one big circle to where in ten years, you've
11	almost flooded out the ROZ potential for all of
12	EMSU. There's a little bit left up to the north,
13	but you've had a huge impact of the area.
14	Q. And what's shown on Exhibit I-22, which is
15	your next slide?
16	A. This is after 20 years. You can see, you
17	know, the EMSU depicted in the blue outlined that
18	you pretty much have reached every last outside
19	extent of the of the you know, the ROZ
20	potential. It's, you know, flooded, and you're
21	pushing water continually outside the bounds. And
22	it's damage there's no potential for ROZ or
23	anything left. I mean, you've flooded all of it.
24	Q. Then what's shown on your next slide,
25	which is Exhibit I-23?

	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 197
1	A. So this is just, you know, doing a little
2	bit of you know, of what you know, to do a
3	reference of a five-acre tract, right? And then say
4	if we had a permit at 40,000 barrels a day, you
5	know, of what that impact would be. If you injected
6	into at 40,000 barrels a day, you can see in 13
7	days, that you start getting outside the bounds of a
8	five-acre tract, which is, you know, a lot of times
9	what the surface leases agree to for an SWD permit.
10	And so you're starting to get onto other
11	bounds of land.
12	Q. Within 13 days?
13	A. Within 13 days at 40,000 barrels a day.
14	Q. Okay. What is shown on this next slide?
15	A. So shrink it just a smidge.
16	Q. Shrink it?
17	A. Yeah, just a smidge so we can catch the
18	bottom of it.
19	So this is showing you the tracts of the
20	EMSU, you know, in red now, they're both in
21	red and EMSU B to the north. So what I want to
22	point out here is that all of this is one big
23	system.
24	So no matter how fluid gets into the
25	system, you affect all the Grayburg production.
	Page 197

	• •
	Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 198
1	So you know, so whether that's coming up through
2	existing wellbores, fractures, or one real direct
3	way would be on the active water supply well that we
4	have going on because it's part of the unit.
5	So all that chemistry that we went over,
б	because it's part of our waterflood. And to produce
7	it and to make up water, you know, you're getting
8	water from the San Andres. So if you're polluting
9	that water, now you're effectively not only
10	polluting EMSU, but you're effectively polluting up
11	into EMSU B also.
12	So this is representative of all the
13	pipelines and all the, you know, the facilities.
14	You can see kind of in the middle of the EMSU there,
15	you see the EMSU's CTB.
16	And so all of the water and fluid comes to
17	there, and it's distributed out across the whole
18	entire unit. That's why I was saying if you're
19	damaging our water supply, then you're damaging all
20	of the Grayburg.
21	Q. Okay. And then here's a summary of your
22	conclusions. Can you tell us what they are?
23	A. From our different looks at it to your,
24	you know, EMSU has a great ROZ potential of over
25	900 million barrels in the San Andres, which is
	Page 198
	raye 190

Direct Examination by Ms. Hardy 199 1 currently being impacted by Goodnight's SWD 2 operations. You know, since you're injecting these 3 large amounts of water, that -- by nature, that 4 5 pressure in the San Andres is increasing. And this -- and it's promoting increase of water influx, 6 7 which has been known from historical papers and very well publicized, into the Grayburg intervals. 8 9 And then, you know, we are seeing, you know, proof of it. Is that water chlorides are 10 11 starting to increase and it provides an indication that, yes, near the wellbore that we're getting, you 12 13 know, influx of water that is, you know, changing 14 the salinity of our fluid. 15 All the three units that we have out 16 there, the EMSU, the EMSU B and the AGU, all have a 17 history of bottom water production from the San Andres, which plumes have been well documented 18 19 in, you know, public papers. And so it's -- it 20 just, you know, can't be allowed to go on. 21 0. And kind of just to sum up, is the gist of this that Goodnight's injection is damaging the 22 23 reservoir? 24 Α. Yes, it's damaging the potential ROZ in the San Andres, and it's damaging the current 25 Page 199

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 200 existing, you know, Grayburg, which is all part of 1 2 the EMSU unit. Both of those are, you know, part of 3 the unitized interval. 4 MS. HARDY: I have no further 5 questions for Mr. West. He's available for cross-examination. Thank you. 6 7 HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right. Then Mr. Rankin? 8 9 MR. RANKIN: Sorry, one moment. I'm trying to find the presentation slides that 10 11 Ms. Hardy sent to me yesterday. HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I thought 12 13 you were about to say no questions. 14 CROSS-EXAMINATION 15 BY MR. RANKIN: 16 Mr. West, I'm going to share on the screen Ο. 17 the PowerPoint presentation that you just walked through with Ms. Hardy. Okay? Let me know when you 18 can see it. 19 Yes, sir, I can see it. 20 Α. 21 0. Great. Maybe before I -- before I do, I 22 think actually, I might just want to get into a 23 little bit more about your background. We qualified 24 you as an expert in petroleum engineering, and I did -- since we're on the topic -- and I wasn't 25 Page 200

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 201
1	trying to be rude, but I did understand you to say
2	that you were simply an expert in petroleum
3	engineering but with respect to production,
4	engineering, and operating operations; is that
5	correct?
6	A. I said petroleum engineering and
7	specializing in especially within the area
8	spent a lot more time in production and operations.
9	Q. Production and operations?
10	A. It's just saying it's specialized.
11	Q. Okay. I didn't mean to be rude. I
12	just I thought I heard you qualifying yourself as
13	an expert in those areas, and I
14	A. It's okay.
15	Q. I was going along with what I thought you
16	were saying.
17	All right. So we got your your resume
18	or CV was attached as part of your direct testimony
19	as Exhibit I, correct?
20	A. Yes, sir.
21	Q. Okay. And you came on to Empire Petroleum
22	in June of 2023, correct?
23	A. Yes, sir.
24	Q. Okay. But initially, you got your
25	undergrad in petroleum engineering back in 1999,
	Page 201

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 202
1	correct?
2	A. Yes, sir, from Marietta College.
3	Q. And then when you joined Empire in June of
4	2023, you came on as senior vice president of
5	operations, correct?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And what do your what do your duties
8	include as senior vice president of operations?
9	A. I'm overseeing the day-to-day logistics,
10	field operations, reporting the activities,
11	overseeing the engineers and geologists and
12	technical staff in the office.
13	Q. And what areas do you oversee in that
14	role?
15	A. Engineering, geology, and the technical
16	like the technicians that work for them.
17	Q. And in that role, you're overseeing all
18	of all of Empire's operations, not just in New
19	Mexico, correct?
20	A. Correct.
21	Q. Okay. And where would those be?
22	A. We have operations in New Mexico, Texas,
23	North Dakota, and Louisiana.
24	Q. And prior to coming on to work with
25	Empire, did you have any experience with CO2
	Page 202

William	West -	April	9,	2025
---------	--------	-------	----	------

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 203
1	enhanced oil recovery projects?
2	A. Not CO2, but enhanced oil recoveries, yes,
3	several waterfloods.
4	Q. Have any experience evaluating, assessing,
5	or operating in a residual oil zone?
6	A. No, sir.
7	Q. Any experience characterizing a potential
8	residual oil zone?
9	A. No, sir.
10	Q. Any experience operating in a residual oil
11	zone?
12	A. No, sir.
13	Q. Any experience designing or implementing a
14	carbon dioxide tertiary flood?
15	A. No, sir.
16	Q. Any experience designing or implementing a
17	CO2 water alternating gas flood?
18	A. No, sir.
19	Q. And in your role as senior vice president
20	of operations, you're in charge of not just the
21	folks in the office, but the folks in the field in
22	all the locations where Empire has operations,
23	correct?
24	A. Yes, sir.
25	Q. And that would include in New Mexico,
	Page 203
	Veritext Legal Solutions

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 204
1	correct?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. So you have do you have you have
4	contact with folks in the field in New Mexico?
5	A. Yes, sir.
6	Q. How frequently do you have contact with
7	operate operators or your folks in the field in
8	New Mexico?
9	A. Typically, I'll talk to Toby, you know,
10	once a week or so.
11	Q. Is that true been true since the time
12	you came on to work with Empire?
13	A. Yeah, sometimes more, sometimes less. It
14	just depends what activity is going on.
15	Q. Now oh, switch over to your summary
16	slides. I may spend some time on some of these, and
17	I may skip over some only because they're in your
18	testimony. It makes sense for me to talk through
19	them in the context of your testimony. Okay? So I
20	may skip over some of these slides, but don't worry,
21	not because I don't want to ask you questions about
22	them. It's just because I'm going to come back to
23	them in a different context. Okay?
24	A. I'm sure you'll have a few.
25	Q. In your slide 2 here, you present your
	Page 204

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 205
1	Rebuttal Exhibit N N-1, and as I understood, the
2	main takeaway is that from your testimony, is
3	that there's in your opinion, there's a very
4	large EOR potential as represented by XTO, correct?
5	A. This is XTO's representation that there is
6	a large ROZ potential.
7	Q. And XTO XTO's representation was
8	limited to was limited to approximately minus 700
9	subsea in this document, correct?
10	A. In this document, that is what they
11	represented here.
12	Q. Are you aware of any other documents that
13	reflect that XTO was representing a potential ROZ
14	any deeper than minus 700 subsea?
15	A. I think you've seen a lot of things.
16	Q. I'm asking you. I mean, are you aware of
17	any documents in which XTO is representing a
18	potential ROZ deeper than minus 700 subsea?
19	A. No, sir.
20	Q. Are you are you personally relying on
21	XTO's representations in this slide or any of the
22	other documents that you reviewed from XTO?
23	A. It's a point it's a data point that you
24	take into consideration.
25	Q. Okay. And are you taking this into
	Page 205
	Page 205

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 206
1	consideration?
2	A. I'm taking this into consideration that
3	XTO/Exxon believed in the ROZ enough to put it in a
4	sales package. So it's, you know, a bunch of other
5	experts outside the ones that I have in my office or
6	third parties that have worked on this.
7	Q. But let me ask you this question: Are
8	you are you relying on this information?
9	A. It's a data point.
10	Q. Is it's a data point. Are you looking
11	to acquire additional data points?
12	A. As you know, as an engineer, you
13	continually take what data points you can find and
14	do an engineering analysis on it. And this is one
15	data point that another company who previously
16	operated the asset felt pretty strongly that there's
17	an ROZ here to indicate it on a sales package, being
18	one of the largest companies, oil and gas companies.
19	So I would have to say they believed in it pretty
20	good.
21	Q. Now, this sales package, this document
22	we're looking at wasn't limited to the EMSU,
23	correct?
24	A. No, sir.
25	Q. And it's referring to all three units,
	Page 206
	Varitary Lagal Solutions

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 207
1	correct?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. And that type log doesn't identify a
4	specific well, does it?
5	A. It just says tech well.
б	Q. So we don't know what unit it's intended
7	to represent, correct?
8	A. That is correct.
9	Q. And so in any of the documents that you
10	have seen from ExxonMobil or XTO, have you
11	identified any documents that reflect a specific
12	let me let me think about this, how to rephrase
13	that question.
14	Okay. So based on this document here,
15	that type log could be from any one of the three
16	units, correct?
17	A. You said type log representative of the
18	area.
19	Q. Okay. And that's your understanding,
20	right?
21	A. Yeah, that's what I can see from the log
22	and from the from the slide. There's no header
23	saying what exact well it is.
24	Q. As a part as a senior vice president of
25	operations for Empire, when you came onto the
	Page 207

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 208
1	company, how did you familiarize yourself with
2	the with the three units that you're you were
3	charged with overseeing?
4	
5	operating asset that we had. You kind of come on,
6	you I just you know, talking with staff in the
7	office and talking with field staff and just
8	familiarize myself that way.
9	Q. Did you review any of the historical
10	unitization documents for either of these three
11	statutory units?
12	A. No, sir.
13	Q. No?
14	A. Not at that time, when I came on board.
15	Q. Have you since?
16	A. I've seen parts of them since
17	Q. Okay.
18	A in this case.
19	Q. Since your understanding that XTO believed
20	strongly enough in the potential for an ROZ in these
21	three units and represented that it was had a
22	potential of producing more than 900 or
23	containing more than 900 million barrels of oil, but
24	they sold it for less than \$18 million to Empire?
25	A. Yes, they sold it to Empire. I don't
	Page 208

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 209
1	know I don't understand your question.
2	Q. Well, let me let me ask let me
3	rephrase it. If you believe that XTO believed
4	strongly in the potential for that the ROZ that
5	they represented in this document that they
6	believed strongly that there was an ROZ across these
7	units containing upwards of 900 million barrels of
8	oil, why did they sell it for to Empire for less
9	than \$18 million?
10	A. I have no speculation on Exxon's business
11	practices.
12	Q. Are you relying on XTO's representations
13	in this document to make any determinations about
14	whether there is a potential ROZ below minus
15	700 feet subsea?
16	A. Repeat the question just to make sure I
17	understand it.
18	Q. Sure. Are you relying on any of the
19	representations made by XTO in this document or any
20	of the others that you reviewed to conclude that
21	there is a potential ROZ deeper than minus 700 feet
22	subsea?
23	A. Not from Exxon.
24	Q. Not from Exxon?
25	A. Correct.
	Page 209

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 210
1	Q. And not from XTO?
2	A. Correct.
3	Q. Okay. This was this was one of the
4	other documents I think that was prepared or
5	presented as part of the sales package by XTO,
6	correct?
7	A. That is correct. It does have a little
8	shading on it that wasn't in the sales package.
9	Q. That was something you added, right? That
10	was something you added?
11	A. Yes.
12	Q. I think I heard you say that there's a
13	there's a structure here, right? And in the EMSU
14	actually, it's Dr. Lindsay referred to it as
15	double, double humped structure, right?
16	A. That is correct.
17	Q. What's the mechanism? This is a
18	conventional I mean, the EMSU is a conventional
19	reservoir, correct?
20	A. That is correct.
21	Q. Okay. And what is the trapping mechanism
22	for the EMSU? Is it structural or is it
23	stratigraphic?
24	A. I'm not a geologist exactly, to define
25	that.
	Page 210

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 211
1	Q. Okay. So you're so you're not sure
2	whether it's a structural or trapping mechanism or a
3	stratigraphic trapping mechanism here?
4	A. From Dr. Lindsay's, you got the you got
5	a structural comment. And then I believe as you go
6	farther to the east, there was a deterioration of
7	the reservoirs also that he indicated on his
8	testimony. So it looks, you know, a little bit of a
9	combo.
10	Q. The I have to catch up to where I am
11	here.
12	MR. RANKIN: Is this a different
13	slide presentation that I got today last night,
14	Dana, or is it the same one, same sequence?
15	MS. HARDY: It's the same.
16	A. It's the same.
17	Q. Okay. I may have been off in my
18	numbering, makes sense.
19	Mr. West, you testified when we were
20	looking at this slide about two wells that tested
21	oil at the top of the structure, correct, in the
22	San Andres?
23	A. That is correct, confirmed by Mr. Knights'
24	testimony.
25	Q. Did Mr. Knights address in his testimony
	Page 211

William We	st - April	9.	2025
------------	------------	----	------

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 212
1	whether it was San Andres or Grayburg?
2	A. I can't remember exactly, but it was a
3	San Andres test.
4	Q. And but you don't remember whether
5	Mr. Knights assigned a formation to the location of
6	those tests, right?
7	A. I I've looked at a lot of things.
8	You'd have to show me his testimony.
9	Q. Okay. But that's whatever is
10	Mr. Knights' testimony, and it is what it is, right?
11	A. That is correct.
12	Q. And he'll be able to clarify that if it's
13	something different.
14	But as you sit here today, you don't
15	recall whether he actually assigned that those
16	production tests to one formation or another,
17	correct?
18	A. Yeah, correct. I can't I don't have
19	his testimony in front of me.
20	Q. Now, the production tests that you
21	referred to in the 660 and 658, were they both
22	publicly available?
23	A. I'm not sure if it ever was in a public
24	document or not. I'm unsure.
25	Q. Okay. So as you sit here, you're not
	Page 212

Veritext Legal Solutions Calendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 www.veritext.com

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 213
1	you can't say for certain whether the production
2	tests that you referred to were actually publicly
3	available to Goodnight or anybody else?
4	A. That is correct.
5	Q. Okay. This slide 6 here, you showed us an
6	accumulation of oil in the San Andres that was
7	produced as part of the South Eunice San Andres
8	field, correct?
9	A. From that pool, correct.
10	Q. Okay. And in this slide, you got a
11	depiction of the productive area of that of that
12	field, correct?
13	A. That is correct.
14	Q. And the line surrounding that production
15	that you identified, those are those are what
16	are those contours?
17	A. Looks like it's from
18	Q. Sorry.
19	A. On the right-hand corner, it says it's a
20	net pay.
21	Q. Okay. It's a net pay. And the contour
22	intervals are what? What are the contour intervals?
23	A. I my eyes are not that good.
24	Q. Would you agree with me that they're
25	50-foot contour intervals, based on your map?
	Page 213

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 214
1	A. There you go. Yes, that looks to be
2	correct.
3	Q. Any reason, as you sit here, that you
4	that's not correct?
5	A. No. I just wanted to make sure I verified
6	the contours.
7	Q. And you added those values, right, on the
8	contour intervals? The 100 feet, the 50-foot, the
9	150-foot, right?
10	A. Yes, because you couldn't really read
11	them. They're so tiny on the actual contours.
12	Q. And so if this is a 50-foot contour here
13	that I'm indicating, then the next contour involved
14	would be 0, correct?
15	A. That is correct.
16	Q. So this entire field that's surrounded by
17	a contour interval of 0, but net pay?
18	A. Net pay.
19	Q. Right?
20	A. That's correct.
21	Q. Okay. And also, as indicated by this
22	legend, we have a an additional figure that is
23	indicated throughout the map, which is this green
24	circle with a white center?
25	A. Okay.
	Page 214

	1 '
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 215
1	Q. Do you see that?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. And it's a little hard to read, but it
4	says I think it says something about San Andres
5	present. Do you agree with that deciphering of that
6	legend key?
7	A. Yeah, I think the best I can read it, I
8	can see "present." I don't know what that
9	two-letter word is, but that looks like San Andres.
10	Q. So it says I believe it says and you
11	agree with me, that it says, "San Andres is
12	present," right?
13	A. Yes, sir.
14	Q. Okay. So if I go back to the map and I
15	look over here and I see that to the west and south
16	of this field where the net pay goes to 0, we have a
17	lot of other wells which indicate that San Andres is
18	present, agree?
19	A. Agree.
20	Q. But based on the wells surrounding this
21	field, the data does not indicate that there's any
22	San Andres pay extending further to the west from
23	this field, agree?
24	A. Agree. It's a net pay map, and this is a
25	conventional trap. So that would be the high point
	Page 215

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 216 1 of the field. And where the net pay is trapped and 2 then the stuff back to the west wouldn't be part of the trap. And I assume that 0 contour line would be 3 the oil-water contact. 4 And so this -- would you agree with me 5 Ο. 6 that this field, the San Andres productive field is 7 an isolated accumulation within the San Andres? Α. There's a trap in the San Andres in this 8 area, an accumulation that produce conventionally. 9 I mean, and you would agree with me that 10 Ο. 11 it's isolated because it goes down to 0 net pay entirely surrounding this field, agree? 12 13 Or a conventional pay. Α. For conventional pay. So you would agree 14 Ο. 15 with me that it's an isolated accumulation of 16 conventional net pay in the San Andres, agree? 17 Α. Agree. 18 And approximately how many miles is that 0. 19 from the EMSU? Each one of the squares is about a mile. 20 Α. So, one, two, three -- maybe four to the west of the 21 AGU and like another four or five up, so that's 22 23 seven or eight maybe, as the crow flies. 24 Q. Okay. So seven or eight miles from the EMSU you've identified an isolated conventional net 25 Page 216
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 217
1	pay oil accumulation in the San Andres of
2	approximately how many acres?
3	A. Solet me
4	It's tough to tell with the contours, the
5	way they cut through there.
6	Q. Yeah.
7	A. It's just to show that there you know,
8	there's oil in the system in the San Andres regional
9	way.
10	Q. Okay.
11	A. This is a conventional pay where you had a
12	trap.
13	Q. So how does this relate if it's
14	conventional pay seven miles away, how does this
15	relate to potential for ROZ in the EMSU seven miles
16	away?
17	A. From Dr. Lindsay's, you know, testimony,
18	if you add Mother Nature's waterflood, that's oil
19	migrated through the system, and it was there. And
20	this happened to be one of the accumulations when it
21	migrated through the system, that there is enough of
22	a trap that it stayed there and, you know, resulted
23	in conventional pay. So it just leads into, you
24	know, the same belief that, hey, oil was in the
25	San Andres. It's, you know, part of the system.

	Winnam West Tipin 9, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 218
1	Q. Okay. So there was net pay and primary
2	production from this field indicating that there was
3	at least some previous migration of oil that
4	resulted in a that was trapped conventionally,
5	right, in this location?
6	A. That is correct.
7	Q. But as to the San Andres, there was no
8	primary production, right? In the EMSU in the
9	San Andres and the EMSU, there's been no primary
10	production, agree?
11	A. There's been primary tests but no primary
12	production.
13	Q. Okay. And there's been no accumulations
14	of conventional oil identified in the San Andres to
15	date; would you agree?
16	A. You had the what would be considered
17	the transition of those tests in the 660 and the
18	658. That was at the top of the structure.
19	Q. And that would depend on what you how
20	you define the top of the San Andres, right?
21	A. That's pretty well defined by the State.
22	Q. Well, we've been through this a lot the
23	past week-and-a-half, but there's been lots of
24	different I mean, Empire, itself, has just
25	recently changed its tops from its original
	Page 218

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 219
1	testimony, agree?
2	MS. HARDY: Object to the form. I
3	think it misstates testimony.
4	MR. RANKIN: I mean, we went through
5	it today. Yesterday Mr. McShane testified that he
6	changed all of the tops in his in his wells.
7	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: It will be
8	overruled.
9	A. I don't remember the testimony right.
10	It's only a couple of feet.
11	Q. Okay. Well
12	So there is a your view is that there's
13	a slight potential accumulation in this what
14	you're calling the transition zone at the very top
15	of the of the structure where Empire has
16	identified the top of the San Andres, agree?
17	A. I agree that there's been oil tests in the
18	top of the San Andres.
19	Q. There say that again?
20	A. That there's been oil tests that produced
21	primary oil.
22	Q. There were two oil tests, right?
23	A. That is correct.
24	Q. Okay. And I'll get into the results of
25	those tests later on. But you're identifying those
	Page 219

William	West -	April	9,	2025
---------	--------	-------	----	------

	William West Tipin 9, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 220
1	two tests as the only two tests that resulted in
2	any oil tests in what Empire has identified as
3	the San Andres?
4	A. I agree.
5	Q. Okay. Does this going back to your
6	slide 6 your rebuttal Exhibit N-15, what does
7	this net pay map tell you about this structure of
8	this field here, if anything?
9	A. I can't really depict structure off a net
10	pay map.
11	Q. Okay. I'm going to skip over the second
12	economic model discussion, I think, for the moment
13	because it's going to take a little while I think.
14	And I have a series of questions to walk through
15	with you. But I don't think I'm going to do it on
16	this slide, but I may come back to this slide for
17	purposes of discussion.
18	Well, actually, I think there's just a few
19	things I want to touch on before I do leave it.
20	When you were discussing this slide, you said that
21	the way you set up these two economic models
22	there's two, right? There's one that's for
23	250-pattern and another for a 75-pattern case; is
24	that right?
25	A. Yeah, 72 or 75.
	Page 220

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 221
1	Q. 72 or I can't remember. I may have
2	gotten the number wrong multiple times when I was
3	opposing you, and it was probably stuck in my head.
4	Okay. 72. All right. 250-pattern and the
5	72-pattern ROZ economic model, right?
б	A. Correct.
7	Q. Okay. And I heard you say, I believe,
8	that it's your opinion that this model is a worst
9	case scenario; is that right?
10	A. I didn't say worst case scenario.
11	Q. Okay. I wrote down worst case. But is
12	it it's not a worst case scenario, then?
13	A. No.
14	Q. Okay. But just before I move off of this,
15	my recollection is that the model is based on an
16	assumption that there is a 400-foot continuous
17	interval of 30 percent average oil saturation that
18	would be targeted, correct?
19	A. No. It's a 400-foot interval. It does
20	not need to be continuous.
21	Q. Okay. Mr. West, I'll come back to that
22	when we come back to your when I come back to
23	this later in your testimony.
24	But for now, are you telling me it doesn't
25	need to be continuous, but there needs to be an
	Page 221

William	West -	April	9,	2025
---------	--------	-------	----	------

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 222 1 average oil saturation of 30 percent across that 2 400 feet, because that's the basis for your model, 3 correct? 4 Α. In that part of the pay, that would be it, if that's what it would be, would be 30 percent 5 saturation in that model. 6 7 Ο. Okay. Α. And 400-foot in that pay, just like the 8 Grayburg above you, is not a continuous. 9 10 I'll come back to the rest of the economic Ο. 11 model later when I get to it in your testimony. 12 Now, on your next slide 8, with Exhibit --13 where you refer to Exhibit I-3, and -- you know, we 14 went through this a lot with Dr. Lindsay and the 15 witnesses during the first week of this hearing. 16 And I was trying hard to ascertain and identify any 17 papers or documentation that established that there was a record, okay, documentation of actual water 18 19 migrating up from the San Andres into the Grayburg. 20 And you said several times during your 21 introduction that it's been well documented 22 historically that there is San Andres water 23 migrating up into the Grayburg. And you referenced 24 that there are papers that discuss this and that there is demonstration of San Andres water coming up 25 Page 222

	-
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 223
1	into the into the Grayburg formation.
2	I'm asking you to tell me: Where is it
3	well documented that there's San Andres water or
4	has been San Andres water communicating up into the
5	Grayburg formation?
6	A. Can you pull up the slide that you're
7	talking about?
8	Q. Oh, I put it away. Sorry.
9	I think it's this slide and the next slide
10	where you discuss this issue.
11	A. Yes. So you flip to the next slide. I
12	mean, this is just historical water production, so
13	it's public data that's out there that you can see
14	that water was coming in. But go to the next slide.
15	Q. But on this slide, you're saying that
16	water is coming in. What do you mean? How is it
17	showing that water is coming in?
18	A. Your production only from the Grayburg,
19	and then you have these high water volumes indicated
20	by the larger blue circles.
21	Q. How do I know that that's a high water
22	volume for that well?
23	A. It's a bigger circle, and it has the
24	variables underneath it.
25	Q. But how do I know that's a high water
	Page 223

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 224
1	volume relative to the production from that well?
2	A. What else would it be from?
3	Q. Well, I mean, relatively speaking, I have
4	no basis to agree with you that that's a high water
5	production. What's the overall production from that
6	well? What's the ratio of oil to water?
7	A. I don't have this. We could look back at
8	the records and determine that, but that's
9	representative of the water volume.
10	Q. You're telling me that that's an excessive
11	amount of water, and I'm asking you: How do I know
12	from this bubble plot that it's actually excessive?
13	Relative to what? Relative to how do I know it's
14	a high water volume?
15	A. Relative to the other wells in the area,
16	the sizes of the circles.
17	Q. But I don't know how much overall fluids
18	the other wells with smaller circles have produced,
19	do I, based on this map?
20	A. I told you that the water volume's on
21	there.
22	Q. But I don't know how much oil that well
23	produced. I don't know what the overall production
24	of fluids from that well is to know whether that's a
25	lot of water or a little water for that little dot
	Page 224

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 2 1 or that big dot, right? 2 A. This predicts water volume. Bigger circle

would be larger water volume. Smaller circle would
be less water volume.

I mean, what if -- what if these bigger 5 0. circles that you're pointing out here also produced 6 7 proportionately the same proportion -- let's see if we compare these two circles here, the EMSU 144 and 8 the EMSU 162, just to the southeast. Okay? Let's 9 10 just say for the sake of argument that the 144 11 produced proportionately more water than the 162 12 well, okay, relative to the amount of water it 13 produced. How do I -- how can you say, then, that 14 that water -- that well is producing an excessive 15 amount of water?

A. I would need to be able to see the -- if you wanted to do that analysis, the full production from each one, but just -- we're just talking volume of water, not total volume production out of the wells.

Q. I hear you. And you're telling me that that -- that well, this big circle around the 144 produced 2.6 -- is it million barrels of water? Is that right?

A. I can't read the numbers all the way, but

25

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 226
1	that looks correct.
2	Q. Okay. And you're saying that on the
3	slide, that it's they're high water production,
4	but I guess my what I'm trying to get at is, I
5	don't know that that's high water production
6	relative to the overall production from that well.
7	A. There's no relativity. It's just water
8	production there.
9	Q. But you agree with me that this map tells
10	us nothing about the total volumes of fluid that
11	were produced from the 144 well, agree?
12	A. This tells us cumulative water volumes as
13	of 1986.
14	Q. And it tells us nothing about what the
15	volume of oil or total fluids that were produced
16	from that well, agree?
17	A. This is just water volumes.
18	Q. Okay. And so I don't know, over the
19	history of that well, whether that is an abnormal
20	amount of water produced from that well or not,
21	agree?
22	A. It's a larger water volume compared to the
23	wells around it. We're just talking about water
24	volume, not ratios.
25	Q. But I don't know whether that well has
	Page 226
	rage 220

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 227
1	produced an excessive amount of water relative to
2	that well's historic production?
3	MS. HARDY: Objection, asked and
4	answered.
5	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I do think
6	he's answered the question.
7	MR. RANKIN: Okay.
8	Q. Now, going back to my original question, I
9	was asking you where is it documented in historic
10	papers that there is an influx of water from the
11	San Andres into the Grayburg formation. And you
12	asked me to flip to this next slide. And if you can
13	explain to me how this slide shows that there is
14	documentation of influx of San Andres water into the
15	Grayburg formation?
16	A. So this, you know, is from the Technical
17	Committee Report referencing high water volumes.
18	Again, the peaks, as you see the scale over to the
19	far left, and that you know, they're using this
20	to demonstrate the plumes of the water in the field
21	and that they documented it from sulfate rich waters
22	which was coming from the San Andres. And then that
23	was causing the scale problems.
24	Q. Which paper are you referring to that says
25	that it's documented that it came from San Andres

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 228
1	water in the Grayburg formation?
2	A. I'd have to see the references. I think
3	maybe if you go to the next slide.
4	Right here this, you know, 1996 Chevron
5	paper. And this was you know, is where they said
6	that the San Andres water was finding its way into
7	the wellbores, you know, resulting in this barium
8	sulfate scale problem.
9	Q. So this 1996 Chevron paper that you pulled
10	some of this language from discussed the fact that
11	there that there was potentially some San Andres
12	water in in wellbores; is that right?
13	A. Correct.
14	Q. But as to the you're telling me that
15	there's this pluming effect. Are there any papers
16	that document that there is pluming into the
17	San Andres from the San Andres into the Grayburg
18	formation? So are you citing only to that 1996
19	Chevron paper?
20	A. I don't remember all the papers off the
21	top of my head. And I know that there's one that
22	Dr. Lindsay contributed to that had that.
23	Q. What other I mean, you're sitting here,
24	you're telling us that it was well documented, and
25	there are lots of papers that evaluated this issue
	Page 228

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 229
1	historically. And I'm asking you to tell me which
2	ones you're relying on.
3	A. I don't remember the exact papers off the
4	top of my head.
5	Q. So the one you're telling me about here is
6	the 1996 Chevron paper, right? That's the one you
7	can point to?
8	A. So this is, you know, the technical
9	committee showing the plume the plumes coming up.
10	And then you've got the Chevron paper in 1996.
11	Q. Did the technical committee discuss at all
12	that San Andres water was coming up into the
13	Grayburg?
14	A. I don't remember.
15	Q. I mean, if it did, you would have put it
16	on your exhibits, correct?
17	A. Yeah, could have put it on there. One
18	paper I do remember is the Love paper that was
19	written. It talks about down the lower zones of
20	water coming up from the San Andres.
21	Q. We went through that Love paper with
22	Dr. Lindsay, and I'm not going to pull it up right
23	now. But the did the technical I mean, I'm
24	asking you, I mean: To the best of your knowledge
25	as you sit here, did the technical committee paper
	Page 229

	1 /
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 230
1	or any of the information presented to the
2	Commission or evaluated by the technical committee
3	in recommending the creation of the San Andres
4	the EMSU unit identify specifically any
5	communication between the San Andres and the
6	Grayburg?
7	A. I do not remember.
8	Q. And you you're sitting here telling the
9	Commission that it's well documented. And you're
10	referring to this Technical Committee Report from
11	1981 saying that this represents plumes coming up
12	from the San Andres in the Grayburg. And I'm asking
13	you to be specific and tell me: Is there any
14	reference in that committee paper identifying,
15	confirming, or even postulating that there is
16	communication between the San Andres and the
17	Grayburg?
18	MS. HARDY: Objection, asked and
19	answered multiple times.
20	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Overruled.
21	A. This is a document you know, this is
22	a you know, the exhibit from the 1981. They
23	started connecting the dots on the, you know,
24	sulfate rich waters, bottom waters coming up in the
25	later papers.

	William West - April 9, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 231
1	Q. What later papers?
2	A. The 1996 paper. And then I can't
3	slipping my mind the second of which ones. The Love
4	paper talks about it.
5	Q. Okay.
6	A. Of water from the San Andres.
7	Q. Prior to the formation of the unit, wasn't
8	it well documented that the Grayburg was providing
9	substantial edge water into the unit?
10	A. I don't think there's any way that it says
11	there was substantial edge water.
12	Q. Okay. Rather than quibble over the terms
13	or semantics, wasn't it well documented by the time
14	the EMSU was created that there was edge water
15	coming up into the San Andres coming up into the
16	Grayburg?
17	A. I don't know. You'd have to show me where
18	it's well documented.
19	Q. I mean, Mr. West, you sat here all last
20	first week of the hearing. Your own expert,
21	Dr. Lindsay, testified using this exact exhibit,
22	B-21, that you presented as part of your summary
23	slides that there was a strong force of Grayburg
24	rather Goat Seep water encroaching upon the EMSU
25	forceful enough that it was able to climb 350
	Down 021

,	
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 232
1	vertical feet over the structure in the EMSU. Do
2	you recall that testimony from your expert witness?
3	MS. HARDY: I object. I think
4	Mr. Rankin is testifying. I'm not sure what he's
5	saying is correct.
6	Q. Well, it's documented on this exhibit.
7	The vertical offset between the bottom of the
8	formation to the top, as Mr I'm sorry
9	Dr. Lindsay testified is approximately 350 feet.
10	And he testified to the Commission that the edge
11	water from the Goat Seep had enough drive to reach
12	the top of the structure. Do you recall that
13	testimony, Mr. West?
14	A. So your timing is off. The original
15	question you were asking prior to 1981. This slide
16	is from 2014.
17	Q. This slide is from 2014, but it was
18	documenting the effect of the edge water drive from
19	the Goat Seep into the EMSU, correct?
20	A. Documented in 2014, not as you were trying
21	to lead in to catch me to say prior to the formation
22	of the unit.
23	Q. Mr. West, are you aware of all the
24	documentation from the 1930s and earlier discussing
25	edge water drive around this area during primary
	Page 232

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 233
1	production?
2	A. I have not seen that.
3	Q. Oh, you haven't? Okay. Very well. So
4	you're not aware of all the documentation
5	historically in this area addressing the
6	long-understood effects of edge water coming in from
7	the Goat Seep during primary production in this
8	area?
9	MS. HARDY: Objection. Mr. Rankin is
10	testifying. It assumes facts not in evidence. He
11	can't I think he has to ask the witness a
12	question, not testify about what things show.
13	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I'm sorry,
14	somehow I'm not hearing you. You're not speaking
15	into the microphone.
16	MS. HARDY: Okay.
17	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: And I
18	missed part of the question as well.
19	MS. HARDY: I was saying that I
20	object because Mr. Rankin is testifying and about
21	what documents other documents purportedly show.
22	And I think it assumes facts not in evidence. And
23	it's an improper question to the witness. His own
24	experts can testify about the papers if they want to
25	do that.

	r , , , ,
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 234
1	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Mr. Rankin,
2	just rephrase the question, would you?
3	MR. RANKIN: Sure.
4	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: I mean,
5	this is an exhibit that was brought up in direct
6	examination, so
7	MS. HARDY: And he's asking about
8	other documents other than this exhibit.
9	MR. RANKIN: Yeah, I'm asking if he's
10	aware of the well-documented papers that address
11	edge water drive demonstrating that there is a
12	going back into the '30s and '20s, that there is
13	well-documented edge water drive of Goat Seep
14	encroaching upon primary production in this area.
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Are those
16	in evidence in this case yet?
17	MR. RANKIN: They will be. If
18	they're not, I believe they will be. I think I
19	have to think about whether any of Empire's
20	witnesses referred or used those as evidence.
21	I'm not 100 percent sure if they have, but they will
22	be. It's all part of Goodnight's direct testimony
23	that was filed previously.
24	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Well, it's
25	a yes-or-no question. I think you can ask that.
	Page 234

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 235
1	Q (By Mr. Rankin) I mean, are you aware,
2	again, Mr. West, of the well-documented historical
3	papers that address the early effect of Goat Seep
4	edge water drive in this area during primary
5	production?
6	A. Can you tell me what papers you're
7	referring to?
8	Q. It's I don't have it off the top of my
9	head. I'm asking if you're aware of it. I guess
10	it's a yes-or-no question, either you're aware of it
11	or you're not.
12	A. I don't think I'm aware of it.
13	Q. Okay. On this reference here, you cite to
14	this 1996 Chevron paper, correct?
15	A. That is correct.
16	Q. Is this the paper that you're referring
17	to, Mr. West?
18	A. Yes.
19	Q. Okay. And this is the paper that you're
20	saying supports your position that there is
21	documentation of San Andres water making its way
22	into the wellbores in the Grayburg?
23	A. Yes, and forming barium scale.
24	Q. Okay. And is it your opinion that this
25	paper confirms that that was, in fact, happening?
	Page 235

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 236
1	A. Yes.
2	Q. And when I review this paper, Mr. West, I
3	will have to go in and highlight the part that
4	Sorry, one moment. I have to find the
5	language that you were highlighting.
6	There it is. The bottom of this third
7	page of the document, it states that, "During the
8	time of primary production prior to unitization and
9	initiating the waterflood in the Eunice Monument
10	field, barium sulfate scale deposition was
11	experienced in a number of producing wells.
12	Although the drilling was confined to the Penrose
13	and Grayburg formations, apparently some San Andres
14	water was finding its way into the wellbores
15	wellbore of these wells and resulted in barium in
16	a barium sulfate scale, barite, deposition problem."
17	Did I read that correctly?
18	A. Yes.
19	Q. And the word that they use here is
20	"apparently." Do you agree?
21	A. Where was it again? Yes, I see that.
22	"Apparently."
23	Q. Okay. So "apparently," it doesn't sound
24	like a confirmation to me. Does it sound like a
25	confirmation to you?

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 237
1	A. "Apparently." It's pretty sounds like
2	a confirmation.
3	Q. Okay. So your opinion "apparently" is a
4	strong enough determination that it's a
5	confirmation?
6	A. In this context, yes.
7	Q. Okay. And then they go on to say, "A
8	possible explanation is shown in the sketch in
9	Figure 4," correct?
10	A. The document speaks for itself.
11	Q. Okay. And it goes to say that,
12	"Production experience strongly suggests that mixing
13	of the water occurs in the producing wellbores
14	rather than in the formation." Did I read that
15	correctly?
16	A. That's what the document says.
17	Q. Yeah. And you excluded that portion of
18	the of the paper from your exhibit, correct?
19	A. It's not about whether it's mixing in the
20	reservoir or well if the wellbore didn't
21	penetrate down far enough to the San Andres, then
22	how is it mixing into the wellbore?
23	Q. Well, my understanding, Mr. West, is that
24	this paper postulates a solution for that quandary,
25	and it shows in Figure 4, that the authors of this
	Page 237

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 238 1 paper believe that the water is being -- is 2 remaining confined within the wellbores. Is that -is that your understanding of this Figure 4? 3 4 Α. Either way, whichever way it comes into 5 there, it's coming from the San Andres and mixing 6 with the Grayburg. 7 Ο. In this Figure 4, they put question marks around the word "bottom water." Do you see that? 8 9 Α. Yes. That indicates to me that it's an 10 Ο. 11 uncertainty, but you're telling me that you believe 12 that this Figure 4 confirms that there's bottom 13 water from the San Andres making its way into the 14 wellbores of the San Andres -- of the Grayburg? 15 Α. I said above it is making it into the 16 wellbores. Statement above said it was making it 17 into the wellbores, correct. I'm asking what your opinion is or what 18 Ο. 19 your understanding of the -- of the -- of the 20 document is? It says the, "Sketch of how [the] 21 Α. San Andres water resulted in the formation of barium 22 scale before the waterflood was initiated." 23 24 Q. And so this Figure 4, right, based on the 25 document, says that it's -- "A possible Page 238

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 239
1	explanation," right, "is shown in the sketch"?
2	A. You know, it says: A possible explanation
3	in the sketch that the pure wellbore or from the
4	fractures in the formation, but San Andres water was
5	getting into Grayburg.
6	Q. Where does it say that there are fractures
7	in the formation?
8	A. Oh, that would be another possible
9	explanation.
10	Q. Does this paper identify anything about
11	fractures in any formations?
12	A. This doesn't say it.
13	Q. Okay. And does it talk about the fact
14	that there's San Andres water mixing in the Grayburg
15	formation?
16	A. I would say it's mixing in the wellbores
17	or it comes from the formation of the well, no
18	matter what you're communicating the two systems in
19	forming barium scale.
20	Q. Okay. Mr. West, in fact, this paper
21	confirms that it's not mixing in the formation,
22	doesn't it?
23	A. Well, we result in scales forming is in
24	the wellbore. So when you get the pressure and
25	temperature drop, that's where the scale is going to
	Page 239

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 240
1	form.
2	Q. So your opinion is limited to the
3	making the point that there is scale forming in the
4	wellbores, right?
5	A. That is correct. It has scale that has
6	formed in the wellbores. It's formed other places,
7	but
8	Q. But this paper doesn't establish that
9	there's communication through fractures between the
10	Grayburg and San Andres, agree?
11	A. It says that there's communication between
12	the San Andres and the Grayburg.
13	Q. Where does it say that there's
14	communication between the San Andres and the
15	Grayburg?
16	A. The San Andres water is finding its way
17	into the wellbores. Isn't that communication?
18	Q. It says, "Apparently, some San Andres was
19	finding its way into the wellbore," correct?
20	A. Correct.
21	Q. Was it confirmed?
22	A. Apparently, it seems to be confirmed. The
23	confirmation would be the formation of the barium
24	sulfate.
25	Q. Okay.
	Page 240

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 241
1	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I'm
2	just going to cite for the record that this is
3	I've been referring to here Goodnight Exhibit
4	Number B-5 for purposes of the record.
5	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: That's this
6	report that we've just been talking about?
7	MR. RANKIN: That's correct.
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right.
9	Q (By Mr. Rankin) Now, this next exhibit,
10	Mr. West, I understand that your direct testimony
11	was that this pressure reading was at minus 250.
12	And then your rebuttal testimony was that it was at
13	plus 250. But now your testimony is that it's
14	actually at minus you agree that it's at minus
15	250 subsea, correct?
16	A. I agree with that. I don't see the
17	exhibit.
18	MS. SHEEHAN: Mr
19	MR. RANKIN: Oh, I'm sorry.
20	A. Just to make sure we're on the same place.
21	Q. Yeah. Sorry about that, I apologize.
22	A. Yes, on this, I do agree that it should be
23	a negative 250.
24	Q. Okay. Now, Mr. Buchwalter, when he did
25	his modeling, he used he revised his model to use
	Page 241
	Veritext Legal Solutions

William We	st - April	9,	2025
------------	------------	----	------

	······································
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 242
1	your plus 250 value, correct?
2	A. You'd have to show me that.
3	Q. I guess the record speaks for itself. But
4	do you recall whether or not Mr. Buchwalter relied
5	on your pressure basis at plus 250 in the formation?
6	A. That, I do not know.
7	Q. Okay. Let's see. Come back to this, I
8	believe. Let's see. One thing I wanted to ask. I
9	think I understood you to say when I was looking at
10	this when you were talking about this slide at
11	Exhibit N-8, it's the slide 12 of your presentation,
12	I thought I heard you to say that the original
13	formation pressure was at .386 pressure gradient?
14	A. If I recall correctly, that's what that
15	calculates out to be whenever do you the negative
16	250.
17	Q. Okay. Which numbers am I using to make
18	that pressure gradient calculation?
19	A. So we would have to correct this. So if
20	we did a I did it earlier today, but probably
21	easiest to pull it up on the other slide.
22	But, you know, you're going to take the
23	pressure and the depth and just, you know, divide
24	and get it. But I'm just trying to do the
25	conversions in my head and
	Page 242

William West	- April	9,	2025
--------------	---------	----	------

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 243
1	Q. Do you want me to go to another slide?
2	A. If you had the original one that had the
3	negative 250 on it, the calculations would be right,
4	and it would be easily to do it from there.
5	Q. I can easily do that for you.
б	A. That would be very helpful.
7	Q. I think it was do you remember what it
8	was? I-4?
9	Okay. Thank you. All right. Mr. West
10	here we go, I-4.
11	A. Let me make sure we're at a negative 250
12	at 1450. So, yeah, you can just take, you know
13	the gradient, you can just take the pressure of 1527
14	and divide by 4,006. That will give you the
15	gradient.
16	Q. Okay. And that's where you get that .386
17	from; is that right?
18	A. That's correct.
19	Q. Okay. And that would be the pressure
20	gradient at 4,006 feet?
21	A. That's the column of that, you know
22	pressure, gradient. Now if it was originally taken
23	there at that negative 250 subsea, you know, which
24	was at 1450 on here, it's about negative 258 and
25	then just use the gradient up and down.
	Dage 243

William	West -	April	9,	2025
---------	--------	-------	----	------

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 244
1	Q. I just want to make sure I understood
2	where that value came from and where it where it
3	was where it came from. Okay? And you're
4	telling me it came from this original I-3 exhibit,
5	correct?
6	A. That is correct.
7	Q. Based on the next one down?
8	A. Yeah.
9	Q. Okay. This is this has the same data
10	points as I-3, correct?
11	A. Yeah, that's just a little bit different.
12	Q. Okay. Do you know, Mr. West, whether this
13	depth at 4,006 feet is above Goodnight Midstream's
14	permeability barrier that it's identified in its
15	exhibits?
16	A. I would need to see where this is on the
17	map, and you'd have to show me a well log.
18	Q. Very well. Sitting here today, you don't
19	know whether that's above or below Goodnight's
20	permeability barrier that it's picked and relies on
21	in its exhibits and testimony?
22	A. I really don't know where Goodnight's
23	permeability barrier is.
24	Q. After all this time. And you're using
25	this as a basis to show that there's

	William West - April 9, 2025
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 245
1	communication pressure communication between what
2	you're calling the San Andres and the Grayburg, but
3	you haven't determined or ascertained for
4	yourself and you can't tell the Commission whether
5	or not it's actually within the disposal zone that
6	Goodnight is disposing into, correct?
7	A. Show me the well and you're disposal, and
8	then we can
9	Q. I'm asking you. It's your analysis. Have
10	you determined whether or not this is in Goodnight's
11	disposal zone?
12	A. I don't really recognize Goodnight's tops
13	as being accurate and correct, so I don't know that
14	off the top of my head.
15	Q. So I don't know that the tops matter. I'm
16	asking whether or not you identified whether or
17	not this pressure that you've taken is actually
18	within Goodnight's disposal zone?
19	A. This would be this is in the
20	San Andres is where it's depicted on here. And, you
21	know, Goodnight's disposing in the San Andres.
22	Q. So I'm going to ask you, Mr. West, because
23	there's so much back and forth about formations and
24	tops, and I'd rather talk about it in terms of
25	depths or zones or correlative intervals. Can you
	Dago 245

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 246
1	tell me whether or not this depth that you've
2	identified as being in communication with the
3	Grayburg is within is correlated to or within the
4	disposal interval that in which Goodnight is
5	injecting its produced water?
6	A. It's indicating a pressure in the
7	San Andres.
8	Q. Okay. So you I mean, the answer is no,
9	you can't tell me whether or not it's actually
10	within Goodnight's disposal zone, correct?
11	A. They're disposing in the San Andres.
12	Q. And you can't tell me whether it's above
13	or below their permeability barrier that they've
14	picked and identified in their exhibits?
15	A. You'd have to show me that.
16	Q. It's your analysis, Mr. West. I'm asking
17	you whether you can tell me whether it's in or out?
18	A. It's in the San Andres.
19	Q. Okay. I'll take that as a no. Is that
20	fair? You can't tell me that it's within their
21	disposal zone? I'm just trying on get an answer,
22	yes or no.
23	A. You're disposing in the San Andres, is
24	what you're depicting. So the Goodnight, it's in
25	the San Andres.
	Page 246

	-
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 247
1	Q. Okay. All right.
2	MR. RANKIN: Mr. Hearing Officer, I'm
3	just trying to get an answer. I'm trying to figure
4	out whether, in his analysis, Mr. West has made the
5	determination that this pressure that he's read that
6	he's presenting to the Commission is being
7	determinative of there being communication
8	between all this says is that there he thinks
9	that there's communication between the San Andres
10	and the and the Grayburg.
11	And what I'm asking him is whether he can
12	determine whether or not that pressure location that
13	he's identified is actually within Goodnight's
14	disposal zone.
15	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: But what I
16	get from the answer going the back and forth is
17	that he needs more information to answer your
18	question, and you're not providing him that
19	information.
20	So you're getting the best answer I think
21	he can give without knowing where your top is versus
22	where Empire thinks the top is.
23	MR. RANKIN: Okay. Well, I guess
24	I guess let me rephrase the question, then.
25	Q (By Mr. Rankin) Mr. West, have you
	Page 247

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 248
1	determined have you, as part of your evaluation
2	to determine whether or not there's a pressure
3	communication between where let me ask you this:
4	Is as part of your analysis, did you evaluate
5	whether or not Goodnight's disposal zone is in
6	communication with the Grayburg?
7	A. The San Andres is in communication with
8	the Grayburg.
9	Q. That's not an answer to my question,
10	Mr. West. That's a different question now.
11	As part of your analysis, did you evaluate
12	whether the Goodnight's disposal zone is in pressure
13	communication with the Grayburg?
14	A. Can you define for me what Goodnight's
15	disposal zone is?
16	Q. Okay. Well, I'll tell you what. Let's
17	get to that tomorrow because it's 4:50, and I will
18	do that. Okay? Rather than try to do it on the
19	fly.
20	MR. RANKIN: And I guess at that
21	with that, Mr. Hearing Officer, I guess I could, you
22	know, draw this out for a few more minutes, but I
23	guess I'd rather just start fresh tomorrow and
24	resume with my cross-examination of Mr. West, if
25	it's acceptable with the Commission and Commission
	Page 248

	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 249
1	chair and other parties.
2	CHAIR ROZATOS: Mr. Hearing Officer,
3	I think it is a good point for us to stop. If
4	Mr. Rankin has a point where he can stop, then I
5	think it's good for today, and we can continue
6	tomorrow if you're okay with that, Mr. Hearing
7	Officer.
8	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: Oh, that's
9	fine with me. It's been a long day
10	CHAIR ROZATOS: It has.
11	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: and
12	everybody everybody's brains are tired with all
13	this technical information.
14	So just a reminder, though, we pick up
15	tomorrow morning at 10:30.
16	Is that that's correct, Mr. Razatos?
17	CHAIR ROZATOS: Yes, that is correct.
18	I was just going to remind everybody, but thank you.
19	HEARING OFFICER HARWOOD: All right,
20	folks. Thank you all, and we'll see you bright and
21	not so early tomorrow morning.
22	(The proceedings recess at 4:51 p.m.)
23	
24	
25	
	Page 249

	William West Tiphi 9, 2023
	Cross-Examination by Mr. Rankin 250
1	AFFIRMATION OF COMPLETION OF TRANSCRIPT
2	
3	I, Kendra D. Tellez, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that on
4	the 7th day of April, 2025, a hearing of the New
5	Mexico Oil Conservation Commission was taken before
6	me via video conference.
7	I FURTHER AFFIRM that I did report in
8	stenographic shorthand the proceedings as set forth
9	herein, and the foregoing is a true and correct
10	transcript of the proceedings to the best of my
11	ability.
12	I FURTHER affirm that I am neither employed by
13	nor related to any of the parties or attorneys in
14	this case, and that I have no interest in the final
15	disposition of this case in any court.
16	
17	Vande -00-
18	Under Telly
19	KENDRA D. TELLEZ
	Veritext Legal Solutions
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
	Page 250

[& - 162]

&	102 102:1	122 122:1	144 144:1
	103 103:1	1220 1:5 2:23	225:8,10,22
& 2:17 3:2,6	104 104:1	123 123:1	226:11
0	105 105:1	124 124:1	145 3:19 145:1
0 214:14,17	106 106:1	12400 2:13	1450 164:7
215:16 216:3	107 107:1	125 125:1	243:12,24
216:11	108 107:2,5	126 126:1	146 146:1
1	108:1	127 127:1	147 147:1
1 1:1 2:17 4:4,5	109 109:1	128 128:1	148 4:5,6 148:1
4:6 12:6,22	10:41 65:23	129 129:1	149 149:1
13:8,20 14:12	10:42 67:2	13 13:1 197:6	15 15:1 50:10
16:7,9 106:7	11 11:1 18:13	197:12,13	55:4 153:15
145:21 148:1,3	190:2	130 130:1	180:6 220:6
148:17,17	110 2:18 110:1	1300 175:23	150 150:1
149:22 156:6,8	111 111:1	177:25	183:17 214:9
156:17 167:18	112 3:16 112:1	131 131:1	150,000 44:9
194:23 195:5	113 113:1	132 132:1	1500 178:1
195:15,19	114 114:1	133 133:1	179:2,3,9
205:1	115 115:1	134 134:1	151 151:1
1.1 155:5	116 116:1	135 135:1	152 152:1
1.2 155:2	117 117:1	136 136:1	1527 243:13
10 10:1 13:10	118 3:16 118:1	137 137:1	153 153:1
20:18 21:19	119 119:1	138 138:1	154 154:1
24:12,22 33:15	11:00 65:25	139 139:1	155 155:1
33:15 34:12,13	67:1,2	14 4:4 14:1	156 156:1
55:3 134:15	11:56 102:23	190:13	157 157:1
160:14 183:22	11th 5:9	14,000 154:22	158 158:1
10,000 154:21	12 4:3 12:1	194:4	159 159:1
160:14	134:15 150:17	140 140:1	16 16:1 20:10
100 44:8 100:1	160:14 168:22	183:17	193:19
214:8 234:21	242:11	141 141:1	160 160:1
100,000 160:14	12,000 190:2	154:24	161 161:1
181:15	120 120:1	142 142:1	162 162:1
101 101:1	121 121:1	143 143:1	225:9,11
	166:1		

[163 - 202]

	1	1	1
163 163:1	182 182:1	1960s 175:5	1s 184:5,6
164 164:1	183 183:1	197 197:1	1st 1:4
165 165:1	184 184:1	1970 177:16	2
166 166:1	185 185:1	1976 118:10	2 2:1 5:14
167 167:1	186 186:1	198 198:1	14:14,15 59:16
168 168:1	187 187:1	1980s 54:21	59:22 60:2
169 169:1	188 188:1	1981 159:7	148:25 156:17
17 5:13 17:1	189 189:1	230:11,22	169:15 170:6
32:5 53:17	19 19:1 105:21	232:15	191:8 204:25
17,800,000	153:1 155:7	1983 159:6	2,000 178:4
20:22	173:19,20	168:9,10	184:23
17.8 23:2,6	195:2	1984 17:6,8	2.6 225:23
24:6 33:16	190 190:1	50:8 61:5,19	2.0 225.25 20 3:3 17:9,12
133:7	191 191:1	62:11 107:25	20 3.3 17.9,12 20:1 28:17
170 170:1	192 192:1	1986 70:2,6	155:21 173:11
171 171:1	1929 164:6	100:25 101:3	173:19,20
172 172:1	193 193:1	101:11,12	179:4 195:17
173 173:1	1930s 232:24	156:24 164:23	196:16
174 174:1	1933 120:11	226:13	20,000 34:17,21
175 164:16	1934 120:12,22	1987 168:11	20,000 54.17,21 20,000s 183:18
165:21 175:1	121:5	174:17 177:16	20,000 185.18 200 3:19 89:1
176 176:1	194 194:1	199 199:1	200 3.19 89.1
177 177:1	195 195:1	1990 159:7	200.1 200,000 43:21
178 178:1	1950s 15:17	1995 170:1	171:23
179 179:1	1955 33:24	1996 161:13	2000s 61:25
18 18:1 22:7	50:21 51:4	228:4,9,18	2000s 01.23 2004 168:19
34:23 80:18	61:2	229:6,10 231:2	175:9
155:1 174:10	1958 13:10	235:14	201 201:1
208:24 209:9	16:10 49:3,8	1999 201:25	201 201.1 2012 168:20
18,000 34:16,17	50:3,7 61:6	19th 130:19	169:11
34:20,21	62:10	131:1	2014 232:16,17
180 164:16	196 196:1	1:15 102:15,18	232:20
180:1	1960 168:6	102:19,20,23	2 52.20 2019 173:15
181 181:1	174:16 176:13	1:30 102:15,18	2019 173.13 202 202:1
	177:16		
[2020 - 300]

$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2020 18:22	207 207:1	230 230:1	250 154:20
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
130:22 131:1 169:2,20,2120s 20th 130:21232 232:1220:23 221:4 242:16 243:3169:2,20,21 171:20 191:2520th 131:1130:21 233 233:1233:11 241:13,15241:13,15 242:16 243:32021 11:16,25 92:10 169:621 210 210:123614 5:13 23614 5:13242:16 243:3 250:12023 8:25 9:11 92:10 169:6211 164:23 211 164:23237 237:1 23775 5:142500 178:24 179:32023 8:25 9:11 92:10 169:6211 164:23 211 164:23237 237:1 238 238:12500 178:24 2523 2:92023 8:25 9:11 20:5 23:5 24:6213 213:1 239 239:1238 243:24 26 26:1215 215:1 20:2 216 216:1 215 215:1 20:2 4215 215:1 152:6 171:22 260 175:2260 175:2 26 26:12024 20:19,20 24:9 59:16 219 219:1 24:1 213:12240 240:1 24020 5:14 243 243:1 24123 5:13281 2:12 24025 5:142025 1:8 5:6 215:2:21 96:14 28:14,17 29:3 20:15 250:4 2022 19:19 223 223:1 224:222:11242 242:1 243 243:1 245 245:1 245 245:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 23 23:1 244:4,10 23 23:1 244:4,10 244 244:1 245 245:1 245 245:1 245 245:1 246 246:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 231 11:25 246 226:1 247 247:1 246 246:1 247 247:1 246 246:1 247 247:1 246 246:1 244:4,10 244:4,10 230 4:5 30:1 244:4,10 244:4,10 244:4,10 244:4,10 244:4,10 244:4,	,			
169:2,20,21 171:20 191:2520th 130:21 131:1233 233:1 234 234:1241:11,13,15 241:23 242:1,52021 11:16,25 2021 11:16,2521 21:1 189:8 21 210:1236 236:1 236 236:1242:16 243:3 243:11,2337:16 91:19 92:10 169:6210 210:1 210 210:123614 5:13 237 237:12500 178:24 2500 178:242023 8:25 9:11 92:00 169:6211 164:23 211 164:23237 237:1 23775 5:142500 178:24 179:319:20,22,25 20:5 23:5 24:6212 212:1 213 213:1238 238:1 239 239:1258 243:24 26 26:131:8 82:4,6,20 93:8 201:22214 214:1 216 216:1240:171:22 173:12 181:7,7260 175:2 27 27:1 260 175:293:8 201:22 20:4216 216:1 217 217:1173:12 181:7,7 240 240:127 27:1 28 28:12024 20:19,20 218 2:6 218:124018 5:14 24020 5:14 24123 5:13281 2:12 288 23:13 20:1222024 20:19,20 218 2:6 218:124020 5:14 24025 5:14 241:23288 23:13 21:11:16 29:1 121:162025 1:8 5:6 192:19 212 21:1220 220:1 24:2 242:13 3 3:1 154:6 156:19 162:24 22:112025 1:8 5:6 219:19 223 223:1246 246:1 244 244:1 162:24 222:13 244:24:10 245:11 203 203:1 204 204:1 225 225:1 226 226:1 226 226:1 226 226:1 227 227:1 225 25:1 125:3 248 248:1 245:14 245:14:233 3:1 154:6 156:19 162:24 22:15 22:15 22:15 22:15 22:14:2320556 111:25 20557 111:25 20556 111:25 20558 111:25229 229:1 229 229:125,000 44:2120556 111:25 20558 111:25229 229:125				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
202111:16,252121:1189:8235235:1242:16243:313:433:11196:6231:22236236:1243:11,23250:137:1691:19210210:1236145:13250:192:10169:6211164:23237237:12500178:2420238:259:11211:1237755:14179:319:20,22,25212212:1238238:125232:920:523:524:6213213:1239239:1258243:2431:882:4,6,20214214:12424:1113:132626:182:2192:12215215:1152:6171:22260175:293:8201:22216216:1173:12181:7,72727:1202:4217217:1240240:12828:120420:19,202182:6218:1240205:1428823:1380:1785:121st29:2240255:14113:12213:25130:7224:622:12412424:1129:31:21:16:6152:22196:14242242:133:3:120251:85:6152:22196:14242245:133:3:12029195:19223223:1246246:1244:4,10304:530:1204204:1225<				
13:4 33:11196:6 231:22236236:1243:11,2337:16 91:19210210:1236145:13250:192:10 169:6211164:23237237:12500178:2420238:25 9:11211:1237755:14179:319:20,22,25212212:1238238:125232:920:5 23:5 24:6213213:1239239:1258243:2431:8 82:4,6,20214214:12424:1113:132626:182:21 92:12215215:1152:6171:22260175:293:8 201:22216216:1173:12181:7,72727:1202:4217217:1240240:12828:120420:19,202182:6218:1240205:1428823:1380:1785:121st29:2240255:14113:12213:25130:7224:622:1241241:1293:1220251:85:6152:22196:14242242:1333:1154:6156:19162:24162:24222:132029195:19223223:1246246:1244:4,1030203203:1224224:1247247:1304:530:154:25148:2,17255:3255111:25227227:12525:1125:320556111:2				· · · · ·
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
92:10 169:6211 164:23237 237:12500 178:242023 $8:25$ 9:11211:123775 5:14179:319:20,22,25212 212:1238 238:12523 2:920:5 23:5 24:6213 213:1239 239:1258 243:2431:8 82:4,6,20214 214:124 24:1 113:1326 26:182:21 92:12215 215:1152:6 171:22260 175:293:8 201:22216 216:1173:12 181:7,727 27:1202:4217 217:1240 240:128 28:12024 20:19,20218 2:6 218:124026 5:14281 2:1224:9 59:16219 219:124020 5:14288 23:1380:17 85:121st 29:224025 5:14113:12113:25 130:722 4:6 22:1241 241:129 3:12 11:16194:23148:3,1824123 5:1329:1 154:172025 1:8 5:6152:22 196:14242 242:132025 1:8 5:6152:22 196:14242 242:132029 195:19223 223:1246 246:13 3:1 154:6156:19 162:24125 225:1248 248:1244:4,10203 203:1224 224:1247 247:130 4:5 30:1204 204:1225 225:1248 248:1249 249:1205 205:1226 226:1249 249:1178:19 221:1720556 111:25227 227:125 25:1 125:3300 2:13 89:320558 111:25229 229:125,000 44:2130 4:5 30:1205:14 215229 229:125,000 44:2125:14.23				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
82:21 92:12 215 215:1 152:6 171:22 260 175:2 93:8 201:22 216 216:1 173:12 181:7,7 27 27:1 202:4 217 217:1 240 240:1 28 28:1 2024 20:19,20 218 2:6 218:1 24018 5:14 281 2:12 24:9 59:16 219 219:1 24020 5:14 288 23:13 80:17 85:1 21st 29:2 24025 5:14 113:12 113:25 130:7 22 4:6 22:1 241 241:1 29 3:12 11:16 194:23 148:3,18 24123 5:13 29:1 154:17 202 220 20:1 3 3:1 154:6 156:19 162:24 162:24 222:13 3 3:1 154:6 156:19 162:24 162:24 222:13 244 244:1 162:24 222:13 244:4,10 30 4:5 30:1 54:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 205 205:1 226 226:1 249 249:1 54:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 222:1,5 300 4:5 30:1 54:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 222:1,5 <				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
202420:19,202182:6 218:1240185:142812:1224:959:16219219:1240205:1428823:1380:1785:121st29:2240255:14113:12113:25130:7224:622:1241241:129194:23148:3,18241235:1329:1154:1720251:85:6152:22196:14242242:1320251:85:6152:22196:14242242:1328:14,1729:3220220:1243243:133:192:1169:6221221:1244244:1162:24222:132029195:19223223:1246246:1244:4,10304:5203203:1226226:1249249:154:25148:2,17205205:1226226:1249249:154:25148:2,1720556111:25227227:12525:1125:33002:1320557111:25229229:125,00044:21125:14.23125:14.23				
24:9 59:16 80:17 85:1219219:1 219:2240205:14 2402528823:13 113:12113:25 130:7 194:23224:6 22:1 148:3,18241235:13 24123293:12 11:16 29:1 154:1720251:8 5:6 28:14,17 29:3 92:1 169:6152:22 196:14 220242242:1 243392:1 169:6 195:15 250:4220220:1 223243243:1 24432029195:19 203223223:1 224246246:1 247244:4,10 244:4,10203203:1 204224224:1 224:1247 247247 247:1 248248:1 248:2,17 178:19205205:1 205:1 20556227 227:1 22725 25:1 25:1 25:00044:21300 2:13 89:3 125:14,23				
80:17 85:1 113:25 130:7 194:23 21st 29:2 22 4:6 22:1 148:3,18 24025 5:14 241 241:1 24123 5:13113:12 29 3:12 11:16 29 3:12 11:16 29 3:12 11:16 29:1 154:17 2025 1:8 5:6 28:14,17 29:3 92:1 169:6 195:15 250:4 2029 195:19 203 203:1 204 204:1 205 205:1 205 205:1 205 205:1 20556 111:25 20556 111:25 20558 111:25 21st 29:2 24:1 243 243:1 244 244:1 245 245:1 246 246:1 247 247:1 248 248:1 249 249:1113:12 29 3:12 11:16 29:1 154:1780 4:5 30:1 54:25 14:22 225:1246 246:1 244:4,10 30 4:5 30:1 54:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 222:1,5 300 2:13 89:3 125:14,23	,			
113:25 130:722 4:6 22:1241 241:129 3:12 11:16194:23148:3,1824123 5:1329:1 154:172025 1:8 5:6152:22 196:14242 242:1328:14,17 29:3220 220:1243 243:1392:1 169:6221 221:1244 244:13195:15 250:4222 222:1245 245:1162:24 222:132029 195:19223 223:1246 246:1247 247:1203 203:1224 224:1247 247:130 4:5 30:1204 204:1225 225:1248 248:154:25 148:2,17205 205:1226 226:1249 249:1178:19 221:1720556 111:25227 227:125 25:1 125:3181:2120558 111:25229 229:125,000 44:21125:14.23				
194:23148:3,18241235:1329:1154:1720251:85:6152:22196:14242242:1328:14,1729:3220220:1243243:1392:1169:6221221:1244244:13195:15250:4222222:1245245:1162:242029195:19223223:1246246:1244:4,10203203:1224224:1247247:1304:5204204:1225225:1248248:1245:30:1205205:1226226:1249249:154:25148:2,1720556111:25227227:12525:1125:33002:1389:320558111:25229229:125,00044:21125:14.23125:14.23				
2025 1:8 5:6152:22 196:14 242 242:128:14,17 29:3 220 220:1 243 243:192:1 169:6 221 221:1 244 244:1195:15 250:4 222 222:1 245 245:1 2029 195:19 223 223:1 246 246:1 203 203:1 224 224:1 247 247:1 204 204:1 225 225:1 248 248:1 205 205:1 226 226:1 249 249:1 20556 111:25 227 227:1 25 25:1125:3 20558 111:25 228 228:1181:21 300 2:13 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21125:14.23				
28:14,17 29:3 220 220:1 243 243:1 3 3:1 154:6 92:1 169:6 221 221:1 244 244:1 3 3:1 154:6 195:15 250:4 222 222:1 245 245:1 162:24 222:13 2029 195:19 223 223:1 246 246:1 244:4,10 203 203:1 224 224:1 247 247:1 30 4:5 30:1 204 204:1 225 225:1 248 248:1 249:1 54:25 148:2,17 20556 111:25 227 227:1 25 25:1 125:3 300 2:13 89:3 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21 300 2:13 89:3		,		
92:1 169:6 195:15 250:4221 221:1 222 222:1244 244:1 245 245:13 5:1 154:6 156:19 162:24 162:24 222:13 244:4,102029 195:19 203 203:1 204 204:1 205 205:1223 223:1 224 224:1 225 225:1246 246:1 247 247:1 247 247:1 248 248:1 249 249:130 4:5 30:1 54:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 222:1,5205 205:1 20556 111:25 20557 111:25226 226:1 227 227:1 228 228:1249 249:1 181:2154:25 148:2,17 178:19 221:17 222:1,5205 205:8 20558 111:25229 229:125,000 44:21300 2:13 89:3 125:14.23				3
195:15 250:4222222:1245245:12029195:19223223:1246246:1203203:1224224:1247247:1204204:1225225:1248248:1205205:1226226:1249249:120556111:25227227:12525:1125:320558111:25228228:1181:2120024:2120558111:25229229:125,00044:21125:14.23	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			3 3:1 154:6
2029195:19223223:1246246:1203203:1224224:1247247:1204204:1225225:1248248:1205205:1226226:1249249:120556111:25227227:12525:1125:320557111:25228228:1181:2120024:2120558111:25229229:125,00044:213002:13				156:19 162:24
203203:1224224:1247247:1204204:1225225:1248248:1205205:1226226:1249249:120556111:25227227:12525:1125:320557111:25228228:1181:21220024:2120558111:25229229:125,00044:21302:1320558111:25229229:125,00044:213002:13				162:24 222:13
204204:1225225:1248248:1205205:1226226:1249249:154:25148:2,1720556111:25227227:12525:1125:3178:19221:1720557111:25228228:1181:21222:1,53002:1389:320558111:25229229:125,00044:21125:14.23				244:4,10
205 205:1 226 226:1 249 249:154:25 148:2,17 20556 111:25 227 227:1 25 25:1 125:3178:19 221:17 20557 111:25 228 228:1181:21222:1,5 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21125:14.23				30 4:5 30:1
20556 111:25 227 227:1 25 25:1 125:3 20557 111:25 228 228:1 181:21 2000 221:17 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21 178:19 221:17 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21 125:14.23				54:25 148:2,17
20557 111:25 228 228:1 181:21 300 2:13 89:3 20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21 125:14.23				178:19 221:17
20558 111:25 229 229:1 25,000 44:21 300 2:13 89:3 125:14.23				222:1,5
123:14.23				300 2:13 89:3
			· · ·	125:14,23
206 206:1 23 23:1 173:12 60:10 126:2 150:11	200 200.1		00.10	126:2 150:11
196:25		190.23		

[30523 - 71]

30523 250:18	243:8,10	5	60s 174:3
30s 234:12	4,006 243:14,20	5 5:1 241:4	61 61:1
31 31:1	244:13	5,000s 183:24	62 62:1
32 32:1	40 40:1 45:14	5.5 155:3	63 63:1
33 16:7 33:1	45:23 80:25,25	50 50:1 55:1	64 64:1
34 34:1	88:12,19	125:21,23	65 65:1
35 35:1	140:18 141:4	123.21,23	658 70:12
350 45:16	154:20	214:8,12	151:15 212:21
88:24 89:5,12	40,000 43:24	500 3:7 183:24	218:18
90:3,16 91:8	44:20,23 60:10	500 5 .7 185.24 500s 183:23	66 3:14 66:1
125:2,8,17,22	197:4,6,13	505-986-2678	660 70:12
125:24 126:3	400 170:6	2:4	151:14 212:21
231:25 232:9	221:16,19	51 51:1 118:12	218:17
36 36:1	222:2,8	119:1	67 3:15 34:4
37 37:1 155:7	400,000 44:3	52 52:1	67:1 83:5
375 45:17	407 181:4	52 32.1 53 3:13 53:1	679 152:14
88:24 89:5,12	40s 54:22	81:1	153:4
90:3 91:9	41 41:1 81:1	54 54:1 81:1	68 68:1
377 181:4	42 42:1	55 55:1 81:1	69 69:1
378 166:11	43 43:1 156:13	56 18:18 19:16	6s 183:12
38 38:1	156:13	23:10 56:1	7
386 164:21	44 44:1	57 3:13 57:1	7 7:1 17:15,16
242:13 243:16	440 181:4	58 46:12 58:1	33:16 34:4
39 39:1 80:25	441 181:4	155:4	161:8 166:8
3:00 180:7	45 45:1 62:6	59 3:14 46:12	183:13
3:15 180:6	118:16,17	59:1	70 23:8 70:1
3:16 180:7	119:1,6,9	6	700 20:12 33:8
3s 183:25	46 46:1 118:15	-	126:7,11,11,19
4	119:1	6 6:1 20:12	127:2,6,11,15
4 4:1,3 10:11	47 47:1	33:8 70:2	152:24 205:8
10:12 12:9,20	48 48:1	159:4 181:20	205:14,18
80:17 165:17	49 49:1	192:5 213:5	209:15,21
183:24 184:21	4:50 248:17	220:6	70s 54:21
237:9,25 238:3	4:51 249:22	60 60:1 108:22	71 71:1
238:7,12,24		600s 184:22	

[72 - acquisition]

220:25 221:1,4 875 154:4 18:8 76:14,24 112:7 221:5 87501 2:7 139:22 access 112:7 725 3:2 87505 2:24 3:7 ability 70:20 access 112:7 73 73:1 154:3 87505 2:24 3:7 ability 70:20 access 112:7 74 74:1 88 88:1 able 25:3,14 accommodate 7:5 62:9 74 74:1 89.89:1 27:21 33:11 6:11 accumulation 750 154:25 9 185:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 213:6 216:7,9 767 76:2 9 909:1 134:9,11 accumulations 217:20 218:13 77 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 accurate 69:9 79 79:1 90 90:50:10 61:25 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 83:12 8:1 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 acturate 69:9 245:13 80 80:1 950 166:23 22:12 23:12:5	72 24:7 72:1	87102 3:3	abandonment	accepting
725 3:2 87504 2:4,10,18 ability 70:20 accommodate 73 73:1 154:3 87505 2:24 3:7 83:18 250:11 accommodate 74 74:1 88 88:1 able 25:3,14 accommodati 75 75:1 220:25 9 89:8 23:3 36:19 47:11 accumulation 750 154:25 9 49:3,5 68:23 213:6 216:7,9 213:6 216:7,9 76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 accumulations 77 76:2 90 90:1 91:8:25 225:16 231:25 209:7 205:16 23:125 209:7 225:16 231:25 269:23 112:8 accurate 69:9 205:12 21:21 226:19 accurate 69:9 220:11 30:29 13:26 245:13 accurately 101:20 acids185:10 acknowledge 8 31:12 8:1 91 91:1 176:2 295:1 222:9 225:16 231:25 acknowledge 13:2:9 13:3 accurately 101:20 acids185:10 acknowledge 13:1:1 36:12 39:1<	220:25 221:1,4	875 154:4	18:8 76:14,24	112:7
73 73:1 154:3 87505 2:24 3:7 83:18 250:11 7:5 62:9 74 74:1 88 88:1 able 25:3,14 accommodati 75 75:1 220:23 89 89:1 27:21 33:11 6:11 75 75:1 220:23 9 185:6 9:1 36:19 47:11 accumulation 76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 213:6 216:7,9 76 76:2 9 9 86:3 92:7 216:15 217:1 219:13 76 76:2 90 90:1 97.911 107:9 116:15 219:13 accumulations 77 76:2 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 accurate 69:9 78 3:12 8:1 90 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 99:20 101:20 8 3:12 8:1 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 137:13 acknowledge 134:9:11 950 166:23 96 96:1 226:19 acknowledge 137:13 80 80:1 96 96 121 76:2 accept 11:9 accurately	221:5	87501 2:7	139:22	access 112:4
74 74:1 88 88:1 able 25:3,14 accommodati 75 75:1 220:23 89 89:1 27:21 33:11 6:11 750 154:25 9 49:3,5 68:23 213:6 216:7,9 76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 9:1 136:19 47:11 accumulation 762 153:5 9 9:18 5:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 accumulations 77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 209:7 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 91 91:1 3board 19:20 8 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 3board 19:20 acdis 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 137:13 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 95 95:1 222:9 238:15 acknowledge 137:13 accurately 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 178:23 190:19 116:6 37:3 acqui	725 3:2	87504 2:4,10,18	ability 70:20	accommodate
75 75: 1 220:23 89 89: 1 27:21 33:11 6:11 750 154:25 9 81.8 23:3 36:19 47:11 accumulation 750 154:25 9 9:8 5:6 9:1 136:19 47:11 accumulation 767 76:2 90 90:1 90:90:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 accumulations 7767 76:2 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 90 90:10 198:25 208:22,23 209:7 225:16 231:25 accumulations 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 91 91:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 92:20 accurately 101:20 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 95 95:1 22:29 238:15 238:16 244:13 216:6 37:3 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 96 96:1 95.0 166:23 92:20 acknowledge 137:13 acknowledge 800,000 54:14 96 96:1 222:9 238:15 26:23 32:25 accupt action 11:6 37:3 80 80:1 <th< th=""><th>73 73:1 154:3</th><th>87505 2:24 3:7</th><th>83:18 250:11</th><th>7:5 62:9</th></th<>	73 73:1 154:3	87505 2:24 3:7	83:18 250:11	7:5 62:9
220:25 89.8 23:3 36:19 47:11 accumulation 750 154:25 9 49:3,5 68:23 213:6 216:7,9 76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 762 153:5 90 90:1 97:16:15 219:13 767 76:2 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 7767 76:2 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 91 91:1 aboard 132:9 135:6 78 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 94:8 912 45:10 99:20 101:20 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 95 95:1 228:21 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 96 96:12 76:2 38:16 244:13 11:6 37:3 360,000 54:14 96121 <th>74 74:1</th> <th>88 88:1</th> <th>able 25:3,14</th> <th>accommodati</th>	74 74:1	88 88:1	able 25:3,14	accommodati
750 154:25 9 49:3,5 68:23 213:6 216:7,9 76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 9:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 762 153:5 90 90:1 90:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 7767 76:2 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 900 198:25 208:22,23 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 8 912 45:10 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 9 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 137:13 acknowledge 8 912 45:10 95:1 95:0 166:23 99:20 101:20 8 96:121 76:2 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledged 11:6 37:3	75 75:1 220:23	89 89:1	27:21 33:11	6:11
76 76:1 119:3 9 1:8 5:6 92:7 216:15 217:1 76 767 76:2 90 90:1 107:9 116:15 219:13 77 77:1 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 219:13 accumulations 78 3:15 78:1 900 198:25 208:22,23 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 aboard 19:20 69:23 112:8 8 912 45:10 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 69:23 112:8 8 912 45:10 99 :20 acturately 101:20 acknowledge 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 11:6 37:3 80 80:1 950 166:23 228:14 244:19 246:12 acknowledged 11:6 37:3 800s 154:3 96 96:1 248:25 aceptable 22:29 22:29	220:25	89.8 23:3	36:19 47:11	accumulation
762 153:5 9 1:85:59:11 107:9116:15 219:13 77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 7767 76:2 90 90:1 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 226:19 245:13 8 912 45:10 99:20 101:20 acds 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acds 185:10 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 94 950 166:23 222:9 238:15 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 950 166:23 222:9 238:15 acknowledge 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledged 164:2 222:12 94 96:11 244:19 246:12 acknowledged 80 80:1 96 96:1 244:19 246:12 acquire 206:111 80soltely 965 150:12 acceptable 26:23 32:25 82 82:1 97 97:1 acceeptab	750 154:25	9	49:3,5 68:23	213:6 216:7,9
762 153:5 180:22 107:9 116:15 219:13 77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 209:7 accurate 69:9 78 216 2:14 209:7 abnormal 132:9 135:6 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 abnormal 132:9 135:6 71 5:8 250:4 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 8 912 45:10 99:20 101:20 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 380 80:1 950 166:23 238:16 244:13 11:6 37:3 800s 154:3 96 96:1 244:19 246:12 acquire 206:11 94:8 96121 76:2 accept 11:9 62:22 91:18 822 154:3 98 98:1 248:25 acceptable	76 76:1 119:3	9 1.8 5.6 9.1	86:3 92:7	216:15 217:1
77 77:1 90 90:1 134:9,11 accumulations 7767 76:2 900 198:25 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 209:7 accurate 69:9 78216 2:14 209:7 90s 50:10 61:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 aboard 19:20 69:23 112:8 8 912 45:10 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 acturately 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 137:13 acknowledge 34:12,13 54:3 95 166:23 228:15 acknowledge 137:13 80 80:1 96 96:1 244:19 246:12 acquire 206:11 94:8 96121 76:2 244:1	762 153:5		107:9 116:15	219:13
7767 76:2 900 198:25 178:14 185:5 217:20 218:13 78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 209:7 325:16 231:25 3ccurate 69:9 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 3bnormal 132:9 132:9 135:6 7th 5:8 250:4 91 91:1 92 22:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 8 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 acknowledge 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 164:2 950 166:23 96 238:16 244:13 acquire 206:11 80 80:1 96 96:1 248:12 accept 11:9 acquired 20:21 81 81:1 965 150:12 accept 11:9 accurately 92:20 116:818 169:23 26:23 32:25 62:22 91:18 32:	77 77:1		· ·	accumulations
78 3:15 78:1 208:22,23 188:25 212:12 accurate 69:9 78 216 2:14 209:7 90s 50:10 61:25 abnormal 132:9 135:6 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 abnormal 132:9 135:6 245:13 8 912 45:10 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 8 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 acids 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 137:13 80 80:1 950 166:23 92:92:9 238:15 acknowledge 94:8 96121 76:2 96 96:1 222:9 238:15 acquire 206:11 800s 154:3 96 96:12 136:8 26:23 32:25 62:22 91:18 82 154:3 98 98:1 248:25 168:18 169:5 248:25 168:18 169:5 82 154:3 99 99:1 34:25 156:12 32:25 168:18 169:5 83 83:1 99 99:1 34:	7767 76:2		178:14 185:5	217:20 218:13
78216 2:14 209:7 225:16 231:25 69:23 112:8 79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 abnormal 132:9 132:9 135:6 7th 5:8 250:4 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 245:13 accurately 8 3:12 81 92 92:1 above 124:23 acids 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 242:11 95 95:1 178:23 190:19 137:13 acknowledge 80 80:1 950 166:23 222:9 238:15 acknowledged 94:8 96121 76:2 244:19 246:12 acquired 20:21 81 81:1 965 150:12 absolutely accurately 26:23 32:25 82 82:1 97 97:1 acceptable 26:22 91:18 83 83:1 99 99:1 248:25 168:18 169:5 84 61:22 8	78 3:15 78:1		188:25 212:12	accurate 69:9
79 79:1 90s 50:10 61:25 abnormal 132:9 135:6 7th 5:8 250:4 91 91:1 aboard 19:20 245:13 8 312 8:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 8 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 aboard 19:20 accurately 912 45:10 99:20 accurately 99:20 acdids 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 137:13 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 300,000 54:14 96 96:1 222:9 238:15 acknowledged 94:8 96121 76:2 244:19 246:12 acquired 20:21 80 s 154:3 965 150:12 accept 11:9 acquired 20:21 81 81:1 965 150:12 acceptable 92:10 115:11 82 83:1 99 99:1 acceptable 92:10 115:11 84 61:22 84:1 900 1:8 5:2 acceptance 11:2 <t< th=""><th>78216 2:14</th><th></th><th>225:16 231:25</th><th>69:23 112:8</th></t<>	78216 2:14		225:16 231:25	69:23 112:8
7th 5:8 250:4 91 91:1 226:19 245:13 8 912 45:10 99:20 accurately 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 aboard 19:20 99:20 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 above 124:23 acids 185:10 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 127:15 153:22 acids 185:10 34:12,13 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 242:11 95 95:1 222:9 238:15 acknowledged 80 80:1 96 96:1 244:19 246:12 acquire 206:11 800s 154:3 965 150:12 accept 11:9 acquired 20:21 81 81:1 965 150:12 accept 11:9 accept 11:9 92:10 115:11 82 83:1 98 98:1 248:25 accept accept 11:9 92:10 115:11 83 83:1 99 99:1 248:25 accept accept accept accept accept accept accept accept ac	79 79:1		abnormal	132:9 135:6
891245:10aboard19:20accurately83:12 8:19292:199:20101:2034:12,13 154:39393:1127:15 153:22acknowledge164:2 222:129494:1127:15 153:22acknowledge242:119595:1178:23 190:19137:138080:1950166:23222:9 238:15acknowledged8080:19696:1244:19 246:12acquire94:89612176:296122141:7accept94:896122141:7136:8accept11:9800s154:3965150:12accept11:98282:19797:1accept11:98383:19999:1248:25168:18 169:58461:2284:19:001:85:2168:18 169:58585:1aacceptade11:217:23 19:28686:1a.m.1:867:2,2133:2179:68787:1102.20133:2179:681:13	7th 5:8 250:4		226:19	245:13
8 3:12 8:1 92 92:1 99:20 101:20 34:12,13 154:3 93 93:1 above 124:23 acids 185:10 164:2 222:12 94 94:1 127:15 153:22 acknowledge 137:13 242:11 95 95:1 222:9 238:15 acknowledge 137:13 80 80:1 96 96:1 238:16 244:13 11:6 37:3 acquire 206:11 94:8 96121 76:2 absolutely 136:8 acquired 20:21 81 81:1 965 150:12 absolutely 26:23 32:25 82 82:1 97 97:1 136:8 26:22 91:18 83 83:1 99 99:1 248:25 26:22 91:18 84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 168:18 169:5 86 86:1 am. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	8			· ·
34:12,13 154:3 164:2 222:12 242:119393:1 94above124:23 127:15 153:22 178:23 190:19acids185:10 acknowledge8080:1 9509595:1 950166:23 222:9 238:15127:15 153:22 178:23 190:19137:13 acknowledged8080:1 94:8950166:23 96 96:1222:9 238:15 238:16 244:13acknowledged 11:6 37:3800s154:3 9612196 96:1 96121244:19 246:12 absolutelyacquire206:11 acquired8181:1 965965150:12 97 97:1accept 11:9 248:2526:23 32:25 62:22 91:18 acceptable26:23 32:25 62:22 91:18 acceptable82154:3 999999:1 99:1accept 11:9 248:2526:23 32:25 62:22 91:18 248:258461:22 84:1 909999:1 185:2accept 11:2 248:25168:18 169:5 248:258686:1 86:1a.m.1:8 67:2,2 133:2117:23 19:2 41:18 49:208787:1402.20133:2179:6 81:13	8 3:12 8:1			
164:2 222:12 242:119494:1 95127:15 153:22 178:23 190:19acknowledge 137:138080:1950166:23 96 96:1222:9 238:15 238:16 244:13acknowledged 11:6 37:3800s154:396 96:1 96121 76:2238:16 244:13 244:19 246:1211:6 37:3 acquire 206:11800s154:3961221 41:7 965 150:12absolutely 136:8acquire 206:11 acquired 20:218181:1965 150:12 97 97:1accept 11:9 acceptable26:23 32:25 62:22 91:188282:197 97:1 98 98:1accept 11:9 248:2562:22 91:18 168:18 169:58461:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:29:00 1:8 5:2acceptable 11:2 acceptadc9:10 115:11 17:23 19:28686:1 87, 87:1a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 102 02133:2179:6 81:13				
242:119595:1178:23190:19137:138080:1950166:23222:9238:15acknowledged90,00054:149696:1238:16244:13acquire94:89612176:296122141:7assolutelyacquired900s154:396122141:7absolutelyacquired20:218181:1965150:12accept11:9acquired20:218282:19797:1accept able92:10115:118383:19999:1acceptable92:10115:118461:2284:19:001:85:2acceptable22:108585:1aacceptable11:2acquisition8686:1a.m.1:867:2,2133:2179:681:13				0
8080:1950166:23222:9238:15acknowledged800,00054:149696:1238:16244:1311:637:394:89612176:2244:19246:12acquire20:11800s154:396122141:741:741:637:3965150:12965150:1226:2332:258282:19797:1965150:1282154:39898:1248:2562:229797:19898:1248:25168:188383:19999:1248:25168:188461:2284:19:001:85:28585:1a11:217:2319:28686:1a.m.1:867:2,2133:2179:681:13				
800,00054:14 94:896 96:196 96:1 96121 96121 961221 965 965 965 965 965 965 965 965 965 97 97:1 98 98 98:1 99 99:1238:16 244:19 246:12 absolutely 136:8 accept acceptable 248:25 acceptance 11:2 acceptade 11:211:6 37:3 acquire 20:11 acquired 20:21800,00054:14 96121 961221 965 150:1296 961221 41:7 965 150:12238:16 244:19 246:12 accept 26:23 32:25acquire 20:21 26:23 32:2581 82 82 83 83:1 84 61:22 84 61:22 85 85:196 99 99:1 99 99:1 99 99:1 99 248:25 acceptance 11:2 accepted 11:2 accepted 133:2111:6 37:3 acquire 20:21 26:23 20:21 20:21 20:21 20:2180 80 91 92:10 115:11 168:18 169:5 2011:2 20 2011:2 20 2081 82 85:1 86 86:1a.m. 1:8 67:2,2133:2111:6 37:3 244:19 246:12 20:21 20:2182 85 85:1 86 86:1a.m. 1:8 67:2,2133:2111:6 248:25 20 2087 87:111:8 492.02133:2179:6 81:13				0
94:89612176:2244:19246:12acquire206:11800s154:396122141:7absolutely136:8acquire20:218181:1965150:12136:826:2332:258282:19797:1accept 11:962:2291:1882154:39898:1248:2562:2291:188383:19999:1248:25168:18169:58461:2284:19:001:85:211:2acquisition8585:1a11:217:2319:28686:1a.m.1:867:2,2133:2179:681:13				
800s154:396122141:7absolutelyacquired20:218181:1965150:12136:826:2332:258282:19797:1accept 11:962:2291:1882154:39898:1248:2592:10115:118383:19999:1248:25168:18169:58461:2284:19:001:85:211:2acceptable11:28585:1a11:217:2319:28686:1a.m.1:867:2,2133:2179:681:13				-
81 81:1 965 150:12 accept 11:9 62:22 91:18 82 82:1 97 97:1 accept able 92:10 115:11 82 83:1 98 98:1 248:25 168:18 169:5 84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 acceptable 168:18 169:5 85 85:1 a acceptable 11:2 acquisition 17:23 19:2 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13		961221 41:7	•	-
82 82:1 97 97:1 acceptable 92:10 92:10 115:11 82 154:3 98 98:1 acceptable 248:25 168:18 169:5 83 83:1 99 99:1 acceptance 11:2 acquisition 84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 acceptance 17:23 19:2 85 85:1 a accepted 11:2 17:23 19:2 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	81 81:1	965 150:12		
822 154:3 98 98:1 248:25 168:18 169:5 83 83:1 99 99:1 248:25 acceptance acquisition 84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 11:2 acceptance 17:23 19:2 85 85:1 a accepted 11:2 17:23 19:2 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	82 82:1	97 97:1	-	
83 83:1 99 99:1 acceptance acquisition 84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 acceptance 11:2 17:23 19:2 85 85:1 a accepted 11:2 41:18 49:20 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	822 154:3	98 98:1	-	
84 61:22 84:1 9:00 1:8 5:2 11:2 17:23 19:2 85 85:1 a accepted 41:18 49:20 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	83 83:1	99 99:1		
85 85:1 11:2 17:23 19:2 86 86:1 a.m. 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 41:18 49:20 87 87:1 102 22 133:21 79:6 81:13	84 61:22 84:1	9:00 1:8 5:2	-	-
86 86:1 accepted 41:18 49:20 87 87:1 1:8 67:2,2 133:21 79:6 81:13	85 85:1	a		
	86 86:1		-	
	87 87:1		133:21	
82:13 122:19		102:25		82:13 122:19

	1	1	1
133:8,10	241:14 245:5	administrative	affirmative
acquisitions	245:17 246:9	40:4 111:19	72:1
33:8	247:13	112:9 116:12	affirmed 23:12
acre 154:20	adam 10:10	administrativ	affirming
194:8 197:3,8	add 67:13	51:9 109:18,21	136:7
acres 154:21,22	191:3,4 217:18	admissible	afraid 80:23
217:2	added 210:9,10	175:23 177:24	afternoon
act 120:11,11	214:7	177:24	179:25
120:22 121:5,5	addition	admission 12:9	agencies 48:4
121:10,11,13	105:24 139:14	80:15	ago 116:19
122:5 131:17	additional 11:3	admit 12:8	agrankin 2:19
action 19:13,24	11:7 18:25	13:20,20	agree 11:9 30:2
51:23 58:4,24	23:7 24:7	admitted 12:19	51:5 75:15
120:8	37:12 56:5	12:20 14:11,12	87:19 92:14
actions 81:25	57:12 74:16	148:3,16,18	96:11 100:25
active 149:6	96:7 112:12	admitting 14:1	101:1 105:5
175:13 181:1	114:10 142:10	81:3	106:12 109:6
198:3	142:20 143:9	adopt 11:9	109:12 119:10
actively 159:24	179:16,17	advise 73:25	119:12 125:18
activities 23:22	195:22 206:11	afes 54:8 93:20	127:10 137:15
202:10	214:22	93:24 94:2	141:12 197:9
activity 39:7	address 93:1	affect 54:16	213:24 215:5
204:14	107:24 211:25	55:16 159:20	215:11,18,19
actual 5:15	234:10 235:3	159:21 183:14	215:23,24
214:11 222:18	addressed	197:25	216:5,10,12,14
actually 65:12	60:11 87:14,15	affected 50:5	216:16,17
74:3 96:23	96:7	191:17	218:10,15
100:8 109:24	addressing	affecting 43:18	219:1,16,17
109:24 116:3	233:5	affiliation	220:4 224:4
122:25 146:20	adequate 55:22	133:14	226:9,11,16,21
153:5 162:3	adhered 26:4	affirm 147:21	236:20 240:10
167:13 168:10	adjoining	250:7,12	241:14,16,22
200:22 210:14	60:22	affirmation	agreed 30:3
212:15 213:2	adjudicate	250:1	42:17 100:2,11
220:18 224:12	87:21		109:13 133:10

[agreement - andres]

agreement	albuquerque	40:1 41:1 42:1	50:24 51:4
10:19,24 11:13	3:3	42:16 43:1	57:3 60:13,17
12:25 13:3,9	allow 36:19	44:1 45:1 46:1	60:19 61:2
14:20 16:10	40:4 48:25	47:1 48:1 49:1	62:2 63:5 65:8
18:1,4,5,6,7,11	179:21 189:6	50:1 51:1 52:1	66:20 68:18
18:24 23:17,18	allowable	53:3 57:25	69:6,17 70:6,9
23:24 29:25	44:20	66:1,1,4,23	70:14,24 71:5
30:25 31:2,12	allowed 21:21	70:13 71:4	71:10 76:2
32:15 49:2	22:21 24:23	78:16 83:2,3	85:17 88:20,25
51:13 62:25	33:18 38:24	85:10,13 88:11	90:4,25 91:10
67:25 68:2	149:17 199:20	91:8 93:12	93:16 95:12
76:10,23	alternating	99:25 100:11	100:4,19,25
103:20 104:1	155:24 203:17	139:1 141:2	101:3,5 105:4
104:23 119:19	alternative	142:16,17	106:6,10,11
119:24 122:24	83:14	ampomah's	108:9,22 109:3
agreements	amending	6:12 56:15	125:20 126:16
25:18 26:23	59:15	analysis 32:21	127:15 129:1
76:10,11 85:15	amount 55:20	33:1 56:22	135:5,14,22,24
85:24 86:3,7	129:14 134:12	130:20 134:1	149:8,14
86:11,16	134:14 155:20	163:4,6 165:10	150:25 151:23
agu 95:5,12	158:10,12	182:24 206:14	152:16 153:12
123:8 124:5	172:8 176:24	225:17 245:9	153:21,23,24
149:4 153:20	177:2,17	246:16 247:4	154:14 156:22
199:16 216:22	178:10 182:2	248:4,11	157:12,18,24
ahead 25:25	224:11 225:12	analyzing	158:19 159:13
65:24 130:16	225:15 226:20	31:23	159:15,20
180:17	227:1	andres 8:25	160:4,8 161:15
aids 9:4 22:12	amounts 199:4	9:10 12:1 17:7	161:20 162:13
70:17 100:5	ampomah 1:12	17:12 26:16,19	162:20 163:9
135:7,16	3:12,14 5:19	30:3,12 31:11	163:16,23
136:10,12	7:23 29:1,14	31:17 32:2	164:25 165:7,9
138:5,11 139:3	29:15,18 30:1	36:14,22 40:5	165:9,24,24
139:11	31:1 32:1 33:1	40:7 41:8	166:3,6,25
air 39:5	34:1 35:1 36:1	42:18 43:1	167:2,8 168:15
	37:1 38:1 39:1	45:2 48:25	170:8 174:16

[andres - approximately]

174:24 175:16	anions 186:25	180:13	applied 25:6
175:21,22	answer 24:2	apologies 85:10	90:11,14
176:19 179:22	30:9 70:20	143:3,7,11	appreciate 7:13
181:18 182:11	100:7 129:8	apologize 78:6	57:24 118:25
182:14 189:14	130:15 132:4	78:10 111:10	130:5
189:25 192:12	136:11 139:20	241:21	apprise 116:24
192:23 193:7	246:8,21 247:3	apologized	approach 33:9
194:18 198:8	247:16,17,20	71:23	appropriate
198:25 199:5	248:9	apparently	51:22 75:13
199:18,25	answered	139:2 236:13	89:19
211:22 212:1,3	70:22 128:2,5	236:20,22,23	approval 17:6
213:6,7 215:4	136:19 227:4,6	237:1,3 240:18	25:1 54:17
215:9,11,17,22	230:19	240:22	56:2 58:7
216:6,7,8,16	answers 132:13	appearances	64:23 72:1
217:1,8,25	138:7	2:1	110:10
218:7,9,14,20	anticipate	appellate 72:12	approvals 55:4
219:16,18	151:16	applicant 107:2	approve 25:2
220:3 222:19	anticipating	application	43:22 51:3
222:22,25	67:9	37:14 40:21	55:25 114:5
223:3,4 227:11	antonio 2:14	41:25 42:7	approved 51:9
227:14,22,25	anybody 38:14	44:21 48:5,6,8	54:22 61:5
228:6,11,17,17	74:10 78:19	48:15 64:17	63:3 109:18,20
229:12,20	118:20 213:3	65:3 107:12	176:16
230:3,5,12,16	anything's	108:23 109:12	approves 44:1
231:6,15	119:3	applications	approving
235:21 236:13	anyway 9:21	27:2 43:23	40:13 54:20
237:21 238:5	38:21 67:9	44:1 49:7	approximate
238:13,14,22	117:8 167:20	59:23 60:2,6	113:9
239:4,14	anyways	71:16 75:19,23	approximately
240:10,12,14	187:22	76:5 85:4	54:13 90:15
240:16,18	apart 47:23	96:12 101:17	113:24 125:2
245:2,20,21	161:5	106:17,17	126:10,19
246:7,11,18,23	apds 93:20	107:17 109:15	127:2 171:11
246:25 247:9	apodaca 5:4	110:1,10,16	194:6 205:8
248:7	103:5,6 180:12	111:15	216:18 217:2

[approximately - august]

232:9	201:13 202:13	asking 30:16	assignor 11:11
april 1:8 5:6,8	argument	33:24,25 35:9	associated
92:1 159:6	225:10	60:3,4,6 69:1	23:25
250:4	argument's	70:18 78:16	assume 10:3
aquifer 30:4,5	177:23	80:20 89:11,25	23:19 216:3
30:14 70:14,25	argumentative	90:22 97:1,21	assumed 76:15
100:12 135:6	139:19	126:17 128:16	assumes 233:10
135:15,25	arrays 104:20	137:24 139:1	233:22
aquifers 55:17	arrow 166:15	157:20 205:16	assuming 13:24
arch 190:2	article 18:13	223:2 224:11	13:25 62:15
area 30:24 32:9	articles 10:19	227:9 229:1,24	77:2 195:18
34:5,21 35:5	10:24 11:12	230:12 232:15	assumption
37:19,22 38:9	12:24 13:3	234:7,9 235:9	11:11 18:2,7
48:23 49:12,12	16:9	238:18 245:9	221:16
49:24 54:1,3	ascertain 78:8	245:16 246:16	attached
63:22 145:17	222:16	247:11	201:18
149:3 151:6	ascertained	assessing 203:4	attachment
153:21 157:20	245:3	assessment	145:21
166:7 167:15	ascertaining	106:4	attachments
168:21 170:9	104:7	assessments	148:3
170:25 171:19	asked 57:25	88:7	attempt 74:16
171:23 174:21	58:2 70:13,21	asset 37:6,12	117:15
174:25 176:3	71:4 72:19	37:16 121:7,8	attempting
176:18 177:12	73:4 74:22	121:8,9 122:14	46:17
183:9 188:4,18	77:10 79:4,12	206:16 208:5	attention 172:1
195:9,24	100:14 121:25	assets 32:17	attorney 44:13
196:13 201:7	122:2 133:13	120:14 122:25	62:7 137:22
207:18 213:11	134:18 135:10	123:1	attorneys
216:9 224:15	136:17 138:10	assign 63:24	117:18 118:20
232:25 233:5,8	138:20,23	64:10,15,18	126:23 250:13
234:14 235:4	140:5 141:1,21	65:5,8,11,13	august 19:22
areas 33:23	142:9 143:6	assigned 18:9	19:25 20:5,20
36:14 48:22	227:3,12	63:19 212:5,15	31:8 82:6,20
125:7 151:3	230:18	assignment	194:23
163:11 192:14		54:18	

[authority - basically]

authority 39:10	235:1,9,10,12	216:2 220:5,16	barrel 104:5
48:22 87:20	awesome 5:5	221:21,22,22	barrels 15:6
107:8 109:17	b	222:10 224:7	43:21,24 44:3
authorization		227:8 234:12	44:6,9,18,23
47:5 55:7	b 123:8 124:5 149:4 152:9	242:7 245:23	45:10,17 60:10
authorized	181:25 189:8	247:16	88:24 89:12
101:4 114:16	197:21 198:11	background	90:3,16 91:9
authors 237:25	197.21 198.11	200:23	105:10 150:12
available 21:8	241:4	backing 153:19	151:20 154:6
27:20,22,23	back 8:4 16:2	backstop 57:6	154:24 166:1
28:9 117:7	20:23 23:16	backyard	170:6 171:22
153:1 200:5	20.23 23.10	38:11,14	171:23 175:2
212:22 213:3	33:11,13 40:3	bad 16:4 46:5	197:4,6,13
ave 2:13	43:13 48:20	161:4 178:2	198:25 208:23
avenue 2:6 3:7	49:6,8 54:12	179:19	209:7 225:23
average 125:2	54:22 63:6	badgering	barrier 163:22
221:17 222:1	65:25,25 67:4	136:15 137:16	244:14,20,23
avoided 192:17	102:20 103:5,8	baker 3:2	246:13
aware 8:24 9:9	103:10 106:16	balance 175:3	base 26:19
10:3 11:25	107:25 113:12	175:15 176:13	126:7,10,14,19
12:4 15:13	125:24 129:6	banking 133:6	126:24 127:1,1
18:18 19:15	132:11,12,16	banks 173:2	127:10 185:20
23:14 24:10	134:24 135:19	bar 118:23	based 47:3 73:3
29:23 35:25	137:1,8,18	167:25	88:1 93:1
36:24 37:1	139:2,20	barite 236:16	97:20 131:17
41:13 55:5	140:16 141:7	barium 161:21	132:5 142:9
62:1 63:3 83:3	141:16 142:14	161:24 162:19	145:25 165:10
84:7 86:6,23	153:20 156:13	162:22 184:4,8	207:14 213:25
92:17 93:6	158:13 164:9	184:10,14	215:20 221:15
98:4,10,14	171:13 172:21	185:11 188:24	224:19 238:24
110:8,14,19,23	176:13 177:10	189:21 228:7	244:7
111:7,12 128:8	178:14 180:6	235:23 236:10	basic 72:8,9
140:6 205:12	180:12,15	236:15,16	basically 20:21
205:16 232:23	185:7 201:25	238:22 239:19	123:12 158:16
233:4 234:10	204:22 215:14	240:23	176:25 177:4

[basin - blue]

basin 38:7 83:8	124:1 125:1	123:3 127:5	bids 54:10
83:12,19,24	126:1 127:1,8	128:13 129:3	big 174:3
84:1 160:15	128:1,2,13,15	130:12 132:9	175:17 179:7,8
170:10,10,11	128:20 129:1,6	136:15 139:16	179:8 182:4
181:14 188:8,9	130:1,12 131:1	144:13 157:10	184:1 188:13
basis 42:7 73:2	132:1,10,17,19	163:7 164:13	196:10 197:22
74:11,15	133:1 134:1	168:23 209:3	225:1,22
101:19 107:18	135:1 136:1,15	211:5 215:10	bigger 36:7
111:13,16	136:21 137:1	221:7 234:18	156:2,25
112:2 128:13	137:17 138:1	238:1,11 242:8	223:23 225:2,5
163:13 222:2	139:1 140:1	believed 42:4	billion 155:2,3
224:4 242:5	141:1,23 142:1	71:5 87:1	155:5,5,7
244:25	142:1 143:1	100:1 107:17	bind 64:5
baylen 1:12	146:14 148:12	206:3,19	biocarbs
bearing 161:22	beck's 127:5	208:19 209:3,6	187:12,12
beat 137:11	beginning	believes 88:23	bit 17:16 20:19
beatty 3:6	156:14,15	91:7 93:13,14	32:3,11 35:2
beck 3:4,12,16	173:20	117:20	87:5 119:22
6:18,19 8:1,14	belief 55:22	bell 16:14,15	134:25 155:17
8:17,20 9:1	60:18 217:24	16:17,23	165:16 172:11
10:1,10 11:1	believe 8:13	152:14 153:2	175:10 178:22
12:1,5,21 13:1	30:5,16,19	193:13	178:25 180:22
13:19 14:1,2	39:25 45:4,9	bend 190:9	187:17 195:1
14:13,16 15:1	47:7,9,12	benefit 155:19	196:12 197:2
16:1,6,8 17:1	48:16 50:22	benefited 28:8	200:23 211:8
18:1,12 19:1	51:1,18 56:1	bent 190:12	244:11
20:1 21:1 22:1	56:19 60:12	best 22:4 70:20	blm 46:16 48:3
23:1 24:1 25:1	62:21 67:24	78:11 114:13	48:13
26:1 27:1 28:1	71:1 86:17	158:21 215:7	block 185:4
29:7,9 47:13	88:11,23 89:7	229:24 247:20	blue 149:5,9,11
48:20 49:10	89:20 90:8	250:10	152:13 156:25
103:17 118:1,1	93:12 96:8,15	better 7:10	157:15 166:13
118:4,7 119:1	96:19 104:4	33:6	167:17 171:15
120:1 121:1	105:12 106:15	bid 133:20	174:20,25
122:1 123:1	114:17 122:6		180:25 194:4

104.11 105.21	125.2 00 01	huga 197.10	242.2
194:11 195:21	135:3,20,21	bugs 187:19	243:3
196:17 223:20	137:17 141:8	building 1:4	call 11:20
board 52:3	179:12,25	2:13 32:10	102:7 112:25
97:4 177:21	180:5 190:9	bullet 17:15	called 18:2
208:14	briefing 75:11	123:7,24 124:4	31:21 109:6
bone 188:15	91:2	125:1	129:15 133:11
bottom 126:9	briefly 117:14	bump 173:11	calling 219:14
152:19,23	bright 249:20	174:11	245:2
153:3,4,8,9	bring 10:11	bumps 168:17	camper 116:18
154:8 164:15	12:5 38:8 74:4	bunch 164:18	capacity
166:12,21	74:16 75:13	206:4	145:11
173:18 189:13	118:2 120:8	burden 40:22	capital 54:18
194:23 197:18	159:1 164:17	61:6	56:13
199:17 230:24	187:12	burning 142:11	capitan 55:18
232:7 236:6	bringing 35:3	business	95:15,22
238:8,12	brochure 99:21	209:10	car 9:20
bottomhole	122:10,13	buy 178:6,10	carbon 203:14
166:10	123:5 125:13	buying 32:7,7	carbonate
bought 23:6	128:21 131:20	bwenergylaw	185:9
91:21,25	132:5,20	3:8	carbonates
bound 11:9	149:24 150:10	С	187:14,15,15
boundaries	150:20	c 107:2,5	card 116:8
66:19	brought 41:23	calcium 183:20	care 144:4
boundary	75:8 97:22	183:21 185:9	career 33:8
168:8 194:4	177:1 234:5	185.21 185.9	39:2
bounds 196:21	bubble 163:7	calculate 193:2	case 5:12,13,15
197:7,11	224:12	calculated	7:11 35:3 36:6
box 2:3,9 150:7	buchwalter	140:18	40:24 41:22
brains 249:12	47:18 241:24		43:4,5 47:11
brand 114:25	242:4	calculates	50:18,19 51:2
breached 43:16	buchwalter's	242:15	58:25 59:19
break 65:24	162:25	calculation	72:4,6 73:9,16
1	1	61:1,1 64:2	
67:1,5 102:11	buck 46:6	,	74:22,24,24
67:1,5 102:11 102:13 134:19	buck 46:6 buffer 160:4	242:18	74:22,24,24 75:8,10 77:15
,		,	, ,

88:1,4 92:25	centre 2:13	changing 62:7	188:17,20,21
98:23 111:20	ceo 11:16	139:14 140:1	190:18 191:22
111:24,25	certain 116:3	141:10 199:13	193:4 198:5
116:7 151:5	213:1	channel 55:17	chevron 13:6
154:2,5 155:17	certainly	95:16,21	13:17 30:25
158:16 159:1	116:12	characteristics	162:8 168:18
162:15 208:18	certified 52:3	160:8	228:4,9,19
220:23 221:9	certify 250:3	characterizati	229:6,10
221:10,11,12	chair 1:11 6:10	69:8,22 100:16	235:14
234:16 250:14	6:16,23 97:4	106:24	chief 59:20
250:15	249:1,2,10,17	characterized	chime 144:4
cases 5:11	chairman 3:13	69:4	chino 1:4
161:7	5:1,5 6:7,13,18	characterizing	chloride 181:9
cash 21:1,3,14	6:21,24 7:2,10	203:7	187:3
155:2	7:12,17,22	charge 203:20	chlorides
cat 184:1	9:12 10:17	charged 208:3	160:12,13
catch 197:17	57:1,19,20,22	chart 154:8	181:8,14,16,20
211:10 232:21	58:1 59:6 64:5	181:3	182:3,3,13
categories	71:24 102:6,14	check 38:10,18	187:1 199:10
123:13	102:19,25	68:24	chose 162:6
category	103:1 143:3,10	checked 13:25	chris.moander
123:14	challenged	checking 86:4	2:24
cause 60:21	110:10,16	checks 40:13	christopher
160:5 162:12	chance 97:19	chemical	2:25
186:12 188:21	184:25	160:16 161:2	cia 118:19,19
188:25 193:7	change 62:8	184:12 189:21	118:22,22
causes 161:6	124:1	chemicals	circle 196:10
causing 73:19	changed 17:2	161:5 185:15	214:24 223:23
172:8 227:23	134:25 135:19	188:10 191:6	225:2,3,22
cease 25:14	137:9 139:20	chemistry	circles 156:25
120:18	140:2,16	161:11 162:6	181:2 194:11
center 214:24	218:25 219:6	172:7 180:21	195:6,7,21
central 170:10	changes 62:5	182:10 183:4	196:8 223:20
188:7,8	137:7 182:10	183:14 184:4	224:16,18
		187:9,24	225:6,8

	1		
circulate 112:4	closing 18:14	combo 211:9	comments
circumstances	49:17 119:20	come 19:6	117:24
63:2	clue 42:11	22:25 37:8	commercial
cite 235:13	co2 25:1 45:2,6	59:19 65:24	15:5,9,10
241:2	45:11,13,19	97:8 116:14	24:17 25:14
citing 228:18	50:9 54:16	142:14 180:6	31:16 50:1
claim 101:19	55:4,7,25 56:2	185:14 186:16	78:17 103:18
claiming 43:12	60:23 64:23,25	195:12 204:22	103:23 105:22
claims 47:6	65:1 108:23	208:5 220:16	170:25 176:3
52:25 56:8	112:24 114:9	221:21,22,22	commingle
105:25	114:15,23	222:10 242:7	195:23
clarification	115:24 116:17	comes 75:2	commission 1:3
53:14 89:11	123:23 155:10	150:24 153:20	1:10,14 22:19
90:22 97:2	155:18,20,25	174:25 198:16	23:1 25:1
clarify 70:23	158:6,9,10	238:4 239:17	28:15 29:13
71:9 97:3,11	175:23 177:19	comfortable	33:4,17,24
100:15 124:17	177:25 178:3,6	7:19,25 55:25	35:4,8 36:11
212:12	178:10,12,15	coming 36:12	36:19 39:16,16
clarity 108:15	179:4,7,16,17	50:17 72:20	40:3 41:1,13
classification	179:17 187:11	82:3 159:12	43:9,25 44:22
70:14,24 135:5	189:2,3 202:25	160:15 163:9	45:3 46:14
135:14,24	203:2,17	181:10,14	47:2 48:6,12
classified 30:13	coast 55:9	185:21 188:14	49:7 50:4,15
clear 67:16	code 7:18 75:20	189:21 198:1	50:17 51:6,18
117:25 132:13	cognizant	202:24 222:25	51:20,22,23,25
146:20 147:4	126:13	223:14,16,17	52:2,4,9 55:21
155:8 158:15	college 202:2	227:22 229:9	56:6,12,19,23
182:5	color 152:10	229:12,20	57:5,13 58:21
climb 231:25	colorado 55:9	230:11,24	61:7,12,15,17
close 34:23	colored 150:20	231:15,15	62:15,17 63:2
59:19 73:22	column 150:3	233:6 238:5	63:10,15,24
96:18 130:8	165:5 183:15	commenced	64:9,15 65:5,8
137:16 192:19	243:21	67:6 176:24	65:11 66:14
closer 15:21,22	columns	comment 211:5	73:5,25 74:12
	183:11		76:7 87:4,13

[commission - conduct]

87:20 91:4	57:15,25 58:2	companies	compress 179:9
96:6 97:23	66:23 142:17	49:24 206:18	compressible
101:4,15	142:21	206:18	158:11 178:5
106:15 107:7	commissioners	company 3:1	compression
107:16,23	6:2,11 73:9,11	19:3 28:21	178:4,9 179:10
108:3 110:1,12	77:17 114:20	31:21 32:18	179:17
110:17 111:19	147:24	56:14 63:25	computer
111:22 112:5	committed	64:11 82:16,22	17:21
115:2,6,8,12	56:13	92:22 93:7	conceal 38:20
116:24 120:6	committee	95:1 133:3,11	concept 61:21
137:3 140:10	159:6 168:9	206:15 208:1,4	concern 43:11
142:11 145:15	227:17 229:9	company's	61:23 95:24
230:2,9 232:10	229:11,25	88:2 90:22	157:23 184:9
245:4 247:6	230:2,10,14	compare 225:8	concerned
248:25,25	communicate	compared	113:25 115:5
250:5	84:16,19	177:2 226:22	116:10 143:22
commission's	114:14	comparison	concerning
7:15 17:6 46:8	communicated	182:22	35:2 184:8
55:12 59:15	58:6 97:24	compatible	185:24
61:1 87:8	communicating	160:17 170:8	concerns 76:4
102:12	223:4 239:18	compel 117:7	95:1,15,17
commissioner	communication	compelling	124:17
3:12,13 5:19	59:3 95:21	60:14	conclude 115:9
6:2,5,17 7:23	113:10 149:16	complaint	209:20
29:1,15,18	156:22 159:15	77:11,18 140:3	concluded 55:2
30:1 31:1 32:1	165:11 230:5	complete 40:5	conclusion
33:1 34:1 35:1	230:16 240:9	143:25	42:22 73:24
36:1 37:1 38:1	240:11,14,17	completely	conclusions
39:1 40:1 41:1	245:1,1 246:2	74:14,19	198:22
42:1,16 43:1	247:7,9 248:3	completion	concurred 87:4
44:1 45:1 46:1	248:6,7,13	250:1	87:8
47:1 48:1 49:1	communicati	compliance	conditions
50:1 51:1 52:1	58:23 96:4	19:11,13 20:7	11:10
53:1,3,11 54:1	97:25 113:1,24	compound	conduct 21:21
55:1 56:1,15	115:4 122:17	191:15	22:22 24:23

	1	1	1
25:3 26:24	143:11	contain 154:1	continuously
33:19 36:3,3	connectivity	186:14	82:12
43:13	102:3 143:4	contained	contour 213:21
conducting	consent 56:12	10:23 11:12	213:22,25
24:13	consents 55:10	containing	214:8,12,13,17
confer 117:18	55:11	208:23 209:7	216:3
conference	conservation	contaminating	contours
250:6	1:3 2:21 5:7	172:6	213:16 214:6
confined	250:5	content 183:21	214:11 217:4
236:12 238:2	conservative	context 69:10	contractors
confirm 90:1	156:10 178:25	69:20 100:20	78:23 79:1
151:22	conservatively	100:23 167:23	contribute 64:7
confirmation	65:2 156:7	168:2 204:19	96:9 187:20
56:7 236:24,25	consideration	204:23 237:6	contributed
237:2,5 240:23	11:1 70:19	contingent	228:22
confirmed	205:24 206:1,2	44:10	contributing
211:23 240:21	considered	continually	96:20
240:22	188:8 218:16	196:21 206:13	control 14:17
confirming	consistent	continuation	14:21
230:15	116:6 125:8	5:7 116:9	conventional
confirms	157:6	continue 16:21	210:18,18
151:18 163:20	consolidated	83:18 92:8	215:25 216:13
235:25 238:12	5:11	103:3 133:16	216:14,16,25
239:21	consortium	136:19 179:21	217:11,14,23
conflict 5:20	49:23	195:21 249:5	218:14
confused 99:17	constructed	continued	conventionally
99:18 108:3,20	14:22	58:13	216:9 218:4
114:21 164:18	consult 27:9	continues 80:8	conversations
connate 189:15	consultants	82:13	58:17 71:23
connected	113:16	continuing	conversions
131:8 182:1	consulting 28:7	5:10	242:25
connecting	65:6	continuous	cooking 191:5
230:23	contact 125:22	155:18 221:16	copy 116:2
connection	189:3 204:4,6	221:20,25	core 54:5
102:4 132:2	216:4	222:9	152:22,23

153:1,3,5,8	86:14,18,19,21	229:16 232:5	cost 23:9 33:5
cores 26:8	86:22 87:1,14	232:19 235:14	54:12 94:7,14
28:12 152:12	88:4,8,9,14,25	235:15 237:9	94:16,18,22
152:15 163:19	89:16,25 91:19	237:18 238:17	104:2 133:11
corey 2:15	91:20,24 93:2	240:5,19,20	155:20 158:3,5
coring 54:9,13	93:17,22,25	241:7,15 242:1	158:6,9 178:13
56:22 94:3,8	94:9 98:12,14	242:19 243:18	179:6,7,8,15
94:13,15,17,19	98:20 99:14	244:5,6,10	costs 23:25
94:20	100:12 101:17	245:6,13	24:10 77:7
corner 180:25	101:18,22	246:10 249:16	96:9,21 177:21
193:11 213:19	103:20 104:9	249:17 250:9	couched 114:8
corp.'s 16:20	104:14,25	corrected 119:5	counsel 1:14
corporate	105:14,19,25	137:1	2:22 48:18
113:5 120:7	106:7 107:12	correction	71:22 73:4,12
corporation	108:13 120:7	164:5,5 165:19	96:7 97:23
13:13 145:13	129:12 130:14	correctly 11:13	111:9 112:5,5
corporation's	130:14 135:15	14:23 58:5	115:12
16:11	135:25 136:5	129:21 135:8	counsel's 21:12
corporations	144:14,15	236:17 237:15	counselor
38:9	147:22 149:11	242:14	132:23
correct 9:19	201:5,19,22	correlated	count 172:22
16:19 17:13	202:1,5,19,20	246:3	county 34:5
19:24 22:4	203:23 204:1	correlative	86:4,5
26:3 30:21	205:4,9 206:23	46:11 59:24	couple 52:20,21
31:17 40:1	207:1,7,8,16	61:11 245:25	53:13 84:12
46:9 60:13,17	209:25 210:2,6	corroded	97:2 105:10
62:23 68:6,10	210:7,16,19,20	191:19	132:12 171:21
68:14,15 69:16	211:21,23	corrosion	184:6,23
70:6 78:24	212:11,17,18	161:1 191:17	219:10
80:8 81:15,16	213:4,8,9,12,13	191:19	course 100:10
82:7,14,17,24	214:2,4,14,15	corrosions	court 8:4 103:8
83:5,8,15,16,19	214:20 218:6	186:23	107:7 250:15
83:20,24 84:4	219:23 221:6	corrosive	covenants
84:5 85:18,21	221:18 222:3	191:20	10:23
85:25 86:5,13	226:1 228:13		

[cover - date]

cover 54:1	103:11,16	cultural 113:16	damaged
98:23 159:2	118:2 136:18	113:17,25	191:19
160:17	142:2 152:18	114:3	damages 26:24
covered 78:1	192:7 200:1,6	cum 174:19	damaging
covers 154:21	200:14 201:1	cumulative	149:13,15
covid 169:3	202:1 203:1	177:14 196:1	157:25 198:19
crack 192:24	204:1 205:1	226:12	198:19 199:22
cracks 159:11	206:1 207:1	cure 31:15	199:24,25
created 100:3	208:1 209:1	curious 38:17	dana 2:8
188:1 192:8	210:1 211:1	current 52:1	211:14
231:14	212:1 213:1	61:8 64:16	dangerous
creates 184:13	214:1 215:1	77:7 80:12	189:20
creating 61:10	216:1 217:1	82:25 109:16	dashed 176:14
creation 230:3	218:1 219:1	149:5 166:13	data 28:8 31:23
creatures 188:1	220:1 221:1	167:14 175:12	47:16,17,20
credentials	222:1 223:1	193:22 199:25	57:6,8 98:24
118:21	224:1 225:1	currently 36:17	99:5,7,7
crest 53:23	226:1 227:1	170:15 199:1	110:24 122:18
critically	228:1 229:1	curtis 25:15	129:17,22
119:16	230:1 231:1	28:20,20	130:22 163:25
cross 8:1,15,16	232:1 233:1	cut 217:5	164:20 193:2
9:1 10:1 11:1	234:1 235:1	cv 201:18	205:23 206:9
12:1 13:1 14:1	236:1 237:1	cwehmeyer	206:10,11,13
15:1 16:1 17:1	238:1 239:1	2:14	206:15 215:21
18:1 19:1 20:1	240:1 241:1	d	223:13 244:9
21:1 22:1 23:1	242:1 243:1	d 14:19 16:9,21	database 47:20
24:1 25:1 26:1	244:1 245:1	16:22 250:3,19	date 20:13
27:1 28:1	246:1 247:1	daily 43:24	23:19,20,22
29:10 59:1,12	248:1,24 249:1	dakota 202:23	24:5,9 27:1,4
60:1 61:1 62:1	250:1	damage 36:13	32:25 47:13
63:1 64:1 65:1	crossing 81:12	161:7 185:7	61:13 92:1
67:6,8 73:13	crow 216:23	188:22,25	93:15 113:13
74:9,18 75:2	crucial 179:20	191:9,12,13	130:7 191:24
78:4,15 80:18	ctb 198:15	191:9,12,13	194:21,22
81:5 87:24		196:22	218:15

[davis - determined]

davis 27:10	deemed 103:18	delineation	deposition
dawson 44:20	deep 188:8	56:7	79:11 80:15,20
60:10 173:2	193:3	demanding	81:3 236:10,16
day 15:6 29:5	deeper 104:20	105:6	deposits 161:22
43:22 44:3,9	154:4 205:14	demonstrate	depth 164:7
44:18,23 45:19	205:18 209:21	227:20	242:23 244:13
53:13 105:10	defer 48:18	demonstrating	246:1
170:6 175:12	50:8 80:9	234:11	depths 245:25
176:2 191:8	93:23 94:5	demonstration	descent 170:13
197:4,6,13	109:7	222:25	described
202:9,9 249:9	define 42:25	denied 41:25	190:19
250:4	92:2 210:24	42:7 60:6 63:9	description 4:2
days 52:15	218:20 248:14	denver 31:21	123:6 124:15
197:7,12,13	defined 101:7	129:15,24	designing
de 43:5 110:11	218:21	department	203:13,16
111:15,22	definitely 58:22	2:23 35:17,17	desirable 14:17
112:1,3	158:8 159:24	depend 218:19	destroy 46:17
deal 49:17	160:17	depending	60:23 92:8
death 137:12	definition 17:7	45:18 168:1	deterioration
december	definitive 47:10	187:6	211:6
80:17 113:15	degree 58:7	depends 204:14	determination
113:25 130:7	118:9	depict 220:9	25:12 51:10
130:19,21,25	delaware 83:8	depicted 176:4	54:2 92:7
133:10	83:24 84:1	194:2,3 196:17	237:4 247:5
decide 44:1	160:15 170:11	245:20	determinations
147:15	181:14 188:9	depicting	209:13
decided 67:5	delay 5:21	246:24	determinative
106:4	111:10	depiction	247:7
deciphering	deliberation	213:11	determine
215:5	62:20 65:14	depicts 193:24	33:11 57:2
decision 45:25	deliberations	depletion	61:14 63:10
57:6 61:7	61:20	160:24,24	93:15 224:8
162:8	delineate 92:3	165:4,22	247:12 248:2
decline 45:25	92:13,19 93:8	deposed 79:3	determined
177:3			76:19 106:9

[determined - discussion]

	1	1	1
245:3,10 248:1	186:17 188:11	159:1 160:1	disclosure
determines	188:17,20	161:1 162:1	51:14 75:20
51:23 62:15	198:23 204:23	163:1 164:1	discontinue
detrimental	211:12 212:13	165:1 166:1	106:5
24:19 105:4	218:24 244:11	167:1 168:1	discourse 78:18
106:11	248:10	169:1 170:1	discover 86:4
development	difficult 32:3	171:1 172:1	discovered
26:6 91:22	70:18 172:11	173:1 174:1	45:19 70:21
92:14	diligence 19:4	175:1 176:1	82:20 118:21
devonian 34:9	31:19 33:10	177:1 178:1	discovering
34:15,15,17,19	41:20 55:14,20	179:1 180:1	82:23
34:24 40:2	122:20 127:23	181:1 182:1	discovery
dewater 175:18	128:8,23 129:5	183:1 184:1	51:10 110:15
dhardy 2:7	129:14,18	185:1 186:1	110:20 116:7
dialogue 100:1	130:2,9 131:2	187:1 188:1	116:19 117:16
diamonds	131:7,9,21,22	189:1 190:1	117:20 134:9
166:13 180:25	132:7,21 133:1	191:1 192:1	discuss 5:17
difference	133:5,17,19,23	193:1 194:1	74:12 117:19
171:24 179:3	134:4,10,12	195:1 196:1	163:24 222:24
184:1	dilution 160:24	197:1 198:1,2	223:10 229:11
differences	dioxide 203:14	199:1 201:18	discussed 69:12
165:1	dip 157:9	234:5,22	83:2 95:14
different 17:17	192:20,22	241:10	97:7 228:10
20:19,20 30:9	193:15,16	directly 97:25	discussing
33:10 49:12	direct 17:18	99:9 171:3	74:25 220:20
54:9,9 74:13	20:18 33:12	disagree	232:24
74:13,24 104:6	74:17 118:8	101:10 108:24	discussion
126:3 150:21	145:1,3,22	117:17 129:13	35:15 41:16,24
157:22 160:8	146:1 147:1,19	disclaimer 99:9	65:12 66:9
160:10 161:2	147:25 148:1	disclose 40:22	70:15 71:17
162:11 163:9	149:1 150:1	76:6 106:20	76:17,20 85:9
164:24 165:3	151:1 152:1	disclosed 31:25	85:13 96:2,5
165:23 166:19	153:1 154:1	39:16 63:8	96:18,20 97:14
170:9 174:1	155:1 156:1	75:21	100:11 112:20
183:2 186:12	157:1 158:1		114:11 115:23

220:12,17	disposals 15:5	86:25 87:10,14	228:24 230:9
discussions	15:10,11	87:20 95:18,24	231:8,13,18
56:25 58:18	dispose 11:4	101:17 110:2	232:6,20
71:25 97:5,23	15:1 40:19	110:11	234:10,13
98:2,7,8	76:8 106:23	division's 95:15	235:2
dismissal 112:2	175:25	doctor 53:8	documenting
dismissed	disposed 44:19	139:6 161:23	159:14 232:18
111:14	disposing 17:11	document	documents
disposal 10:4,7	104:24 245:6	10:13 13:8	18:25 49:20
10:20,25 11:8	245:21 246:11	18:1 50:21	110:24 130:17
11:21 12:1	246:23	59:21 99:14,15	131:4,8 133:22
13:1 14:21	disposition	111:11 112:5	133:24 134:21
15:5 25:18	14:18 250:15	120:25 127:12	135:1,21
28:24 31:16	dispute 87:16	127:21 128:7,9	205:12,17,22
32:1 37:14	88:1	129:4 137:2	207:9,11
39:11 40:11	disputes 93:5	164:6,10 205:9	208:10 210:4
41:8 49:25	dissolve 183:16	205:10 206:21	233:21,21
50:13 60:5,9	185:9	207:14 209:5	234:8
61:8 76:3	distance 66:10	209:13,19	doing 19:3
78:17 83:13,15	66:15,17	212:24 228:16	25:10,22 31:22
84:3,8 85:12	distinction	230:21 236:7	41:20 54:8
85:17 86:2,7	103:17 121:20	237:10,16	57:11 58:10
87:17 104:5	distinctly 96:24	238:20,25	73:18 130:8
105:22 128:11	distributed	documentation	131:2 132:6
128:25 149:8	198:17	48:21,24 49:10	158:21 163:5
149:17 159:19	divestiture	57:13 222:17	175:17 197:1
167:19 168:2	37:7,10	222:18 227:14	dollars 155:5
169:2 172:14	divide 242:23	232:24 233:4	dominant 39:7
176:3,15,16	243:14	235:21	don 3:7
195:6 245:5,7	division 2:21	documentatio	door 142:8
245:11,18	5:7 42:4 51:7	48:11	dot 224:25
246:4,10,21	51:17,20 54:17	documented	225:1
247:14 248:5	63:6,8 73:13	157:22 199:18	dots 167:17
248:12,15	75:22 76:7	222:21 223:3	230:23
	84:9 85:3	227:9,21,25	

[double - elk]

double 68:24	124:6,8	134:4,10,12	edge 189:12
210:15,15	drilled 26:15	duly 145:2	231:9,11,14
doubt 99:22	26:25 34:7,8	dump 31:22	232:10,18,25
dozens 109:4	34:11 35:21	dumped 122:20	233:6 234:11
dr 1:12 3:14	36:1,25 37:17	duties 79:23	234:13 235:4
5:19 6:11	38:7,13 39:23	202:7	education
29:14 47:18	40:1,6 47:10	duty 58:20	145:21
61:24 66:1,1,4	65:1 70:6	107:6 179:18	effect 178:20
70:13 71:4	78:22 105:22	е	228:15 232:18
78:16 83:3	drilling 34:22	e 15:7 167:17	235:3
85:10,13 88:11	38:6,8 41:1,9	168:22	effective 23:19
91:8 93:12	56:21 64:7	e&a 18:3	23:20,22
95:20,25 99:25	66:12 93:21	earlier 29:22	effectively
100:11 139:1	94:13,18,22	71:14 75:18	198:9,10
141:2 142:16	96:10 123:22	76:13,15 77:10	effects 58:11
162:25 163:17	123:22 236:12	130:8 134:13	233:6
189:9 210:14	drive 1:5 2:23	136:17 232:24	effort 14:17
211:4 217:17	158:6,8 232:11	242:20	93:4 133:23
222:14 228:22	232:18,25	early 113:18,22	efforts 92:2,18
229:22 231:21	234:11,13	116:25 181:6	eight 47:24
232:9	235:4	235:3 249:21	65:2 190:17
draw 175:6,13	drives 158:4	easiest 242:21	216:23,24
248:22	driving 9:19	easily 243:4,5	either 23:15
drawdown	drop 239:25	east 152:14	80:25 81:17,20
175:2	dry 175:25	153:20,24	83:13 93:8
dress 7:18	due 19:4 31:19	167:17,20	126:17 142:22
drew 175:15,22	33:9 41:20	193:12 211:6	208:10 235:10
drill 26:18	55:14,20	eastern 45:12	238:4
27:14 34:15	122:19 127:23	easy 174:19	el 95:22
38:19 39:14,17	128:8,23 129:4	179:11 187:23	elect 67:14
40:5 42:3 47:8	129:14,18	economic 63:25	elected 41:4
48:8 51:12	130:2,8 131:2	64:10 154:19	elicited 72:17
52:5,22 55:23	131:7,9,21,22	155:10 178:23	elk 31:21 32:20
56:5 62:24	132:6,21 133:1	220:12,21	32:21 129:15
64:25 123:8	133:5,16,19,23	221:5 222:10	129:24 130:1

[elk - emsu]

		1	
131:1,8 132:22	57:1 59:23	208:25 209:8	34:6 35:14
133:2,4,5	64:6,16 66:9	218:24 219:15	36:9 37:8
134:14	66:11,12 73:20	220:2 247:22	48:10,24 49:11
email 41:18	76:14,18,22	empire's 28:3	49:14,15 52:10
84:20 113:5	79:6 80:8 81:2	39:13 45:22	53:16 54:2,4
emails 19:7	82:4,5,23,25	46:19 47:1	54:16 59:24
84:17	85:11 88:3,23	58:24 60:2	66:18 69:18
eme 11:20,21	88:23 91:3,6	70:23 71:9	70:4 78:18
15:2,14 16:9	91:18 92:12,15	75:12,20 78:16	79:9,9,24 80:7
16:24 17:8	92:17 93:12,14	82:9 87:25	81:14 84:8
103:19,22	93:19 95:3,10	90:2,24 91:17	88:13 90:12,14
104:12,23	95:16,24 96:4	96:11,12 98:22	90:17 91:23
168:7	96:9,20 97:15	105:2,13 108:6	95:2,8 96:22
emnrd.nm.gov	98:1,5,19	108:20,24	100:3 104:13
2:24	103:25 104:7	109:5 112:24	104:24 105:18
empire 2:2 5:12	105:19 106:4	113:5 135:4,13	106:7 123:8,8
6:17 8:24 9:9	109:16 113:2	135:22 139:14	124:5,5 127:16
11:2,6,16,25	113:24 114:14	140:17 141:9	128:11 129:1
12:10 13:4,16	115:19 119:20	141:13 162:24	149:4,4,10,12
13:22,23 18:17	120:1,1,14,18	202:18 234:19	151:14 152:8,9
19:15 20:14,21	121:8,9 122:12	employed	152:9 154:21
21:21 22:21	127:22 128:22	145:10 250:12	166:11 168:21
24:6,12,22	129:3,13,23	employee	169:9,19
25:6 26:1,2	131:1,8,15,21	114:17	171:12,14
27:24 28:23	132:6,21	employees	172:14 176:19
29:22 30:22,25	133:23 134:5,7	32:19 78:23	181:3,25,25
31:2,6,10,18	139:21 141:2	79:2,4,5,8	183:2 185:20
32:12,17,24	141:15 143:21	80:11	186:23 196:12
33:6,11,18,25	144:13 145:13	ems 30:24	196:17 197:20
35:9,13 41:15	145:22 148:1	emsu 9:11,22	197:21 198:10
41:18 43:11	169:5,25	11:22 12:2,2	198:11,14,24
44:24 47:4	170:18 201:21	17:6 24:18	199:16,16
49:15,17 52:8	202:3,25	25:10,23 26:5	200:2 206:22
52:11,16,21	203:22 204:12	29:24 30:4,6	210:13,18,22
53:20 54:5,16	207:25 208:24	31:7,11 33:20	216:19,25

	I	I	1
217:15 218:8,9	69:20 80:20	establish 56:12	evaluating
225:8,9 230:4	87:9 133:10	74:10 107:3	95:11 203:4
231:14,24	198:18 214:16	126:14 240:8	evaluation 97:9
232:1,19	entirely 216:12	established	155:10 248:1
emsu's 198:15	entity 123:1	74:15 107:25	everybody
encroaching	entry 47:19	165:5 222:17	249:12,18
231:24 234:14	environment	establishes	everybody's
energy 2:22	189:23	107:11	7:5 249:12
31:21 72:8,9,9	envy 137:4	establishing	evidence 12:20
98:24 99:5	eor 54:16 56:13	48:21 153:25	13:21 14:12
129:15	150:14,15	164:20 165:7	43:3 47:12
engaged 20:1	205:4	estate 39:7	48:17 51:21
31:21 32:20	equipment	estimate 20:10	52:25 58:15
129:23,24	158:4 178:8	34:10 94:7,21	60:13,15 63:21
130:2	179:12,14,18	156:11	65:9 72:19
engineer 45:8	186:7	estimated 18:2	80:20 86:25
91:15,16	equivalate	141:4 156:5	93:14 148:18
126:13 133:15	151:10	estimating 23:9	164:12 233:10
146:7 206:12	ernest 2:11	eumont 10:20	233:22 234:16
engineering	erroneously	10:25 11:8,20	234:20
129:16 145:18	30:12 50:24	12:25	evidentiary 5:9
146:2,23,25	71:6,11 135:23	eunice 10:4,19	evolved 62:13
147:12 200:24	escalate 156:6	10:24 11:7,20	exact 27:4
201:3,4,6,25	escalation	12:25 21:23	141:11 172:21
202:15 206:14	155:15 156:8	37:25 41:1,10	191:24 207:23
engineers 46:1	156:17	41:10 42:6	229:3 231:21
47:15 97:15	especially	49:1 51:15	exactly 58:18
202:11	116:18 201:7	75:25,25 213:7	88:17 173:9
enhanced	esq 1:14 2:5,8	236:9	210:24 212:2
155:10 203:1,2	2:11,15,20,25	evaluate 61:14	exam 118:24
enter 32:9	3:4,8	92:12 95:17	examination
entered 76:23	essence 196:3	160:18,21	3:12,12,13,13
122:22	essentially	248:4,11	3:14,14,15,15
entire 16:22	108:6	evaluated 95:3	3:16,16,19,19
37:22 54:4		228:25 230:2	8:1,15,16 9:1

[examination - excluded]

10:1 11:1 12:1	100:1 101:1	169:1 170:1	238:1 239:1
13:1 14:1 15:1	102:1 103:1,16	171:1 172:1	240:1 241:1
16:1 17:1 18:1	104:1 105:1	173:1 174:1	242:1 243:1
19:1 20:1 21:1	106:1 107:1	175:1 176:1	244:1 245:1
22:1 23:1 24:1	108:1 109:1	177:1 178:1	246:1 247:1
25:1 26:1 27:1	110:1 111:1	179:1 180:1,17	248:1,24 249:1
28:1 29:1,10	112:1,17 113:1	181:1 182:1	250:1
29:17 30:1	114:1 115:1	183:1 184:1	examine 73:13
31:1 32:1 33:1	116:1 117:1	185:1 186:1	81:5
34:1 35:1 36:1	118:1,2,6	187:1 188:1	examined 78:4
37:1 38:1 39:1	119:1 120:1	189:1 190:1	examiner 74:6
40:1 41:1 42:1	121:1 122:1	191:1 192:1	117:13 118:5
43:1 44:1 45:1	123:1 124:1	193:1 194:1	141:24 142:4
46:1 47:1 48:1	125:1 126:1	195:1 196:1	144:16 180:19
49:1 50:1 51:1	127:1 128:1	197:1 198:1	examining
52:1 53:1,10	129:1 130:1	199:1 200:1,6	103:11
54:1 55:1 56:1	131:1 132:1	200:14 201:1	example 37:13
57:1,21 58:1	133:1 134:1	202:1 203:1	45:12 51:25
59:1,12 60:1	135:1 136:1,18	204:1 205:1	55:18 88:10
61:1 62:1 63:1	137:1 138:1	206:1 207:1	95:5
64:1 65:1 66:1	139:1 140:1	208:1 209:1	excellent 6:7,13
66:3 67:1,6,8	141:1 142:1,2	210:1 211:1	6:24
67:13,21 68:1	143:1 144:1	212:1 213:1	exception
69:1 70:1 71:1	145:1,3 146:1	214:1 215:1	167:16
72:1 73:1 74:1	147:1 148:1	216:1 217:1	excess 44:3
75:1,2 76:1	149:1 150:1	218:1 219:1	108:22
77:1 78:1,12	151:1 152:1	220:1 221:1	excessive 158:2
78:15 79:1	153:1 154:1	222:1 223:1	224:10,12
80:1 81:1 82:1	155:1 156:1	224:1 225:1	225:14 227:1
83:1 84:1 85:1	157:1 158:1	226:1 227:1	exchange 10:22
86:1 87:1,24	159:1 160:1	228:1 229:1	exclude 74:2
88:1 89:1 90:1	161:1 162:1	230:1 231:1	75:15
91:1 92:1 93:1	163:1 164:1	232:1 233:1	excluded 21:4
94:1 95:1 96:1	165:1 166:1	234:1,6 235:1	237:17
97:1 98:1 99:1	167:1 168:1	236:1 237:1	

excuse 89:4	201:19 205:1	expected	109:5 206:5
121:9 128:25	220:6 222:12	158:17	233:24
129:23 135:23	222:13 230:22	expend 25:13	explain 159:4
141:19	231:21 232:6	expenditures	227:13
excused 143:20	234:5,8 237:18	37:12	explainable
execute 39:10	241:3,9,17	expenses	163:14
executed 11:15	242:11 244:4	186:12	explained
18:24,25 21:2	exhibits 4:1,5,6	expensive	125:19
25:18	147:19 148:1,1	34:10 186:8	explanation
execution	148:17,17	experience 62:4	158:18 237:8
23:11 29:24	162:25 163:2	145:21 202:25	239:1,2,9
executive 25:11	229:16 244:15	203:4,7,10,13	explicitly 32:15
executives	244:21 246:14	203:16 237:12	extending
97:15	exist 192:12	experienced	215:22
exhibit 4:2,3,4	existed 61:22	236:11	extensive 47:5
10:11,12 12:6	existence 43:12	experiencing	extent 20:2
12:8,9,20,22	47:3 68:17	162:21	95:23 109:3,10
13:20 14:1,12	78:17 149:25	experiment	196:19
14:19 16:7,9,9	existing 36:21	191:22	extra 157:21
16:21,22 18:2	42:17 44:2	experiments	158:3 163:9
80:18 98:23	47:1 48:9	57:2	164:18 179:13
99:4 145:23	51:24 53:24	expert 8:8 28:7	extraterritorial
148:2,25	60:5,8 61:15	45:8 46:25	75:14
149:22 152:6	75:19 106:19	49:4 50:8	exxon 68:12
153:15 154:17	123:7 124:5	64:13 117:5	206:3 209:23
156:19 159:4	150:14 157:16	146:2,22	209:24
161:8 162:24	198:2 200:1	147:11 200:24	exxon's 45:9
162:24 164:2	exists 48:24	201:2,13	209:10
165:17 166:8	53:1 151:18	231:20 232:2	exxonmobil
167:12 178:18	expanded	expertise 74:10	31:23 37:7,11
180:22 189:8	146:25 147:15	88:6 91:16	68:5,13,17
190:13 192:5	expect 67:8	145:17	79:16 84:11
193:19 195:2	81:7 116:14	experts 27:23	98:20 99:7,12
195:17 196:6	165:2	65:6 88:3	99:16,21,23
196:14,25		108:21,24	120:3,8 121:20

[exxonmobil - find]

121:22,23	failed 76:6	155:6 194:3	fields 89:21
122:4,10,14,18	101:20 106:20	fee 194:1	90:11
122:18,21	fair 106:23	feed 189:12	fight 105:11
126:25 128:9	246:20	feel 7:19 139:7	figure 65:18
128:21 129:17	fairly 96:18	feet 34:17,21	214:22 237:9
131:20 132:6	115:5 179:11	102:17 125:2,8	237:25 238:3,7
149:25 207:10	179:12 184:1,4	125:14,17,21	238:12,24
eyes 213:23	fairness 142:9	125:23,23	247:3
f	faith 86:25	126:2,3,7,11,11	figures 54:12
f 2:15	fall 123:14	126:19 127:2,6	file 19:1,1 27:2
fabulous 52:14	falling 47:23	127:11,15	31:22 143:24
face 58:17,17	falls 120:25	150:11 152:24	filed 26:22
facilities 34:11	false 9:17 120:9	165:21 209:15	75:22 77:18,19
198:13	familiar 80:3	209:21 214:8	85:5 91:3
facility 9:22,23	92:24	219:10 222:2	101:16 105:14
10:1 40:11	familiarize	232:1,9 243:20	107:17 112:1
44:10	208:1,8	244:13	140:3 149:7
fact 19:23	fancy 187:24	felt 206:16	234:23
46:12 50:23	fane 2:3	field 9:13,15	files 19:7
61:18 62:12	far 27:24 28:3	19:21 37:24,25	122:20
64:16 65:3,4,6	56:9 143:21	38:2,16 79:10	filing 77:11
75:5 79:7 83:3	167:16 170:24	79:12,15 80:11	filings 91:3
90:9 92:25	192:10 227:19	152:11,17	filled 177:10
99:3 109:2	237:21	153:22 158:5	filling 176:17
228:10 235:25	farther 161:4	163:12,22	fills 156:2
239:13,20	211:6	167:23 168:3	final 250:14
factor 45:22	fe 1:5 2:4,7,10	173:25 190:16	financial 104:7
89:19,20 90:14	2:18,24 3:7	202:10 203:21	104:8
155:1	february 27:7,8	204:4,7 208:7	find 9:7 27:10
facts 40:22	27:12 28:14,17	213:8,12	50:18 59:1
140:6,9,12	28:18 29:2	214:16 215:16	83:14 115:9
233:10,22	113:18,22	215:21,23	116:15 131:7
factual 73:22	181:6	216:1,6,6,12	200:10 206:13
74:4,5,9	federal 120:11	218:2 220:8	236:4
/,5,7	121:5,11,13	227:20 236:10	

[finding - forming]

finding 63:21	flat 175:14	226:15	forma 143:18
161:21 228:6	flies 216:23	fly 248:19	formal 117:10
236:14 240:16	flip 52:7 223:11	flying 9:17	formally 97:16
240:19	227:12	focus 95:8	formation
fine 6:17,19	flood 25:1	112:19	39:12 42:4
16:17 22:14	172:2 179:5	focused 19:8	50:14 71:2
27:12 102:19	189:16 195:8	fold 183:22	101:21 107:22
174:13 180:4	203:14,17	folded 151:4	126:16 184:17
249:9	flooded 196:11	folds 189:10	185:2 187:10
finish 46:4,18	196:20,23	folks 7:18	188:5,22,24
finished 66:7	flooding 157:24	84:17,19,25	212:5,16 223:1
fire 102:17	157:25 160:5	203:21,21	223:5 227:11
fired 81:15	172:5 195:24	204:4,7 249:20	227:15 228:1
firm 2:9 19:6	floods 45:19	follow 58:1	228:18 231:7
20:2 129:15,23	floor 1:4	following 23:11	232:8,21
129:24 133:6	flow 155:2	31:5	237:14 238:22
first 3:3 12:23	189:6 192:22	follows 145:2	239:4,7,15,17
15:4 17:15	fluid 57:3	foot 34:22	239:21 240:23
23:1 27:13	149:16 159:22	125:24 164:22	242:5,13
34:8 39:3,15	160:17 161:15	213:25 214:8,9	formations
40:2 46:21,21	165:7 167:2	214:12 221:16	49:8 162:18
51:18 52:6	170:8 172:6,9	221:19 222:8	188:16 236:13
61:12 69:21	178:5 181:10	force 231:23	239:11 245:23
70:1 72:25	182:1 183:20	forceful 231:25	formed 50:7,11
97:10 99:20	184:16 185:22	foregoing	61:5,18 168:8
113:17 123:4,7	187:7 188:12	10:24 250:9	174:2 188:24
124:4 145:2	191:20 197:24	foreman 9:13	192:3 196:10
168:6,20,25	198:16 199:14	forever 162:2	240:6,6
193:21 222:15	226:10	184:12 185:1	former 10:17
231:20	fluids 159:21	191:2	forming 162:22
five 32:18	160:25 161:3	forgot 66:6	184:25 185:12
43:22 149:6	182:22 183:5	form 151:5	191:2 235:23
194:8 195:11	187:23 188:2	162:12 165:16	239:19,23
195:20,22	188:10,13	185:3,16 219:2	240:3
197:3,8 216:22	224:17,24	240:1	

[forth - go]

	1	1	T
forth 11:12	fractures 65:7	further 26:5	geology 35:17
33:13 48:20	157:11 163:16	53:4 54:1	202:15
245:23 247:16	163:19 198:2	66:23 92:2,13	gerasimos 1:11
250:8	239:4,6,11	93:8 112:11	getting 22:18
forward 95:3	240:9	200:4 215:22	52:18 73:22
97:5	fracturing 62:1	250:7,12	92:23 116:11
forwarded	163:10	future 20:13	125:1,12
37:10	frame 193:15	115:7	132:11 163:15
found 24:6	framework	g	181:18 182:13
82:6 131:4	114:9	g 16:14	185:11 186:15
140:9 191:19	francis 1:5 2:23	game 117:1	187:6 197:7
foundation	fraudulent	games 116:20	198:7 199:12
74:1,9 131:24	106:16,17	ganes 110.20 gas 38:5 39:4	239:5 247:20
140:23,25	fraudulently	41:10 49:24	gist 199:21
founding 13:12	62:22 101:16	52:3 62:7 76:1	give 26:19 27:3
four 34:7 36:16	free 7:19	83:19 121:3	52:11 54:2
38:13 39:19	frequently	150:14 155:24	55:24 57:5
40:11 43:19	204:6	155:25 156:3,4	59:21,25 61:14
51:24 53:22	fresh 248:23	158:11 203:17	67:7 137:15
55:23 60:4,6,8	fringe 172:20	206:18	172:21 193:14
106:19 109:15	front 17:21	gaspar 3:7	243:14 247:21
109:15 149:5	28:15 36:15	gather 186:7	given 20:24
172:19,23	44:17 124:3	gathering	58:8 67:5
173:7 176:25	212:19	84:13	gives 72:18
181:1,2,3	full 116:23	general 2:22	giving 128:9
182:5 193:22	126:15 132:25	186:17	glitching 5:23
195:20 216:21	145:8 225:17	generate 83:18	go 8:5,12 9:14
216:22	fully 33:25 35:9	geologic 192:9	14:14 16:6
fourth 50:16	117:21	geological	17:3 19:5
frack 185:22	fund 133:3,10	84:10 129:16	23:16 24:25
188:9	furnish 43:10	geologist 45:8	26:18,24 32:8
fracks 187:8,8	52:2 86:8	126:12 210:24	32:10,16,20
fracture 61:24	furnished		35:4 36:18
163:20 190:10	48:11,14 111:8	geologists 47:15 133:16	38:17 40:5,17
	130:18		45:5 59:20
		202:11	

63:6 64:24	32:5 33:1,14	192:21 193:13	63:12,18 64:6
65:23 67:4	35:4,7,14 36:8	193:15,21,23	66:9 72:4
78:1 81:8	36:9,10,18	198:4 200:16	73:13,18 75:22
103:5 109:24	38:10,18,21	201:15 204:14	80:17 83:4
113:16 123:24	43:13 45:7,22	204:22 220:5	84:7 85:4,16
125:21 129:6	48:19 51:24	220:11,13,15	85:24 86:2,12
130:16 133:6,7	52:10 59:10,14	227:8 229:22	86:24 87:16
137:6 148:20	60:20,21 61:6	234:12 239:25	93:2,5 96:4,11
161:11 171:13	67:7 69:10	241:2 242:22	96:21 97:17,20
177:10 179:22	72:25 73:7	245:22 247:16	97:25 101:16
180:12,17	75:15 78:10	249:18	106:18 108:12
183:7,10,11,19	79:10 88:18,19	good 5:1 6:10	110:5,15,19
185:7 186:8,13	92:7 95:3	6:16 8:18 11:1	127:14 130:18
191:6 196:7	96:14,25 102:4	29:19,20 53:12	146:4 148:6
199:20 211:5	106:16 108:3	59:14 86:25	149:6 157:16
214:1 215:14	109:21 115:1	103:5 154:13	166:14 167:13
223:14 228:3	116:5,8 117:1	159:10,14	168:19 171:17
236:3 237:7	120:17,18	163:21 167:14	172:17 173:14
243:1,10	121:9 127:4	168:5 175:22	181:1 182:24
goat 189:13	128:12 132:1	175:24 180:11	185:19 188:3
231:24 232:11	136:14 137:11	181:12 184:25	190:15 193:6
232:19 233:7	143:24 144:20	185:2,12	213:3 241:3
234:13 235:3	145:5 147:5	186:20 206:20	244:13 245:6
goes 34:5	156:9 159:20	213:23 249:3,5	246:4,24
125:24 129:10	160:5 161:18	goodnight 2:16	goodnight's
152:18 154:3	165:8 166:20	5:11 9:25	19:14 36:2,3
157:23 160:24	167:4,25	12:12 14:4	44:1 61:13
160:25 181:23	170:25 172:2	19:5 30:11	62:17 63:25
215:16 216:11	175:3,4,6	35:22,24 36:9	64:10 75:18
237:11	176:9,12	36:13,17 39:14	76:5 83:11,13
going 7:3 11:19	177:25 178:24	39:23 41:4,19	85:11 87:2
15:20 18:22	181:2 182:25	42:18 43:13	92:7 95:2
22:12 24:11	184:18,19	44:5 52:2,5	108:8 131:5
25:13 26:1	185:4,7,18	53:19,22 58:10	151:21 183:9
29:23 30:23	186:11,13	61:9 62:16	199:1,22

234:22 244:19	160:13 161:16	green 152:10	hands 38:16
244:22 245:10	161:20 162:21	174:21,25	hanger 190:23
245:12,18,21	163:15,23	194:3 214:23	hanson 3:2
246:10 247:13	164:24 166:1,6	gross 194:14	happen 161:2
248:5,12,14	166:22 167:4	ground 78:10	190:6
gotten 221:2	168:16 170:7	129:7	happened 25:4
government	172:5 175:20	group 37:10	38:23 134:1
63:12 155:6	181:11,19	grow 195:6,7	141:12 176:6
government's	182:6,8,11,17	195:21	217:20
62:18	189:15,24	guadalupe 2:18	happening
gradient	190:3 192:13	guess 56:24	169:4 174:4
164:22 166:19	192:25 197:25	116:23 119:25	235:25
242:13,18	198:20 199:8	143:2 226:4	happens 162:9
243:13,15,20	200:1 212:1	235:9 242:3	happy 116:1,17
243:22,25	222:9,19,23	247:23,24	117:19
grant 33:25	223:1,5,18	248:20,21,23	hard 101:24
35:9 115:8,8	227:11,15	guidance 21:12	182:19 187:8
granted 63:11	228:1,17	gulf 13:6,13	215:3 222:16
195:19	229:13 230:6	16:10,20	hardy 2:8 3:19
granting 59:22	230:12,17	168:18	6:15,16 144:1
grants 45:3	231:8,16,23	guys 5:24 56:8	144:15,18,19
graph 159:5	235:22 236:13	56:12 75:9	145:1,4,25
172:10 176:23	238:6,14 239:5	190:16	146:1,19 147:1
187:2 196:1	239:14 240:10	h	147:2,13,17,18
graphical	240:12,15	h2o 187:16	147:24 148:1
165:16	245:2 246:3	half 28:4 40:9	148:19 149:1
gravity 151:10	247:10 248:6,8	43:20 155:5	150:1 151:1
grayburg 57:4	248:13	218:23	152:1 153:1
62:3 65:7	great 8:2 9:9,16	hall 1:4 5:3	154:1 155:1
149:15 150:24	117:23 198:24	hand 6:9	156:1 157:1
151:1,5 156:23	200:21	144:24 180:25	158:1 159:1
157:2,13,18,25	greater 45:20	193:11 213:19	160:1 161:1
158:1,16	greatly 177:20	handle 179:18	162:1 163:1
159:13,16,21	179:6	handled 38:1	164:1 165:1
159:25 160:6,9			166:1 167:1

168:1 169:1	73:21 75:4	head 172:22	52:15 53:7
170:1 171:1	77:23 80:19	221:3 228:21	57:17 59:10,17
172:1 173:1	81:6 89:8,14	229:4 235:9	61:11,12 65:21
174:1 175:1	89:22 90:6,18	242:25 245:14	66:25 67:3,19
176:1 177:1	96:17,23 102:9	header 207:22	70:17 72:14,24
178:1 179:1,23	102:16,21,24	headers 183:7	73:6,15,21
180:1,1,3,9,10	103:4,7 112:7	heads 117:4	75:4 77:23
180:19,20	112:13 115:14	healthy 186:18	78:9 80:14,19
181:1 182:1	115:19 117:3	hear 5:2,4	81:6 89:8,14
183:1 184:1	117:22 127:7	22:16 51:17	89:22 90:6,18
185:1 186:1	128:4,17 129:9	87:5 125:6	96:17,23 100:5
187:1 188:1	130:13 131:25	128:18 131:11	102:6,9,16,17
189:1 190:1	132:15 137:14	136:9,12,24	102:21,24
191:1 192:1	139:18,25	137:19 138:4	103:2,4,7
193:1 194:1	140:22 141:25	138:17 143:5	108:16 109:21
195:1 196:1	142:5,18,23	147:10 225:21	109:24 110:7
197:1 198:1	143:8,12,17	heard 1:10 5:24	111:18 112:2,7
199:1 200:4,11	144:2,8,11,17	9:16 28:6	112:10,13
200:18 211:15	144:20,23	45:21 50:9	114:20 115:1,8
219:2 227:3	146:3,9,13,15	52:15 88:15,16	115:14,17,19
230:18 232:3	146:17,24	91:6 114:7,22	116:11,18,25
233:9,16,19	147:9,14 148:5	141:20 201:12	117:3,11,19,22
234:7	148:8,11,13,15	210:12 221:7	118:4 127:7
hart 2:17	179:23 180:2,5	242:12	128:4,17 129:9
harwood 1:10	180:8,11,14	hearing 1:1,10	130:13 131:25
7:9,14 8:1,12	200:7,12 219:7	5:8,9 7:7,8,9,14	132:15 135:7
12:10,12,14,16	227:5 230:20	8:1,12 9:4 12:7	135:16 136:2
12:18 13:22	233:13,17	12:10,12,14,16	136:10,12,21
14:4,6,8,10	234:1,4,15,24	12:18 13:19,22	137:14,20
15:19,23 29:8	241:5,8 247:15	14:4,6,8,10	138:5,11 139:3
29:12 42:10,15	249:8,11,19	15:19,23,24	139:11,18,25
53:7 57:17	hate 142:7	22:12 28:15	140:22 141:24
59:10 65:21	haul 162:1	29:5,8,12	141:25 142:5
66:25 67:3,19	he'll 57:8	42:10,15 47:4	142:18,23
72:24 73:6,15	146:17 212:12	49:7 51:9	143:4,8,12,17

144:2,8,11,17	108:8,12 182:2	157:21 168:2	humped 210:15
144:20,23	184:17 185:6	170:3 171:12	hundred
146:3,5,9,12,13	186:14,15	173:24 174:18	105:10
146:15,17,24	215:25 223:19	199:7 208:9	hundreds 15:6
147:9,14 148:5	223:21,25	223:12 235:2	47:25
148:8,10,11,13	224:4,14 226:3	historically	hundredths
148:15 169:7	226:5 227:17	45:11 170:6	184:21
179:23 180:2,5	higher 44:4	174:2 175:19	hydrocarbons
180:8,11,14	157:1,4 167:3	189:11 222:22	21:23 24:14
200:7,12 219:7	179:13,18	229:1 233:5	33:20 88:13,20
222:15 227:5	181:9 182:13	history 63:16	89:13 90:3
230:20 231:20	182:15 183:17	70:3 159:25	91:9 93:16
233:13,14,17	183:21 184:2	163:12 173:25	i
234:1,4,15,24	185:15,19,20	199:17 226:19	ibc 2:12
241:1,5,8	186:22 187:1,5	hit 171:20	idea 27:4 88:21
247:2,15	189:16	192:16	identified 99:5
248:21 249:2,6	highlight 236:3	hits 192:24	126:25 127:1
249:8,11,19	highlighted	hmm 24:4	165:4 207:11
250:4	18:11 69:21	hobbs 45:13	213:15 216:25
hearings 5:16	123:5 125:13	55:17 95:16,21	218:14 219:16
heavier 179:18	171:17 190:21	hold 121:23	220:2 244:14
heavy 58:20	highlighting	holding 121:21	245:16 246:2
186:10 190:20	236:5	holland 2:17	246:14 247:13
190:20	highlights	79:18,20 80:4	identifies 99:6
helicopter 9:18	148:21 159:9	80:6 113:2,5	identify 92:2
help 18:12	highway 2:12	113:15	99:10 125:7
127:9	hinkle 2:6	hollandhart.c	207:3 222:16
helpful 16:1	hinklelawfir	2:19,19	230:4 239:10
73:11 243:6	2:7	holy 172:2	identifying
helping 65:18	hired 93:1	hope 7:10	154:9,11
helps 184:3	113:16	hopefully 9:8	219:25 230:14
hey 161:5	historic 50:2	horse 137:12	image 193:22
217:24	159:16 227:2,9	house 38:2	imagine 191:3
high 24:18	historical	huge 176:19	immediate
46:20 50:5	156:24 157:17	196:13	19:13 188:4

[immediately - information]

	1		
immediately	127:21 137:2,5	69:21 79:8	indicated 181:3
49:16	137:12 150:8	94:12 110:24	192:11 195:10
immovable	183:5	165:24	211:7 214:21
108:23	impossible	inclusion 101:4	214:23 223:19
impact 83:17	38:20 78:21	income 121:12	indicates
174:6 176:1,20	improper 100:2	inconsistent	238:10
177:19 185:17	100:20 106:18	125:17	indicating
189:2 192:22	107:17,19	incorporated	149:25 162:5
194:12,16	233:23	104:11	166:4 181:9
195:25 196:13	improperly	incorrect 70:22	191:13 214:13
197:5	51:21	71:24 129:19	218:2 246:6
impacted 30:24	improve 9:8,15	increase 44:22	indication
31:12 194:13	inaccurate	60:9 178:8,9,9	186:18 199:11
199:1	127:6	181:21 199:6	individual
impactful	inappropriate	199:11	32:24
196:4	136:20	increased	indulge 7:20
impacts 95:2	incentive	177:1,15	industry 50:17
95:15 177:20	124:10	increases	infill 123:8,21
179:15 193:17	inclined 7:17	158:10,12	123:22 124:6,8
impairing 61:9	74:2	177:21 178:7	influx 182:2
impairment	include 17:7	179:6 181:8,19	199:6,13
59:23	47:21 79:18	increasing	227:10,14
impede 43:15	94:18 99:12	158:9 172:4	informality
imperative	104:23 202:8	177:17 199:5	7:21
21:21 22:9,21	203:25	independent	information
33:18 46:14	included 13:13	88:7	26:19 31:24
implementing	15:10 30:12	index 3:10	34:25 35:18
203:13,16	50:24 71:6,11	indicate 11:24	40:1 47:2,10
implication	75:24 79:23	150:20 156:25	50:2 57:8,14
112:21	80:24 100:3	166:13 181:2	59:3 62:23
implying 40:12	104:12,12	191:18 193:5	63:7 84:13
important	105:8	194:9,12	113:8 115:11
46:11 119:14	includes 16:13	206:17 215:17	116:16 141:15
119:16 120:5	including 11:1	215:21	154:9 159:16
121:2 122:8	11:10 28:11		165:11 206:8

[information - isolated]

230:1 247:17	48:9,22,25	instructions	199:8 213:22
247:19 249:13	51:4 52:1,10	59:18	213:22,25
informed 131:1	57:10 61:23	intend 115:13	214:8 245:25
infringes 39:8	73:18 95:3	intended 28:23	introduced
initial 107:12	96:12 103:18	207:6	190:5
initially 201:24	103:19,23,23	intent 91:21	introducing
initiated	103:25 104:9	147:8	162:16 184:17
238:23	105:3,18 106:5	interaction	184:24 185:25
initiating 236:9	106:10 108:8,9	112:24	186:1
inject 36:14	108:12 109:17	interest 13:5,15	introduction
38:25 44:7	114:9,15,23	13:16 25:17	222:21
85:12,16 87:1	155:18 159:23	38:24 48:3,4	invalid 62:25
87:16 92:8	160:3 166:15	73:10 121:4	invalidity
101:21 106:22	167:3 168:21	250:14	51:12
107:4	169:19 170:22	interested	investigate
injected 41:7	171:13,18,23	58:22	32:16 40:18
45:1 50:3 63:4	175:3 176:23	interesting	investment
171:15 177:18	177:11 178:24	48:2 59:1	21:20 22:8,20
194:11 197:5	182:15 188:19	interests	33:18 34:1
injecting 24:19	195:13,15	120:15,17	35:7 121:12
31:16 32:1	199:22	interference	133:6
36:18 41:3,6	injections	104:21	investments
43:14,21 44:8	128:11 194:17	internally	33:22
51:11 66:20	injects 127:14	56:25 113:14	investors 54:18
105:7 173:8,15	inquired 35:18	interpreted	involved 81:25
183:21 188:3	79:21	164:8	214:13
191:16 193:6	inside 35:21	interval 30:6	involving 72:4
199:3 246:5	104:19 149:17	51:11 63:4	iron 186:16,19
injection 8:24	169:19 191:15	71:6,11 92:9	186:21,21,22
9:10,25 24:17	191:15	107:25 125:2	187:15
25:14 29:23	insignificant	152:21 200:3	irons 184:1
30:23 31:7,10	171:2,19	214:17 221:17	irrefutable
33:22 35:14	installing 40:10	221:19 246:4	52:3
42:19 43:1,24	instruction	intervals 100:4	isolated 216:7
44:3,15,25	65:18	192:17 193:7	216:11,15,25

issuance 62:18	jd 118:9	kills 179:20	33:3 34:3,7,18
63:13	jesse 19:11	kind 59:2 78:7	34:19,20 35:1
issue 5:17 6:3,6	job 103:8	94:4 102:17	35:7,10,13
6:22 31:15	159:14 178:13	132:11 150:1	36:7,7 38:4,5,6
39:3 55:15	join 72:22	150:21 151:1	38:10,12 39:20
61:23 62:11	joinder 10:18	151:16,18	41:15,22,23
63:21 71:16	joined 13:4	153:19 155:16	42:23,24 44:24
75:8 87:14,15	82:21 202:3	156:2,21,23	47:15,22 50:15
93:2 107:23	joints 116:13	158:14 164:4	50:19 52:18,25
112:24 114:23	juan 38:7	165:8,15 168:1	53:15 55:12
114:25 116:7	judgments	168:17 169:3,7	56:25 57:6
116:17 223:10	117:24	172:1 173:11	58:7,15 59:2
228:25	july 59:16	175:10,14,21	63:22 68:22
issued 62:16	jumped 196:9	176:3 179:11	72:16 73:23
110:21 116:19	jumping	182:22 183:3	75:13 78:2,20
issues 6:1 7:1	186:25	183:13 184:12	78:21 79:1
15:24 68:23	jumps 185:23	185:23 188:1	82:19 85:2
73:19 74:4,5,8	june 13:10	189:10 190:10	92:21 94:1,24
74:12,14 87:25	19:20 85:1	192:18,19	104:18 105:7
97:8 102:3,7	195:5,15,19	193:14,24	105:10 109:23
115:6 143:4	201:22 202:3	196:1,8 198:14	111:16 116:5
162:7	jurgensen 2:20	199:21 208:5	117:23 120:23
j	jury 59:17 60:1	kinds 94:3	121:2,17,17,19
jack 3:11 8:10	65:18	kitchen 191:5	122:16 126:6
15:22 16:3	jury's 60:25	knew 19:17	126:14 127:14
18:10 22:10	k	30:22 31:10	127:18 128:23
53:6 59:8	keep 84:14,15	76:22 139:21	134:1 135:18
65:20 103:14	164:14 169:3	knight 151:21	137:22 149:12
128:6	175:3 186:23	knights 211:23	149:13 150:1,4
jacket 7:24	186:24	211:25 212:5	150:9,23 151:4
jackets 7:19	kendra 250:3	212:10	151:10,14,15
january 26:21	250:19	know 5:24 7:19	152:20,21,22
113:18 173:19	key 55:14 215:6	10:15 11:19,21	152:25,25
173:19	keynote 151:13	18:21 30:11	153:9,18,23,25
		31:6 32:5,9,12	154:2,2,3,4,23

155:1,16 156:7	184:11,18,23	226:5,18,25	laid 140:25
156:12 157:11	184:24 185:1,4	227:16,19	lamkin 1:12
157:17,23	185:13,13,14	228:4,5,7,21	3:13 6:3,5 53:1
158:2 159:7,18	185:24 186:6,7	229:8 230:21	53:9,11 54:1
159:24 160:2,3	186:11,12,14	230:22,23	55:1 56:1
160:12,23	186:17 187:11	231:17 239:2	57:15,18
161:3,10,12,13	187:13 188:6,7	242:6,22,23	142:20,21
161:18 162:5,6	188:14,17,23	243:12,21,23	land 23:13
162:9,10,11,19	188:24 189:16	244:12,19,22	35:17 46:13,15
163:5,7,13,17	189:19,20,23	245:13,15,21	48:3,13 58:3,6
163:18,19	190:8,9,11,17	248:22	58:23 59:4
164:5,6,19,20	191:5,9,10,11	knowing 38:14	71:15,20 72:2
164:22 165:3,6	191:22,24	44:24 247:21	109:25 110:3,5
165:25,25	192:11,13,14	knowledge	110:9,14,20,25
166:5,23,24	192:16,18,23	22:5 31:1 33:1	111:1,13,21
167:1,22 168:8	193:10,24	33:22 34:1	112:1,20 113:3
168:16,17,19	194:2,5,5,6,14	35:18,20 48:24	113:20 114:5
168:20 169:8	194:15,16,25	49:9,21 78:16	115:23 197:11
170:2,9,10,12	195:4,10,14,22	95:6,13 98:1	landowner
170:14 171:13	196:3,3,7,17,19	114:14 141:14	194:2
171:13,20	196:20 197:1,2	229:24	lands 46:15,16
172:2,6,7,10,13	197:2,5,8,20	knowledgeable	58:10,12 60:22
173:7,17	198:1,7,13,24	98:6	language 69:1
174:19 175:1,2	199:3,9,10,13	known 31:13	69:4 228:10
175:9,12,16	199:13,19,20	33:6 63:17	236:5
176:6,19 177:9	200:1,2,18	184:12 199:7	large 19:8
177:13,23	204:9 206:4,12	knows 128:16	150:14,15
178:1,13,20,21	207:6 208:6	161:23	176:18,20
179:7,9,9,10,15	209:1 211:8	1	182:4 199:4
181:6,6,12,13	215:8 217:7,17	1 2:11	205:4,6
181:17,24	217:22,24,25	lack 76:11	larger 223:20
182:2,23 183:1	222:13 223:21	lacks 131:24	225:3 226:22
183:1,10,12,12	223:25 224:11	lady 32:21	largest 206:18
183:18,18,22	224:13,17,22	113:2	late 15:17
102.25 104.5	224:23,24	113.4	50:10 54:21
183:25 184:5	227.23,27		50.10 51.21

			1
61:25 92:11	220:19	life 70:3 186:5	lithium 185:25
113:21 181:7	leeway 137:15	light 50:23	186:14
law 2:9 39:4	left 19:2 81:17	likely 143:19	little 15:21
40:15,20	81:20,21 82:3	167:1 185:16	17:16 20:19
116:12 118:18	118:22 154:7,8	limitation 44:5	32:3,11 35:2
119:7	167:12 183:9	44:18	119:22 153:19
lawsuit 26:17	192:10 196:12	limited 54:3	155:17 159:11
105:14,16	196:23 227:19	78:2 146:20	163:11,12
lawyer 8:6	legal 39:1	163:10 205:8,8	165:16 166:14
45:24 52:4	73:24 75:11,14	206:22 240:2	170:14,14
74:11 75:6	85:11 86:11	limits 44:14	172:11 175:10
89:18 116:13	107:8,23 120:8	lindsay 61:24	178:22,25
118:12 119:12	250:19	95:25 163:17	180:22 183:14
121:14	legally 85:17	210:14 222:14	187:17 195:1
lay 59:25 74:1	85:20	228:22 229:22	196:12 197:1
140:23	legend 173:18	231:21 232:9	200:23 210:7
lea 34:5 86:4	193:23 214:22	lindsay's 95:20	211:8 215:3
lead 232:21	215:6	189:9 211:4	220:13 224:25
leads 217:23	lesson 137:10	217:17	224:25 244:11
leakage 181:18	letter 28:19,23	line 72:15	llc 2:2 11:2,6
leaks 157:17	29:2 215:9	79:25 136:19	llp 2:3,6,17
learn 39:4,6	letters 48:14	165:20 173:13	local 170:7
learned 137:10	level 99:7	173:17 174:25	locate 18:12
lease 39:11,11	116:12 184:18	176:7,14	19:6 27:21
40:18 60:21	levels 186:21	193:12 213:14	49:6 134:9,11
86:2 107:21	186:22	216:3	located 53:16
108:11 194:3,8	liabilities 11:11	lined 191:13	104:16
leased 76:8	18:8 23:8,10	liner 191:12,13	locating 168:24
leases 62:24,25	23:20 76:14,24	list 17:2 36:15	location 193:11
86:7 107:21	liability 18:3	41:2,5 188:14	212:5 218:5
194:2 197:9	18:19 19:9,16	listed 14:19	247:12
leave 12:7	20:3 24:7	15:4 16:13,21	locations
60:16,19 81:23	76:20 139:22	19:12 41:12	123:22,22
82:1 115:2,9	licensed 118:20	42:21,22 182:6	193:6 194:7
116:22 134:17			203:22
[log - make]

1 105 00	0000001100		
log 125:20	206:22 211:20	187:5 229:19	65:3 67:6,9
207:3,15,17,21	242:9	lunch 102:8,11	68:11,12 73:16
244:17	looks 118:9	102:13 137:8	73:17 75:8
logistics 202:9	169:15 173:12	m	78:3 87:24
logs 26:10,13	173:14,16	m 3:4 162:24	97:16,20 98:18
27:17,19 28:12	184:10,23	162:24	98:20 99:13,16
28:12 193:1	192:16 198:23	ma'am 68:1,4	101:14 106:14
long 7:20 20:13	211:8 213:17	68:19,21 69:3	108:1 113:17
34:4 55:13	214:1 215:9	69:7,14,19,24	122:4 132:2
119:3,10	226:1	70:10 71:1,8	135:9 209:19
132:11 133:18	lost 102:3	71:12,18,22	247:4
159:17 192:1	143:11	72:5,8,11 76:6	magnesium
233:6 249:9	lot 28:2 41:23	76:12,16,21	184:2
look 20:2,16,18	49:19 78:7	77:1,5,9,13,16	magnitude
22:3,7 23:23	92:23,24 116:7	77:19,21	171:24
43:19 60:1	116:13 122:11	145:24 147:20	mail 37:9
63:6 65:19	158:24,25	147:23 148:23	main 148:21
70:1 104:17	159:2 160:23	147.23 148.23	150:3 151:1
123:4 124:14	161:7 168:3	150:15 151:24	169:1 205:2
125:19 132:24	169:24 185:22	150:15 151:24	maintain
141:16 152:5	186:19 187:24	152:1,4 155:15	143:24
157:14 166:8	188:9,10 190:3	154:16 155:12	maintained
167:7 171:6	190:5 197:8	156:12 158:8	14:22 59:4
174:8 182:18	201:8 205:15	158:20 160:10	major 46:16
187:23 192:5	212:7 215:17	161:10 163:1	majority 57:25
215:15 224:7	218:22 222:14		make 7:24 32:6
looked 17:19	224:25	164:4 165:13	40:23 88:7
18:1 20:17,23	lots 218:23	167:6 171:5	89:25 90:4
21:5 93:24	228:25	172:16 173:3,6	91:1,4 103:17
94:1 212:7	louisiana 55:9	174:7 177:5	107:3 124:18
looking 24:21	202:23	178:17 182:7	132:13 149:21
59:14 93:21	love 229:18,21	182:12 188:6	155:8 158:15
118:8 128:21	231:3	193:8	164:4,13
164:12 176:22	lower 53:18	made 13:9	165:19 175:19
189:7 206:10	162:18 177:8	14:17 25:12	190:5 198:7
		56:8 58:21	

209:13,16	march 27:7,8	mean 24:22	measurements
214:5 241:20	27:12 37:16	32:3,6 34:15	166:21
242:17 243:11	91:18 92:10	34:19,23 36:25	mechanic
244:1	113:22	38:14 39:22	184:15
makes 102:10	marietta 202:2	43:18 47:22	mechanically
121:20 204:18	mark 196:8	53:19,19 54:19	161:25
211:18	marked 12:22	64:19 67:14	mechanism
making 31:13	145:22 148:25	72:16 73:1	104:6 108:14
40:21 68:23	149:22 150:17	74:14 75:5,7	157:11 210:17
99:19 117:24	152:6 159:3	82:16,19 88:10	210:21 211:2,3
235:21 238:13	162:23 164:2	97:19 99:17	mechanisms
238:15,16	180:22	105:21 117:4	117:6
240:3	market 122:14	123:11 126:13	meet 102:20
man 176:6	marks 238:7	146:21 157:7	meeting 25:11
management	mass 177:6,6	158:24 171:24	meetings 88:15
81:14 82:9,25	massive 172:8	173:17,25	94:3
manager 79:8	matches 116:16	176:20 177:6	member 1:12
79:22 80:7	materials 92:24	179:16,19	1:12
84:10 85:3	186:3	185:3 187:22	members 1:10
managers	matt 8:20	188:14 191:21	79:10,13,15
81:12 97:15	matter 59:5	196:23 201:11	memorized
managing	60:7,25 73:20	205:16 210:18	173:10
79:24	74:10 122:3	216:10 218:24	memory 71:19
manipulate	171:2 197:24	219:4 223:12	77:14
117:16	239:18 245:15	223:16 224:3	mentioned 64:5
manner 14:20	matters 51:16	225:5 228:23	162:12 169:10
map 104:17	94:4 97:6,7	229:15,23,24	merely 90:13
154:10 157:14	162:6	231:19 234:4	mesa 31:21
172:21 213:25	matthew 3:4	235:1 246:8	32:20,22
214:23 215:14	mbeck 3:4	meaning 27:22	129:15,24
215:24 220:7	mcguire's	means 123:16	130:1 131:1,8
220:10 224:19	105:8	136:6 155:25	132:22 133:2
226:9 244:17	mcshane 28:11	184:15	134:14
maps 42:8	54:7 125:6	measured	mesa's 133:4,5
	219:5	164:23	

met 80:5	217:19,21	mind 15:21	139:17,24
metals 186:7,10	migrating	99:22 124:1	140:21 219:3
186:13	156:21 157:12	164:14 169:3	misstating
mexico 1:2,5	159:24 160:19	175:3 231:3	96:16 128:14
2:2,4,7,10,18	160:22 162:14	minds 142:11	130:12 132:23
2:21,22,24 3:3	181:10 182:11	mine 141:10	mistake 139:13
3:7 5:12 11:2,6	186:11 222:19	mineral 39:5,6	mistaken 8:14
11:16 46:13	222:23	39:8 76:8	misunderstand
54:19 55:5	migration 57:3	107:21	131:19 132:19
79:23 81:15	62:2 218:3	minerals 2:22	mix 161:6
202:19,22	miguel 3:8	36:21 193:25	187:25 188:13
203:25 204:4,8	mile 43:20,20	minimal 170:13	189:22 192:19
250:5	96:10 171:11	170:23	mixed 188:11
mic 15:20	172:15,24	minimized	mixes 189:20
microphone	173:4 216:20	175:11	mixing 160:25
233:15	miles 34:4	minimum 18:2	161:15,20
middle 53:22	66:18 83:5,23	52:1 186:23	162:11 183:3,4
116:11 166:15	96:22 216:18	minor 167:20	184:16 190:19
193:1,23	216:24 217:14	minus 126:7	237:12,19,22
198:14	217:15	127:6,11,15	238:5 239:14
midmorning	million 18:18	191:25 205:8	239:16,21
65:24 67:1	19:16 20:10	205:14,18	mixture 184:22
midstream	22:7 23:2,3,6,8	209:14,21	moander 2:25
2:16 5:11 83:4	23:10 24:7	241:11,14,14	3:16 6:21,22
85:16,24 86:24	32:5 33:16	minute 9:1	12:15 14:7
93:2,6 96:5	34:12,13,23	minutes 180:6	55:15 72:22
98:1 101:16	45:10,17 88:24	248:22	102:2 112:1,14
106:18 110:15	89:5,12 90:3	mis 89:7	112:15,18
midstream's	90:16 91:9	misinterpreted	113:1 114:1,19
84:8 244:13	133:7 150:12	100:9	115:1,17,25
migrate 60:21	154:6 166:1	missed 233:18	116:1,1 117:1
186:16 192:24	175:2 198:25	misstatement	117:10,11
192:24	208:23,24	130:15 135:9	143:23 146:11
migrated	209:7,9 225:23	misstates	148:9
158:19 159:22		127:25 131:23	

[moander's - net]

moander's	152:11,17,22	moving 64:8	nathan 2:20
95:14 117:14	153:22 236:9	95:21 96:21	natural 2:22
117:17	moot 60:7,11	115:15 167:2	naturally 164:8
model 154:23	morning 5:1,20	msuazo 3:8	nature 151:7
154:25 174:15	5:23,25 6:10	mud 26:10	187:16 199:4
178:23 220:12	6:16 8:18,19	27:19 28:12	nature's 109:6
221:5,8,15	29:19,20 53:12	mulacek 19:22	217:18
222:2,6,11	59:14 70:15	82:10 96:8	near 199:12
241:25	134:19,20,20	133:9	nearly 119:5
modeling	134:25 135:3	mullins 3:2	necessarily
241:25	135:20 136:3	multiple 97:7	162:15
models 154:19	137:18 138:10	109:4 221:2	need 5:21 47:9
220:21	140:25 249:15	230:19	55:24 155:20
modifies 124:8	249:21	muted 42:12	158:11 191:22
molecules	morrisett 32:23	mutual 10:23	221:20,25
189:4	82:12	n	225:16 244:16
moment 111:21	mother 109:6	n 4:6,6,6 148:2	needed 7:6
200:9 220:12	217:18	148:3,3,17,17	19:13,18,24
236:4	motion 116:21	148:18 149:22	23:14 133:7
monday 116:25	117:10	150:17 153:15	needs 46:20
money 25:13	motions 48:12	164:2 166:8	147:15 221:25
monitoring	movable	180:22 190:13	247:17
181:23	151:20	192:5 205:1,1	negative 58:11
monte 116:8	move 12:8	220:6 242:11	164:9,11,14
montezuma 2:6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	nail 187:9	241:23 242:15
monthly 104:2	66:10 75:16	name 8:20	243:3,11,23,24
months 47:24	80:15,17,20	74:22,23 145:8	negotiate 23:18
116:19	97:5 115:1	155:13	neither 250:12
monument	163:24 166:18	named 105:20	net 194:14
10:4,19,25	174:12 176:2	names 16:25	213:20,21
11:8,20 12:25	180:20 183:15	17:1 84:12	214:17,18
21:23 41:2,10	221:14	narrow 147:3	215:16,24
41:10 42:6	moved 108:11	nasty 161:24	216:1,11,16,25
49:1 51:15	108:15 109:3	184:13	218:1 220:7,9
75:25 76:1	109:11		

neutral 183:13	newly 53:15	36:11 51:19	numbering
never 16:3	nice 174:19	111:20 112:9	211:18
31:15 38:23	nicely 7:16	noticed 17:17	numbers 5:13
39:2,15 47:16	night 17:19	notices 37:1	76:18 89:12
50:9 51:10	20:24 21:5	noticing 190:16	91:2 111:20,24
99:22 114:16	22:2 185:2	notification	225:25 242:17
114:22 134:6	211:13	40:25 111:21	numerous 45:1
134:11,11	nm 40:12 51:2	113:11	79:7 133:13
138:12,13,14	nobody's	notifications	0
138:17,20,23	117:24	37:3 40:24	oath 8:8 103:13
139:4,9 185:4	nolan 173:5	notify 107:7	136:3,19,22,23
188:25	non 194:1	115:12	147:21
nevertheless	nontechnical	notifying 41:18	object 72:15
104:8	126:22 155:22	november	74:7 89:6,6
new 1:2,5 2:2,4	158:14,22	11:16,25 13:4	96:15 117:16
2:7,10,18,21,22	norm 186:1,2,5	113:12,25	127:5 128:12
2:24 3:3,7 5:12	186:14	130:22	132:8 136:14
9:4 11:2,3,6,7	normal 7:4	novo 43:5	143:25 146:8
11:16 26:15,16	38:5 157:1	110:11 111:15	219:2 232:3
26:18 27:3,14	normally 30:13	111:23 112:2,3	233:20
27:17 43:22	184:2 186:2	nrjurgensen	objected 63:22
45:18 46:13	north 2:13,18	2:19	objection 12:11
48:8 49:4	54:1 152:10,11	number 19:23	12:13 14:3,5,7
51:21 54:19	152:16,22	33:15 41:7	72:23 90:7,19
55:5 60:6 64:7	153:22 196:12	44:6 59:22	96:25 110:6
64:25 78:3	197:21 202:23	60:2 76:19	115:20 127:25
79:22 81:14	northwest 3:3	77:7 80:18	129:2 130:11
96:10 114:25	note 167:20	88:22 89:9	130:11 131:23
116:14 133:3,6	168:13 193:1	90:10 97:3,14	130:11 131.23
157:20 161:5	notes 20:24,25	104:3,19 106:7	140:20 146:4
176:17 189:21	21:5,14 22:1	111:25 141:3	146:11,14,16
202:18,22	89:15,25 90:23	167:18 169:15	148:7,9,12,14
203:25 204:4,8	93:24 132:2	174:10 221:2	227:3 230:18
250:4	notice 20:6	236:11 241:4	233:9
	21:3 23:12		233.7

[objections - oil]

objections	offer 31:14	77:23 78:9	247:2,15
12:15,17 14:9	97:12,16 99:4	80:14,19 81:6	248:21 249:2,7
110:9 111:1,3	offered 73:23	89:8,14,22	249:8,11,19
111:14 144:5	74:23 97:12	90:6,18 96:17	offline 19:18
144:10 148:6	offering 97:4	96:23 102:7,9	offset 232:7
objects 81:2	122:11	102:16,17,21	offsetting 84:2
obligation	office 2:22	102:24 103:2,4	oh 17:23,23
40:20 120:8	23:13 38:1	103:7 111:18	42:15 48:17
obligations	46:13,15 48:3	112:7,10,13	53:21 54:6
18:15 104:7,8	48:14 58:3,7	114:20 115:1,8	66:1,18 134:18
119:20	58:23 59:4	115:14,18,19	204:15 223:8
obviously	71:15,20 72:2	116:19,25	233:3 239:8
115:11 116:17	109:25 110:4,5	117:3,12,22	241:19 249:8
137:10	110:9,14,20,25	127:7 128:4,17	oil 1:3 2:21 5:7
occur 50:14	111:1,13 112:1	129:9 130:13	13:13 16:10,20
occurred 33:23	112:20 113:3	131:25 132:15	26:16 36:21
113:10	113:20 114:5	136:2,21	38:5 39:4 41:2
occurring	115:24 202:12	137:14 139:18	41:10 42:5
73:19 103:19	203:21 206:5	139:25 140:22	45:10,10,15
occurs 237:13	208:7	141:25 142:5	46:21 49:23
ocd 6:22 12:14	office's 111:21	142:18,23	50:9 51:15
14:6 19:11	officed 79:9	143:4,8,12,17	52:3,11 60:13
20:7 40:12,16	officer 1:10	144:2,8,11,17	60:17 62:6,13
40:17,22 41:16	5:16 7:7,9,14	144:20,23	70:8 71:3
41:25 42:9,17	8:1,12 12:8,10	146:3,5,9,12,13	75:25 83:19
44:14 49:6	12:12,14,16,18	146:15,17,24	90:16 91:22
51:2 72:22	13:19,22 14:4	147:9,14 148:5	108:21 121:3
106:20 107:1	14:6,8,10	148:8,10,11,13	125:3,14,22
112:14 114:21	15:19,23 29:8	148:15 179:23	126:2,10,24
114:22 115:1	29:12 42:10,15	180:2,5,8,11,14	140:18 141:2,4
143:23,25	53:7 57:17	200:7,12 219:7	150:3,5,12,14
146:10 148:8	59:10 65:21	227:5 230:20	151:8,11,16,20
170:3 171:3,9	66:25 67:3,19	233:13,17	151:22 152:24
ocd's 40:19	72:14,24 73:6	234:1,4,15,24	153:3,9,10,12
107:2	73:15,21 75:4	241:1,5,8	153:23,25

154:1,4,24	77:23 79:3	178:18 179:24	242:17 243:9
155:14 156:5	80:3,6,13,22	180:24 182:9	243:16,19
156:14 166:2	81:10 82:19	182:18,21	244:3,9,12
168:18 189:4	83:2 85:23	191:7 193:9,17	246:8,19 247:1
192:15,18,20	86:15 87:19,23	193:18,19	247:23 248:16
193:3 203:1,2	88:18,22 91:14	194:21,24	248:18 249:6
203:5,8,10	93:19 94:7	195:18 196:7	old 164:6
206:18 208:23	95:10,14 97:2	197:14 198:21	187:19 189:15
209:8 211:21	98:10 100:10	200:18 201:11	once 39:24
213:6 216:4	100:14 101:2	201:14,21,24	46:23 49:23
217:1,8,18,24	102:21 105:2	202:21 204:19	99:20 116:2
218:3,14	106:2 108:1	204:23 205:25	132:23 135:16
219:17,20,21	109:2,8,14	207:14,19	139:12 204:10
219:22 220:2	111:6,17	208:17 210:3	ones 105:21
221:17 222:1	115:14 117:3	210:21 211:1	149:7 167:15
224:6,22	117:22 118:1	211:17 212:9	176:17 187:13
226:15 250:5	120:5 121:16	212:25 213:5	187:15 195:22
oilers 38:9	122:1 123:18	213:10,21	206:5 229:2
oilfield 186:20	124:11,20	214:21,25	231:3
oils 182:16	126:22 127:14	215:14 216:24	ongoing 11:25
okay 6:18 7:2	134:17 135:12	217:10 218:1	31:7,10 44:25
7:16,23 8:1	142:5 143:1	218:13 219:11	128:10,24
10:15 15:8	144:2,11 145:7	219:24 220:5	open 52:13,16
17:3,23 18:17	146:9 147:2,11	220:11 221:4,7	99:4
21:13 30:15,22	147:12,17	221:11,14,21	opened 129:22
31:9 34:25	148:24 153:14	222:7,18 225:9	130:22 142:8
35:1 36:2 43:6	155:13 156:21	225:12 226:2	opening 30:10
43:6,8 46:2,2	159:3 162:23	226:18 227:7	operate 121:10
47:1 48:19,19	164:1,16	231:5,12 233:3	158:5 172:18
51:2 52:9	166:10 167:7,9	233:16 235:13	172:19 204:7
56:24 58:20	168:16 169:13	235:19,24	operated 10:7
60:12,16,25	169:17 171:6	236:23 237:3,7	14:22 15:16
65:16,21 66:22	172:17,23	237:11 239:13	40:2 105:18
66:25 67:19	173:1,7 174:8	239:20 240:25	169:25 170:17
68:25 73:21	174:13,13,16	241:24 242:7	170:18,20

[operated - p.o.]

206:16	207:25	ordered 25:9	226:6
operates 15:14	operator 40:20	25:22	overcompress
operating 3:1	120:18,19	orders 36:19	178:3
17:9 28:21	operators	171:24	overlap 195:8
31:3 37:22	37:25 38:23	organic 186:2	overrule 90:19
38:9 106:6	50:1 62:1	organization	96:25
121:3 133:12	83:11 204:7	63:16,17	overruled
133:14 179:1	opinion 72:13	orient 180:24	129:11 139:25
201:4 203:5,10	73:24 86:12	original 164:15	219:8 230:20
208:5	89:17 91:13	164:20 165:6	oversee 202:13
operation 15:7	103:22 153:11	176:13 218:25	overseeing
24:20 25:2	156:10 158:18	227:8 232:14	202:9,11,17
26:24 36:20	205:3 221:8	242:12 243:2	208:3
38:6 45:20	235:24 237:3	244:4	overview 149:2
50:1 54:22	238:18 240:2	originally	owl 77:11
61:8 70:3	opinions 68:13	164:8 243:22	106:3 171:16
94:19 121:6	109:10	outliers 184:23	own 24:1 47:5
162:7	opponent 117:6	outline 149:9,9	65:6 98:22
operations 9:18	opportunity	149:11,11	106:5 149:3
23:25 25:12	45:5 52:22	150:1	155:4,7 231:20
37:19 40:10	oppose 41:21	outlined 196:17	233:23
54:20 55:16	opposed 58:12	outlook.com	owned 20:14
56:2 57:10	121:11	2:10	46:12 121:19
58:13 61:8,13	opposing 221:3	outside 19:6	122:3
66:10 84:8	ops 192:8	20:2 26:2 64:4	owner 39:9
92:6,11 93:7	options 67:10	64:8 66:18	owners 46:16
94:13 104:2	orange 171:17	74:8,19 96:10	51:14 107:20
108:7 121:11	173:15	96:21 104:13	ownership 39:9
133:4 145:13	order 19:11	169:11 171:14	р
145:19 146:7	20:7 26:1 40:4	173:4,8 188:4	p&a 23:10
147:1,7 174:22	42:24 43:3,3	190:8 196:18	76:20 186:12
199:2 201:4,8	44:14 55:11	196:21 197:7	p.m. 102:23
201:9 202:5,8	59:15,16 63:7	206:5	180:7,7 249:22
202:10,18,22	76:1 87:8	overall 177:14	p.o. 2:3,9
203:20,22	116:18 129:4	224:5,17,23	r ,

[pa - percent]

pa 3:2	222:17,24	partially 59:15	216:1,11,13,14
package 206:4	227:10 228:15	70:16	216:16 217:1
206:17,21	228:20,25	particular	217:11,14,23
210:5,8	229:3 230:25	34:21 58:25	218:1 220:7,10
packages	231:1 233:24	66:10	222:4,8
150:21	234:10 235:3,6	particularly	paying 103:25
padilla 2:9,11	paperwork	188:20	pc 2:12 172:12
98:3,4,11	156:24	parties 6:8 13:9	pdf 172:13
padillalawnm	paragraph	13:12 15:1,3	peak 151:19
2:10	14:14 15:4	67:7 77:25	peaking 171:22
page 3:10 4:2	20:18 21:19	206:6 249:1	176:12
13:8 14:14	24:12,22 69:12	250:13	peaks 227:18
16:7,22,22	69:16,20 70:2	partner 11:3,7	pearce 84:11
80:25 98:24	paralegal 20:25	partners 50:17	pecos 1:4 5:2
99:3 123:4	paraphrasing	parts 181:15	pedro 2:13
126:18,20	106:21 108:5	208:16	173:5
150:11 236:7	part 16:23 18:4	party 28:25	peifer 3:2
pages 80:21,23	18:7 30:10	31:2 40:21	peiferlaw.com
80:25	64:1 74:17,18	107:6 117:5	3:4
paid 104:5	84:13 86:23	133:4 143:19	penalty 40:20
pain 162:2	92:24 93:4	pass 77:22	penetrate
painful 137:4	105:17 107:11	112:11	189:5 237:21
paper 161:13	114:10 122:11	passed 46:6	penroc 168:22
227:24 228:5,9	139:13 157:15	118:23	169:10
228:19 229:6	170:5 176:23	passive 121:12	penrose 236:12
229:10,18,18	184:10 192:12	past 53:13	people 28:2
229:21,25	198:4,6 200:1	218:23	35:16 37:2,24
230:14 231:2,4	200:2 201:18	pattern 116:9	38:2 49:5
235:14,16,19	207:24 210:5	154:20,20	84:12 126:23
235:25 236:2	213:7 216:2	157:9 220:23	134:16 143:5
237:18,24	217:25 222:4	220:23 221:4,5	155:22
238:1 239:10	231:22 233:18	pay 151:1	percent 45:14
239:20 240:8	234:22 236:3	213:20,21	45:23 46:12
papers 157:22	248:1,4,11	214:17,18	88:12,19
199:7,19		215:16,22,24	108:22 125:3

140:18 141:4	permission	pick 15:8	141:2,4 154:25
155:1,4,7,21	7:15	102:18 164:6	175:22 179:2
156:6,8,17,17	permit 39:19	249:14	241:20
179:4 181:20	43:17 63:9	picked 244:20	placed 122:14
181:21 194:14	107:7 197:4,9	246:14	places 240:6
221:17 222:1,5	permits 26:22	picture 122:23	plan 114:5
234:21	40:14 43:23	150:22 169:7	117:1 145:6
percolates	60:5,8 62:16	pie 133:12,14	planning 42:18
116:15	62:18,22 63:3	133:16,18,22	47:8
perfect 67:20	63:11,13 149:7	134:6,10	plans 92:13
183:7	149:13 157:20	piece 161:12	113:21
perforated	195:11,19	191:8	plastic 191:14
182:6	permitted	pieces 192:22	191:15
perforations	39:24 44:5	piled 178:11	platform 6:25
47:21	53:15,20 74:20	pilot 3:5 7:1	42:12 170:11
performing	person 137:23	12:16 14:8	188:8
56:16	158:15,22	29:10,11 56:16	play 97:9
perfs 192:11	personally	56:18 95:4	116:13 185:14
194:13	205:20	106:3 133:13	plaza 3:3
period 20:5	petition 45:3	140:3 142:2	pleadings
37:18 40:3	petroleum	144:9 146:15	143:25
54:24 56:21	145:13,18	148:13	please 16:7
57:11 92:18	146:2,7,22,25	pins 191:19	71:9 75:16
113:19 170:13	147:12 200:24	pipe 44:11 94:4	144:24 145:7
170:15 177:15	201:2,6,21,25	169:15	148:25 149:23
permanent	ph 183:11,12	pipeline 34:4	153:17 154:18
188:22,25	phenomenal	64:23 83:4,7	158:23 167:11
permeability	45:5	83:10	174:9 192:6
244:14,20,23	phone 9:2	pipelines	plot 171:10
246:13	22:11 84:22	198:13	224:12
permian 8:21	112:25	piping 162:3	plots 163:8
12:8 25:17	phs 183:14	place 39:8,15	plug 20:15 77:4
35:25 105:21	piazza 41:19,22	52:6 60:5,13	plugging 18:8
171:16	86:20 87:10	60:17 75:13	18:18 19:15,18
	98:23	86:12 140:19	19:24 76:13,24

[plugging - predictive]

	1	I	1
139:21	pointing	235:20	217:15 219:13
plume 163:11	124:25 225:6	positions 87:25	potentially
229:9	pointless 8:7	139:15	5:22 93:21
plumes 157:10	points 59:20	positive 121:18	94:16 108:19
159:10 163:12	74:3 78:8 97:2	possibility 57:1	115:2 228:11
163:15 190:11	148:21 164:24	possible 5:21	pounds 178:1
199:18 227:20	166:20 206:11	123:14,15	179:9
229:9 230:11	206:13 244:10	124:23 237:8	powerpoint
pluming	polluting 198:8	238:25 239:2,8	200:17
228:15,16	198:10,10	possibly 109:4	ppc 72:9
plus 34:11	pool 41:2,10,11	post 18:14	practical
125:23 191:25	51:15 62:23	54:17 119:19	189:24
241:13 242:1,5	75:20,25 76:1	161:12	practice 116:9
pockets 9:6	101:6,7 213:9	postulates	practices
point 17:8,15	pools 41:3,5	237:24	209:11
25:2 59:22	75:25	postulating	practicing
63:7,8 73:16	pop 163:13	230:15	119:6
73:17 86:10	pore 107:22,24	potassium	pre 165:8,9
96:7 97:18	109:4	185:20,21	precedence
107:9,10	portion 14:23	potential 60:23	75:14
117:25 119:9	21:14 53:18	62:14 92:3,19	precedent 75:7
123:7 124:3,4	101:6 125:12	95:11 123:9,11	precise 118:25
125:1 136:16	151:23 237:17	123:14,19,19	119:2,6,13,13
137:16 149:18	position 26:20	124:6,7,22	124:18
152:3 161:17	30:21 39:13	128:10,24	precision 122:7
165:25 174:20	45:22 70:23	149:14 150:3,4	134:24
179:13 183:13	71:10,12,14,21	150:16,21	predecessor
197:22 205:23	75:12,21 85:15	153:10 177:19	63:17
205:23 206:9	86:11 87:3	185:6 195:9	predecessors
206:10,15	88:3 90:2,22	196:11,20,22	92:21 170:1,19
215:25 229:7	90:24 91:17	198:24 199:24	prediction
240:3 249:3,4	101:15 105:3	203:7 205:4,6	176:15
pointed 100:17	108:6,25 135:4	205:13,18	predictive
119:18	135:14,22	208:20,22	177:7
	137:4 141:9,14	209:4,14,21	

[predicts - problem]

predicts 225:2	202:4,8 203:19	presume	233:7 234:14
prefer 102:18	207:24	144:21	235:4 236:8
preference	pressers 177:24	pretty 58:20	prior 23:22
102:13	pressure 44:15	116:3,25	24:1 29:24
preliminary	44:16,17 62:14	156:17 159:10	31:13 82:3,23
5:17 94:2	110:24 158:9	171:2 182:19	93:7 175:20
premature 65:4	159:25 163:24	186:15 187:23	189:15 202:24
premises 49:13	163:25 164:7	196:18 206:16	231:7 232:15
preparation	164:21 165:6	206:19 218:21	232:21 236:8
23:11	166:10,17,18	237:1	pritchard
prepared 55:7	166:23,24	prevent 46:9,10	10:15 11:15
56:2 93:20	167:3 172:4	46:19 59:23	18:23 25:18
94:2 210:4	175:15,23,24	191:16	49:19
prescribe 14:20	177:1,7,9,10,24	preventing	private 87:21
present 21:23	178:7,8,21	24:12 50:19,20	privilege 39:10
33:20 56:23	179:14 185:17	previous 31:5	pro 143:18
57:5,8 72:18	191:4 199:5	125:25 128:14	probable
73:3 86:24	239:24 241:11	173:25 218:3	123:13,15,18
97:16 101:25	242:5,13,13,18	previously	124:22,24
115:15 176:2,7	242:23 243:13	31:20 57:9	probably 8:7
186:5 194:19	243:19,22	79:16,20,21	16:4 31:18
194:20 204:25	245:1,17 246:6	145:14 206:15	32:12 33:6,8
215:5,8,12,18	247:5,12 248:2	234:23	46:4,24 49:18
presentation	248:12	price 21:1,15	50:16 55:21
200:10,17	pressures	94:12 155:15	65:2 83:25
211:13 242:11	164:13,15,23	156:5,14	85:1 113:12,18
presented	179:19	pricing 156:16	113:21 116:22
87:10 129:17	pressuring	primarily 95:9	116:23 133:20
210:5 230:1	60:20	primary 21:22	143:18 185:21
231:22	pressurized	22:22 24:13,23	185:21 187:6
presenting 88:3	159:23	33:19 54:24	187:19 191:1
247:6	preston 105:8	64:20 101:7	221:3 242:20
preserve 46:10	presumably	154:5 218:1,8	problem 6:11
president 28:20	113:5	218:9,11,11	9:5 43:15
82:16 145:12		219:21 232:25	70:16 143:12

[problem - protested]

162:12 163:20	224:23 225:6	227:2 233:1,7	86:5 100:15,23
228:8 236:16	225:11,13,23	234:14 235:5	properly 40:25
problems 50:13	226:11,15,20	236:8 237:12	101:20 136:16
161:21 162:21	227:1 246:5	productions	properties 9:13
172:7 190:20	producers	147:10 157:5	20:22 24:8
227:23	154:14 157:2	productive	31:14 33:2
procedural	producible	71:2 92:8	55:8 81:14
77:15	56:17	213:11 216:6	169:5
procedure	producing	professional	property 20:14
155:19	104:13,20	118:21	22:7 23:6 32:6
proceed 35:8	105:9 153:25	progressed	32:7,8,25 37:5
102:25 144:18	208:22 225:14	194:25	38:1 39:18
180:9	236:11 237:13	project 45:2,6	87:21 91:18,21
proceeding	production	45:14 54:16	91:25 92:11
71:16	9:15 15:13	55:8,25 56:13	168:19
proceedings	46:22 54:24	56:19 60:24	proportion
1:7 249:22	64:1,11 69:6	64:25 65:1	225:7
250:8,10	83:14,23 84:2	90:2 114:9	proportionate
process 9:14	84:3 91:16	155:2,11	104:3
37:4 98:19	100:18,24	156:12 158:7,9	proportionately
115:3 186:9	101:2,8,11	177:19 178:15	225:7,11
produce 83:18	145:19 146:7	179:7,8,8,20	proposal 41:14
198:6 216:9	147:7 154:5,13	186:5 189:2	61:12,14
produced	157:21 166:2,5	projection	proposals
14:18,21 15:1	170:4 188:7	140:17	26:17
17:11 46:21	190:3 197:25	projects 45:11	proposed 41:19
69:17 70:8	199:17 201:3,8	95:4 203:1	93:20 167:16
83:7,12 104:13	201:9 212:16	promises 10:23	195:11
104:24 106:10	212:20 213:1	promoting	proposing 42:3
128:9 131:8	213:14 218:2,8	199:6	58:11 101:21
153:23 154:5	218:10,12	proof 52:3	106:23
157:1 158:17	223:12,18	55:24 106:20	protect 46:15
159:8 166:1	224:1,5,5,23	107:3 199:10	protest 66:11
175:20 213:7	225:17,19	proper 22:4	protested
219:20 224:18	226:3,5,6,8	40:13,18,23	109:25 110:4

[protests - questions]

protests51:8 provepulling101:25 161:18put19:132:5 32:581:2289:23 90:7,20prove47:252:4161:1851:1964:490:7,2091:752:11,2454:3pumpers37:2577:799:293:1194:17proven123:1338:3,16116:5155:2597:10100:7,9provide21:8,13purchase18:1156:1162:20106:16121:2561:17,1962:1718:4,11,24166:11167:22122:2124:2,1762:1921:1,1523:16170:21176:25126:1128:3,18provided27:2323:18,2329:25206:3223:8128:18,2036:2548:431:12,1432:6229:15,17129:8130:498:4110:24,2532:13,1467:25238:7132:4135:8,13145:20147:1868:276:23puts149:5135:17136:10190:1598:19119:19putting36:11136:12137:23provides14:16119:24122:23187:9191:14138:2,8,15,20199:11purchasedq141:13,21206:7207:13231:8247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16227:6public1:1purportedly233:21244:2,25233:10238:7152:21199:19233:21146:22200:23247:18,2421:22
52:11,24 54:3 pumpers 37:25 77:7 99:2 93:11 94:17 proven 123:13 38:3,16 116:5 155:25 97:10 100:7,9 provide 21:8,13 purchase 18:1 156:1 162:20 106:16 121:25 61:17,19 62:17 18:4,11,24 166:11 167:22 122:2 124:2,17 62:19 21:1,15 23:16 170:21 176:25 126:1 128:3,18 provided 27:23 23:18,23 29:25 206:3 223:8 128:18,20 36:25 48:4 31:12,14 32:6 229:15,17 129:8 130:4 98:4 110:24,25 32:13,14 67:25 238:7 135:17 136:10 98:4 110:24,25 32:13,14 67:25 238:7 135:17 136:10 90:15 98:19 119:19 putting 36:11 136:12 137:23 provides 14:16 119:24 122:23 187:9 191:14 138:23 139:19 199:11 purchased q 141:13,21 providing 37:16 206:7 207:13 209:1,16 227:6 123:18 247:18 purple 152:10 purple 152:10 233:12,18,23 233:12,18,23 152:21 178:24 purportedly 233:21 235:10 2
proven123:1338:3,16116:5 155:2597:10 100:7,9provide21:8,13purchase18:1156:1 162:20106:16 121:2561:17,19 62:1718:4,11,24166:11 167:22122:2 124:2,1762:1921:1,15 23:16170:21 176:25126:1 128:3,18provided27:2323:18,23 29:25206:3 223:8128:18,2036:25 48:431:12,14 32:6229:15,17129:8 130:498:4 110:24,2532:13,14 67:25238:7132:4 135:8,13145:20 147:1868:2 76:23puts149:598:19 119:19putting36:11136:12 137:23190:1598:19 119:19putting36:11190:1598:19 119:19138:23 139:19199:11purchasedqproviding37:16qualification231:8 247:18pure 239:3pushic1:1purportedly152:21 178:24purple152:10public1:1purportedly152:21 199:19233:21purpose146:12 147:7234:2,25247:18,24247:18,24212:23 223:13purpose146:22 200:23247:18,24212:23 223:13purpose152:21 199:19233:21152:21 199:19233:21152:21 199:19233:21152:21 199:19233:21152:21 199:19233:21152:23 223:13purpose141:12248:9,10
provide21:8,13purchase18:1156:1162:20106:16121:2561:17,1962:1718:4,11,24166:11167:22122:2124:2,1762:1921:1,1523:16170:21176:25126:1128:3,18provided27:2323:18,2329:25206:3223:8128:18,2036:2548:431:12,1432:6229:15,17129:8130:498:4110:24,2532:13,1467:25238:7132:4135:8,13145:20147:1868:276:23puts149:5135:17136:10190:1598:19119:19puts149:5136:12137:23provides14:16119:24122:23187:9191:14138:2,8,15,20199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16206:7207:13231:8247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16psi164:16,22122:21purgle152:10public1:1purportedly233:2123:1223:12,18,23152:21199:19233:21233:21247:18,24212:23223:13purpose14:19244:2,25qualifies121:4248:9,10249:12
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
62:19 $21:1,15 23:16$ $170:21 176:25$ $126:1 128:3,18$ provided $27:23$ $23:18,23 29:25$ $206:3 223:8$ $128:18,20$ $36:25 48:4$ $31:12,14 32:6$ $229:15,17$ $129:8 130:4$ $98:4 110:24,25$ $32:13,14 67:25$ $238:7$ $132:4 135:8,13$ $145:20 147:18$ $68:2 76:23$ puts 149:5 $135:17 136:10$ $190:15$ $98:19 119:19$ puts 149:5 $136:12 137:23$ $provides 14:16$ $119:24 122:23$ $187:9 191:14$ $138:2,8,15,20$ $23:24 32:15$ $175:11$ $191:20$ $138:23 139:19$ $199:11$ purchased q $141:13,21$ $providing$ $37:16$ $qualification$ $206:7 207:13$ $231:8 247:18$ purchaser $146:1 147:7$ $233:12,18,23$ $179:2$ purple 152:10 $purportedly$ $233:21$ $233:21$ $pulic 1:1$ $purpose 14:19$ $121:12$ $248:9,10$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$36:25 \ 48:4$ $31:12,14 \ 32:6$ $229:15,17$ $129:8 \ 130:4$ $98:4 \ 110:24,25$ $32:13,14 \ 67:25$ $238:7$ $132:4 \ 135:8,13$ $145:20 \ 147:18$ $68:2 \ 76:23$ $puts \ 149:5$ $135:17 \ 136:10$ $190:15$ $98:19 \ 119:19$ $puts \ 149:5$ $136:12 \ 137:23$ $provides \ 14:16$ $119:24 \ 122:23$ $187:9 \ 191:14$ $138:2,8,15,20$ $23:24 \ 32:15$ $175:11$ $191:20$ $138:23 \ 139:19$ $199:11$ $purchased$ q $141:13,21$ $providing$ $37:16$ $qualification$ $206:7 \ 207:13$ $231:8 \ 247:18$ $purchaser$ $146:8$ $209:1,16 \ 227:6$ $165:21 \ 178:24$ $122:21$ $pure \ 239:3$ $146:1 \ 147:7$ $233:12,18,23$ $179:2$ $purple \ 152:10$ $purportedly$ $233:21$ $233:21$ $233:21$ $pulic \ 1:1$ $purpose \ 14:19$ $14:12$ $247:18,24$ $121:12$ $248:9,10$
98:4 110:24,2532:13,14 67:25238:7132:4 135:8,13145:20 147:1868:2 76:23puts 149:5135:17 136:10190:1598:19 119:19puts 149:5136:12 137:23provides 14:16119:24 122:23187:9 191:14138:2,8,15,2023:24 32:15175:11191:20138:23 139:19199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16qualification206:7 207:13231:8 247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16 227:6psi 164:16,22122:21pure 239:3146:1 147:7for:purple 152:10purple 152:10233:21public 1:1purportedly233:21247:18,24152:21 199:19233:21purpose 14:19246:22 200:23212:23 223:13purpose 14:19121:12248:9,10
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
190:1598:19 119:19putting 36:11136:12 137:23provides 14:16119:24 122:23187:9 191:14138:2,8,15,2023:24 32:15175:11191:20138:23 139:19199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16qualification206:7 207:13231:8 247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16 227:6psi 164:16,22122:21pure 239:3206:7 207:13165:21 178:24pure 239:3146:1 147:7233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10purportedly233:21public 1:1purportedly233:21247:18,24152:21 199:19233:21purpose 14:19248:9,10
provides14:16119:24 122:23187:9 191:14138:2,8,15,2023:24 32:15175:11191:20138:23 139:19199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16q141:13,21231:8 247:18purchaser146:8206:7 207:13psi164:16,22122:21qualification209:1,16 227:6165:21 178:24pure 239:3pure 152:10233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10purportedly233:21247:18,24152:21 199:19233:21purpose 14:19121:12248:9,10
23:24 32:15175:11191:20138:23 139:19199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16q141:13,21231:8 247:18purchaser146:8206:7 207:13231:8 247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16 227:6psi 164:16,22122:21qualifications231:2,18,23165:21 178:24pure 239:3146:1 147:7233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10qualified 146:1234:2,25public 1:1purportedly233:21233:21152:21 199:19233:21purpose 14:19121:12212:23 223:13purpose 14:19121:12
199:11purchasedq141:13,21providing37:16qualification206:7 207:13231:8 247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16 227:6psi164:16,22122:21qualifications209:1,16 227:6165:21 178:24pure 239:3qualifications233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10qualified 146:1234:2,25public 1:1purportedly233:21qualifies 121:4248:9,10121:12purpose 14:19121:12248:9,10
providing 231:8 247:1837:16 purchaserqualification 146:8206:7 207:13 209:1,16 227:6psi164:16,22122:21146:8209:1,16 227:6165:21 178:24pure 239:3146:1 147:7233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10qualified 146:1234:2,25public 1:1purportedly233:21146:22 200:23235:10 238:7152:21 199:19233:21purpose 14:19121:12248:9,10
providing37:16qualification206:7 207:13231:8 247:18purchaser146:8209:1,16 227:6psi164:16,22122:21146:1227:8 232:15165:21 178:24pure 239:3qualifications233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10146:1 147:7234:2,25public 1:1purportedly233:21146:22 200:23235:10 238:7152:21 199:19233:21qualifies 121:4248:9,10
231:8 247:18 purchaser 146:8 209:1,16 227:6 psi 164:16,22 122:21 qualifications 233:12,18,23 165:21 178:24 pure 239:3 146:1 147:7 233:12,18,23 179:2 purple 152:10 qualified 146:1 234:2,25 public 1:1 purportedly 233:21 146:22 200:23 235:10 238:7 212:23 223:13 purpose 14:19 121:12 248:9,10
psi164:16,22122:21qualifications227:8 232:15165:21 178:24pure 239:3qualifications233:12,18,23179:2purple 152:10146:1 147:7234:2,25public 1:1purportedly233:21146:22 200:23235:10 238:7152:21 199:19233:21qualifies 121:4248:9,10
165:21 178:24 179:2pure 239:3 purple 152:10qualifications233:12,18,23public 1:1 152:21 199:19purportedly 233:21 purpose 14:19146:1 147:7 qualified 146:1 146:22 200:23233:12,18,23233:12,18,23234:2,25234:2,25235:10 238:7247:18,24248:9,10
179:2purple152:10140:1 147:7234:2,25public1:1purportedly233:21qualified146:1234:2,25152:21 199:19233:21146:22 200:23235:10 238:7212:23 223:13purpose14:19121:12247:18,24
public1:1purportedlyqualified146:1235:10238:7152:21199:19233:21146:22200:23247:18,24212:23223:13purpose14:19121:12248:9,10
152:21 199:19 233:21 qualifies 121:4 247:18,24 212:23 223:13 purpose 14:19 121:12 248:9,10
212:23 223:13 purpose 14:19 qualities 121:4 121:12 248:9,10
publicized 14:25 37:11 questioning questioning
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
nublicly 212.22 nurneses 85.20 120.21 79.25 108.2
136.20 $180.24.220.17$ quantying 136.20
null 15.20 $2/1.12$ questions 29.11
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
168.14 174.23 pursuing 49.18 237.24 57.16 19 58.1
100.22223.6 01.2205.11 question 24.2 50.0 66.224
229.22242.21 pushed 186.24 $25.1930.8$ $70.2173.3$
nulled 160.1 nucleos 156.3 $51.4, 5, 9, 55.21$ $06.6, 103.16$
175.7 21 228.9 pushing 194.15 $40.18 30.13,24$ 112.11 16
196.21 39.7 04.9 00.5 132.13 133.13
71:7 74:7

126.10.25		200.1 210.1	
136:18,25	rankin 3:15,19	209:1 210:1	rather 41:5
137:9,19	6:9,10 12:13	211:1,12 212:1	85:11 231:12
138:11 139:1,5	14:5,14 16:6	213:1 214:1	231:24 237:14
139:8,10 142:3	17:17 18:14	215:1 216:1	245:24 248:18
142:10,20,22	20:17 41:24	217:1 218:1	248:23
142:24 143:5,9	67:24 68:8,25	219:1,4 220:1	ratification
200:5,13	69:1,13,15	221:1 222:1	10:18
204:21 220:14	72:14 73:1	223:1 224:1	ratify 11:9
quibble 231:12	74:6,21 75:7	225:1 226:1	ratio 224:6
quick 66:8	78:1,6,13 79:1	227:1,7 228:1	ratios 226:24
164:4 177:14	80:1,14,22	229:1 230:1	raw 164:20
quicker 176:1	81:1,4,10,11	231:1 232:1,4	razatos 3:13
quickly 195:25	82:1 83:1 84:1	233:1,9,20	5:1,5 6:7,13,18
quite 107:14	85:1 86:1 87:1	234:1,1,3,9,17	6:21,24 7:2,12
134:25 169:9	88:1 89:1,7,10	235:1,1 236:1	7:17,22 57:1
172:4	89:22,24 90:1	237:1 238:1	57:19,20,22
quote 22:20,21	90:21 91:1	239:1 240:1	58:1 59:6
r	92:1 93:1 94:1	241:1,1,7,9,19	102:6,12,14,19
r.r. 152:14	95:1 96:1,15	242:1 243:1	103:1 142:12
153:2 193:13	97:1,1 98:1	244:1 245:1	142:15,25
radius 96:10	99:1 100:1	246:1 247:1,2	143:3,10
194:12	101:1,24 102:1	247:23,25	249:16
raise 144:24	103:1,15 104:1	248:1,20 249:1	reach 35:12
182:3	105:1 106:1	249:4 250:1	232:11
raised 55:15	107:1 108:1	rankin's 69:8	reached 196:18
73:20 95:18	109:1 110:1	69:22 75:1	react 184:19
96:5 110:9	111:1,18	90:9	reaction 161:4
raising 182:16	112:10 133:12	rapidly 172:4	184:4
ramsay 16:14	144:5 146:5,21	176:5,17	reactions 161:2
16:16	147:3,5 148:7	177:14 196:2	reactive 184:3
ran 154:20	200:1,8,9,15	raring 8:5	read 11:13
	201:1 202:1	rate 104:5	14:23 17:18
166:11,17	203:1 204:1	108:9	32:14 125:3
178:22,23,23	205:1 206:1	rates 108:12	126:13,23
range 34:12 124:24 187:4	207:1 208:1	176:15	132:11,12,16
124.24 107.4			

[read - recovery]

164:9 172:11	132:20 133:2	131:22 132:21	80:24 81:3
173:18 182:19	134:18,23	recent 28:12	87:10 103:10
191:10,11	172:12 174:5	72:3 77:6	116:6,16
214:10 215:3,7	214:3	recently 76:18	117:14,25
225:25 236:17	reasonable	218:25	132:14,16
237:14 247:5	156:18	recess 67:2	145:8 147:4
reading 40:16	reasonably	102:23 180:7	148:4 152:20
124:9 184:5	101:7	249:22	168:5 180:16
241:11	rebuttal 147:19	reclaim 77:3	222:18 241:2,4
ready 102:25	147:25 148:2	recognition	242:3
103:6 144:18	205:1 220:6	50:12	records 84:14
180:8	241:12	recognize	84:15 86:4
real 52:25	recall 44:16	12:23 16:25	134:7 170:3
185:6 189:20	58:18 67:23	18:21 20:9	171:4,9 174:18
191:23 198:2	70:11,15 71:17	23:5 50:6 62:5	224:8
realistically	72:4 76:15,20	78:21 245:12	recover 43:2
172:6 179:1	77:12 85:13	recognized	45:5,14 88:24
really 9:16 16:4	87:18 88:17	19:22 100:12	90:2 91:8
19:8 20:20	94:21 95:19	146:18 147:11	140:18 141:3
32:10 43:14	96:13,17 100:4	recognizing	154:24 185:5
47:6,10 50:18	100:21 115:2	19:25 61:4	189:1
63:20 114:20	115:13,22	90:9 95:1	recoverable
151:10 153:6,9	116:22 140:1	recollection	42:5,25 45:17
158:4 161:24	140:12 212:15	27:11 131:14	52:12 53:1
162:1 163:21	232:2,12 242:4	221:15	65:13 89:13
176:20,20,24	242:14	recommence	90:16 93:16
184:3 187:9	recalling 42:23	67:1	recovered
195:23 214:10	129:20	recommending	90:25
220:9 244:22	receipt 11:5	230:3	recoveries
245:12	37:3	recompletion	203:2
reappear 117:7	receive 54:10	19:18 170:2	recovery 21:22
reason 38:4	133:22,24	reconvene	22:22 24:14,20
107:18 108:10	received 23:12	102:8	24:24 25:3
115:22 129:8	41:17,17 86:3	record 5:13	33:19 36:20
131:13,15,21	113:11,14	8:13 67:4	43:16 45:22

54:25 55:2,3	135:1 136:1	references	regulations
62:14 64:17,20	137:1 138:1	228:2	40:16 107:14
64:21 88:12,19	139:1 140:1	referencing	reinitiate 116:2
89:20 90:13	141:1 142:1,8	227:17	relate 76:9
114:10 123:23	142:10 143:1	referred 69:15	217:13,15
149:14 155:1	recurring	75:6 82:10	related 15:4
155:10 203:1	186:3	85:4 134:12	37:8 49:6
recross 67:13	red 157:19	210:14 212:21	107:15 123:21
67:16,18 73:14	166:14 176:8	213:2 234:20	250:13
78:1,2,12 79:1	181:2 192:11	referring 50:21	relates 70:2
80:1 81:1 82:1	194:6 197:20	72:6 74:23	relating 62:23
83:1 84:1 85:1	197:21	90:12 115:25	62:24
86:1 87:1 88:1	redirect 65:25	206:25 227:24	relation 46:20
89:1 90:1 91:1	67:1,11,12,14	230:10 235:7	49:11 119:18
92:1 93:1 94:1	67:15,17,21	235:16 241:3	119:19,23
95:1 96:1 97:1	68:1 69:1 70:1	reflect 89:15	relationship
98:1 99:1	71:1 72:1 73:1	205:13 207:11	126:15
100:1 101:1	74:1 75:1,3	reflective 62:11	relative 224:1
102:1 103:1	76:1 77:1	refreshed	224:13,13,15
104:1 105:1	136:16 141:8	71:19 77:14	225:12 226:6
106:1 107:1	141:19,22	regard 77:15	227:1
108:1 109:1	143:14,15	regarding 5:18	relatively 156:7
110:1 111:1	reduce 155:20	87:25 109:10	171:19 187:11
112:1,12,17	189:5	154:9 155:9	224:3
113:1 114:1	reef 55:18	regardless	relativity 226:7
115:1 116:1	95:16,22	116:24	relax 7:17
117:1 118:1,6	refer 112:21	regional 79:8	release 144:1,6
119:1 120:1	172:21 222:13	79:21 80:7	relevant 75:9
121:1 122:1	reference 56:15	217:8	115:5 153:6
123:1 124:1	80:21 166:12	regionally	reliance 62:18
125:1 126:1	193:15 197:3	153:19	relied 63:12
127:1 128:1	230:14 235:13	regular 163:13	68:16 128:22
129:1 130:1	referenced	194:1	129:4 242:4
131:1 132:1	222:23	regulation	relies 244:20
133:1 134:1		107:10	

[rely - reserve]

rely 109:8	reminded	reporter 8:4	represents
131:16	136:2	103:8 128:19	159:6 230:11
relying 47:1	reminder	reporting	request 5:22
68:13 84:2	249:14	202:10	55:7 57:14
95:24 119:25	reminding 8:11	reports 123:12	60:9 67:9
120:1 127:22	136:23	represent 8:20	112:1,3 117:2
128:7 205:20	remove 162:3	101:20 181:1	134:4 146:1
206:8 209:12	185:12 186:6	195:5 207:7	147:24
209:18 229:2	removed 110:6	representation	requested
remaining	161:25	112:8 120:2,2	55:11 64:3
109:11 238:2	rental 32:7,8	120:4,24 127:5	132:16
remains 95:23	reopen 142:7	131:20 167:14	requesting
remedial	repeat 5:25	205:5,7	37:20 40:4
185:10	25:20 31:4	representations	43:23 107:6
remediate	84:18 128:17	45:9 68:7,11	requests 56:19
20:15 23:14	139:8 209:16	68:12,16 75:18	110:20 117:20
64:24 77:3	repeating	98:17,18 99:13	require 55:23
remediation	35:11	99:16,19,23	56:6
20:11 76:14	rephrase 89:23	117:17 120:9	required 77:3
113:12,21	127:7 132:1	121:21,22,24	107:3 179:5,14
114:1,4,6	137:24 138:20	122:4 131:16	requirement
remember	138:23 139:19	205:21 209:12	44:17 107:1,10
25:19 68:22,25	207:12 209:3	209:19	107:11
71:7 84:11	234:2 247:24	representative	requirements
96:24 125:10	rephrased 90:7	166:24 183:1	77:3 101:5
125:11 126:1	replaced	194:8 198:12	requires 41:2
136:3 155:21	189:25	207:17 224:9	186:6
192:8 194:24	report 41:9	represented	rescission
212:2,4 219:9	159:6 168:9	22:25 182:24	121:2
221:1 228:20	192:4 227:17	205:4,11	research 55:20
229:3,14,18	230:10 241:6	208:21 209:5	57:11,12
230:7 243:7	250:7	representing	reservation
remind 8:7	reported 41:6	121:1 128:24	143:24
103:12 249:18	114:3	150:2,4,10	reserve 115:15
		205:13,17	116:21 123:12

reserves 42:25	respect 59:16	rest 222:10	revised 105:8
83:19 189:1	68:8,17 70:24	rested 8:5	241:25
reservoir 91:15	71:10,15,20	result 90:10	revoke 44:2
135:5,15,24	76:19 104:8	108:11 110:21	48:9,12 51:24
149:13 150:14	110:8 139:6	110:23 239:23	60:8 109:17
150:22 154:1	163:4 193:4	resulted 217:22	revoking 60:4
157:18 158:10	201:3	218:4 220:1	rework 9:14
158:13 159:11	respond 46:23	236:15 238:22	rft 164:22
164:21 165:6	62:8 63:23	resulting 228:7	rice 3:1 6:19
166:23 167:3	86:9 117:14	results 191:23	8:20 10:7,11
174:15 175:7	131:5	219:24	12:6,8,9,22
175:18 176:5	responded	resume 116:23	13:20 25:17
176:18 177:1,2	98:11 110:19	201:17 248:24	28:21,25 31:3
177:8,18,25	117:21	retained 13:6	77:11 105:7,14
189:11 191:3	responding	59:3 117:5	105:24 118:2
191:21 192:23	19:4,14	retread 78:10	140:3 146:13
199:23 210:19	response 35:19	revealed 115:1	148:11 168:7
237:20	37:13 55:12	revenue 83:18	171:16
reservoirs	86:1 91:7	reverse 161:7	rice's 10:12
165:12 190:12	93:11 96:6	review 9:13	105:17
211:7	97:20 98:5	107:13 110:11	rich 161:19
residual 36:21	103:16 108:2	111:15 113:17	189:18,23
42:5 45:10,15	131:4 134:4	113:25 114:3	227:21 230:24
50:9 62:13	136:18	122:21 129:17	rid 177:23
71:2 91:22	responses	134:21 208:9	184:15 186:9
125:14 126:2,9	111:8	236:2	right 6:9 7:14
126:24 150:4	responsibilities	reviewed 21:2	8:3,25 9:3 10:9
151:8 203:5,8	79:23	22:2 68:7 69:9	11:3,17 12:2
203:10	responsibility	86:20 87:9	13:4,10 15:2
resolution 97:6	40:17 46:8	99:20 101:14	16:14,20,23
110:4	58:9	107:14 113:14	17:9,25 19:2
resource 160:6	responsible	135:1 205:22	20:3,22 21:11
172:3 195:24	23:21,24 51:7	209:20	21:24 22:18,23
resources 2:23	80:10 81:13	reviewing 33:2	23:3 24:23,24
172:3	104:1	135:21 137:2	25:10,23 26:2

26:6 27:14	142:7,14,18,25	225:1,24 228:4	roz 42:17,24
28:15,21,25	143:1,1,13,14	228:12 229:6	43:12,16,18
29:3,10 30:9	143:17 144:8	229:22 238:24	45:6 46:22
32:8,16 33:5	144:23,24	239:1 240:4	47:3 49:18
36:12 39:10	148:15 151:9	241:8 243:3,9	52:12,25 56:7
44:22 46:3	153:7 155:11	243:17 247:1	56:16 60:21,23
52:5,11 53:24	155:21 157:8	249:19	61:21 64:17
55:1 62:24	160:13 162:6	rights 39:5,5,6	65:12 68:17,18
67:3,4 68:3,9	163:8 165:2,20	39:6,9,14,17	88:13,20,25
68:18 69:6	166:19,25	40:19 43:2	89:21 90:4,25
70:9 72:10,18	167:4,18,19	46:11,15 51:12	91:10 92:3,13
72:24 76:25	168:7,24 169:9	59:24 61:10,11	92:19 93:8,16
77:4,8,20 78:2	169:11 170:15	64:11 76:8	95:4,11 105:4
82:10 87:1,16	170:21 171:1	85:12 87:21	105:4 106:6,11
87:18 100:16	172:20,25	106:22,22	106:11 108:9
102:8 103:4,10	173:16,20	107:4	108:10,11,16
107:21,21	175:4,5 177:7	ringing 9:1,4	108:22 109:2
114:1,19	178:2,12 179:2	ripley 1:10	109:11 120:4
115:15 117:9	180:2,25	risk 108:11	123:8,18,19
117:23 118:10	181:15 183:9	risky 45:2	124:6,8,21
119:2,7,14,20	185:3 186:19	road 195:20	125:1,8 126:7
120:3,15 123:2	187:7 191:12	rock 153:7	126:10,19
123:9,20 124:4	191:21,25	189:6 190:9	127:2,10
124:13,23	192:13 193:11	role 80:8	128:10,24,25
125:4,15,19	193:14 197:3	118:22 202:14	140:19 149:14
126:4 127:2,11	200:7 201:17	202:17 203:19	150:10 151:7,7
127:23 128:11	207:20 210:9	room 6:8 98:24	151:9,18 153:6
129:1,24 130:9	210:13,15	99:5,7,7	154:5,7 156:22
130:23 131:2	212:6,10	122:18 129:22	159:21 172:3
132:7 134:5	213:19 214:7,9	130:22	175:17 177:20
135:6,15,25	214:19 215:12	roughly 160:11	178:15 185:4
136:7,13	218:5,8,20	194:17	192:21 195:8
137:14,20	219:9,22	round 67:7	196:11,19,22
138:8 139:22	220:22,24	royalties 155:3	198:24 199:24
140:4 141:5,19	221:4,5,9	155:7	205:6,13,18

[roz - san]

206:3,17	121:3,6 122:24	42:18 43:1	167:2,8 168:15
208:20 209:4,6	sales 122:13	45:2 48:25	170:8 174:16
209:14,21	149:24 150:19	50:24 51:4	174:24 175:16
217:15 221:5	206:4,17,21	57:3 60:13,17	175:21,22
rozatos 1:11	210:5,8	60:19 61:2	176:19 179:22
249:2,10,17	salinities 190:2	62:2 63:5 65:8	181:18 182:11
rude 201:1,11	salinity 182:13	66:20 68:18	182:14 189:14
rule 107:10	182:15,16	69:6,17 70:6,9	189:25 192:12
rules 107:2	189:17 199:14	70:14,24 71:5	192:23 193:7
120:6	saltwater 8:24	71:10 76:2	194:18 198:8
run 166:18	9:10 10:4,6,20	85:17 88:20,25	198:25 199:5
184:20	10:25 11:4,8	90:4,25 91:10	199:18,25
running 57:1	11:21 12:1,25	93:16 95:12	211:22 212:1,3
187:7	17:11,12 25:17	100:4,19,25	213:6,7 215:4
runs 183:12	28:24 29:23	101:3,5 105:4	215:9,11,17,22
rust 190:20	30:23 31:7,10	106:6,10,11	216:6,7,8,16
ryan 173:5	31:25 33:22	108:9,22 109:3	217:1,8,25
ryno 34:8 40:1	35:14 37:13	125:20 126:16	218:7,9,14,20
173:2 191:24	39:11 41:8	127:15 129:1	219:16,18
192:9	44:25 49:2	135:5,14,22,24	220:3 222:19
S	50:13 51:4	149:8,14	222:22,25
s 1:5	52:10 60:9	150:25 151:23	223:3,4 227:11
sacrosanct	62:25 63:4	152:16 153:12	227:14,22,25
136:22	76:2 86:2,7	153:21,23,24	228:6,11,17,17
saint 1:5	128:10,25	154:14 156:22	229:12,20
sake 177:24	sample 183:1	157:12,18,24	230:3,5,12,16
225:10	samples 181:5	158:19 159:13	231:6,15
sale 18:11,24	187:25	159:15,20	235:21 236:13
23:16,18,23	san 2:13,14	160:4,8 161:15	237:21 238:5
30:25 32:14	8:25 9:10 12:1	161:20 162:13	238:13,14,22
67:25 68:2	17:7,12 26:16	162:20 163:9	239:4,14
76:23 119:19	26:19 30:3,12	163:16,23	240:10,12,14
119:24 120:9	31:11,17 32:2	164:25 165:7,9	240:16,18
120:13,14,16	36:14,22 38:7	165:9,24,24	245:2,20,21
120:13,14,10	40:5,7 41:8	166:3,6,25	246:7,11,18,23

246:25 247:9	98:24 123:6,6	scheduling	security 120:10
248:7	124:5,25	5:20	120:11,22,25
santa 1:5 2:4,7	125:14 126:6	school 39:4	121:4,13
2:10,18,24 3:7	126:10,18	118:18	see 7:22 8:3,9
santoyo 2:12	127:6 154:23	science 62:12	16:10,15,15
sat 231:19	172:12 191:10	scope 59:16	17:2,20,24
satisfied 47:16	191:11 194:23	74:9,19 75:3	18:4 21:17
satisfy 57:13	207:5 213:19	scott 28:20	25:15 30:6
saturation	215:4,4,10,10	scout 32:9	38:18 47:4
125:3 221:17	215:11 227:24	screaming	52:24 65:23
222:1,6	231:10 237:16	171:25	72:25 73:11
saturations	238:21,25	screen 17:22	79:13,25 87:3
108:21 193:3	239:2 240:11	79:11,13 99:2	87:7,13 98:25
save 36:20	240:18 247:8	145:6 200:16	103:7,11 107:5
saved 172:12	scale 161:1,21	scroll 183:6	108:3 117:9
saw 9:18,21	161:22,24	searching 9:6	118:1 126:6,11
87:2 99:1	162:2,12,19,22	sec 13:25	126:18 132:25
saying 16:18	184:13 185:1	156:16	137:3,5 152:19
22:6 23:2	190:20,23	second 17:3	157:15 159:9
29:22 30:11	191:1 192:3	22:19 24:11	162:10 165:22
32:12 33:15	227:18,23	59:21 167:19	166:12 170:5
37:17,21 38:4	228:8 235:23	220:11 231:3	170:12 171:12
42:9,16 48:13	236:10,16	secondary	171:18 173:10
85:23 86:16,17	238:23 239:19	21:22 22:22	175:1,14 176:4
100:8,9 119:4	239:25 240:3,5	24:13,23 33:19	176:12,17
121:1 123:19	scales 191:2	54:25 55:1	177:12 179:2
124:7,22	239:23	64:20 114:10	181:7,19,20,22
128:15 129:13	scaling 161:14	section 53:17	183:6,10,11,15
198:18 201:10	scenario	69:21 152:18	183:16,24
201:16 207:23	155:17 221:9	152:23 192:7	184:21 185:18
223:15 226:2	221:10,12	securities	185:19 186:21
230:11 232:5	schedule 6:12	120:11,22	186:25 187:23
233:19 235:20	7:4	121:5,5,10,11	188:1 189:10
says 10:22	scheduled 5:8	121:14 122:5	190:1,11,21
21:19 59:22		131:17	191:2,18 192:9

192:10,19	233:2	series 112:16	shallower
193:24 194:10	seep 189:13	220:14	104:20
194:15,19	231:24 232:11	served 77:20	shandler 1:14
195:21,25	232:19 233:7	86:1 110:15	3:14 59:1,9,11
196:2,9,16	234:13 235:3	service 192:1	59:13 60:1
197:6 198:14	self 23:12	services 72:9	61:1 62:1 63:1
198:15 200:19	sell 37:11	83:7	64:1 65:1,17
200:20 207:21	122:15 209:8	servicing 83:23	65:22 73:25
215:1,8,15	seller 23:21	set 11:12	142:24
223:13 225:7	35:15	150:21 157:9	shanor 2:6
225:16 227:18	selling 150:2	168:5 169:7	share 19:1,7
228:2 236:21	semantics	175:21 220:21	68:23 69:10
238:8 241:16	231:13	250:8	79:10 115:11
242:7,8 244:16	senior 145:12	setting 189:10	145:5 200:16
249:20	202:4,8 203:19	seven 216:23	sharing 122:9
seeing 57:3	207:24	216:24 217:14	sharon 2:5
58:22 157:4	sense 102:10	217:15	18:10 22:10
161:14 181:8	204:18 211:18	several 35:16	sheds 50:23
199:9	sensitivity	116:19 135:9	sheehan 12:11
seeking 105:24	178:22	188:23 191:19	13:24 14:3
109:16 133:5	sent 28:19 29:2	193:21 203:3	67:17 73:8,17
seem 47:16	37:5 200:11	222:20	74:3,21 75:17
73:10 115:5	sentence 21:18	shading 210:8	77:22 81:2
seemed 175:11	21:19 22:3,6	shaheen 2:5	89:2,4,6,16
seems 75:12	22:19 24:11	3:15 67:1,11	90:8 96:14,19
116:8 136:20	69:16 70:1	67:22 68:1	115:21 117:13
240:22	separate 18:5	69:1 70:1 71:1	127:4,25
seen 10:13	88:7 190:22	72:1 73:1,2,7	128:12 129:2
12:24 28:1	separated	74:1,16 75:1	129:11 130:11
44:13 46:21	61:11 82:22	76:1 77:1,24	131:23 132:8
50:16 91:2	151:11	100:15 119:22	136:14 139:16
104:18 114:22	september 82:4	137:16 141:8	139:23 140:20
134:3,11	82:21	141:18,19	143:15,21
163:19 205:15	sequence	143:14	241:18
207:10 208:16	211:14		

[sheet - sir]

sheet 98:24	shows 125:20	simmons 2:8	59:8 60:14
shelf 45:12,13	149:1 152:9,11	simple 174:15	61:21 62:21
shift 7:4	152:15 156:20	simply 145:18	63:14,23 64:19
short 170:15	161:9 164:3	201:2	65:10,15 66:21
shorthand	165:4,18	single 33:9 99:3	79:14 80:2
112:21 250:8	167:14 174:9	sir 8:19,22 9:24	82:8,11,15,18
show 125:21	178:19 180:23	10:2,5,8,14,17	83:1,6,25
132:2 137:7	182:12,20,21	10:21 11:14,18	84:21,23 85:6
152:7 153:12	189:8 193:20	11:23 12:3	85:8,14,22
156:24 162:13	193:22,22	13:2,5,11,14,18	87:11,22 88:5
165:11 166:9	227:13 237:25	14:24 15:3,15	91:11 92:5
166:22 171:8	shrink 174:11	15:18 16:12,25	93:3,10,18
182:10 190:14	197:15,16	17:10 18:16	94:1,10,23,25
192:14 193:12	shut 37:18,22	20:4,8,12,23	95:19 96:1
195:3 212:8	83:11,14	21:7,10,16,25	98:2,13,15,21
217:7 231:17	sic 30:24	22:17,24 23:4	99:1,11 100:5
233:12,21	149:23	24:15 25:5,7	100:13,22
242:2 244:17	side 5:24 6:9	25:24 26:7,9	101:13,23
244:25 245:7	53:24 80:25	26:12,14 27:6	103:14,21,24
246:15	168:23 178:18	27:9,15,18,25	105:15,20
showed 98:22	184:19 185:8	28:5,10,13,16	106:1,8,13,25
99:21 213:5	signature	28:22 29:1,4,6	108:19 109:1,9
showing 12:21	250:18	29:16,20 30:1	110:13,18,22
49:11 148:24	signed 49:16,19	30:5 31:8,17	111:4,16
152:8 153:21	significant 54:1	31:20 33:7	112:15 114:12
163:3,6 164:19	55:14,19 61:9	34:3,14 35:16	118:11,14
172:10,13	105:11 182:2	35:24 36:5	119:8,11,15,17
176:24 178:20	significantly	37:15 39:21,25	119:21 120:20
197:19 223:17	33:10	40:15 41:17	121:18 123:10
229:9	signing 32:10	42:1,20,23	123:17,21
shown 167:21	49:16	46:10 48:16	124:9,24 125:5
195:16 196:5	similar 74:5	49:1 51:1	125:9,16 126:5
196:14,24	91:2 161:3	52:23 53:2,4	126:8,12,20
197:14 237:8	163:12 170:9	53:17 54:6,19	127:3,13,17,19
239:1	188:2	57:7 58:16	127:24 130:1,3

[1	1	1
130:10,24	sizes 224:16	243:1	solids 183:16
131:3,6,10,12	sketch 237:8	slides 36:4	solution 50:18
131:18 133:25	238:21 239:1,3	122:9 123:5	237:24
134:22 135:7	skip 204:17,20	125:13 155:9	solutions
136:1 137:21	220:11	180:23 200:10	250:19
137:25 138:3,6	slide 17:3,15,16	204:16,20	somebody
138:9,16,19,25	17:20 125:15	231:23	42:11 187:7
139:6,12 140:5	125:25 126:3,4	slight 7:4	soon 112:4
140:13,15	148:24 149:19	219:13	sorry 9:2 13:25
141:6 144:22	149:21,24	slipping 231:3	17:20,24 66:1
200:20 201:20	150:8,13,17,19	slo 112:21,24	84:18 87:5
201:23 202:2,6	152:2,5 153:14	113:24 114:11	89:8 99:2,25
203:6,9,12,15	153:16 154:15	114:14	109:20 124:12
203:18,24	156:19 159:3	slope 174:20	128:6 131:11
204:2,5 205:19	160:11 161:9	slug 156:1,3,4	136:11 138:22
206:24 207:2	165:14,15,20	small 32:18	200:9 213:18
208:12 215:2	167:11,22	56:18,18 184:5	223:8 232:8
215:13	169:22 171:7,8	smaller 149:21	233:13 236:4
sit 212:14,25	173:22,23	224:18 225:3	241:19,21
214:3 229:25	174:8,9 178:16	smidge 197:15	sort 7:20 25:25
site 32:16,22	180:22 182:9	197:17	47:18 130:20
33:2 37:23	182:18 189:7	smiling 103:9	sosa 44:4 173:1
47:5 78:19,22	193:5 195:2,17	smokes 172:2	sought 110:11
78:25 79:9,22	196:5,15,24	snapshot	sound 236:23
79:24 80:6	197:14 204:25	156:23	236:24
82:24	205:21 207:22	sodium 185:19	sounding 7:10
sites 20:15	211:13,20	185:21	sounds 33:3
23:13 77:4	213:5,10 220:6	soils 175:5	36:6 48:20
114:4	220:16,16,20	sold 208:24,25	96:18 102:9
sitting 171:25	222:12 223:6,9	sole 37:11	172:25 237:1
228:23 230:8	223:9,11,14,15	solely 95:24	source 181:12
244:18	226:3 227:12	solid 163:22	182:13 186:20
six 32:19 36:16	227:13 228:3	solidifies 50:22	sources 83:15
174:23	232:15,17	solidify 47:6,11	south 2:23
	242:10,11,21		21:23 42:6

149:4 152:9	specifics 94:6	195:11	71:15,20 72:2
157:15 168:23	specified 146:6	start 5:15,21,22	74:13 75:7
213:7 215:15	speculation	6:9 9:8 29:14	90:20 91:17
southeast 95:5	209:10	54:20 113:20	109:25 110:3,5
225:9	speed 93:5	142:12 174:23	110:9,14,20,25
southern 53:18	spencer 2:3	179:13 181:19	110:25 111:13
space 107:22	spend 204:16	182:3 183:8	111:21 112:1
107:24 109:4	spent 22:7	185:11,18,25	112:20 113:3
span 64:22	33:16 47:24	186:1 190:4	113:20 114:5
spans 156:13	92:23 155:2	195:7,23 197:7	115:23 145:7
speak 45:7 54:7	201:8	248:23	150:6 155:4
63:20 64:14	spiking 176:7	started 26:20	167:17 168:22
80:11 81:25	spoke 35:16	28:15 29:5	194:1,2 218:21
84:6 92:16	57:9 71:14,22	41:20 88:11	stated 18:6
101:9 141:15	84:9,10,12	157:3 161:14	30:20 31:20
speaker 42:13	99:11	161:21 168:2	58:2,9 75:10
speaking 45:24	spots 156:2	168:10,11,12	78:20 89:17
49:2 56:11	159:11 163:10	168:14,20,25	90:13 92:5
114:22 160:12	springs 188:15	169:2,4,20,21	95:20 100:23
224:3 233:14	squares 194:6	170:1 173:8,10	106:19 108:5
speaks 237:10	216:20	173:12,14	130:17 132:24
242:3	staff 129:16	174:22 176:3	141:14
specialized	134:15 202:12	191:23 230:23	statement
201:10	208:6,7	starting 5:23	23:12 30:2,11
specializing	stages 179:11	5:25 7:3	30:17 58:21
201:7	179:13	161:11,12	101:15 107:18
specific 76:18	stand 8:4 29:25	174:16 181:22	108:1 129:12
76:19 77:7	159:18 160:2	195:7,8 197:10	129:19 238:16
93:2 117:20	standard	199:11	statements
207:4,11	179:12	starts 169:2	67:5 78:3,7
230:13	standpoint	state 1:2 23:13	81:5 87:23
specifically	179:10	26:23 46:13,15	106:14
31:11 35:22	stands 186:2	48:3,13 55:5	states 69:16
74:21 79:4,12	stars 149:5,7	58:3,6,10,12,23	70:2 236:7
230:4	157:15,19	59:4 66:14	

[stating - sulfate]

	1 c1 c	07.0.105.10	154 14 100 0 0
stating 87:12	stronger 61:6	97:8 105:10	154:14 192:2,2
96:8 112:2	strongly 45:4	158:24,25	231:9,11
status 77:10,15	74:6 206:16	216:2	substantially
77:18	208:20 209:4,6	suazo 3:8 6:25	174:1
statute 107:10	237:12	7:1 12:17 14:9	substantive
statutory 101:6	strontium	29:11 142:3,6	115:10
208:11	184:9,11,13,18	144:10 146:16	subsurface
stayed 194:17	184:25 185:11	148:14	106:21
217:22	185:13,16,24	subject 21:12	succeeded 13:7
ste 2:13	189:22,22	74:10 75:1	successor 13:5
steel 186:19	structural	submit 75:11	13:15,16
stenographic	210:22 211:2,5	submitted	succinct 47:13
250:8	structure 38:25	58:14	sudden 102:3
step 27:13,16	151:8,14 157:7	submitting	169:8 176:6
stick 143:19	157:8 210:13	113:20	191:6
sticks 151:8,9	210:15 211:21	subpoena 86:1	suffering 103:8
153:7	218:18 219:15	110:21 131:5	suffice 111:12
stop 25:10,22	220:7,9 232:1	134:4,6	sufficiency
35:11 130:8	232:12	subpoenaed	11:5
131:1 132:17	structures	130:17	sufficient 76:11
158:23 166:19	151:4	subpoenas 19:4	193:2
249:3,4	struggling	19:15	suggest 50:4
stopped 130:20	102:5	subsea 152:24	55:21 63:1
131:21 132:6	stuck 221:3	153:5,6 164:7	suggestion
132:21 133:1	studies 163:21	205:9,14,18	52:14
stopping 95:10	study 61:24	209:15,22	suggestions
story 9:16,16	stuff 9:14,15	241:15 243:23	117:15
straight 168:5	19:21 20:24	subsequent	suggests 237:12
177:21	22:3 34:12	78:15 87:24	suit 105:20
strata 165:3	44:11 47:25	subsidiary	suite 2:17 3:2
strategy 46:19	49:20 50:11	99:24 121:20	sulfate 161:19
stratigraphic	54:10,11 55:16	122:3	184:14,14
210:23 211:3	55:17 57:12	substantial	185:11,12
strong 231:23	60:22 61:25	21:20 22:8,20	187:4 188:24
237:4	71:23 94:5	33:17 152:20	189:18,19,23

227:21 228:8	81:16 89:25	survey 166:11	11:4,7,8,11
230:24 236:10	90:4 91:1,4	166:17,18	13:1,9,12
236:16 240:24	99:6 102:16	suspect 117:6	14:21 15:2,11
sulfates 184:20	103:1 104:15	suspend 52:1,9	15:14 16:24
184:21 187:19	105:1 115:24	57:10	17:8 104:4,9
sulfur 184:11	124:18 127:8	suspended 92:6	104:12 113:6
sum 199:21	132:1 146:20	92:11	181:9,25 182:1
summarizes	146:21 147:4	suspension	186:2,11,18
165:15	155:8 158:15	93:7	187:18 189:19
summary	161:23 180:1	swd 106:7	197:23,25
145:20 198:21	204:24 209:16	166:14 168:21	217:8,19,21,25
204:15 231:22	209:18 211:1	169:9,25 170:2	systems 28:24
summer 92:12	212:23 214:5	170:17 171:18	182:4 239:18
super 153:6	232:4 234:3,21	175:4 176:9,11	t
supplemental	241:20 243:11	182:15,25	t 2:5
105:9	244:1	192:9 193:17	tab 193:11
supply 161:18	surface 9:22,23	195:11,18	table 187:13
162:17 168:14	20:10 26:23	197:9 199:1	take 7:18 22:12
168:14 174:23	39:5,9,11	swds 82:6,23	39:8 51:22
175:8,13	40:18 51:13,13	106:19 109:16	55:6,13 64:22
176:11 198:3	62:24 76:9,10	149:6 167:8,15	65:2,24 73:10
198:19	76:11 86:2,6	167:23 172:17	111:19 112:8
supplying	107:20 194:7,8	181:1 193:22	125:22 147:16
83:12	197:9	swearing 136:6	155:18 178:4
support 48:5	surprise 109:23	sweep 109:5	179:24 194:13
48:14 58:3,4	surprises	sweeping	205:24 206:13
58:24 66:12	116:11	108:14	2203:24 200:13
73:23 168:16	surprising	swenergylaw	243:12,13
supporting	32:11 38:12	2:14	246:19
48:14	surrounded	swept 108:17	takeaway
supports 75:12	214:16	108:18	173:21,23
235:20	surrounding	switch 204:15	182:9 205:2
suppose 142:8	43:19 213:14	sworn 145:2	takeaways
sure 46:2 62:4	215:20 216:12	system 10:4,7	150:8
68:23 72:17		10:20,25 11:3	150.0

taken 19:24	66:15 67:23	ted 173:5	ten 47:24 52:15
26:8,10,13	76:15 90:10	telephone	64:22 65:2
27:16 67:2	111:9 115:23	58:17	196:8,10
80:16 100:20	119:22,25	tell 77:17 136:7	tendencies
102:23 152:16	122:11 124:21	148:25 149:23	161:14
164:23 171:3	127:20 134:23	150:18 153:16	tendered 19:5
171:11 177:3,5	173:23 176:20	154:18 156:20	tends 114:23
180:7 181:5	181:24 191:9	161:8 163:3	term 42:24
243:22 245:17	193:5 208:6,7	164:3 165:17	terminate
250:5	223:7 225:18	167:10 169:22	105:17,17
takes 64:19	226:23 241:6	174:9 178:19	terminated
178:6 182:1	242:10	180:23 182:19	25:16 81:17,20
talk 7:7 9:13	talks 229:19	189:8 190:25	81:21,23
17:14 21:18	231:4	193:20 198:22	terminology
25:8,15 38:22	targeted	217:4 220:7	81:17
48:2 84:24	221:18	223:2 229:1	terms 11:10
167:7 168:4	tax 155:6	230:13 235:6	23:9 26:5
169:24 180:21	tds 183:16	245:4 246:1,9	121:21 231:12
193:17 204:9	185:14,16	246:12,17,20	245:24
204:18 239:13	team 37:7	248:16	terrible 9:7
245:24	tears 158:3	tellez 132:12,15	territory 16:5
talked 17:5,15	tech 207:5	132:17 180:15	78:1
18:13 28:19	technical 87:25	250:3,19	tertiary 21:22
32:21,23 33:12	158:24 159:5	telling 22:19	22:22 24:14,20
35:2 36:2,3	168:9 202:12	126:25 127:12	24:24 25:3
47:7 54:6,8	202:15 227:16	221:24 224:10	33:19 36:20
66:8 76:13	229:8,11,23,25	225:21 228:14	55:3 64:21
119:23 122:7	230:2,10	228:24 229:5	123:23 203:14
152:12 158:25	249:13	230:8 238:11	test 26:16 27:3
188:21	technicians	244:4	27:14 53:20
talking 15:9,13	202:16	tells 226:9,12	187:3 212:3
33:14 34:16	technology	226:14	tested 151:16
37:2 43:25	45:18 49:4	temperature	151:22 211:20
44:2 45:16	62:5,12	185:17 191:4	testified 27:24
48:23 56:4,21		239:25	72:3 73:8

75:17 78:23	100:17 105:9	72:4,13 89:21	185:10 242:8
79:7,22 82:5	106:24 109:7,8	90:11 120:10	things 49:5
89:20 93:11	111:8 112:23	202:22	55:15 62:7
97:19 98:16	114:7 118:9	texting 143:6	114:24 116:14
100:18,19	128:1,14	thank 5:5 6:13	135:9 136:23
105:13 108:21	129:21 131:24	6:17,20 7:4,8,9	136:25 160:16
109:14 116:4	132:11,25,25	7:12 8:2,10	161:15,19
129:3 140:9	134:25 135:19	14:13 29:8,15	163:18 168:4
145:2,14 147:6	136:17 137:9	29:21 34:25	169:4 174:22
163:18 211:19	139:17,24	53:3,5,6,7,12	175:5,17 176:1
219:5 231:21	140:1,2,17,21	57:15,17,20,23	178:24 185:14
232:9,10	145:22 147:19	59:7 65:17,20	186:1,13,24
testify 46:3	147:22,25	65:22 66:22	187:20 188:11
88:18 117:8	148:22 151:25	77:24 102:20	188:15 189:5
125:7 233:12	189:9 201:18	102:22 103:1,3	190:24 193:21
233:24	204:18,19	112:13 117:11	205:15 212:7
testifying 47:19	205:2 211:8,24	118:4 132:18	220:19 233:12
73:12 101:12	211:25 212:8	141:25 142:6	think 15:25
232:4 233:10	212:10,19	142:19 143:11	17:16 20:1,16
233:20	217:17 219:1,3	144:3,12 145:5	22:14,15 24:2
testimony 8:23	219:9 221:23	146:19 147:13	26:22 28:1
17:4,18 20:18	222:11 232:2	147:17 148:19	30:20 34:4
20:21 28:3	232:13 234:22	158:21 180:19	36:16 47:13
29:21 33:13	241:10,12,13	193:9 200:6	51:6,7,22
37:15 46:4	244:21	243:9 249:18	52:19 53:25
47:3,22 51:17	testing 95:4	249:20	55:13 56:14
53:13 56:9	tests 154:12	thanks 15:23	57:7 59:6
57:7,24 69:2,5	212:6,16,20	117:4 127:8	60:14 61:6,18
69:9,23 72:18	213:2 218:11	theirs 184:5,22	62:11 63:5,11
73:3,23 74:17	218:17 219:17	thick 125:2,14	70:12 73:24
74:18 78:14	219:20,22,25	125:18 126:2,3	75:2,5,9 82:5
81:3 86:21	220:1,1,2	150:11	88:10 91:2
87:2 93:1	texaco 118:23	thing 7:6 17:14	104:16 105:6
95:20,25 96:3	texas 2:14	50:6 137:8	107:5 113:1
96:16 100:16	54:21 55:1	161:24 184:3	119:12,23

101 10 106 00	00.04.01.6	07 10 01 4	000 14 001 10
121:10 126:23	90:24 91:6	27:13 31:4	208:14 231:13
127:20,22	100:8 127:21	32:17 33:9	236:8 244:24
128:2 129:7	146:24 147:2	39:20,22 40:3	timeframe 55:6
132:4 135:18	168:4 200:12	50:24 51:8,18	168:1,6 173:9
136:22,22	201:12,15	52:2,11 53:5	181:21
137:5,12	242:12	54:23 57:11	timeline 54:15
140:14,24,24	thoughts 49:18	64:18,19 70:19	54:23 56:5,14
141:1,21 150:6	thousand 34:22	71:20 75:3,16	timely 78:11
162:25 171:1	171:21	78:24 79:2	times 46:6 64:6
180:3 192:8	thousands 15:6	81:24 82:13,21	77:6 137:9
193:10 194:20	184:22	84:24 85:4	152:12 169:3
200:22 205:15	three 26:18,25	91:25 92:15,18	187:5,5 197:8
207:12 210:4	27:3 28:24	92:23 99:18	221:2 222:20
210:12 215:4,7	40:6 41:5,12	100:3,12	230:19
219:3 220:12	47:8 54:5,9	101:24 108:8	timing 27:4
220:13,15,18	55:22,23 56:5	112:11 113:19	232:14
223:9 227:5	75:24 92:4,14	114:20 115:7	tiny 214:11
228:2 231:10	92:19 93:9,20	115:16 119:3	tired 249:12
232:3 233:11	93:25 94:9	119:10 122:22	title 172:11
233:22 234:18	109:24 116:8	122:23 129:1	titles 80:12
234:19,25	123:7,12 124:5	130:19 133:9	toby 79:18
235:12 242:9	125:1 149:3	133:11,20,25	204:9
243:7 247:20	154:12,12	142:13 144:1,6	today 5:6,10
249:3,5	179:11 199:15	144:18 156:23	15:17 22:25
thinking 9:7	206:25 207:15	158:23 159:17	24:13 29:21
27:6 35:6 40:8	208:2,10,21	161:17 162:9	45:17 106:15
113:15 119:1,5	216:21	162:20 165:25	114:23 115:9
thinks 75:11	thrown 59:2	166:2 170:13	137:13 147:21
247:8,22	thumbs 180:15	174:20 175:4	211:13 212:14
third 38:9 60:7	tie 114:24	176:7 177:15	219:5 242:20
206:6 236:6	ties 50:14	179:24 181:6,7	244:18 249:5
thomas 10:15	till 31:8 50:10	183:24 194:20	together 50:18
11:15	54:20	194:20,25	159:2
thought 37:4	time 19:10,19	196:3 201:8	told 9:19 37:4
66:7 73:10	20:5,6 23:1	204:11,16	81:12 88:11
	,	,	

98:7 107:16	194:4 195:20	transportation	191:16 248:18
130:8 137:18	225:19 226:10	64:24	trying 7:13
139:9 224:20	226:15	trap 151:5	33:4 91:4
tomorrow 5:18	totality 35:6	215:25 216:3,8	111:10 122:15
5:19,23,25 7:3	totally 7:23	217:12,22	147:3 158:25
248:17,23	24:10 44:12	trapped 216:1	159:1 173:18
249:6,15,21	70:18 74:8	218:4	178:25 200:10
took 27:13	188:16	trapping	201:1 222:16
31:22 40:8	touch 220:19	210:21 211:2,3	226:4 232:20
55:10 70:17	touched 180:21	tread 129:7	242:24 246:21
134:19 135:20	tough 217:4	tremaine 19:12	247:3,3
156:14 174:17	tracers 188:11	tremendous	tubing 190:23
176:15	track 167:17	62:5 104:18	190:24 191:15
top 72:17	tracks 84:2	129:14 134:12	turn 22:10
125:20 149:4	tract 197:3,8	134:14	134:8
150:23 151:13	tracts 197:19	tremendously	turned 9:17
151:19 155:13	training 145:21	50:5	22:15 134:3
157:8 169:9	transcript 1:7	trespass 39:18	turning 175:17
172:22 182:23	86:21 116:2	tried 54:10	two 26:22
183:7 192:12	141:16 250:1	70:19	32:13,13 40:9
194:21 196:9	250:10	trouble 46:5	42:7 44:19
211:21 218:18	transfer 5:16	52:19 168:23	54:17 55:10
218:20 219:14	7:7 103:2	169:14	56:3,20 64:22
219:16,18	transferred	true 76:22	66:18 70:8
228:21 229:4	13:7 37:6	83:21 120:7	83:22 91:23
232:8,12 235:8	122:25	147:22 204:11	96:10,21 137:9
245:14 247:21	transferring	204:11 250:9	152:11,15
247:22	123:1	truly 140:10	182:22 183:4
topic 200:25	transition	trust 16:18	187:3 193:1
tops 218:25	125:23 151:3,6	truth 136:7,9	211:20 215:9
219:6 245:12	151:12,17,20	truthful 136:11	216:21 219:22
245:15,24	218:17 219:14	138:7	220:1,1,21,22
total 36:16	transpired	try 19:6 22:12	225:8 239:18
154:24 155:1	18:23 58:19	23:17 36:18	type 20:25 94:4
172:13 183:16		61:7 131:5	97:21 125:20

187:20 188:16	105:2 108:4	unexplained	42:4 51:11
190:25 207:3	109:15 110:7	157:4	71:2,6,11
207:15,17	115:22 124:2	unidentified	107:22,25
typed 21:2	133:2 134:15	42:13	200:3
types 54:9	135:8,17	unified 14:17	units 35:5
94:15	136:25 137:19	14:20	83:22 91:23
typically 151:2	137:23 138:1	unit 17:7 21:24	92:4,14,20
204:9	138:14,21,24	24:18 33:20	93:9 96:11,13
u	139:3,4,10	35:21 37:8	105:18 123:7
ultimately	146:6 201:1	38:24 42:6	124:5 149:3
20:14	209:1,17	43:21 46:12	199:15 206:25
um 24:4	241:10	50:7,11,13	207:16 208:2
uncertainty	understanding	53:23,24 54:4	208:11,21
238:11	40:15 58:8,16	61:4,16,18	209:7
under 8:8	83:9 85:11	64:4,8 66:18	unlimited
40:20 63:2	88:2 94:10,14	95:5 101:5	44:12
76:1 103:13	97:12 109:19	104:19,24	unnecessarily
104:1 107:21	109:22 110:3	105:23 121:3	78:9
116:18 120:22	111:5 112:23	149:17 159:20	unrelated
120:25 121:4	113:4,23 114:2	160:4 168:8,22	74:14
121:10,13	120:13 121:15	169:2,11	unsure 102:4
122:4 123:6,6	129:21 207:19	170:18 172:18	212:24
124:9 136:3,19	208:19 237:23	172:19,24	update 164:16
147:21 156:17	238:3,19	173:1,4,8	updates 164:18
undergrad	understood	174:1 194:4	upwards
201:25	90:5,23 91:1	198:4,18 200:2	140:18 141:4
underneath	93:13 97:4	207:6 230:4	209:7
16:17 176:19	98:17 103:17	231:7,9 232:22	urge 51:25
223:24	205:1 233:6	unit's 191:11	use 11:4 45:6
understand	242:9 244:1	unitization	61:19 133:5
10:6 30:8 32:4	undertake	17:1 30:13	162:7 168:15
58:4 70:18,22	92:18 108:7	50:25 101:6	236:19 241:25
71:8 72:20	undertaken	208:10 236:8	243:25
73:2 91:5	92:1	unitized 30:6	used 42:24 83:4
92:25 100:6,24		38:24 39:12	89:21 90:11

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	113:5 133:15	verbal 72:1	volumes 24:18	152:3 214:5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	162:8 185:22	verified 214:5	45:1 60:20	225:17 242:8
using112:22veritext250:19172:14173:24waste46:9,10119:13162:20versus72:9174:17176:2146:1950:19,20188:10227:19177:15185:20223:19226:1059:2461:10231:21242:17247:21226:12,17160:5wasteful60:16244:24vertical163:18227:17wasteful60:16utilize33:4167:25232:1,7wwastewater170:16vice145:12wag155:14,1915:143:22vacuum15:16vice250:6wait67:1281:724:1941:18,21valid62:16219:12wait67:1281:8116:114:18,21validate125:24violation85:2,3waiked200:17waike84:9104:13,24valuable11:1violations113:12viscosity189:575:1181:816:1100:12value50:17vist32:2391:1102:15158:2,12,17158:2,12,17value50:3,5174:19158:15164:17160:22161:18values214:7223:22224:14223:22220:1923:24values214:7223:22224:19223:1220:22160:3value50:17223:22224:19158:15164:17160:22value214:7223:22224:14225:4,18	186:20 234:20	verify 56:16	109:5 159:7	wants 117:18
119:13162:20versus72:9174:17176:2146:1950:19,20188:10227:19177:15185:20223:19226:1059:2461:10231:21242:17247:21226:12,17160:5244:24vertical163:18227:17wasteful60:16utilize33:4167:25232:1,7vwastewater170:16vice145:12207:24wag155:14,19vacuum15:14207:24video250:6wit67:12valid62:16219:12vaik67:1281:724:19validate125:24violate43:1violate43:1validation26:20120:10walke200:1762:2validly63:11violations17:1447:17155:24valuation40:23viscosity189:575:1189:24value50:1750:3,5174:19158:2,12,1763:2564:1043:1746:20159:7,12160:3values214:750:3,5174:19158:15164:17values214:750:3,5174:19158:15164:17variables223:22224:1,9220:1923:24223:22variation224:14225:2,24200:22204:21183:14226:15,22,2424:1224:1224:1224:12variation226:15,22,2424:1224:1224:1223:24var	241:25	verifying 115:3	170:4,21,25	warming 7:16
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	using 112:22	veritext 250:19	172:14 173:24	waste 46:9,10
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	119:13 162:20	versus 72:9	174:17 176:21	46:19 50:19,20
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	188:10 227:19	177:15 185:20	223:19 226:10	59:24 61:10
utilize33:4167:25wwastewater170:16vice145:12wag155:14,1915:14v202:4,8203:19155:23water15:14vacuums15:16video250:6wait67:1281:7vaid62:16219:12walk220:14water14:18,21validate125:24violate43:1walked200:1785:1760:20validation26:20120:10walker84:985:2,3106:10109:12validy63:11113:12violations17:1447:17125:2215:11.1valuation40:23visit32:2391:1102:15158:2,12,17value50:170:3,5174:19158:15164:17160:22160:7,9,15,19values214:750:3,5174:19158:15164:17160:22161:18variables223:24223:22224:14225:2,3200:22204:21160:3,14variation225:4,18,19243:1243:1243:1243:1,44,15163:9,14variaous94:15values/s21,2,24vanued30:9174:15,23,24various94:15values/s21,2,24vanued30:9174:15,23,24	231:21 242:17	247:21	226:12,17	160:5
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	244:24	vertical 163:18	227:17	wasteful 60:16
v202:4,8 203:19 207:24wag 153:14,19 155:23179:21 water 14:18,21 24:19 41:7,8vacuums 15:16 valid 62:16 85:17,20 86:13 86:18 87:1 validate 125:24 validation 26:20violate 43:1 violation 61:10 violation 120:10waik 220:14 walker 84:9 85:2,3water 14:18,21 24:19 41:7,8validate 125:24 validation 26:20violating 61:10 violation 120:10walked 200:17 violation 85:2,3walker 84:9 104:13,24valuable 11:1 valuable 11:1 valuable 11:1 values 214:7violations visit 32:23 volume 43:14 223:22 224:1,9T7:18 17:3 179:4,16 191:6 197:21106:10 109:12 155:24 156:1,2variables 223:24 variation 183:14223:22 224:1,9 226:15,22,24vanted 30:9163:9,14 168:13,14,15various 94:15226:15,22,24 volume's226:15,22,24vanted 30:9179:4,13 174:15,23,24	utilize 33:4	167:25 232:1,7	W	wastewater
v202:4,8 203:19155:23179:21vacuums 15:16207:24wait 67:12 81:7water 14:18,21valid 62:16219:12wait 67:12 81:7stil 16:185:17,20 86:13219:12violate 43:1117:945:1 46:20validate 125:24violating 61:10walke 200:1792:8 95:22validation120:10water 7:18 17:3106:10 109:1226:20violations17:14 47:17125:22 151:11valuable 11:1113:12viscosity 189:559:20 64:4value 50:17visit 32:2391:1 102:15158:2,12,1763:25 64:1043:17 46:20124:18 146:21159:7,12 160:3values 214:750:3,5 174:19158:15 164:17160:7,9,15,19variables223:22 224:1,9200:22 204:21162:8,13,16,20variation225:4,18,19226:15,22,24220:19 233:24163:9,14various 94:15volume's226:15,22,24174:15,23,24various 94:15volume's13:914155:7,7 8 10 13	170:16	vice 145:12	wag 155.14 19	15:1 43:22
vacuum 15:14 vacuums 15:16207:24 video 250:6 view 59:17 219:12wait 67:12 81:7 81:8 116:1 117:9water 14:18,21 24:19 41:7,8 45:1 46:20valid 62:16 85:17,20 86:13 86:18 87:1 validate 125:24 validation 26:20219:12 violation 61:10 violation 120:10waik 220:14 walke 220:17 walke 220:17 walke 84:9 85:2,3water 14:18,21 24:19 41:7,8 45:1 46:20validation 26:20120:10 violations 120:10walker 84:9 85:2,392:8 95:22 104:13,24valuable 11:1 valuable 11:1 valuation 40:23 value 50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2viscosity 189:5 visit 32:23 volume 43:14 43:17 46:20matrix155:24 156:1,2 152:21 51:11values 214:7 variables 223:24223:22 224:1,9 224:14 225:2,3 225:4,18,19151:102:15 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 220:19 233:24163:9,14 168:13,14,15 174:15,23,24variation 183:14 various 94:15226:15,22,24 valume 43:14226:15,22,24 valume 43:14 183:14106:10 103 177:7 8 10.13	v v	,	U U	
vacuums15:16video250:681:8116:124:1941:7,8valid62:16219:12117:945:145:145:145:185:17,2086:13219:12violate43:1walk220:1445:146:20validate125:24violating61:10walked200:1762:283:7,12validation120:10violations120:10walker84:992:895:22valuable11:1113:1259:2064:4155:24156:1,2valuation40:23viscosity189:575:1189:24156:4157:1,5visit32:23volume43:14112:19118:20158:2,12,1763:2564:1043:1746:20124:18166:7,9,15,19160:22160:7,9,15,19values214:750:3,5174:19158:15164:17160:7,9,15,19160:22161:18223:24223:22224:14225:2,3220:19233:24163:9,14162:8,13,16,20variation224:14225:2,3220:19233:24163:9,14168:13,14,15183:14226:15,22,2424:1224:12174:15,23,24various94:15volume/s24:1214:13163:9,14	vacuum 15.14			
valid62:16 85:17,20 86:13 86:18 87:1 validateview59:17 219:12 violating117:9 81:10 walk45:1 46:20 55:17 60:20 62:2 83:7,12 92:8 95:22 104:13,24 106:10 109:12 125:24 156:1,2validation 26:20 validly120:10 violation 120:10 violations 113:12 viscosity117:9 walk45:1 46:20 55:17 60:20 62:2 83:7,12 92:8 95:22 104:13,24 106:10 109:12 125:22 151:11 125:22 151:11 155:24 156:1,2valuable 11:1 valuable11:1 113:12 viscosityviolations 17:14 47:17 59:20 64:4 91:1 102:15 155:24 156:1,2155:24 156:1,2 155:24 156:1,2 155:24 156:1,2value 50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2 values 214:7 variables 223:24 variation 183:14 various 94:1545:1 46:20 91:1 102:15 158:15 164:17 160:22 161:18 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20 163:9,14 168:13,14,15 168:13,14,15various 94:1594:15view s valume's valume's45:1 46:20 175:7 8 10 13		video 250:6		24:19 41:7,8
85:17,20 86:13 86:18 87:1 219:12 walk 220:14 55:17 60:20 validate 125:24 violating 61:10 walked 200:17 62:2 83:7,12 validation 120:10 walker 84:9 92:8 95:22 validly 63:11 120:10 walk 7:18 17:3 106:10 109:12 valuable 11:1 113:12 viscosity 189:5 75:11 89:24 105:24 156:1,2 value 50:17 viscosity 189:5 visit 32:23 91:1 102:15 158:2,12,17 63:25 64:10 43:17 46:20 124:18 146:21 158:2,12,17 158:2,12,17 values 214:7 50:3,5 174:19 158:15 164:17 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 223:24 223:22 224:1,9 200:22 204:21 162:8,13,16,20 163:9,14 variation 225:4,18,19 226:15,22,24 220:19 233:24 163:9,14 various 94:15 volume's volume's 243:1 244:1 168:13,14,15				
86:18 87:1 validate 125:24 validation 26:20violate 43:1 		219:12		
validate125:24violating61:10walker84:992:8 95:22validation120:10120:1085:2,3104:13,24validly63:11120:10want7:18 17:3106:10 109:12valuable11:1113:1213:1259:20 64:4155:24 156:1,2value50:17viscosity189:575:11 89:24156:4 157:1,563:25 64:10viscosity189:5112:19 118:20158:2,12,17242:1 244:243:17 46:20124:18 146:21159:7,12 160:3values214:750:3,5 174:19158:15 164:17160:7,9,15,19variables223:22 224:1,9224:14 225:2,3220:19 233:24163:9,14223:14225:4,18,19243:1 244:1168:13,14,15168:13,14,15various94:15volume/svolume/s101:3	· ·	violate 43:1		,
validation 26:20violation 120:1085:2,3104:13,24validly 63:11 valuable 11:1 valuation 40:23 value 50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2113:12 viscosity 189:5 visit 32:23 volume 43:14 43:17 46:2085:2,3 want 7:18 17:3 17:14 47:17 59:20 64:4 75:11 89:24 91:1 102:15 142:19 118:20 124:18 146:21 158:2,12,17 158:15 164:17 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20104:13,24 106:10 109:12 125:22 151:11 155:24 156:1,2 155:24 156:1,2 155:24 156:1,2value 50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2 values 214:7 variables 223:24visit 32:23 volume 43:14 43:17 46:20 179:4,16 223:22 224:1,9 224:14 225:2,3 220:19 233:24 220:19 233:24104:13,24 106:10 109:12 158:15 164:17 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20variation 183:14 various 94:15225:4,18,19 226:15,22,24200:22 204:21 243:1 244:1 wanted 30:9163:9,14 168:13,14,15		U		
26:20120:10want7:18 17:3106:10 109:12valuable11:1113:12113:1217:14 47:17125:22 151:11valuation40:23viscosity189:559:20 64:4156:4 157:1,5value50:17visit32:2391:1 102:15156:4 157:1,563:25 64:10volume43:1443:17 46:20124:18 146:21159:7,12 160:3242:1 244:250:3,5 174:19158:15 164:17159:7,12 160:3160:7,9,15,19values214:7223:22 224:1,9223:22 224:1,9200:22 204:21160:22 161:18223:24224:14 225:2,3220:19 233:24163:9,14168:13,14,15variation225:4,18,19226:15,22,24243:1 244:1168:13,14,15various94:15volume'svolume's10131013				,
validly63:11 valuableviolations 113:1217:14 47:17 59:20 64:4125:22 151:11 155:24 156:1,2valuation40:23 visitviscosity189:5 visit17:14 47:17 59:20 64:4155:24 156:1,2 155:11 89:24value50:17 visitvisit32:23 volume91:1 102:15 158:2,12,17158:2,12,17 158:2,12,1763:25 64:10 242:1 244:2volume43:14 43:17 46:20124:18 146:21 158:15 164:17158:2,12,17 159:7,12 160:3values214:7 223:22 224:1,9 223:24223:22 224:1,9 224:14 225:2,3200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18variation 183:14 various225:4,18,19 226:15,22,24243:1 244:1 valued168:13,14,15 174:15,23,24values94:15volume'svolume'svalued30:9			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
valuable11:1113:1259:2064:4155:24156:1,2valuation40:23viscosity189:559:2064:4155:24156:4157:1,2value50:17visit32:2391:1102:15157:12,21158:2,12,1763:2564:1043:1746:20124:18146:21159:7,12160:3values214:750:3,5174:19158:15164:17160:7,9,15,19variables223:22224:14225:2,3200:22204:21160:22variation225:4,18,19226:15,22,24vanted30:9168:13,14,15various94:15valume'svalume'svalume'svaluation175:7				
valuation 40:23 value 50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2viscosity 189:5 visit 32:23 volume 43:14 43:17 46:20 50:3,5 174:1975:11 89:24 91:1 102:15 112:19 118:20 124:18 146:21 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 163:9,14156:4 157:1,5 158:2,12,17 158:2,12,17 158:2,12,17 158:15 164:17 160:22 161:18 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20values 214:7 variables 223:24 variation 183:14 various 94:15viscosity 189:5 visit 32:23 20:3,5 174:19 179:4,16 223:22 224:1,9 224:14 225:2,3 225:4,18,19 226:15,22,2475:11 89:24 91:1 102:15 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 163:9,14 168:13,14,15 174:15,23,24 175:7 8 10 13	l l			
value50:17 63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2visit32:23 volume91:1 102:15 112:19 118:20 124:18 146:21 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 163:9,14157:12,21 158:2,12,17 158:2,12,17 159:7,12 160:3 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20values214:7 223:22 224:1,9 224:14 225:2,3 183:1491:1 102:15 112:19 118:20 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:19 233:24 163:9,14157:12,21 158:2,12,17 159:7,12 160:3 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20 163:9,14 168:13,14,15various94:15volume's volume's91:1 102:15 112:19 118:20 124:18 146:21 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 163:9,14 168:13,14,15		-		
63:25 64:10 242:1 244:2 values 214:7volume 43:14 43:17 46:20 50:3,5 174:19112:19 118:20 124:18 146:21 158:15 164:17 191:6 197:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 200:22 204:21 163:9,14158:2,12,17 159:7,12 160:3 160:7,9,15,19 160:22 161:18 162:8,13,16,20 163:9,14variation 183:14 various 94:15225:4,18,19 226:15,22,24200:22 204:21 220:19 233:24 243:1 244:1 wanted 30:9158:2,12,17 159:7,12 160:3 160:22 161:18 160:22 161:18 163:9,14				,
242.1 244.2 50:3,5 174:19 124.18 140.21 values 214:7 179:4,16 158:15 164:17 variables 223:22 224:1,9 200:22 204:21 variation 224:14 225:2,3 200:22 204:21 183:14 226:15,22,24 243:1 244:1 various 94:15 226:15,22,24 wanted 30:9				
values214:750:3,5 174:19158:15 164:17160:7,9,15,19variables179:4,16191:6 197:21160:22 161:18223:24223:22 224:1,9200:22 204:21162:8,13,16,20variation225:4,18,19226:15,22,24243:1 244:1168:13,14,15various94:15valume'svalume's1013	242:1 244:2		124:18 146:21	
variables179:4,16191:6 197:21160:22 161:18223:24223:22 224:1,9200:22 204:21162:8,13,16,20variation225:4,18,19220:19 233:24168:13,14,15183:14226:15,22,24wanted 30:9174:15,23,24various 94:1594:1510121012	values 214:7	,	158:15 164:17	
225:24 224:14 225:2,3 200:22 204:21 163:9,14 variation 225:4,18,19 220:19 233:24 168:13,14,15 183:14 226:15,22,24 wanted 30:9 174:15,23,24 various 94:15 volume's 1013	variables	, ·		
variation224:14 225:2,3220:19 233:24163:9,14183:14225:4,18,19243:1 244:1168:13,14,15various 94:15226:15,22,24wanted 30:9175:7 8 10 13	223:24	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	200:22 204:21	
183:14 226:15,22,24 243:1 244:1 various 94:15 226:15,22,24 wanted 30:9 174:15,23,24 175:7 8 10 13	variation		220:19 233:24	,
various 94:15 volume's Wanted 50:9 175.7.8.10.13	183:14		243:1 244:1	, ,
volume's $58.1 \text{ on } 4$ 175.7,8,10,13	various 94:15		wanted 30:9	
	151:3		58:1 90:4	
vehemently 224:20 101:25 124:17 175:14,19,21 175:25 176:10	vehemently	224:20	101:25 124:17	, ,
117:16 147:4 149:18 175:25 176:10	117:16		147:4 149:18	1/5:25 1/6:10

176:11,21,25	234:13 235:4	220:21 225:25	well's 227:2
177:2,5,6,8,9	235:21 236:14	228:6 231:10	wellbore 162:4
177:14,17,22	237:13 238:1,8	235:21 236:14	199:12 236:15
178:11,14	238:13,22	238:4,4,13	237:20,22
181:5,15	239:4,14	240:16,19	239:3,24
182:10,24,25	240:16 246:5	ways 185:12	240:19
185:19,20	water's 194:10	186:17	wellbores
188:4,19	waterflood	we've 7:20	198:2 228:7,12
189:12,13,18	17:6 54:20,21	26:23 58:6	235:22 236:14
189:25,25	54:25 109:6	63:21 64:3	237:13 238:2
190:5 192:21	157:2 161:13	86:3 92:5	238:14,16,17
194:15 196:1	165:8 168:10	116:6 122:10	239:16 240:4,6
196:21 198:3,7	168:13,15	161:10 177:22	240:17
198:8,9,16,19	174:22 187:17	178:10,11	wellhead
199:4,6,10,13	190:4,6 198:6	218:22 241:6	190:22
199:17 203:17	217:18 236:9	wears 158:3	wells 11:21
216:4 222:18	238:23	weather 7:15	14:18 15:2
222:22,25	waterfloods	wednesday 5:6	16:11,21,23
223:3,4,12,14	203:3	week 7:16 28:4	18:9 19:12,17
223:16,17,19	waters 161:19	28:18 39:4	19:23 20:12
223:21,25	162:11 189:15	116:23 204:10	24:17 25:15
224:4,6,9,11,14	227:21 230:24	218:23 222:15	26:8,11,13,15
224:20,25,25	230:24	231:20	26:18,25 27:3
225:2,3,4,11,12	way 9:7 15:25	wehmeyer 2:12	31:16 32:1
225:14,15,19	49:8 78:8,11	2:15	34:7,11 35:20
225:23 226:3,5	98:12 104:22	weigh 61:3	35:23,24,25
226:7,12,17,20	153:4 160:18	63:12,15	36:10,16,17,24
226:22,23	160:21 163:14	weighing 64:1	37:17 38:13,19
227:1,10,14,17	164:24 174:17	weight 61:17	39:15,17,19,23
227:20 228:1,6	175:6 177:16	61:20 62:17,19	39:24 40:6,11
228:12 229:12	178:12,14	63:18,24 64:10	43:19,19 44:2
229:20 231:6,9	181:21 183:8	64:15,18 65:5	44:20 47:8,9
231:11,14,24	184:14 189:4	65:8,11,13	47:25 48:8
232:11,18,25	191:3 198:3	129:10	49:25 51:24
233:6 234:11	208:8 217:5,9		52:5,22 53:16

53:19,20,22	wendell 1:4	244:12 245:22	116:22 117:5
54:5 55:22,24	went 9:12	246:16 247:4	118:3,8 128:6
56:5,21 61:15	17:19,25 19:20	247:25 248:10	129:3 130:16
64:4,7,12,24,25	20:23 54:10	248:24	136:17 143:9
66:13 69:17	61:19 115:4	west's 57:7	143:16,18
70:5,8,11	118:18,23	69:5,9,22	144:12
75:19 77:4	131:14 133:11	100:16,17	wheeler's 96:16
78:17,22 83:11	140:24 156:13	101:11 147:25	128:14
83:13,22 84:3	164:9 168:3,17	western 45:13	whichever
93:25 94:9	169:8 171:20	55:9	238:4
96:10,21 104:3	175:14 178:3	whatnot 162:7	white 151:1
104:11,12,15	198:5 219:4	169:4 174:3	214:24
104:16,19,23	222:14 229:21	whatsoever	whoa 174:3
104:25 125:8	west 3:18 9:12	39:14 44:6	wholly 121:19
151:22 154:9	19:20 27:9	wheeler 3:11	122:3
154:12,21	46:2,5,24	8:6,10,15,18	william 1:12
157:16 158:16	52:19 69:2	10:12 12:21	3:18 79:11
159:8 161:18	79:3,6,11,21,22	15:20,22 16:3	80:16 144:14
162:17,18	80:1,9,16 81:4	16:8 18:10	144:21,22
166:14 167:23	81:8 88:18	22:10 29:19	145:1,9
169:9 170:7	93:23 94:5,24	53:6,12 57:23	willing 21:11
171:10 172:23	144:14,21,22	58:2 59:8	21:13 52:8
173:7,12	145:1,7,9	65:20 67:23	66:12 96:9
174:23 175:8	146:1,6 147:18	73:8,12,14	willingness 7:5
176:11,16	148:20 152:13	74:7,11,22	wiped 35:7
181:3,8 182:6	180:18,20	75:11,17 78:14	wiping 34:1
182:15,25	193:12 200:5	81:11 82:2	withdraw
183:2 192:9	200:16 211:19	85:9 86:10	96:11 166:6
194:7 211:20	215:15,22	89:17 90:1,9	withdrawal
215:17,20	216:2,21	90:21 96:2	112:1 175:10
219:6 224:15	221:21 231:19	97:1,10,18	176:5
224:18 225:20	232:13,23	98:16 103:11	withdrawals
226:23 236:11	235:2,17 236:2	103:12,14,15	157:3 165:9
236:15	237:23 239:20	105:13 112:19	withdrawing
	241:10 243:9	115:3,13,22	111:22

[withdrew - yesterday]

withdrew	206:6	79:5,8 80:7	237:17 241:21
111:1,3,4,13	working 38:3	84:6,7,10,14,20	243:12 244:8
176:10	47:24 78:8	84:25 98:19,24	244:11
witness 8:3	120:14,17	99:5,8,10,14,24	year 27:5,5,8
42:14,14 67:11	130:20 134:16	120:2,14,17	27:13 40:8,9
67:12,14 75:6	183:8	121:19,21	50:16 56:20
75:6 77:22	works 163:11	122:3,12,22,22	64:22 113:9
78:2,4 81:4	worries 22:14	123:1 149:25	130:12 156:15
112:12 117:5	worry 204:20	168:18 175:11	156:15 195:4,6
130:14,14	worst 155:17	205:4,7,13,17	195:13,14
136:15 143:20	221:8,10,11,12	205:22 206:3	196:8
144:1,7,13	worth 155:4	207:10 208:19	years 17:9,12
147:6 151:21	wozniak 3:6	209:3,19 210:1	32:13 40:9
232:2 233:11	wrap 158:25	210:5	50:11 52:16,20
233:23	wrigley 9:22,23	xto's 205:5,7,21	52:21 54:17
witnesses 28:3	40:10	209:12	55:1,4,10 56:3
28:7,7 47:14	written 22:1	y	62:6 64:22
222:15 234:20	58:3 72:1	yaz 173:5	65:2 118:13,15
wolfcamp	74:17 89:10,11	yeah 25:21	119:6,9 156:13
188:15	111:8 113:1	30:10 34:19,21	156:14 176:25
wondering	126:18 229:19	35:1 37:21	177:3,3 187:20
135:1	wrong 51:3	38:21 46:4,18	191:25 195:20
word 21:3	114:8 221:2	48:9 56:10	196:10,16
147:10 215:9	wrongs 33:5	70:7 75:4 89:2	yelling 171:25
		10.1 1J.T 07.4	
236:19 238:8	wrote 24:5 25:8	102:10 115:21	yellow 150:7
wording	wrote 24:5 25:8 90:23 221:11		176:4,8,23
wording 119:13		102:10 115:21	176:4,8,23 177:13
wording 119:13 words 141:11	90:23 221:11	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23
wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25	90:23 221:11 x	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16
<pre>wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25 41:21 82:4</pre>	90:23 221:11 x x 168:18	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16 156:7 169:15	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16 17:25 18:14
<pre>wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25 41:21 82:4 89:19 118:19</pre>	90:23 221:11 x x 168:18 x's 54:19	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16 156:7 169:15 169:18,21	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16 17:25 18:14 20:17 23:1
<pre>wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25 41:21 82:4 89:19 118:19 190:17 202:16</pre>	90:23 221:11 x x 168:18 x's 54:19 xto 13:7,17	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16 156:7 169:15 169:18,21 173:16,17,19	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16 17:25 18:14 20:17 23:1 25:9,21 28:11
<pre>wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25 41:21 82:4 89:19 118:19 190:17 202:16 202:24 204:12</pre>	90:23 221:11 x x 168:18 x's 54:19 xto 13:7,17 18:6 20:22	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16 156:7 169:15 169:18,21 173:16,17,19 194:24 197:17	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16 17:25 18:14 20:17 23:1 25:9,21 28:11 35:2 36:8
<pre>wording 119:13 words 141:11 work 23:25 41:21 82:4 89:19 118:19 190:17 202:16</pre>	90:23 221:11 x x 168:18 x's 54:19 xto 13:7,17 18:6 20:22 30:25 35:17	102:10 115:21 128:4 129:10 144:6 155:16 156:7 169:15 169:18,21 173:16,17,19 194:24 197:17 204:13 207:21	176:4,8,23 177:13 yesterday 8:23 15:9 17:4,5,16 17:25 18:14 20:17 23:1 25:9,21 28:11

81:11 92:5			
96:3 97:19			
98:22 102:14			
125:6 129:22			
131:14 132:20			
132:24 140:5			
140:11 200:11			
219:5			
york 133:3,6			
young 49:5			
Z			
zachary 1:14			
zone 36:21 42:5			
45:11,15 50:10 62:13 66:16			
71:3 85:12,17			
87:17 91:22			
106:22 125:14			
126:2,10,24			
150:5 151:8,17			
151:20 203:5,8			
203:11 219:14			
245:5,11,18			
246:10,21			
247:14 248:5			
248:12,15			
zones 151:12			
151:16 165:2,3			
165:23 229:19			
245:25			
zoom 124:1			